(In)Finite Time Dynamical Systems with Homoclinic Structures – Discretization and Approximation –

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades

der Fakultät für Mathematik der Universität Bielefeld

vorgelegt von

Alina Girod

March 20, 2018

Gutachter PD Dr. Thorsten Hüls
 Gutachter Prof.Dr. Christian Pötsche

Eingereicht am: 20. März 2018 Datum der Verteidigung: 16.Juli 2018

Im Zuge der Veröffentlichung wurde die vorliegende Dissertation redaktionell korrigiert.

 $25. \ {\rm September} \ 2018$

Contents

1	Intr	coduction	5
	1.1	Detailed Outline of This Thesis	11
	1.2	Acknowledgement	14
2	Bas	ic Concepts 1	15
	2.1	Notations and Basic Definitions	15
	2.2	Dynamical Systems	17
3	Hyj	perbolicity	23
	3.1	Infinite Time Hyperbolicity	23
	3.2	Finite Time Hyperbolicity (M-Hyperbolicity)	25
	3.3	Finite and Infinite Time Hyperbolic Systems: Differences and	
		Similarities	39
	3.4	Perturbation Results	46
4	Sta	ble and Unstable Subspaces and Cones	63
	4.1	Stable and Unstable Cones	64
	4.2	Characteristics of the (Almost) Stable and Unstable Cone	73
5	Exp	blicit Representations of (Un) Stable Subspaces and Cones δ	37
	5.1	Γ -Norm and M-Hyperbolicity w.r.t. the Γ -Norm	88
	5.2	D-Hyperbolicity	92
	5.3	An Explicit Representation of (Un)Stable Cones	99
	5.4	M-Hyperbolicity and D-Hyperbolicity	10
	5.5	Examples of 2-Dimensional D-Hyperbolic Systems 1	14
	5.6	Estimates for the Width of (Un)Stable Cones in 2-Dimensional	
		Systems	27
	5.7	(Un)Stable Cones in 3- or Higher Dimensional D-Hyperbolic	. -
		Systems	37
6	Fib	er Bundles in Finite and Infinite Time	47
	6.1	Monotonically (Un)Stable Ft-Fiber Bundles	48
	6.2	Monotonically ε -(Un)Stable Ft-Fiber Bundles	51
	6.3	ε -(Un)Stable Ft-Fiber Bundles	55
	6.4	Characteristics of the Ft-Fiber Bundles	57

	6.5	(Un)Stable Ft-Fiber Bundles and Ft-Hyperbolicity 164
	6.6	Local Approximation of (Ft-)Fiber Bundles
	6.7	An Algorithm to Calculate Fiber Bundles
7	(In)	Finite Time Homoclinic Trajectories 181
	7.1	Approximation of $\varepsilon\textsc{-Homoclinic}$ Tubes and Numerical Tools 188
	7.2	Discretization by the h -Flow
	7.3	Discretization by a One-Step Method
8	App	lications 221
	8.1	An Artificial Example with Explicitly Known Homoclinic Orbits 221
	8.2	A Periodic Nonautonomous ODE
	8.3	An Example from Mathematical Biology
\mathbf{A}	A L	ipschitz Inverse Mapping Theorem 229
в	\mathbf{Ass}	1mptions, Functions, Sets 231
в	Ass B.1	Imptions, Functions, Sets231Assumptions231
в	Ass B.1 B.2	Imptions, Functions, Sets231Assumptions
В	Ass B.1 B.2 B.3	Imptions, Functions, Sets231Assumptions
В	Ass B.1 B.2 B.3 B.4	Imptions, Functions, Sets231Assumptions
в	Ass B.1 B.2 B.3 B.4	Imptions, Functions, Sets231Assumptions
в	Ass B.1 B.2 B.3 B.4	Imptions, Functions, Sets231Assumptions
в	Ass B.1 B.2 B.3 B.4	Imptions, Functions, Sets231Assumptions
В	Ass B.1 B.2 B.3 B.4	Imptions, Functions, Sets231Assumptions
B	Ass B.1 B.2 B.3 B.4	Imptions, Functions, Sets231Assumptions

Chapter 1 Introduction

Dynamics of the heart beat, turbulences in flows, bursting phenomena, the movement of a flag in the wind and the formation of congestion on the autobahn have one similarity: chaotic behavior. Chaotic phenomena, such as the three-body problem and turbulences are known for a long time. One of the first mathematicians who realized the existence of such irregular dynamics was Poincaré at the end of the 19th century. He examined the consequences of the existence of homoclinic points for the geometrical structure of stable and unstable manifolds. These manifolds contain solutions that converge toward a fixed point ξ in forward and backward time, respectively. Homoclinic structures of autonomous systems are for example solutions which converge in both time directions toward one hyperbolic fixed point ξ . Solutions of this kind are called homoclinic orbits $x(\cdot)$. Each homoclinic point x(t) lies in the intersection of the stable and unstable manifold w.r.t. ξ . Poincaré showed that they produce complex dynamical structures. For more details and a historical overview we refer to [109], [4] and references therein. In 1935 Birkhoff confirmed this complex dynamical structure near homoclinic points by proving that these points are the limit of periodic orbits [24], [25]. All these results are theoretical in nature and the question whether transversal homoclinic points actually exist for real-life problems remained open. In the early 60s the mathematician and meteorologist Edward N. Lorenz discovered chaos in a relatively simple numerical model of a weather forecast. He proved that even small variations of the initial data lead to quite different solutions after a short period of time – the so called butterfly effect – see [96]. Increasingly powerful computers enabled extended numerical computations, which helped with the formulation of scientific problems and the identification of regularities in chaotic motions. This motivated scientists to study Poincaré's and Birkhoff's theoretical achievements about homoclinic points and to continue with their investigation. Smale constructed a geometrical structure – the so called Horseshoe map [2] – which showed the existence of homoclinic orbits and illustrated the theoretical results. Further, he in the West, cf. [121], and Shil'nikov in the East, cf. [119], proved independently that in autonomous discrete time systems the dynamic near a

homoclinic point is chaotic. As Kovačiv and Wiggins [89, Introduction] stated

"In fact, it is not an exaggeration to claim that in virtually every manifestation of chaotic behavior thus far, some type of homoclinic behavior is lurking in the background."

extensive studies of homoclinic orbits are essential in the field of dynamical systems. For some significant results and a historical overview we refer to [65], [49], [97] and [103]. These results and increasingly powerful computers enable numerical calculations. One way to implement numerical computations is the discretization of continuous systems, which leads to the question:

Do homoclinic orbits persist under discretization? (Q)

Around the 70s-80s it was proved that one-step methods reflect the long time behavior of differential equations [125], [31], [86], [18] and [17]. For autonomous systems the entire homoclinic orbit lies in the intersection of the stable and unstable manifold. For continuous systems this means that the stable and unstable manifold intersect tangentially. Thus, every homoclinic point of a continuous autonomous system is tangential. Fiedler and Scheurle [50] observed that under discretization with a one-step method the manifolds generically split (with an exponentially small splitting angle w.r.t. the used step size), which implies that for discretized systems there may exist transversal homoclinic orbits. Zou and Beyn [135], [137] proved that the discretization of an autonomous continuous system with a transversal homoclinic orbit induces a closed loop of homoclinic orbits, where most of these trajectories are transversal.

One part of this thesis is the analysis of the question (Q) for nonautonomous continuous systems.

The study of nonautonomous systems, in particular of nonautonomous homoclinic orbits [126], [73], is motivated by the fact that most of the systems modeling a realistic phenomena are nonautonomous, e.g. bacterial growth and tumor drug treatment [87, Section 1.2]. Further, the autonomous setup is not a special case of the nonautonomous situation. Time independent solutions generally do not exist in nonautonomous systems. Furthermore, the manifolds depend on time and are called fiber bundles. Thus, for nonautonomous systems a meaningful definition of homoclinic orbits requires convergence in both time directions toward one reference trajectory. The stable and unstable fiber bundles generally intersect transversally, which means that they only have isolated points of a homoclinic orbit in common for each time. This is a contrast to the autonomous setup, where the entire orbit lies in the intersection, see Figure 1.1. Thus, for nonautonomous continuous systems two different kinds of homoclinic orbits exist, transversal and tangential, see Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.1: Stable (green) and unstable manifolds (autonomous, left) and fiber bundles (nonautonomous, right).



Figure 1.2: Stable (green) and unstable fiber bundles intersecting transversally (left) and tangentially (middle,right).

We discretize nonautonomous ODEs with transversal homoclinic orbits using a one-step method. Under certain conditions we prove in Theorem 7.3.6 that by using a sufficiently small step size the discretized system has a transversal homoclinic orbit as well. Further, we prove that both trajectories lie in a sufficiently small neighborhood.

In this thesis we also analyze the question (Q) for finite time continuous systems.

The theory of finite time dynamical systems is completely different from the theory of infinite time dynamical systems, since the classical asymptotic concepts do not apply to the finite time case. However, the study of these systems is important for at least three reasons. First, modeling observations or collections of data over a finite time interval result in finite time dynamical systems. On top of that, one is interested in the transient behavior of solutions, which is often quite different than the long time behavior. Finally, numerical approximations are only given for finite time intervals. About 10-20 years ago the first studies in the finite time dynamical system theory dealt amongst other topics with the development of a proper notion of hyperbolicity [59], [62], [16], [43], [15], [12], [13], [45], [14]. Several nonequivalent definitions of finite time hyperbolic systems exist. They can roughly be separated into at least two classes. The first one is based on the concept of exponential dichotomies. We will call such systems M-hyperbolic [43, Definition 1], [14, Definition 1.2], since they require monotonic growth and decay of solutions. The second one is based on the dynamical pattern of the given system. This kind of hyperbolicity is often called D-hyperbolicity and its definition for ODEs is given in [15], [45] and in [43]. For these two classes it holds that a D-hyperbolic system is also an M-hyperbolic system. This was first proved by Haller [62] for three-dimensional continuous systems and extended by Berger et al. [14], [13, Theorem 7] for continuous systems with arbitrary dimensions. Another proof which is based on the fiber bundles of a linearization is given in [43, Theorem 21]. The analysis of discrete finite time systems is not as well-developed as the analysis of continuous finite time systems and by far not as advanced as the analysis of infinite time systems. This motivated us to develop an adequate concept for finite time systems, in particular for discrete finite time systems.

In this thesis we additionally introduce a definition of D-hyperbolicity for discrete systems and prove in Theorem 5.4.2 that a discrete D-hyperbolic system is also M-hyperbolic. Inspired by the study of homoclinic orbits in infinite time systems we develop an approach for finite time homoclinic orbits. In particular, we present an adequate analogon of infinite time fiber bundles for finite time systems that enables a definition of finite time homoclinic orbits. We call a finite time orbit $x(\cdot) \varepsilon$ -homoclinic, $\varepsilon > 0$, toward a finite time hyperbolic reference trajectory $\xi(\cdot)$ if

- (1) $x(\cdot)$ lies in the intersection of the stable and unstable finite time fiber bundle w.r.t. $\xi(\cdot)$ and if
- (2) both endpoints of $x(\cdot)$ each lie in an ε -ball around the corresponding endpoint of $\xi(\cdot)$.

This means that we need a notion of the finite time stable and unstable fiber bundles such that their intersection is not always empty. For finite time stable and unstable fiber bundles there exist various nonequivalent notions and to our knowledge for non of them the fibers intersect. Some authors call the stable and unstable fiber bundles area of attraction and area of repulsion and they are often defined via decay conditions. One way to define finite time fiber bundles, cf. [45], [52], [83], is based on the M-hyperbolic concept, i.e. the (un)stable finite time fiber bundle contains all points, whose orbits satisfy

(D1) monotonically decrease (increase) for all times in the finite time interval.

These fiber bundles do not intersect and, thus, for our purpose to study ε -homoclinic orbits they are not appropriate. Hence, we introduce two alternative notions of finite time fiber bundles. First we additionally require condition (2), i.e. the (un)stable finite time fiber bundle contains all points x, whose orbits $x(\cdot)$ satisfy

(D2) monotonically decrease (increase) for all time in the finite time interval and the endpoint in forward (backward) time of $x(\cdot)$ lies in an ε -ball around the corresponding endpoint of $\xi(\cdot)$.

These fiber bundles still do not intersect, but at least orbits in the fiber bundles satisfy (2). Based on the concept of infinite time fiber bundles we introduce a third notion of finite time fiber bundles. For infinite time autonomous [120, Theorem III.7] and nonautonomous [111, Corollary 4.6.11] systems the (un)stable fiber of a hyperbolic trajectory locally consist of those points, whose orbits stay for all positive times in a sufficiently small neighborhood of ξ and converges toward ξ . This means that our (un)stable finite time fiber bundle contains all points x, whose orbits $x(\cdot)$ satisfy

(D3) the endpoint in forward (backward) time of $x(\cdot)$ lies in a ε -ball around the corresponding endpoint of $\xi(\cdot)$ and monotonically increase in backward (forward) time until the orbit leaves the ε -ball (or until the orbit is not defined anymore).

For this notion of finite time fiber bundles a definition of ε -homoclinic orbits is reasonable, i.e. (1) and (2) may be satisfied for a solution. Finally we analyze whether homoclinic orbits persist under discretization. We prove in Theorem 7.3.6 under certain conditions that the discretization of a finite time system with an ε -homoclinic orbit has a $(2Ch^d + \varepsilon)$ -homoclinic orbit, where C > 0, his the step size of the applied one-step method of order d.

In summary, this means that for autonomous and nonautonomous systems for both infinite and finite time the answer of the question (Q) under certain conditions is:

Homoclinic orbits persist under discretization.

To verify whether a homoclinic point is transversal or tangential an analysis of the stable and unstable fiber bundles essential. For finite time systems it is well known, cf. [105, Proposition 5.4], [76, Theorem 9], [124, Theorem 4.2] and [70, Theorem 3.5], that the stable and unstable subspace of the linearization locally approximate the stable and unstable fibers. This inspires the study of the stable and unstable set of linear finite time hyperbolic systems, which are actually cones. For finite time systems Karrasch [83] proved, roughly speaking, that the (un)stable cone of the linearization locally approximates the (un)stable finite time fiber bundle of the original system, with the notion (D1) of finite time fiber bundles. These results imply a promising approach to approximate stable and unstable fiber bundles. Numerical techniques to determine the stable and unstable fiber bundles exist for autonomous infinite time systems [23], [33], [42], [44], [46], [48], [92], for nonautonomous continuous [75], [95], [26], [34] and discrete infinite time systems [112], [114], [74] as well as for finite time systems [59], [55]. Further, approximation results of homoclinic orbits in discrete and continuous autonomous systems are presented in [22] and [19], respectively, and for nonautonomous systems we refer to [70] and [112]. For autonomous infinite time systems the choice of proposed techniques is quite vast. They range from numerical continuation and boundary value problems through Taylor expansions and the parametrization method to fixed point iterations and set orientated methods. Some generalizations of these techniques apply to nonautonomous infinite time systems as well. However, for this kind of systems the literature is quite sparse, in particular for noninvertible systems.

In this thesis we introduce an algorithm which approximates fiber bundles of nonautonomous discrete infinite time systems [Section 6.7]. This algorithm is a generalization of the search circle algorithm in [48]. We develop numerical tools to approximate all ε -homoclinic orbits of a D-hyperbolic system, i.e. the intersection of the stable and unstable finite time fiber bundle. Note that in contrast to infinite time systems stable and unstable fiber bundles in finite time are fat objects. Thus, the intersection of the stable and unstable finite time fibers include more than one ε -homoclinic trajectory. We call the union of all ε homoclinic trajectories an ε -homoclinic tube. Further we determine the width of the stable and unstable cone and establish upper bounds for the width of the stable and unstable cone as well as of the ε -homoclinic tube. Additionally, we present a more detailed proof of the local approximation Theorem presented in [83] adapted for notion (D3) of finite time fiber bundles. This means the stable and unstable cone, which motivates to study linear finite time systems.

For linear infinite nonautonomous time systems

$$\dot{x} = A(t)x, \ x_{n+1} = A(n)x_n, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^k, \ k \in \mathbb{N}, \ t \in \mathbb{R}, \ n \in \mathbb{Z}$$

it is well known that a study of the eigenvalues of the matrix $A(\cdot)$ does not help to prove hyperbolicity, see [37, p. 30] for a continuous time example due to Vinograd and for a discrete time example we refer to [47, Example 4.17]. Similar results exist for finite time systems. Autonomous continuous systems (2.6) are M-hyperbolic if the eigenvalues of A do not lie on the imaginary axis and autonomous discrete systems (2.6) are M-hyperbolic if the eigenvalues of Ado not have absolute value 1. For 2-dimensional finite time systems Haller [59] presented conditions on the spectral data of A that ensure hyperbolicity of finite time systems. Nevertheless, conditions relying on spectral data have their pitfalls, shown in [12, Section 2]. For 3-dimensional finite time systems the eigenvalues of $A(\cdot)$ do not provide any information about the dynamical properties of the finite time system, for more details see [12, Section 2] and [60, Theorem 1]. Berger [12, Section 2] said about this problem

"Plausible though this may be, it is actually not true."

Therefore, we never use the eigenvalues of $A(\cdot)$ to determine hyperbolicity of a dynamical systems.

Detailed Outline of This Thesis

In Chapter 2 the notion for this thesis is set. In Section 2.2 we introduce dynamical systems and abbreviate infinite time systems as ift-systems and finite time systems as ft-systems.

In every chapter we start with the study of ift-systems and continue with an analogously study of ft-systems.

Chapter 3 starts with the definition of hyperbolicity for continuous and discrete time systems on an infinite time interval. By analyzing the hyperbolicity conditions of an ift-system in Section 3.2 we get a reasonable definition of hyperbolicity for finite time systems, the so called M-hyperbolicity. In Section 3.3 we point out some important differences and similarities between hyperbolic ift-systems and M-hyperbolic ft-systems. For example the uniqueness of the invariant family of projectors of a hyperbolic ift-system and the nonuniqueness for M-hyperbolic ft-systems. The definition of an infinite time exponential dichotomy is independent of the choice of norm, whereas the definition of an finite time exponential dichotomy depends on the norm. We prove for every autonomous hyperbolic ift-system is M-hyperbolic on each compact interval. In Section 3.4 we present various Roughness-Theorems, which guarantee the preservation of hyperbolicity under sufficiently small additive perturbations, for both ift- and ft-systems.

In **Chapter 4** we study stable and unstable sets of linear systems. For linear ift-systems these sets are subspaces and for linear ft-systems they are cones. We start this chapter with the definition of the stable and unstable subspaces ${}^{\mathbb{T}}V_{s,u}(\cdot)$ of an hyperbolic ift-system, which have the representation

$$^{\mathbb{T}}V_s(t_0) = \mathcal{R}(P(t_0)), \ ^{\mathbb{T}}V_u(t_0) = \mathcal{N}(P(t_0)),$$

where $t_0 \in \mathbb{T}$, $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ and $P : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ is the unique invariant family of projectors of the hyperbolic ift-system. Then, in Section 4.1, we derive a definition for the stable and unstable cone of an ft-system from the definition of the subspaces. In Section 4.2 we prove that the stable and unstable cones ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}(\cdot)$ of an M-hyperbolic ft-system satisfy

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0) = \bigcup_{P(t_0)\in\mathcal{P}_{t_0}} \mathcal{R}(P(t_0)) \text{ and } {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0) = \bigcup_{P(t_0)\in\mathcal{P}_{t_0}} \mathcal{N}(P(t_0))$$

for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{T}$ a compact interval, where

 $\mathcal{P}_{t_0} := \{P(t_0) | P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k} \text{ is an invariant family of projectors such}$ that the the given ft-system is M-hyperbolic w.r.t. these family}.

This means, that the uniquely determined cones can be described by the union of the nonunique families of projectors.

An explicit representation of the stable and unstable subspaces and cones of a linear (ft-)hyperbolic system is of great interest for plotting and is established in **Chapter 5**. For D-hyperbolic systems we are able to find an explicit representation. The definitions of D-hyperbolic systems are based on a Γ -norm, $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma} = \sqrt{\langle \cdot, \Gamma \cdot \rangle}$, where $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ is a positive definite symmetric matrix and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the standard inner product. In Section 5.1 we analyze various types of autonomous ft-systems to find cases where a matrix Γ exists such that the given system is M-hyperbolic w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$.

In Section 5.2 we define D-hyperbolic systems. Additional to the Definition for continuous ft-systems as in [15], [45] and [43] we give a Definition for discrete ft-systems. The main ingredients of the D-hyperbolicity definitions are the Γ strain acceleration tensor $M_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$, the Γ -strain tensor $S_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$ and zero Γ -strain set $Z_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$. These tensors describe the numerical pattern of a given continuous system [15], [12, Proposition 2]. We deduce similar properties for discrete systems and present the results in Section 5.2.

In Section 5.3 we develop an explicit representation of stable and unstable cones of discrete D-hyperbolic systems. We state this and an explicit representation of the cones of continuous systems, which is given in [43, Proposition 19]. In Section 5.4 we prove that every D-hyperbolic system is also M-hyperbolic.

We conclude this chapter with various examples of 2- and 3-dimensional finite time systems ranging from autonomous and nonautonomous systems to continuous, discrete invertible and discrete noninvertible systems. Plots of the stable and unstable cones are shown in Section 5.5-5.7. The fact that these cones are fat objects raises the question how wide these cones are. This is a new question in the theory of finite time dynamical systems. In Section 5.6 and 5.7 we analyze the width of stable and unstable cones of invertible ft-systems in 2- and 3-dimensional spaces, respectively. We prove that the width of stable cones decays in backward time while the width of unstable cones decays in forward time. The decay depends on the eigenvalues of the Γ -strain tensor whereas the width at the boundary times depends on the relation between the eigenvalues. Further, we present upper bounds of the width, for which calculation the solution operator is not needed.

In Chapter 6 we introduce three alternative notions of finite time fiber bundles (D1), (D2) and (D3). The first notion of fiber bundles (D1), that we present in Section 6.1, describes the monotonically stable and unstable ftfiber bundles. This notion is based on the M-hyperbolicity concept and is also discussed in [45], [52] and [83]. In Section 6.2 and Section 6.3 we develop the other two notions of finite time fiber bundles, the monotonically ε -stable and unstable ft-fiber bundles (D2) and the ε -stable and unstable ft-fiber bundles (D3). In Section 6.4 we analyze the characteristics of the three introduced ftfiber bundles. In particular, we study their invariance properties and we verify that only the ε -stable and ε -unstable ft-fibers may intersect. These ones are abbreviate as ft-fiber bundles. In Section 6.6 we show roughly speaking that the stable and unstable cone of the linearization locally approximate the stable and unstable ft-fiber bundles. More precisely, we prove this property for the boundaries. We conclude this chapter with a new approach to approximate the stable and unstable fiber bundles. We present an algorithm which applies to both, invertible and noninvertible ift-systems, and is a generalization of the search circle algorithm in [48]. For two examples, one infinite, one finite, we plot the stable and unstable fibers. We calculate the infinite system with the developed algorithm and the finite time systems per iteration.

Chapter 7 contains the study of homoclinic trajectories. We introduce an adequate notion for ε -homoclinic trajectories (finite time) by requiring the conditions (1) and (2). Further, we define the ε -homoclinic tube, which is the union of all ε -homoclinic trajectories of an ft-systems. The two purposes of this chapter are the development of an approach to approximate the tube and the discretization of dynamical systems with homoclinic orbits. In Section 7.1 we develop a boundary value problem which provides the boundary of the ε -homoclinic tube. In Section 7.3 we discretize infinite and finite time dynamical systems with a one-step method. We prove that under certain conditions and for sufficiently small step sizes h the discretization of an iftsystem with a transversal homoclinic orbits has a transversal homoclinic orbit as well. Further, both homoclinic orbits lie in an Ch^{d} -neighborhood, where C > 0 and d is the order of the applied one-step method. A similar result holds for ft-systems. If an ft-system with an ε - homoclinic orbits is discretized by a one-step method of order d and step size h then the discretized system has a $(2Ch^d + \varepsilon)$ -homoclinic orbit. To obtain this achievements we discretize in Section 7.2 continuous systems, using the h-flow. This has no practical relevance from a numerical point of view but helps to derive error estimates of one-step methods in the last section.

We conclude this thesis with **Chapter 8**, where we present three applications. All for infinite time systems. Note that we studied finite time systems and approximated the ε -homoclinic tube in Section 7.1. In this chapter we construct a 2-dimensional example with an explicitly known homoclinic orbit. Further, we compare orbits of a one-step method with the exact ones and numerically verify our error estimates. For illustrating transversality of the computed orbits we look at the corresponding stable and unstable fiber bundles of the one-step discretization. We calculate the fibers with our algorithm from Section 6.7. The second application is a periodic autonomous ODE and the third one a nonautonomous model from mathematical biology.

Acknowledgement

Nun möchte ich noch die Möglichkeit nutzen mich bei all denjenigen zu bedanken, die mich während meiner Promotion unterstützt haben.

Zuallererst gebührt mein Dank Herrn PD Dr. Thorsten Hüls, der mich durch mein ganzes Studium begleitet hat und stets für mich da war. Besonders möchte ich mich für die wirklich gute Betreuung bedanken. Außerdem dafür, dass du mir mit hilfreichen Formulierungsvorschlägen und anregenden Ideen zur Seite standest. Vielen Dank für die spannenden und lehrreichen 8 Jahre in der Arbeitsgemeinschaft Numerik an der Universität Bielefeld. An dieser Stelle möchte ich mich bei der gesamten Arbeitsgruppe bedanken, insbesondere bei Herrn Prof. i. R. Dr. Wolf-Jürgen Bevn, der mir die Promotion ermöglicht hat.

Additionally, I like to thank Prof. Eduardo Liz and Prof. Dr. Christian Pötzsche for the opportunity to give a talk at the AIMS conference in Madrid at the beginning of my graduation in 2014.

Zum Schluss möchte ich mich bei meinen Freunden und Eltern bedanken, die mich auf unterschiedlichste Weise unterstützt haben. Danke für die Formatierungshilfen Dr. Lukas Wresch. Danke für die sprachliche Unterstützung Michaela Pohl, Sandra Rott und Louisa Girod. Danke Denis Dyck, Daniel Kappe und Michael Laß für ihre Korrekturvorschläge zur Notation. Danke Marion Dewert-Girod, Rainer Girod und Timo Kaja für die vielseitige Unterstützung.

Chapter 2

Basic Concepts

In this chapter the basis for this thesis is set. The first section establishes a general notation used throughout this dissertation. Further, some basic definitions are given. In subsection 2.2 we introduce dynamical systems.

Notations and Basic Definitions

In this section we first define a few symbols. Then we introduce some notations and finally define terms, which are needed in the following.

- I identity matrix
- \mathbb{R} real numbers
- $\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ real numbers ≥ 0
- $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ real numbers > 0
 - \mathbb{Z} integral numbers
 - \mathbb{N} natural numbers without 0
 - \mathcal{S}^1 unit sphere in \mathbb{R}^k
 - \overline{U} the closure of $U \subset \mathbb{R}^k$
- ∂U the boundary of $U \subset \mathbb{R}^k$
- \mathcal{C}^{j} set of *j*-times continuous differentiable systems

In the following we introduce various notations that are used throughout this thesis. Set $r\mathbb{Z} := \{\ldots, -3r, -2r, -r, 0, r, 2r, 3r, \ldots\}$.

We shorten discrete one sided bounded intervals by

$$\mathbb{Z}_N^+ := [N, \infty) \cap \mathbb{Z}, \ \mathbb{Z}_N^- := (-\infty, N] \cap \mathbb{Z} \text{ for all } N \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

To have a uniform notation for discrete and continuous compact time intervals we will write for $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}, t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$

$$[t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}} := \begin{cases} [t_{-}, t_{+}], & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ [t_{-}, t_{+}] \cap \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Analogously, we define $(t_-, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}, [t_-, t_+)_{\mathbb{T}}$ and $(t_-, t_+)_{\mathbb{T}}$.

For a compact time interval $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}$ we always assume $t_+ > t_-$. For a compact interval $\mathbb{I} := [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $j \in \mathbb{N}$ we define

$$\mathbb{I}_j := [t_-, t_+ - j]_{\mathbb{Z}}, \ _j \mathbb{I} := [t_- + j, t_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}.$$

Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$ then the open and closed ε -ball around x are denoted by

$$B_{\varepsilon}(x) := \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^k | \|x - y\|_2 < \varepsilon \},\$$

$$B_{\varepsilon}[x] := \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^k | \|x - y\|_2 \le \varepsilon \},\$$

where $\|\cdot\|_2$ is the euclidean norm.

To shorten the notation of partial derivatives, we use upper and lower indices, i.e. for $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$

$$(\varphi_n)_{x,h}^{(i,j)}(x,h) := \frac{\partial^i}{\partial x^i} \frac{\partial^j}{\partial h^j} \varphi_n(x,h),$$
$$(\varphi_n)_x(x,h) := (\varphi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,0)}(x,h) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \varphi_n(x,h)$$

 $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ denotes a positive definite $(\Gamma > 0)$ and symmetric $(\Gamma = \Gamma^T)$ matrix. The induced Γ -norm is defined by $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma} = \sqrt{\langle\cdot, \Gamma \cdot\rangle}$, where $\langle\cdot, \cdot\rangle$ is the standard inner product.

Definition 2.1.1. A matrix $A \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ is degenerate if 0 is an eigenvalue. Otherwise we say A is nondegenerate. We call A positive definite (A > 0)if $\langle \xi, A\xi \rangle > 0$ holds for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\}$ and say A is negative definite (A < 0) if $\langle \xi, A\xi \rangle < 0$ is true for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\}$. If A is not positive and not negative definite and $\langle \xi, A\xi \rangle \neq 0$ for at least one $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$ than A is indefinite.

Remark 2.1.2. In this paper we also call positive semi-definite and negative semi-definite matrices indefinite.

Definition 2.1.3. A matrix $P : \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}^k$ is called a projector if $P \circ P = P$.

Remark 2.1.4. We denote the kernel of a matrix P by $\mathcal{N}(P)$ and the range of the matrix by $\mathcal{R}(P)$. The linear case of a vector $v \in \mathbb{R}^k$ is given by $\mathcal{L}(v) := \{\lambda v \in \mathbb{R}^k | \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}$. And for the dimension of a subspace $U \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ we write dim(U).

Definition 2.1.5. Let $A \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ and $U_A \subset A$ be a subspace. We say that U_A is a subspace of maximal dimension if no subspace $\tilde{U}_A \subset A$ exists with $\dim(\tilde{U}_A) > \dim(U_A)$. If U_A is a subspace of maximal dimension then we say A is of dimension $\dim(U_A)$.

Lemma 2.1.6. Let $A, B \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ be two sets with $A \cap B = \{0\}$. If there exist subspaces $U_A \subset A$, $U_B \subset B$ with $U_A + U_B = \mathbb{R}^k$ then U_A, U_B are subspaces of maximal dimension.

Proof. Assume w.l.o.g. there exists a subspace $\tilde{U}_A \subset A$ with $\dim(\tilde{U}_A) > \dim(U_A)$. Then by $U_A \cap U_B \subset A \cap B = \{0\}$ and the dimension formula we obtain

$$k = \dim(U_A + U_B) = \dim(U_A) + \dim(U_B) - \dim(U_A \cap U_B)$$
$$= \dim(U_A) + \dim(U_B) < \dim(\tilde{U}_A) + \dim(U_B) = k + \dim(\tilde{U}_A \cap U_B)$$

This implies $0 < \dim(\tilde{U}_A \cap U_B)$ which is a contradiction to $\tilde{U}_A \cap U_B \subset A \cap B = \{0\}$. Thus U_A is a subspace of maximal dimension.

Definition 2.1.7. A function $f : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}$ is called *increasing* on \mathbb{I} if for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \ge s$ we have $f(t) \ge f(s)$. If $f(t) \le f(s)$ for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \ge s$ the function is *decreasing* on \mathbb{I} . When we write f(t) is increasing (decreasing) for $t \in \mathbb{I}$ we mean that $f : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}$ is increasing (decreasing) on \mathbb{I} .

Dynamical Systems

Dynamical systems can be categorized into the following pairs of classes: finitedimensional and infinite-dimensional systems, continuous and discrete systems, invertible and noninvertible systems as well as autonomous and nonautonomous systems. In this thesis we restrict the study of dynamical systems to finite-dimensional systems. Systems of this kind are generated by e.g. ordinary differential equations, ordinary differential inequalities, ordinary difference equations and ordinary difference inequalities. For a deeper discussion of dynamical systems we refer to [99] and [100]. A historical overview of the field of differential equations and its developments is presented in [78, Section 11.1] and [101, Introduction]. Many problems, such as oscillating circuits, population dynamics, diagnosis of diseases, ocean eddies, tornados and discovery of art forgery, in different fields ranging from physics and biology to geology and sociology can be represented by a differential or difference equation, see [134], [79], [129], [118] and [63]. Thus, the theory of dynamical systems provides powerful tools to analyze such problems.

In this section we introduce dynamical systems that are generated by ordinary differential and ordinary difference equations. Further, we define and analyze some properties of invariant families of projectors, which play a decisive role for hyperbolic systems. Roughly speaking they provide all solutions that decay or grow at certain rates.

For the definition of an autonomous dynamical system and the differences between autonomous and nonautonomous systems we refer to [90, Section 1.1] and [88, Definition 2.1 ff.]. Here, we introduce nonautonomous dynamical systems on the Banach space \mathbb{R}^k , $k \in \mathbb{N}$, which include autonomous systems as well, see [88, Definition 2.1].

Definition 2.2.1. A (nonautonomous) dynamical system is a triple

 $(\mathbb{R}^k, \mathbb{T}, \varphi),$

where \mathbb{T} is a time set and $\varphi: X \times \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T} \to X$ is a function with the properties

• $\varphi(x, t, t) = x$ for all $t \in \mathbb{T}, x \in \mathbb{R}^k$,

•
$$\varphi(\varphi(x,s,r),t,s) = \varphi(x,t,r)$$
 for all $t, s, r \in \mathbb{T}, t \ge s \ge r, x \in \mathbb{R}^k$.

A dynamical system is **invertible** if the function $\varphi(\cdot, t, s)$ is invertible for all $t, s \in \mathbb{T}$. It is an **infinite time** system if \mathbb{T} is infinite and a **finite time** system if \mathbb{T} is finite. If $\mathbb{T} \subset \mathbb{R}$ is an interval then the dynamical system is called a **continuous** system and if $\mathbb{T} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ is a discrete time interval – in the following just called an interval – then the system is called a **discrete** system.

For some results we have to distinguish between infinite time systems and finite time systems. We abbreviate infinite time systems as **ift-systems** and finite time systems as **ft-systems**.

To set a general notion consider a dynamical system

$$(\mathbb{R}^k, \mathbb{I}, \varphi) \text{ with } \varphi \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}^k)$$
(2.1)

where \mathbb{I} denotes an interval. In continuous time, $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}$, a differential equation

$$\dot{x}(t) = f(x(t), t), \ t \in \mathbb{I}$$
(2.2)

generates such a dynamical system (2.1) and for $f \in \mathcal{C}^{1,0}(\mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}^k)$ solutions of (2.2) with an initial value $x(t_0) = x_0$ locally exist and are unique (Picard-Lindelöf Theorem [3, Theorem 8.14]). This leads to an invertible solution operator φ . The infinitesimal generator is

$$f(x_0,t) = \lim_{h \to 0, h \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\varphi(x_0,t+h,t) - x_0}{h}, \ t, t+h \in \mathbb{I}$$

for an initial value $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^k$. If $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ is a discrete time set a difference equation

$$x(n+1) = f(x(n), n), \ n \in \mathbb{I}$$

$$(2.3)$$

generates a dynamical system (2.1). In contrast to (2.2), the solution operator φ of (2.3) is generally not invertible. If the system is invertible then the solution operator is invertible and satisfies

$$\varphi(u, n, m) := \begin{cases} f(f(\dots f(u, m), \dots n - 2), n - 1), & \text{for } n > m, \\ u, & \text{for } n = m, \\ f^{-1}(f^{-1}(\dots f^{-1}(u, m - 1), \dots n - 1), n), & \text{for } n < m, \end{cases}$$

see [10]. To define hyperbolicity of a solution $\xi(t) = \varphi(\xi(s), t, s), t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$ of (2.2) or (2.3) we need the linearization, the variational equation, of (2.2) along $\xi(\cdot)$

$$\dot{u}(t) = f_x(\xi(t), t)u(t) =: A(t)u(t), \ t \in \mathbb{I}$$
 (2.4)

respectively of (2.3),

$$u(n+1) = f_x(\xi(n), n)u(n) =: A(n)u(n), \ n \in \mathbb{I}.$$
 (2.5)

These equations generate a linear dynamical system

 $(\mathbb{R}^k, \mathbb{I}, \Phi)$ with $\Phi(t, s) = \varphi_x(\xi(s), t, s), t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \ge s.$

If φ is the solution operator of (2.2) or (2.3) then Φ is the solution operator of the variational equation (2.4) or (2.5), respectively. In general, we denote a linear dynamical system by

$$(\mathbb{R}^{k}, \mathbb{I}, \Phi) \text{ with } \Phi \in \mathcal{C}^{1}(\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}),$$
(2.6)

which is generated by a linear differential equation

$$\dot{u}(t) = A(t)u(t), \ t \in \mathbb{I}$$
(2.7)

or a linear difference equation

$$u(n+1) = A(n)u(n), \ n \in \mathbb{I}_1,$$
(2.8)

where $\mathbb{I}_1 := [n_-, n_+ - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ if $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. In the following we assume that

$$f \in \mathcal{C}^{(1,0)}(\mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}^k), \ A \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}^{k \times k})$$

for f and A of the equations (2.2), (2.3), (2.7) and (2.8). Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ and $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{T}$ be an interval.

Definition 2.2.2. A trajectory of a dynamical system (2.1) is a function $x : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ satisfying $x(t) = \varphi(x(s), t, s)$ for all $s, t \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$.

For the manageability, it is sometimes helpful to use a linear notation even if the function is actually not linear. Let $X \subset \mathbb{R}^k$, $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$, $t \geq s$ then we define

$$\tilde{\varphi}(t,s)X := \{\varphi(x,t,s) | x \in X\}$$

and identify $\tilde{\varphi}$ with φ . For hyperbolic dynamical systems, which we introduce in Chapter 3, the definition of an invariant family of projectors is required, see e.g. in [115, Definition 4.2]. This family yields roughly speaking an invariant family of subspaces, which contains solutions that decay with a certain rate and an invariant family of subspaces, which contains solutions that grow with a certain rate.

Definition 2.2.3. We call a family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ of the dynamical system (2.6) invariant if the projectors fulfill

$$\Phi(t,s)P(s) = P(t)\Phi(t,s)$$

for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s$.

Basic properties of invariant families of projectors, that we need in the following, are summarized in [132, Proposition 6.82] and in the next lemma.

Lemma 2.2.4. Let \mathbb{I} be a interval and $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ be an invariant family of projectors, then

$$\Phi(t,s)\mathcal{R}(P(s)) \subset \mathcal{R}(P(t)), \ \Phi(t,s)\mathcal{N}(P(s)) \subset \mathcal{N}(P(t)) \ for \ all \ t, s \in \mathbb{I}, \ t \ge s.$$

Proof. Let $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$, $t \ge s$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s))$. Then we have $P(s)\xi = \xi$ and we obtain by the invariance of the projectors

$$\Phi(t,s)\xi = \Phi(t,s)P(s)\xi = P(t)\Phi(t,s)\xi.$$

This implies $\Phi(t,s)\xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(t))$. Thus, $\Phi(t,s)\mathcal{R}(P(s)) \subset \mathcal{R}(P(t))$ is satisfied. Let $\nu \in \mathcal{N}(P(s))$, then we have $P(s)\nu = 0$ and by the invariance of the projectors we get

$$0 = \Phi(t, s)P(s)\nu = P(t)\Phi(t, s)\nu.$$

This implies $\Phi(t, s)\nu \in \mathcal{N}(P(t))$. Thus, $\Phi(t, s)\mathcal{N}(P(s)) \subset \mathcal{N}(P(t))$ is satisfied.

For invertible systems we can easily construct an invariant family of projectors. For two subsets $X_s, X_u \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ such that $X_s \oplus X_u = \mathbb{R}^k$ we can define an invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ by

$$\mathcal{N}(P(t)) := \Phi(t, t_0) X_u,$$

$$\mathcal{R}(P(t)) := \Phi(t, t_0) X_s$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ and a fixed $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. For noninvertible systems this is not as simple as for invertible systems. The following Lemma yields a construction of a family of projectors such that this family is invariant.

Lemma 2.2.5. Let $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ be the solution operator of (2.6). Let $X_s, X_u \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ be two subspaces such that

$$X_s \oplus X_u = \mathbb{R}^k$$
 and $\dim(\Phi(t, t_-)X_u) = \dim(X_u)$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Then the family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$, recursively defined by

$$\mathcal{N}(P(t)) := \Phi(t, t_{-}) X_u \text{ for } t \in \mathbb{I},$$

$$\mathcal{R}(P(t)) := \begin{cases} X_s, & \text{for } t = t_{-}, \\ \Phi(t, t - 1) \mathcal{R}(P(t - 1)) + W_s(t), & \text{for } t \in \mathbb{I}, t \neq t_{-}, \end{cases}$$

is invariant, where $W_s(t) \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ for $t \in \mathbb{I}_1$ are subspaces such that

 $(\Phi(t,t-1)\mathcal{R}(P(t-1)) + W_s(t)) \oplus \Phi(t,t_-)X_u = \mathbb{R}^k.$

Proof. The invariance of X_u yields that the family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ is well defined. Let $t \in {}_1\mathbb{I}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$. Then there exist $x_s \in \mathcal{R}(P(t-1)), x_u \in \mathcal{N}(P(t-1))$ such that $x = x_s + x_u$ and

$$P(t-1)x = P(t-1)x_s + P(t-1)x_u = x_s + 0 = x_s$$
(2.9)

hold. We define $y_{s,u} := \Phi(t, t-1)x_{s,u}$. For $x_u \in \mathcal{N}(P(t-1)) = \Phi(t-1, t_-)X_u$ there exists a $x_u^u \in X_u$ such that $x_u = \Phi(t-1, t_-)x_u^u$. For y_u we obtain

$$y_u = \Phi(t, t-1)x_u = \Phi(t, t-1)\Phi(t-1, t_-)x_u^u \\ = \Phi(t, t_-)x_u^u \in \Phi(t, t_-)X_u = \mathcal{N}(P(t)).$$

Thus

$$P(t)y_u = 0 \tag{2.10}$$

holds. The definition of the ranges $\mathcal{R}(P(\cdot))$ yields

$$y_s = \Phi(t, t-1)x_s \in \Phi(t, t-1)\mathcal{R}(P(t-1)) \subset \mathcal{R}(P(t)).$$

This leads to

$$P(t)y_s = y_s. (2.11)$$

By equation (2.9)-(2.11) we get

$$P(t)\Phi(t,t-1)x = P(t)\Phi(t,t-1)x_s + P(t)\Phi(t,t-1)x_u = P(t)y_s + P(t)y_u$$

= $y_s = \Phi(t,t-1)x_s = \Phi(t,t-1)P(t-1)x.$

Inductively we obtain $P(t)\Phi(t,s) = \Phi(t,s)P(s)$ for all $t,s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s$. Hence, the family of projectors is invariant.

Chapter 3 Hyperbolicity

An important tool to characterize structural stability of a dynamical system is hyperbolicity, see e.g. [103], [27]. In the early eighties Mañe [98] proved that stable systems generated by a C^1 diffeomorphism must be hyperbolic. About fifteen years later Hayashi [64] showed the same statement for C^1 flows.

We start by defining hyperbolicity for continuous and discrete time systems on an infinite time interval. By analyzing the hyperbolicity conditions of an iftsystem we get a reasonable definition of hyperbolicity for finite time systems. In Section 3.3 we point out some important differences and similarities between hyperbolic ift-systems and hyperbolic ft-systems. In the last Section 3.4 we present different Roughness-Theorems, which guarantee the preservation of hyperbolicity under sufficiently small additive perturbations.

Infinite Time Hyperbolicity

In the following we define hyperbolicity using the notion of exponential dichotomies, which has been developed for continuous ift-systems by e.g. Coppel [40] and Palmer [104, Chapter 2]. For discrete invertible ift-systems an exponential dichotomy, see [105], is similarly defined as in the continuous time case. If a dynamical ift-systems is noninvertible, we may assume for an invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ the **regularity condition**

 $\Phi(t,s)|_{\mathcal{N}(P(s))}: \mathcal{N}(P(s)) \to \mathcal{N}(P(t)) \text{ is invertible for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s,$

where Φ denotes the solution operator. The definition of an exponential dichotomy for noninvertible systems in [36, page 549], [21, Definition 17], [66, Definition 7.6.1], [10, Definition 2.2] and [80, Definition 4.3] is based on this regular condition, whereas the definition in [81, Definition 2.1.2] does not require the condition. If an exponential dichotomy for noninvertible ift-systems is additionally defined with the regularity condition, in contrast to without, then the statements about hyperbolic invertible ift-systems are fundamentally transferable. In this dissertation we study noninvertible systems as well. Accordingly, we use [66, Definition 7.6.1] as a basis. **Definition 3.1.1.** Let \mathbb{I} be an infinite time interval. The dynamical system (2.6) has an **exponential dichotomy** on \mathbb{I} if there exist constants $K, \alpha, \beta > 0$ and an invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ such that the following holds

$$\Phi(t,s)|_{\mathcal{N}(P(s))}: \mathcal{N}(P(s)) \to \mathcal{N}(P(t)) \text{ is invertible for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \ge s, (3.1)$$

and the estimates

$$\|\Phi(t,s)P(s)\| \le Ke^{-\alpha(t-s)}, \quad \|\Phi(s,t)(I-P(t))\| \le Ke^{-\beta(t-s)}$$
 (3.2)

are satisfied for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$, $t \geq s$, where $\Phi(s,t)$ denotes the inverse of $\Phi(t,s)|_{\mathcal{N}(P(s))}$. The corresponding **data** are $(K, \alpha, \beta, P(\cdot))$ and we call such a system **hyperbolic**.

The constant α is often called the **decay rate** and β the **growth rate**. If we are not interested in the exact decay or growth rate then the data are presented by $(K, \bar{\alpha}, P(\cdot))$, where $\bar{\alpha} := \min\{\alpha, \beta\}$. On the other hand the data may alternatively have the form $(K, \alpha, \beta, P(\cdot), Q(\cdot))$, where $P(\cdot)$ denotes the family of stable projectors, which fulfills $\|\Phi(t, s)P(s)\| \leq Ke^{-\alpha(t-s)}$ and $Q(\cdot) :=$ $I - P(\cdot)$ denotes the family of unstable projectors, which fulfills $\|\Phi(s, t)Q(t)\| \leq$ $Ke^{-\beta(t-s)}$ for $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$.

Definition 3.1.2. Let $(\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R})/(\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{Z})$ be an infinite interval then the linear equation (2.7) /(2.8) is called **hyperbolic** if the corresponding dynamical system (2.6) has an exponential dichotomy in the sense of Definition 3.1.1. A trajectory $\xi(\cdot)$ of system (2.1) generated by equation (2.2)/(2.3) is **hyperbolic** if the corresponding variational equation (2.4)/(2.5) is hyperbolic.

In the next section we derive a reasonable definition of hyperbolicity for finite time systems. This definition uses a vector-norm, not a matrix norm, and we will see that finite time hyperbolicity depends on the chosen norm. By the equivalence of two norms in $\mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ we immediately observe that Definition 3.1.1 is independent of the choice of the norm, i.e. that the hyperbolicity estimates in (3.2) do not depend on the chosen norm. Using an induced matrix norm in (3.2), yields that Definition 3.1.1 can be rewritten as follows.

Lemma 3.1.3. Let \mathbb{I} be an infinite time interval and $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ an invariant family of projectors of (2.6) satisfying (3.1). Let $\alpha, \beta > 0$. Then there exists a constant K > 0 such that (3.2) is satisfied with an induced matrix norm $\|\cdot\|_M$ if and only if there exist constants C, C' > 0 such that the following estimates hold for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$

$$\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\| \le Ce^{-\alpha(t-s)} \|\xi\| \qquad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s)), \qquad (3.3)$$

$$\|\Phi(s,t)\xi\| \le Ce^{-\beta(t-s)}\|\xi\| \qquad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(t)), \qquad (3.4)$$

$$\|P(s)\|_M \le C',\tag{3.5}$$

where $\|\cdot\|$ is the corresponding vector norm to $\|\cdot\|_M$.

Proof. Assume that the linear dynamical system (2.6) has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{I} with data $(K, \alpha, \beta, P(\cdot))$. Let $s \in \mathbb{I}$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s))$. Let the estimates in (3.2) be satisfied. Then for every $t \geq s$ we obtain

$$\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\| = \|\Phi(t,s)P(s)\xi\| \le \|\Phi(t,s)P(s)\|_M \|\xi\| \le Ke^{-\alpha(t-s)} \|\xi\|$$

and analogously, for $\xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(s))$, the estimate (3.4) is satisfied. The boundedness of the projectors (3.5) follows directly from (3.2) with t = s. Conversely, let (3.3)-(3.5) be true then we get for an induced matrix norm and for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(t,s)P(s)\|_{M} &= \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k}} \frac{\|\Phi(t,s)P(s)\xi\|}{\|\xi\|} = \|P(s)\|_{M} \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k}} \frac{\|\Phi(t,s)P(s)\xi\|}{\|P(s)\|_{M}\|\xi\|} \\ &\leq \|P(s)\|_{M} \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k}} \frac{\|\Phi(t,s)P(s)\xi\|}{\|P(s)\xi\|} \leq \|P(s)\|_{M} \sup_{\xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s))} \frac{\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\|}{\|\xi\|} \\ &\leq \|P(s)\|_{M} Ce^{-\alpha(t-s)}. \end{split}$$

With equation (3.5) the first estimate in (3.2) holds. Analogously, we can conclude the second estimate in (3.2).

The estimates (3.3)-(3.5) are well known for defining hyperbolic dynamical systems. For example in [10, Definition 2.2] we find an exponential dichotomy definition, which is similar to the estimates (3.3)-(3.5). Kalkbrenner used in [81, pp.6-7] a similar notation for the hyperbolicity definition of noninvertible systems.

Finite Time Hyperbolicity (M-Hyperbolicity)

In the literature several nonequivalent definitions of finite time hyperbolic systems exist. They can roughly be separated into at least two classes. The first one is based on the concept of exponential dichotomies – we will call such systems M-hyperbolic – and the second one is based on the dynamical pattern of the given system. This kind of hyperbolicity we call D-hyperbolicity. We will define and study both classes. In this chapter we are focused on M-hyperbolic systems and in Chapter 5 we introduce and discuss D-hyperbolic systems. For continuous systems we find a general definition of M-hyperbolicity in [43, Definition 1] and [14, Definition 1.2]. In [16, Definition 2] and [13, Definition 1] the same definition of M-hyperbolicity is presented using a special type of norm, which is also used for defining D-hyperbolicity in [15], [45] and in [43]. We study this special type of norm – the so called Γ -norm – in Section 5.1. Karrasch [82, Definition 3.3] used growth rates to define hyperbolicity of invertible systems and proved in [82, Lemma 3.5] that his definition is equivalent to the D-hyperbolicity definition. For proving whether a system is M-hyperbolic it would be convenient to check concrete conditions on the spectral data of A(t)of (2.4)/(2.5). For ift-systems it is well known that a study of the eigenvalues of the matrix $A(\cdot)$ does not help to prove hyperbolicity, see [37, p. 30] for a continuous time example due to Vinograd and for a discrete time example we refer to [47, Example 4.17]. Similar results exist for ft-systems. Autonomous continuous ft-systems (2.6) are M-hyperbolic if the eigenvalues of A do not lie on the imaginary axis and autonomous discrete ft-systems (2.6) are M-hyperbolic if the eigenvalues of A do not have absolute value 1. For 2-dimensional ft-systems Haller presented in [59] conditions on the spectral data of A that ensure hyperbolicity of ft-systems. Nevertheless, conditions relying on spectral data have their pitfalls, shown in [12, Section 2]. For 3-dimensional ft-systems the eigenvalues of $A(\cdot)$ do not provide any information about the dynamical properties of the ft-system, for more details see [12, Section 2] and [60, Theorem 1]. An alternative is to prove D-hyperbolicity of an ft-system. This might be easier than proving M-hyperbolicity, since the definition of D-hyperbolicity is based on the dynamical pattern of the ft-system. In Section 5.4 we prove that every D-hyperbolic system is also M-hyperbolic.

In this section we only introduce M-hyperbolic systems and we derive the definition (Definition 3.2.3) from the definition of a hyperbolic ift-system (Lemma 3.1.3).

If I is a compact interval then we observe that the estimate (3.5) is always satisfied for a sufficiently large constant C' > 0. Further, the estimates (3.3) and (3.4) are true for every invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ satisfying (3.1) by choosing the constant C sufficiently large. To avoid this we need to fix C. The fixing of C causes a dependence on the norm of the hyperbolicity estimates (3.3) and (3.4).

Definition 3.2.1. Fix $K \in [1, \infty)$ and let \mathbb{I} be a compact interval. Then the dynamical system (2.6) is **K-hyperbolic** (on \mathbb{I} and w.r.t the norm $\|\cdot\|$) if there exists an invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$, which fulfills (3.1), together with exponential rates $\alpha, \beta > 0$ such that for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Phi(t,s)\xi\| &\leq Ke^{-\alpha(t-s)} \|\xi\| \quad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s)), \\ \|\Phi(s,t)\xi\| &\leq Ke^{-\beta(t-s)} \|\xi\| \quad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(t)) \end{aligned}$$
(3.6)

are satisfied, where $\Phi(s,t)$ denotes the inverse of $\Phi(t,s)|_{\mathcal{N}(P(s))}$.

This definition has its pros and cons. In the next example we show one disadvantage, which motivates the search for another definition of finite time hyperbolicity. In this example we prove that the nonhyperbolic ift-system generated by the zero matrix is K-hyperbolic for any K > 1 and on any compact interval.

Example 3.2.2. Consider the linear differential equation

$$\dot{x} = A(t)x, \text{ with } x \in \mathbb{R}^2 \text{ and } A(t) = 0 \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}$$

$$(3.7)$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}] \neq \emptyset$. Then the solution operator Φ of (3.7) is the identity for all times. Define $P(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Fix K > 1 and define

$$\alpha := \beta := \frac{\log(K)}{t_+ - t_-} > 0.$$

Choose an arbitrary $s \in \mathbb{I}$ and a norm $\|\cdot\|$ on \mathbb{R}^2 . Then we get for all $\xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s))$ and $t \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s$

$$Ke^{-\alpha(t-s)} \|\xi\| = Ke^{-\log(K)\frac{(t-s)}{t_+ - t_-}} \|\xi\| \ge Ke^{-\log(K)} \|\xi\| = \|\xi\| = \|\Phi(t,s)\xi\|$$

and for all $\xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(s))$ and $s \leq t \in \mathbb{I}$

$$Ke^{-\beta(t-s)} \|\xi\| = Ke^{-\log(K)} \frac{(t-s)}{t_+-t_-} \|\xi\| \ge Ke^{-\log(K)} \|\xi\| = \|\xi\| = \|\Phi(s,t)\xi\|.$$

The estimates in (3.6) are satisfied for an arbitrary, but fixed constant K > 1. Thus, our example is K-hyperbolic with K > 1 on any compact interval.

This should not be the case, at least not for the trivial nonhyperbolic system. Hence, the only constant for which the system is not K-hyperbolic is K = 1. We choose 1-hyperbolicity as an adequate notion of hyperbolicity for ft-systems.

Solutions of hyperbolic ift-systems, which lie on the stable or unstable manifold of a fixed point x, converge toward the fixed point, but in general not strictly monotone. We require this monotonicity for solutions of ft-systems by setting K = 1. To point out this essential difference we call hyperbolic ft-systems M-hyperbolic. We define hyperbolicity for the finite time context as in [16].

Definition 3.2.3. Let \mathbb{I} be a compact interval. The dynamical system (2.6) has an **ft-exponential dichotomy** (finite time) (on \mathbb{I} and w.r.t. the norm $\|\cdot\|$) if there exist an invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ and exponential rates $\alpha, \beta > 0$ with following properties. The solution operator

$$\Phi(t,s)|_{\mathcal{N}(P(s))}: \mathcal{N}(P(s)) \to \mathcal{N}(P(t)) \text{ is invertible for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \ge s \quad (3.8)$$

and the estimates

$$\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\| \le e^{-\alpha(t-s)} \|\xi\| \qquad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s)), \tag{3.9}$$

$$\|\Phi(s,t)\xi\| \le e^{-\beta(t-s)} \|\xi\| \qquad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(t)) \tag{3.10}$$

are satisfied for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$, $t \geq s$, where $\Phi(s,t)$ denotes the inverse of $\Phi(t,s)|_{\mathcal{N}(P(s))}$. The corresponding **data** are $(\alpha, \beta, P(\cdot))$ and we call such a system **M-hyperbolic** (monotonically hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$).

Definition 3.2.4. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ and $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{T}$ be a compact interval. The linear equation (2.7)/(2.8) is called **M-hyperbolic** (monotonically hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen norm) if the corresponding dynamical system (2.6) has an ft-exponential dichotomy in the sense of Definition 3.2.3. A trajectory $\xi(\cdot)$ of system (2.1) generated by equation (2.2)/(2.3) is **M-hyperbolic** (on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen norm) if the corresponding variational equation (2.4)/(2.5) is M-hyperbolic (on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen norm).

It is easy to see that 1-hyperbolicity (K = 1) is equivalent to M-hyperbolicity. We already mentioned one serious disadvantage of K-hyperbolic systems for K > 1, i.e. that the trivial nonhyperbolic ift-system $\dot{x} = 0$ is K-hyperbolic on every finite time interval for K > 1. Thus, why should we be interested in K-hyperbolic (K > 1) systems? Not all hyperbolic systems on an infinite time interval \mathbb{I} are M-hyperbolic on a finite time subinterval $\mathbb{J} \subset \mathbb{I}$. At least for each finite time interval $\mathbb{J} \subset \mathbb{I}$ there exists a constant K > 1 such that the given hyperbolic system is K-hyperbolic on \mathbb{J} .

Note that we required for M-hyperbolicity that $-\alpha < 0 < \beta$. A analysis of the consequences if we require $-\alpha < C < \beta$ for a constant $C \in \mathbb{R}$ (it is possible that $0 < -\alpha$ or $\beta < 0$) instead of $-\alpha < 0 < \beta$ might lead to new results but is beyond the scope of this thesis. For the infinite time case there exist studies concerning the spectral splitting described above, cf. [8] and [9].

To prove whether a system is M-hyperbolic we have to verify the estimates (3.9) and (3.10). We show equivalent inequalities as well as invariant properties of the kernel and range of an invariant family of projectors which satisfies (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10).

Lemma 3.2.5. Let system (2.6) be *M*-hyperbolic on a compact interval \mathbb{I} with an invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$. Then

$$\Phi(t,s)\mathcal{R}(P(s)) \subset \mathcal{R}(P(t)) \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, \ t \ge s,$$
(3.11)

$$\Phi(t,s)\mathcal{N}(P(s)) = \mathcal{N}(P(t)) \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}.$$
(3.12)

If the solution operator is invertible we have for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$

$$\Phi(t,s)\mathcal{R}(P(s)) = \mathcal{R}(P(t)). \tag{3.13}$$

Proof. Let $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ and $t \geq s$. By Lemma 2.2.4 we get (3.11) and

$$\Phi(t,s)\mathcal{N}(P(s)) \subset \mathcal{N}(P(t)).$$

The M-hyperbolicity yields that $\Phi(t,s)|_{\mathcal{N}(P(s))} : \mathcal{N}(P(s)) \to \mathcal{N}(P(t))$ is invertible for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$. Then the dimension of both sets satisfies $\dim(\mathcal{N}(P(s))) = \dim(\mathcal{N}(P(t)))$ for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$. Since we already showed that the left-hand side of (3.12) is a subset of the right-hand side we get equality in (3.12). Assuming that the solution operator is invertible we obtain that

$$\Phi(t,s): \mathcal{R}(P(s)) \oplus \mathcal{N}(P(s)) = \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}^k = \mathcal{R}(P(t)) \oplus \mathcal{N}(P(t))$$

is invertible for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$. By (3.8) we get the invertibility of

$$\Phi(t,s)|_{\mathcal{R}(P(s))}: \mathcal{R}(P(s)) \to \mathcal{R}(P(t))$$

for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$, $t \ge s$. Analogous to (3.12) it follows that (3.13) holds.

In the M-hyperbolic definition, see Definition 3.2.3, we only require the solution operator restricted to the kernel of an invariant family of projectors to be invertible. Which statements can be established under this weak regularity assumption about the solution operator of a linear system if it is not invertible, i.e. if the kernel of the operator is not the zero set?

We will see that the kernel of the solution operator is a subspace of the stable cone, see for M-hyperbolic systems Lemma 3.2.6 and Lemma 4.2.4 and for D-hyperbolic systems see Lemma 5.3.3. In Lemma 3.2.6 we prove that the kernel is a subspace of the range of every invariant family of projectors, which satisfies (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10). Lemma 4.2.4 yields that the range of every invariant family of projectors, which satisfies (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10), is a subset of the stable cone. Note that for continuous systems the kernel of the projectors equals the zero-set, since the solution operator is invertible. Thus, the following lemma is always true in the continuous setting.

Lemma 3.2.6. Let $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and (2.8) be *M*-hyperbolic with solution operator $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$. Then for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and $P(n_0) \in \mathcal{P}_{n_0} := \{\tilde{P}(n_0) | \tilde{P} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ is an invariant family of projectors such that (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10) are satisfied with some constants $\alpha, \beta > 0$ } we have

$$\mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_+, n_0)) \subset \mathcal{R}(P(n_0)).$$

Proof. Fix $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Let $x \in \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_+, n_0))$ and $P(n_0) \in \mathcal{P}_{n_0}$. Then there exist by [132, Proposition 6.82] an $x_s \in \mathcal{R}(P(n_0))$ and an $x_u \in \mathcal{N}(P(n_0))$ with $x = x_s + x_u$. Thus,

$$\Phi(n_+, n_0)x_u = \Phi(n_+, n_0)(x - x_s) = \Phi(n_+, n_0)x - \Phi(n_+, n_0)x_s$$

= 0 - \Phi(n_+, n_0)x_s = \Phi(n_+, n_0)(-x_s).

By (3.11) and (3.12) we get

$$\mathcal{R}(P(n_+)) \supset \Phi(n_+, n_0) \mathcal{R}(P(n_0))$$

$$\ni \Phi(n_+, n_0)(-x_s)$$

$$= \Phi(n_+, n_0) x_u \in \Phi(n_+, n_0) \mathcal{N}(P(n_0)) = \mathcal{N}(P(n_+)).$$

This implies that $\Phi(n_+, n_0)x_u \in \mathcal{R}(P(n_+)) \cap \mathcal{N}(P(n_+)) = \{0\}$, see [132, Proposition 6.82]. The invertibility of $\Phi(n_+, n_0)|_{\mathcal{N}(P(n_0))}$ yields $x_u = 0$ and we obtain $x = x_s \in \mathcal{R}(P(n_0))$. Hence, the proof is complete.

For invertible systems Lemma 3.2.7 gives equivalent estimates to the M-hyperbolic estimates (3.9) and (3.10).

Lemma 3.2.7. Let \mathbb{I} be a compact interval and $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ an invariant family of projectors of system (2.6) satisfying (3.8) and let $\alpha, \beta > 0$. Then the family P and the constant $\beta > 0$ satisfy the estimate (3.10) if and only if

$$\left|\Phi(t,s)\xi\right| \ge e^{\beta(t-s)} \left\|\xi\right\| \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \ge s \text{ and } \xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(s)) \tag{3.14}$$

is true. If (2.6) is invertible, then the estimate (3.9) is equivalent to

$$\|\Phi(s,t)\xi\| \ge e^{\alpha(t-s)} \|\xi\| \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \ge s \text{ and } \xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s)).$$
(3.15)

Proof. Let $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(s))$. Then we find by the invariance of the kernel of the family of projectors and by the invertibility of $\Phi(t, s)|_{\mathcal{N}(P(s))}$ a $\nu \in \mathcal{N}(P(t))$ with $\xi = \Phi(s, t)\nu$. By (3.10) we get

$$\|\Phi(s,t)\nu\| \le e^{-\beta(t-s)}\|\nu\|.$$

Multiplying with $e^{\beta(t-s)} \ge 1$ we obtain

$$\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\| \ge e^{\beta(t-s)} \|\xi\|.$$

Thus, estimate (3.10) is equivalent to (3.14). Similarly, the equivalence of (3.9) and (3.15) follows for invertible systems.

To obtain equivalent statements of (3.9) and (3.10) we introduce the strain tensor. This tensor is also used in continuum mechanics to describe the rate of deformation of a body of a continuum medium (solid, liquid or gas) locally at a certain time. For more details and physical interpretations we refer to [93, p. 46-57], [123]. The names strain-rate tensor, rate-of-strain tensor or rate-ofdeformation tensor or just strain tensor denote the same tensor.

The next definition and statements for continuous time systems originate from [45], [15], [43], [62] and for the two dimensional case from [61]. In addition we introduce similar concepts for discrete time systems.

Let $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ be a positive definite symmetric matrix $(\Gamma^T = \Gamma > 0)$. Then define $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma} := \sqrt{\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\Gamma}}, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\Gamma} := \langle \cdot, \Gamma \cdot \rangle$, where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the standard inner product. Note that this norm – called Γ -norm – is differentiable.

Definition 3.2.8. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{T}$ a compact interval and let $\Gamma^T = \Gamma > 0$. Then the symmetric matrix

$$S_{\Gamma}(t) := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} [\Gamma A(t) + A(t)^{T} \Gamma], & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \ t \in \mathbb{I}, \\ A(t)^{T} \Gamma A(t) - \Gamma, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \ t \in \mathbb{I}_{1} \end{cases}$$

is called the Γ -strain tensor of equation (2.7)/(2.8). The set

$$Z_{\Gamma}(t) := \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t)\xi \rangle = 0\}$$

defined for all $t \in \begin{cases} \mathbb{I}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \mathbb{I}_1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$ is called the zero Γ -strain set of equation (2.7)/(2.8).

For $\Gamma = I$ we write $S(\cdot)$ and $Z(\cdot)$ instead of $S_{I}(\cdot)$ and $Z_{I}(\cdot)$.

In continuous time the Γ -strain tensor describes the instantaneous change of $\frac{1}{2} \|\xi(\cdot)\|_{\Gamma}^2$, where $\xi(\cdot)$ is a solution of (2.7), i.e. for $t \in \mathbb{I}$

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\xi(t)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \langle \xi(t), \Gamma\xi(t) \rangle = \langle \frac{1}{2} \dot{\xi}(t), \Gamma\xi(t) \rangle + \langle \xi(t), \frac{1}{2} \Gamma \dot{\xi}(t) \rangle
= \langle \frac{1}{2} A(t)\xi(t), \Gamma\xi(t) \rangle + \langle \xi(t), \frac{1}{2} \Gamma A(t)\xi(t) \rangle
= \langle \xi(t), \frac{1}{2} (A(t)^{T} \Gamma + \Gamma A(t))\xi(t) \rangle
= \langle \xi(t), S_{\Gamma}(t)\xi(t) \rangle.$$
(3.16)

If $\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\xi(t)\|_{\Gamma} \geq 0$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ then $\xi(\cdot)$ is strictly increasing or strictly decreasing w.r.t. the Γ -norm, respectively. For discrete systems we can use the Γ -strain tensor to describe the change of the length of two subsequent solution points, i.e. let $\xi(\cdot)$ be a solution of (2.8) then for $n \in \mathbb{I}_1$

$$\begin{aligned} \|\xi(n+1)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} &= \langle \xi(n+1), \Gamma\xi(n+1) \rangle - \langle \xi(n), \Gamma\xi(n) \rangle \\ &= \langle A(n)\xi(n), \Gamma A(n)\xi(n) \rangle - \langle \xi(n), \Gamma\xi(n) \rangle \\ &= \langle \xi(n), [A(n)^{T} \Gamma A(n) - \Gamma]\xi(n) \rangle = \langle \xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle. \end{aligned}$$
(3.17)

By (3.16)/(3.17) all nontrivial solutions $\xi(\cdot)$ of (2.7)/(2.8) are strictly increasing (strictly decreasing) w.r.t. the Γ -norm if the Γ -strain tensor $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is positive (negative) definite for all $t \in \begin{cases} \mathbb{I}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \mathbb{I}_1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$ Thus, the zero Γ -strain set $Z_{\Gamma}(t)$ is a nontrivial cone if and only if $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is indefinite.

Studying equation (3.16) we see by the symmetry of $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\Gamma}$ that every solution $\xi(\cdot)$ of (2.7) satisfies

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\xi(t)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} = 2\left(\left\langle \frac{1}{2}A(t)\xi(t), \Gamma\xi(t)\right\rangle + \left\langle \xi(t), \frac{1}{2}\Gamma A(t)\xi(t)\right\rangle\right) \\
= 2\left(\frac{1}{2}\left\langle A(t)\xi(t), \xi(t)\right\rangle_{\Gamma} + \frac{1}{2}\left\langle \xi(t), A(t)\xi(t)\right\rangle_{\Gamma}\right) \\
= \left\langle A(t)\xi(t), \xi(t)\right\rangle_{\Gamma} + \left\langle A(t)\xi(t), \xi(t)\right\rangle_{\Gamma} \\
= 2\left\langle A(t)\xi(t), \xi(t)\right\rangle$$
(3.18)

for each $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

For proving the Roughness-Theorem 3.4.11 in Section 3.4 we introduce equivalent statements of (3.9) and (3.10) using the Γ -strain tensor. The equivalent statements, which we examine in Lemma 3.2.9, originate for continuous time from [12, Proposition 2] and similar estimates are proved in [16, Lemma 9]. We additionally present and prove a similar statement for discrete time systems.

Lemma 3.2.9. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$. An invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ of (2.6) and constants $\alpha, \beta > 0$ satisfy estimates

(3.9) and (3.10) w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$ if and only if the family $P(\cdot)$ and the constants

$$\tilde{\alpha} = \begin{cases} \alpha, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ 1 - e^{-2\alpha}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases} > 0, \quad \tilde{\beta} = \begin{cases} \beta, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ e^{2\beta} - 1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases} > 0 \quad (3.19)$$

satisfy for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^k$

$$\langle \Phi(t,s)P(s)y, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t,s)P(s)y \rangle \le -\tilde{\alpha} \|\Phi(t,s)P(s)y\|_{\Gamma}^{2}$$
(3.20)

as well as

$$\langle \Phi(t,s)Q(s)y, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t,s)Q(s)y \rangle \ge \tilde{\beta} \|\Phi(t,s)Q(s)y\|_{\Gamma}^{2}, \qquad (3.21)$$

where Q(s) := I - P(s) for all $s \in \mathbb{I}$.

Proof. Let $y \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and $s \in \mathbb{I}$. Define $\eta := P(s)y$ and $\mu := Q(s)y$. For $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ first assume that (3.9) and (3.10) are satisfied. Then we have for all $t, \tilde{t} \in \mathbb{I}$, $t \geq \tilde{t} \geq s$

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma} &= \left\| \Phi(t,\tilde{t})\Phi(\tilde{t},s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \\ &\leq e^{-\alpha(t-\tilde{t})} \left\| \Phi(\tilde{t},s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma} = e^{-\alpha(t-s)+\alpha(\tilde{t}-s)} \left\| \Phi(\tilde{t},s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma}. \end{aligned}$$

which is equivalent to

$$e^{\alpha(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \le e^{\alpha(\tilde{t}-s)} \left\| \Phi(\tilde{t},s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma}.$$

Thus, $e^{\alpha(t-s)} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}$ is decreasing, i.e. $\frac{d}{dt}e^{\alpha(t-s)} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma} \leq 0$. Analogously, we get by (3.14) that

$$e^{-\beta(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s) \mu \right\|_{\Gamma}$$

is increasing. Hence

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}e^{-\beta(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\mu \right\|_{\Gamma} \ge 0$$

is satisfied. Definition 3.2.8 and equation (3.16) yield

$$\begin{split} \langle \Phi(t,s)\eta, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t,s)\eta \rangle \\ &+ \alpha \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \alpha \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\alpha(t-s)} \frac{d}{dt} \left(e^{2\alpha(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\alpha(t-s)} \frac{d}{dt} \left(e^{\alpha(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \right)^{2} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\alpha(t-s)} 2 e^{\alpha(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \frac{d}{dt} \left(e^{\alpha(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \right) \\ &= e^{-\alpha(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \frac{d}{dt} \left(e^{\alpha(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \right) \\ &\leq 0, \\ \langle \Phi(t,s)\mu, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t,s)\mu \rangle \\ &- \beta \left\| \Phi(t,s)\mu \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\mu \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \beta \left\| \Phi(t,s)\mu \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} e^{2\beta(t-s)} \frac{d}{dt} \left(e^{-2\beta(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\mu \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) \\ &= e^{\beta(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \frac{d}{dt} \left(e^{-\beta(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \right) \end{split}$$

Thus, the estimates (3.20) and (3.21) are fulfilled.

 $\geq 0.$

Reversely, assume that (3.20) and (3.21) are true. Let $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ and $t \in \mathbb{I}$, $t \geq s$. Then we have by (3.19) $\tilde{\alpha} = \alpha$ and, thus,

$$0 \ge \langle \Phi(t,s)\eta, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t,s)\eta \rangle + \tilde{\alpha} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}$$

= $\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \alpha \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}$
= $\frac{1}{2} e^{-2\alpha(t-s)} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left(e^{2\alpha(t-s)} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right).$

The positivity of the exponential function yields

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left(e^{2\alpha(t-s)} \left\| \Phi(t,s)\eta \right\|_{\Gamma}^2 \right) \le 0.$$

This implies that

$$e^{2\alpha(t-s)} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^2 \le \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^2$$

is satisfied. Hence, estimate (3.9) is fulfilled. Further, with $\tilde{\beta}=\beta$

$$0 \leq \langle \Phi(t,s)\mu, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t,s)\mu \rangle - \tilde{\beta} \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \beta \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} e^{2\beta(t-s)} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left(e^{-2\beta(t-s)} \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right)$$

follows, which yields an equivalent statement of estimate (3.14)

$$e^{-2\beta(t-s)} \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^2 \ge \|\mu\|_{\Gamma}^2$$
.

Thus, by Lemma 3.2.7 estimate (3.10) is fulfilled.

For $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$ let $t \in \mathbb{I}_2$, $t \geq s$. By (3.19) we have $\tilde{\alpha} = -(e^{-2\alpha} - 1)$ and together with (3.17) we obtain that the next five inequalities are equivalent

$$\begin{split} \langle \Phi(t,s)\eta, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t,s)\eta \rangle &\leq -\tilde{\alpha} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}, \\ \|\Phi(t+1,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \leq -\tilde{\alpha} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}, \\ \|\Phi(t+1,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \leq (e^{-2\alpha}-1) \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}, \\ \|\Phi(t+1,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \leq e^{-2\alpha} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}, \\ \|\Phi(t+1,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \leq e^{-\alpha} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}, \end{split}$$

Hence, (3.9) follows. We get by (3.19) $\beta = (e^{2\beta} - 1)$ and the equivalence of the following statements

$$\begin{split} \langle \Phi(t,s)\eta, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t,s)\eta \rangle &\geq \hat{\beta} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}, \\ \|\Phi(t+1,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \geq \tilde{\beta} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}, \\ \|\Phi(t+1,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \geq (e^{2\beta}-1) \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}, \\ \|\Phi(t+1,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \geq e^{2\beta} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}, \\ \|\Phi(t+1,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \geq e^{\beta} \|\Phi(t,s)\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}. \end{split}$$

This yields (3.14) and Lemma 3.2.7 implies (3.10). Thus, (3.9) and (3.10) are equivalent to (3.20) and (3.21).

A similar statement for continuous systems that is established in [16, Lemma 9] uses the notation of growth rates. For the Roughness-Theorem 3.4.5 in Section 3.4 we need the theory of growth rates as well. Hence, we give a short introduction and point out some of the relations between M-hyperbolic systems and their growth rates. In addition to [82], [43] and [16] we define the extremal growth rates also for noninvertible systems.

For $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ we define the following function

$${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}} : \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{I} \cup \{n_{+} + 1\},$$
$$(\xi, n_{0}) \mapsto \mathring{n} := \begin{cases} \min \operatorname{Ker}_{n_{0}}^{\xi}, & \text{if } \operatorname{Ker}_{n_{0}}^{\xi} \neq \emptyset, \\ n_{+} + 1, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

with $\operatorname{Ker}_{n_0}^{\xi} := \{n \in [n_0, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}} | \Phi(n, n_0)\xi = 0\}$. This function provides the earliest time, if it exists, at which the given vector lies in the kernel of the solution operator. For an invertible system ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\operatorname{ker}}(x) = n_+ + 1$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$. Thus, our definition of growth rates is for invertible systems equivalent to [82, Definition 2.11].

Definition 3.2.10. Let Φ be the solution operator of (2.6) for $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T} \in {\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}}$. Let $i \in {0, ..., k}$ and $X \in \operatorname{Gr}_i^k = \operatorname{Gr}(i, \mathbb{R}^k)$, where Gr_i^k denotes the Grassmann manifold, which contains all *i*-dimensional subspaces of \mathbb{R}^k . We define the **upper and lower growth rate** of X under Φ by

$$\overline{\lambda}(X,\Phi) := \begin{cases} \sup_{x \in X, \|x\| = 1} \overline{\lambda}(x,\Phi), & i \neq 0\\ -\infty, & i = 0, \end{cases}$$
$$\underline{\lambda}(X,\Phi) := \begin{cases} \inf_{x \in X, \|x\| = 1} \underline{\lambda}(x,\Phi), & i \neq 0\\ \infty, & i = 0 \end{cases}$$

with

$$\overline{\lambda}(x,\Phi) := \begin{cases} \sup_{\substack{t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t \neq s, \\ t,s < \Phi \mathcal{T}_{ker}(x,t-) \\ -\infty, \end{cases}} \left\{ \frac{\ln(\|\Phi(t,t_-)x\|) - \ln(\|\Phi(s,t_-)x\|)}{t-s} \right\}, & \text{if case (i),} \\ \\ \underline{\lambda}(x,\Phi) := \begin{cases} -\infty, & \text{otherwise,} \\ \inf_{t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t \neq s} \left\{ \frac{\ln(\|\Phi(t,t_-)x\|) - \ln(\|\Phi(s,t_-)x\|)}{t-s} \right\}, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

where case (i) is

$${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}}(x,t_{-}) > \begin{cases} t_{-}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ t_{-}+1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}.$$

Further, we define the minimal upper and maximal lower i-growth rate of Φ

$$\overline{\lambda}_{i}(\Phi) := \begin{cases} \min_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{i}^{k}} \{\overline{\lambda}(X, \Phi)\}, & i \neq 0\\ -\infty, & i = 0, \end{cases}$$
$$\underline{\lambda}_{i}(\Phi) := \begin{cases} \max_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{i}^{k}} \{\underline{\lambda}(X, \Phi)\}, & i \neq 0\\ \infty, & i = 0. \end{cases}$$

For a definition of Grassmann manifolds and for the proof of its manifold properties we refer to [94, p.22]. The Grassmann manifold $\operatorname{Gr}_{i}^{k}$ is the set of all *i*-dimensional subspaces of \mathbb{R}^{k} . Thus, it is obvious that for any projector $P \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ with $\dim(\mathcal{R}(P)) =: i$ and $\dim(\mathcal{N}(P)) = k - i =: r$

$$\overline{\lambda}_{i}(\Phi) \leq \overline{\lambda}(\mathcal{R}(P), \Phi),$$

$$\underline{\lambda}_{r}(\Phi) \geq \underline{\lambda}(\mathcal{N}(P), \Phi)$$
(3.22)

3 Hyperbolicity

holds. The following relations between M-hyperbolic invertible systems and their growth rates can be found in [82, Lemma 3.3] and in [16, Lemma 12]. For invertible systems Lemma 3.2.11 implies equivalent statements to the exponential dichotomy estimates (3.9) and (3.10) and Lemma 3.2.12 yields equivalent conditions about growth rates to the M-hyperbolicity conditions (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10).

Lemma 3.2.11. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Let $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ be a family of invariant projectors of (2.6) satisfying (3.8). Set $\ell := \dim(\mathcal{R}(P(t_{-})))$ and $r := k - \ell$. If the family $P(\cdot)$ and constants $\alpha, \beta > 0$ satisfy (3.9) and (3.10) then they also satisfy

$$\overline{\lambda}_{\ell}(\mathcal{R}(P(t_{-})), \Phi) \leq -\alpha \text{ and } \underline{\lambda}_{r}(\mathcal{N}(P(t_{-})), \Phi) \geq \beta.$$
(3.23)

If the system (2.6) is invertible then the statements (3.9) and (3.10) are equivalent to (3.23).

Proof. Let (3.9) and (3.10) be satisfied for $\alpha, \beta > 0$ and $P(\cdot)$. For $x \in \mathcal{R}(P(t_{-}))$ Lemma 2.2.4 yields $\Phi(s, t_{-})x \in \mathcal{R}(P(s))$ for all $s \in \mathbb{I}$. Thus, we have

$$\|\Phi(t,t_{-})x\| = \|\Phi(t,s)\Phi(s,t_{-})x\| \le e^{\alpha(t-s)} \|\Phi(s,t_{-})x\|$$

for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$. Setting $\overline{t} := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{ker}(x, t_{-})$ we get by Definition 3.2.10

$$\sup_{\substack{t,s\in\mathbb{I},t\neq s,\\t,s<\bar{t}}} \left\{ \frac{\ln\left(\|\Phi(t,t_{-})x\|\right) - \ln\left(\|\Phi(s,t_{-})x\|\right)}{t-s} \right\} = \sup_{\substack{t,s\in\mathbb{I},t\neq s,\\t,s<\bar{t}}} \left\{ \frac{\ln\left(\frac{\|\Phi(t,t_{-})x\|}{\|\Phi(s,t_{-})x\|}\right)}{t-s} \right\}$$
$$\leq \sup_{\substack{t,s\in\mathbb{I},t\neq s,\\t,s<\bar{t}}} \left\{ \frac{\ln(e^{-\alpha(t-s)})}{t-s} \right\}$$
$$= \sup_{\substack{t,s\in\mathbb{I},t\neq s,\\t,s<\bar{t}}} \left\{ \frac{-\alpha(t-s)}{t-s} \right\}$$
$$= -\alpha < 0.$$

For the growth rate follows

$$\overline{\lambda}(\mathcal{R}(P(t_{-})), \Phi) = \sup_{\substack{x \in \mathcal{R}(P(t_{-})), \|x\| = 1, \\ t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \neq s, \\ t, s < \Phi} \mathcal{T}_{ker}(x, t_{-})}} \left\{ \frac{\ln\left(\|\Phi(t, t_{-})x\|\right) - \ln\left(\|\Phi(s, t_{-})x\|\right)}{t - s} \right\}$$
$$\leq -\alpha.$$

Lemma 3.2.7 yields $\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\| \ge e^{\beta(t-s)} \|\xi\|$ for all $\xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(s))$ and $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$, $t \ge s$. Using Lemma 3.2.5 we get for $x \in \mathcal{N}(P(t_{-}))$

$$\|\Phi(t,t_{-})x\| = \|\Phi(t,s)\Phi(s,t_{-})x\| \ge e^{\beta(t-s)} \|\Phi(s,t_{-})x\|$$
for all $t, s, \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$. This estimate implies

$$\underline{\lambda}(\mathcal{N}(P(t_{-})), \Phi) = \inf_{\substack{x \in \mathcal{N}(P(t_{-})), \|x\| = 1, \\ t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \neq s}} \left\{ \frac{\ln\left(\|\Phi(t, t_{-})x\|\right) - \ln\left(\|\Phi(s, t_{-})x\|\right)}{t - s} \right\}$$
$$\geq \inf_{\substack{t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \neq s}} \left\{ \frac{\beta(t - s)}{t - s} \right\}$$
$$\geq \beta.$$

Conversely, assume that Φ is invertible and (3.23) holds. For any fixed

$$x \in \mathcal{R}(P(t_{-})) \setminus \{0\}, \ y \in \mathcal{N}(P(t_{-})) \setminus \{0\}$$

set $\mathring{t} := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{ker}(x, t_{-})$. By the Definition 3.2.10 of the growth rates we obtain

$$\ln\left(\left\|\Phi(t,t_{-})x\right\|\right) - \ln\left(\left\|\Phi(s,t_{-})x\right\|\right) \le \overline{\lambda}_{\ell}(\mathcal{R}(P(t_{-})),\Phi)(t-s)$$

for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, \, \mathring{t} \ge t > s$ and

$$\ln\left(\left\|\Phi(t,t_{-})y\right\|\right) - \ln\left(\left\|\Phi(s,t_{-})y\right\|\right) \ge \underline{\lambda}_{r}(\mathcal{N}(P(t_{-})),\Phi)(t-s)$$

for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t > s$. After transformation and insertion of (3.22) the inequalities

$$\|\Phi(t,t_{-})x\| \le e^{\overline{\lambda}_{\ell}(\Phi)(t-s)} \|\Phi(s,t_{-})x\| \text{ for all } t,s \in \mathbb{I}, \mathring{t} \ge t \ge s, \qquad (3.24)$$

$$\|\Phi(t,t_{-})y\| \ge e^{\underline{\lambda}_{r}(\Phi)(t-s)} \|\Phi(s,t_{-})y\| \text{ for all } t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t \ge s$$

$$(3.25)$$

hold. The estimate (3.24) is true even for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$. By the invertibility of Φ (3.9) follows. Lemma 3.2.7 and the invertibility of Φ yield the equivalence of (3.25) and (3.10). Thus, (3.9) and (3.10) are satisfied.

With Lemma 3.2.11 we prove an alternative characterization of M-hyperbolicity using growth rates.

Lemma 3.2.12. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Let (2.6) be invertible and $r \in \{0, \ldots, k\}$. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (a) System (2.6) is M-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$) on \mathbb{I} with an invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ with $\dim(\mathcal{R}(P(t_{-}))) = r$.
- (b) The growth rates of (2.6) satisfy

$$\overline{\lambda}_r(\Phi) < 0, \tag{3.26}$$

$$\underline{\lambda}_{\ell}(\Phi) > 0, \tag{3.27}$$

with $\ell := k - r$.

If (2.6) is noninvertible then (b) follows from (a).

Proof. For (2.6) let condition (a) be satisfied and denote the dichotomy data by $(\alpha, \beta, P(\cdot))$. We have $\mathcal{R}(P(t_{-})) \in \operatorname{Gr}_{r}^{k}, \mathcal{N}(P(t_{-})) \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\ell}^{k}$ with $\ell := k - r$. Lemma 3.2.11 and the estimates (3.22) yield

$$\lambda_r(\Phi) \le \lambda(\mathcal{R}(P(t_-)), \Phi) = -\alpha < 0,$$

$$\underline{\lambda}_{\ell}(\Phi) \ge \underline{\lambda}(\mathcal{N}(P(t_-)), \Phi) \ge \beta > 0.$$

Consider that (2.6) is invertible and, conversely, assume (b). By [82, Remark 2.18] and [43, Remark 9] there exist $X_s \in \operatorname{Gr}_r^k$ and $X_u \in \operatorname{Gr}_\ell^k$ such that

$$\overline{\lambda}_r(\Phi) = \overline{\lambda}(X_s, \Phi), \ \underline{\lambda}_\ell(\Phi) = \underline{\lambda}(X_u, \Phi).$$

For any fixed $x \in X_s \setminus \{0\}$, $y \in X_u \setminus \{0\}$ set $\mathring{t} := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{ker}(x, t_{-})$. By Definition 3.2.10 we obtain

$$\ln (\|\Phi(t,t_{-})x\|) - \ln (\|\Phi(s,t_{-})x\|) \le \overline{\lambda}_{r}(\Phi)(t-s) \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \ge t > s, \\ \ln (\|\Phi(t,t_{-})y\|) - \ln (\|\Phi(s,t_{-})y\|) \ge \underline{\lambda}_{\ell}(\Phi)(t-s) \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t > s.$$

After transformation

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Phi(t,t_-)x\| &\leq e^{\lambda_r(\Phi)(t-s)} \|\Phi(s,t_-)x\| \text{ for all } t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t>s, \\ \|\Phi(t,t_-)y\| &\geq e^{\underline{\lambda}_\ell(\Phi)(t-s)} \|\Phi(s,t_-)y\| \text{ for all } t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t>s \end{aligned}$$

are satisfied. By the definition of the extremal growth rates we have $\Phi(t, t_{-})x \neq 0$ for all $x \in X_u \setminus \{0\}$ and $t \in \mathbb{I}$. This implies that

$$\Phi(t,t_-)|_{X_u}: X_u \to \Phi(t,t_-)X_u$$

is injective, thus, bijective. This implies that $\Phi(\cdot, t_{-})X_{u}$ is invariant. The subspaces $X_{s,u}$ satisfy by definition

$$X_s \oplus X_u = \mathbb{R}^k.$$

The invertibility of the system yields

$$\Phi(t,t_-): X_s \oplus X_u = \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}^k = \Phi(t,t_-)X_s + \Phi(t,t_-)X_u$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Then $\Phi(\cdot, t_-)X_s$ is invariant, since $\Phi(\cdot, t_-)X_u$ is invariant. Thus, we can define a family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ by $\mathcal{R}(P(s)) := \Phi(s, t_-)X_s$, $\mathcal{N}(P(s)) := \Phi(s, t_-)X_u$ for all $s \in \mathbb{I}$. This family of projectors is invariant and we get that

$$\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\| \le e^{\lambda_r(\Phi)(t-s)} \|\xi\|, \\ \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\| \ge e^{\lambda_\ell(\Phi)(t-s)} \|\mu\|$$

is satisfied for all $\xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s)), \ \mu \in \mathcal{N}(P(s))$ and $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$. Thus, the hyperbolic estimates (3.9) and (3.14) are true and, hence, by Lemma 3.2.7 system (2.6) is M-hyperbolic with exponential rates $\alpha := -\overline{\lambda}_r(\Phi) > 0$ and $\beta := \underline{\lambda}_{\ell}(\Phi) > 0$.

Finite and Infinite Time Hyperbolic Systems: Differences and Similarities

In this section we study differences and similarities between infinite time hyperbolic systems (Definition 3.1.1, Lemma 3.1.3) and finite time M-hyperbolic systems (Definition 3.2.3).

One difference is that the invariant family of projectors of an M-hyperbolic (finite time hyperbolic) system is not unique, see Example 3.3.1, whereas the family of projectors of an hyperbolic ift-system is unique.

For autonomous ft–systems there exists at most one autonomous projector such that the system is M–hyperbolic w.r.t. that projector. Still, there may exist more than one nonautonomous family of projectors. The autonomous projector is the unique projector of the associated hyperbolic ift–system, see Theorem 3.3.3. Example 3.3.4 shows that an ft–system can be M–hyperbolic although it is not M-hyperbolic w.r.t. the unique projector of the associated ift– system. Further, we obtain that every autonomous system which is hyperbolic on infinite time is also M–hyperbolic w.r.t. a proper norm (Lyapunov norm) on every finite time interval, cf. Theorem 3.3.2.

In the literature the uniqueness of the family of projectors of a hyperbolic ift-system is well known. For continuous time see e.g. [104, p.227], for invertible systems in discrete time we refer to [105, Proposition 2.3] and for noninvertible systems in discrete time see [66, Theorem 7.6.5]. The following example of a finite time differential equation shows that a system can be M-hyperbolic with different invariant families of projectors. This implies that the invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ according to Definition 3.2.3 is generally not unique. The example is a modified and elaborated version of the second example in [16, Example 4].

Example 3.3.1. Assume $t_{-}, t_{+} \in \mathbb{R}$ with $t_{-} < 0 < t_{+}$ and

$$\dot{x} = A(t)x = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -2 \end{pmatrix} x, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^2 \ for \ t \in \mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+].$$

The solution operator is $\Phi(t,s) = \operatorname{diag}(e^{t-s}, e^{-2(t-s)})$. Choose the Euclideannorm. Then the differential equation is M-hyperbolic with the invariant family of projectors $P(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$, $t \in \mathbb{I}$ and with exponential rates $\bar{\alpha} = 2$, $\bar{\beta} = 1$. If we take P(0) and disturb the stable part towards the unstable direction with $\delta > 0$ we get $P_{\delta}(0) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ \delta & 1 \end{pmatrix}$. We see that $P_{\delta}(0)$ is still a projector and we obtain the invariant family belonging to $P_{\delta}(0)$ by

$$P_{\delta}(t) = \Phi(t,0)P_{\delta}(0)\Phi(0,t) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{t} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-2t} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ \delta & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} e^{-t} & 0\\ 0 & e^{2t} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ \delta e^{-3t} & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

In the following we prove that there exist exponential rates such that the given system is M-hyperbolic with this disturbed family of projectors P_{δ} . Since the

range $\mathcal{R}(P_{\delta}(t))$ does not depend on δ , we just need to verify (3.10). For the kernel we get

$$\mathcal{N}(P_{\delta}(t)) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2 \middle| -y = \delta e^{-3t} x \right\}.$$
 (3.28)

Let $\begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{N}(P_{\delta}(s))$ with $\delta \geq 0$ and assume that (3.10) is true using the Euclidean-norm for a $1 = \bar{\beta} \leq \beta > 0$. Let $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with t > s. Then we have

$$e^{-2(t-s)}x^{2} + e^{4(t-s)}y^{2} = \left\| \begin{pmatrix} e^{-(t-s)}x\\ e^{2(t-s)}y \end{pmatrix} \right\|^{2} = \left\| \begin{pmatrix} e^{-(t-s)} & 0\\ 0 & e^{2(t-s)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x\\ y \end{pmatrix} \right\|$$
$$= \left\| \Phi(t,s) \begin{pmatrix} x\\ y \end{pmatrix} \right\|^{2}$$
$$\leq e^{-2\beta(t-s)} \left\| \begin{pmatrix} x\\ y \end{pmatrix} \right\|^{2} = e^{-2\beta(t-s)}(x^{2} + y^{2}).$$

This equals

$$(e^{-2(t-s)} - e^{-2\beta(t-s)})x^2 \le (e^{-2\beta(t-s)} - e^{4(t-s)})y^2$$

Dividing by $(e^{-2\beta(t-s)} - e^{4(t-s)}) < 0$ and extract the root we get

$$\left(\frac{e^{-2(t-s)} - e^{-2\beta(t-s)}}{e^{-2\beta(t-s)} - e^{4(t-s)}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} |x| \ge |y|.$$

Taking $\beta = 1$ we obtain |y| = 0 and, thus, the constant δ must be zero. This leads to the same kernel as before. To get more than one family of projectors we have to reduce the exponential rate β . Assume $\beta = 0.5$. Then

$$\left(\frac{e^{-2(t-s)} - e^{-(t-s)}}{e^{-(t-s)} - e^{4(t-s)}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} |x| = \left(\frac{e^{-(t-s)} - 1}{1 - e^{5(t-s)}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} |x| \ge |y|$$

is satisfied for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with t > s. The left-hand side is minimal for $s = t_{-}$ and $t = t_{+}$. Combining this result with the definition of the kernel (3.28) we observe that

$$\left(\frac{e^{-(t_+-t_-)}-1}{1-e^{5(t_+-t_-)}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}e^{3t} \ge \delta$$
(3.29)

must be true for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. The left-hand side is minimal for $t = t_-$. Hence, for all different δ such that (3.29) is satisfied with $t = t_-$ we get another invariant family of projectors, which fulfills estimate (3.10) with exponential rate $\beta = 0.5$. Example 3.3.1 illustrates that by reducing the exponential rates of a hyperbolic ift-system with constant K = 1 we generally get more than one invariant family of projectors for the system on every compact interval. In Chapter 4 we prove that the stable and unstable sets are cones which coincide with the union of the kernel and range of all invariant families of projectors. In the following we discuss hyperbolicity of autonomous systems on finite and infinite time intervals. Consider the autonomous system

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t)$$
 respectively $x(t+1) = Ax(t)$ (3.30)

with $A \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and $t \in \mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$. Define for all $t \in \mathbb{N}$

$$A^{-t} : \mathbb{R}^k \rightsquigarrow \mathbb{R}^k,$$
$$x \mapsto \{y \in \mathbb{R}^k | A^t y = x\}.$$

The arrow \rightsquigarrow symbolizes that the given map is a set-valued map. For an introduction of set-valued systems we refer to [6]. Further, define for any $t \in \mathbb{T}$

$$B(t) := \begin{cases} e^{At}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ A^t, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Denote the solution operator of (3.30) by $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$. It satisfies $\Phi(t, s) = B(t - s)$ for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$.

The next theorem states that for any autonomous hyperbolic ift–system a proper norm (Lyapunov norm) exists such that the given system is M– hyperbolic (w.r.t. this norm) on every compact interval. The definition and properties of a Lyapunov norm can be found in [11], [38, Def. 2.4.9] and [84, Def. 5.3.2].

Theorem 3.3.2. Let system (3.30) have an exponential dichotomy on $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$ with data $(K, \alpha, \beta, P_s, P_u)$. Then for any rates $\tilde{\alpha} \in (0, \alpha), \tilde{\beta} \in (0, \beta)$ there exists a norm $\|\cdot\|_L$ such that system (3.30) is *M*-hyperbolic w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_L$ on every compact interval $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{T}$ with projector P_s .

Proof. Exploiting the dichotomy estimates (3.2), we see that $||B(t)P_sx|| \leq Ke^{-\alpha t} ||P_sx||$, $||B(-t)P_ux|| \leq Ke^{-\beta t} ||P_ux||$ are bounded for all $t \geq 0$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$. Fix $\tilde{\alpha} \in (0, \alpha)$, $\tilde{\beta} \in (0, \beta)$ and define $\mu := e^{-\tilde{\alpha}} \in (e^{-\alpha}, 1)$, $\gamma := e^{-\tilde{\beta}} \in (e^{-\beta}, 1)$. Choose $a, b \in \mathbb{N}$ sufficiently large such that

$$K\left(\frac{e^{-\alpha}}{\mu}\right)^a < 1, \ K\left(\frac{e^{-\beta}}{\gamma}\right)^b < 1$$
 (3.31)

are satisfied. The Lyapunov norm (Lyapunov adapted norm) is defined by

$$\|x\|_{L} := \begin{cases} \int_{0}^{a} \mu^{-r} \|B(r)P_{s}x\| \, dr + \int_{-b}^{0} \gamma^{r} \|B(r)P_{u}x\| \, dr, \quad \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \sum_{r=0}^{a} \mu^{-r} \|B(r)P_{s}x\| + \sum_{r=-b}^{0} \gamma^{r} \|B(r)P_{u}x\|, \quad \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Next we show the ft–exponential dichotomy estimates (3.9) and (3.10). Let $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ and $t, s \in \mathbb{T}$ with $t \geq s$. The projectors satisfy

$$P_u P_s = (I - P_s) P_s = P_s - P_s^2 = P_s - P_s = 0.$$
(3.32)

By the invariance of the projector P_s and the solution operator B, by the hyperbolicity estimates (3.2), by equation (3.32) and by estimate (3.31) we have for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$

$$\begin{split} &\|\Phi(t,s)P_{s}x\|_{L} \\ &= \|B(t-s)P_{s}x\|_{L} \\ &= \int_{0}^{a} \mu^{-r} \|B(r)P_{s}B(t-s)P_{s}x\| \,\mathrm{d}r + \int_{-b}^{0} \gamma^{r} \|B(r)P_{u}B(t-s)P_{s}x\| \,\mathrm{d}r \\ &= \int_{0}^{a} \mu^{-r} \|B(r)B(t-s)P_{s}^{2}x\| \,\mathrm{d}r + \int_{-b}^{0} \gamma^{r} \|B(r)B(t-s)P_{u}P_{s}x\| \,\mathrm{d}r \\ &= \int_{0}^{a} \mu^{-r} \|B((t-s)+r)P_{s}x\| \,\mathrm{d}r \\ &= \mu^{(t-s)} \left(\int_{(t-s)}^{a+(t-s)} \mu^{-r} \|B((t-s)+r-(t-s))P_{s}x\| \,\mathrm{d}r \right) \\ &= \mu^{(t-s)} \left(\int_{0}^{a} \mu^{-r} \|B(r)P_{s}x\| \,\mathrm{d}r \\ &+ \int_{a}^{a+(t-s)} \mu^{-r} \|B(r)P_{s}x\| \,\mathrm{d}r - \int_{0}^{(t-s)} \mu^{-r} \|B(r)P_{s}x\| \,\mathrm{d}r \right) \\ &= \mu^{(t-s)} \left(\|P_{s}x\|_{L} + \int_{0}^{(t-s)} (\mu^{-(r+a)} \|B(r+a)P_{s}x\| - \mu^{-r} \|B(r)P_{s}x\|) \,\mathrm{d}r \right) \\ &= \mu^{(t-s)} \left(\|P_{s}x\|_{L} + \int_{0}^{(t-s)} \mu^{-r} (\mu^{-a} \|B(a)(P_{s}B(r)x)\| - \|B(r)P_{s}x\|) \,\mathrm{d}r \right) \\ &\leq \mu^{(t-s)} \left(\|P_{x}\|_{L} + \int_{0}^{(t-s)} \mu^{-r} \left(K \left(\frac{e^{-\alpha}}{\mu} \right)^{a} \|P_{s}B(r)x\| - \|P_{s}B(r)x\| \right) \,\mathrm{d}r \right) \\ &\leq \mu^{(t-s)} \|P_{s}x\|_{L} \\ &\leq e^{-\tilde{\alpha}(t-s)} \|P_{s}x\|_{L} \,. \end{split}$$

For $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$ the proof of the estimate follows analogously. For the readers convenience we show the second ft-exponential dichotomy estimate (3.10) for $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$. Let $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$ and $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s$. Then for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$ we see similar to the previous calculations that

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(s,t)P_{u}x\|_{L} \\ &= \sum_{r=-b}^{0} \gamma^{r} \|B(-(t-s)+r)P_{u}x\| \\ &= \sum_{r=-b-(t-s)}^{-(t-s)} \gamma^{r+(t-s)} \|B(r)P_{u}x\| \\ &= \gamma^{(t-s)} \left(\sum_{r=-b}^{0} \gamma^{r} \|B(r)P_{u}x\| \\ &+ \sum_{r=-b-(t-s)}^{-(b+1)} \gamma^{r} \|B(r)P_{u}x\| - \sum_{r=-(t-s)+1}^{0} \gamma^{r} \|B(r)P_{u}x\| \right) \\ &= \gamma^{(t-s)} \left(\|P_{u}x\|_{L} + \sum_{r=-(t-s)+1}^{0} \gamma^{r} (\gamma^{-(b+1)} \|B(r-(b+1))P_{u}x\| - \|B(r)P_{u}x\|) \right) \\ &= \gamma^{(t-s)} \left(\|P_{u}x\|_{L} \\ &+ \sum_{r=-(t-s)+1}^{0} \gamma^{r} (\gamma^{-(b+1)} \|B(-(b+1))P_{u}B(r)x\| - \|P_{u}B(r)x\|) \right) \\ &\leq \gamma^{(t-s)} \left(\|P_{u}x\|_{L} + \sum_{r=-(t-s)+1}^{0} \gamma^{r} \left(K \left(\frac{e^{-\beta}}{\gamma} \right)^{b+1} - 1 \right) \|P_{u}B(r)x\| \right) \\ &\leq \gamma^{(t-s)} \|P_{u}x\|_{L} \\ &\leq e^{-\tilde{\beta}(t-s)} \|P_{u}x\|_{L}, \end{split}$$

is satisfied. Analogously, we obtain the same estimate for $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$. These estimates show that system (3.30) has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{T} with $(1, \tilde{\alpha}, \tilde{\beta}, P_s)$ w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_L$. This implies that (3.30) is M-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_L$) on every compact interval $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{T}$ with rates $\tilde{\alpha}, \tilde{\beta}$ and projector P_s .

Next we prove that if an autonomous system is M-hyperbolic with an autonomous projector then the system is also hyperbolic (infinite) with the same projector and exponential rates. This fact and the uniqueness of the infinite time exponential dichotomy projector imply that an autonomous system cannot be M-hyperbolic w.r.t. two different autonomous projectors. Note that for ift-systems the constant K in (3.2) depends on the infimum of the angles between the image and kernel of the invariant family of projectors over time. The estimates (3.9) and (3.10) are only satisfied for ift-systems if the image and kernel of the invariant family of projectors are orthogonal for all times. In [131] this special class of exponential dichotomy of linear ODEs is called a strong dichotomy.

Theorem 3.3.3. Let system (3.30) be *M*-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$) on a compact interval $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ with an autonomous projector *P* and with exponential rates $\alpha, \beta > 0$. Then system (3.30) has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{T} with projector *P* and with rates α, β .

Proof. The M-hyperbolicity yields for $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$

$$\|\Phi(t,s)Px\| \le e^{-\alpha(t-s)} \|Px\|.$$
(3.33)

Next, we prove that this estimate is satisfied even for all $t, s \in \mathbb{T}, t \geq s$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$. Let $t, s \in \mathbb{T}$ with $t \geq s$ and denote by ℓ the length of the finite interval I. Then there exist $a \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $b \in \mathbb{R}$ with $0 \leq b < \ell$ such that $t - s = a\ell + b$. With estimate (3.33) and the invariance of P and Φ we obtain for $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and all $t, s \in \mathbb{T}, t \geq s$

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Phi(t,s)Px\| &= \|B(t-s)Px\| = \|B(a\ell+b)Px\| = \|B(b)P(B(a\ell)x)\| \\ &\leq e^{-\alpha b} \|P(B(a\ell)x)\| = e^{-\alpha b} \|B(\ell)P(B((a-1)\ell)x)\|. \end{aligned}$$

Inductively, we see that

$$\|\Phi(t,s)Px\| \le e^{-\alpha b} \|B(l)P(B((a-1)l)x)\| \le e^{-\alpha(b+al)} \|Px\| = e^{-\alpha(t-s)} \|Px\|$$

is satisfied for $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$. For the matrix norm we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Phi(t,s)P\| &= \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\|\Phi(t,s)Px\|}{\|x\|} \\ &\leq e^{-\alpha(t-s)} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\|Px\|}{\|x\|} = e^{-\alpha(t-s)} \|P\| = Ke^{-\alpha(t-s)} \end{aligned}$$

with K := ||P|| for all $t, s \in \mathbb{T}, t \ge s$. Similarly, it follows that

$$\|\Phi(s,t)(\mathbf{I}-P)\| \le Ke^{-\beta(t-s)}$$

for all $t, s \in \mathbb{R}, t \geq s$ with $K := ||\mathbf{I} - P||$. This implies that (3.30) has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{T} with projector P and exponential rates α and β and constant $K = \max\{||P||, ||\mathbf{I} - P||\}$.

A hyperbolic ift-system with projector \overline{P} may be M-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$) on a compact interval \mathbb{I} with an invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ but not with \overline{P} . The following example illustrates this statement. Example 3.3.4. Consider the system

$$\dot{x} = Ax := \begin{pmatrix} 0.2 & -1 \\ 0 & 0.1 \end{pmatrix} x, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^2$$
 (3.34)

on $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}$. Then the solution operator of system (3.34) is $\Phi(s+t,s) := e^{At} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{0.2t} & 10(e^{0.1t} - e^{0.2t}) \\ 0 & e^{0.1t} \end{pmatrix}$ for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$. On $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$ the system (3.34) has an exponential dichotomy with projector $\bar{P} = 0$. Let $\mathbb{I} = [0,1]$ and use $\|\cdot\|_2$. For $x = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^T$ we get

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(0,1)(\mathbf{I}-\bar{P})x\|_{2} &= \left\|e^{-A}\begin{pmatrix}0\\1\end{pmatrix}\right\|_{2} = \left\|\begin{pmatrix}10(e^{-0.1}-e^{-0.2})\\e^{-0.1}\end{pmatrix}\right\|_{2} \ge \left\|\begin{pmatrix}0.86\\0.9\end{pmatrix}\right\|_{2} \\ &> 1 = \|x\|_{2} \ge e^{-\beta}\|(\mathbf{I}-\bar{P})x\|_{2} \end{split}$$

for all $\beta > 0$. We see that (3.34) is not *M*-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_2$) on $\mathbb{I} = [0, 1]$ with the projector \overline{P} . Choose $P(0) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ and $P(t) = \Phi(t, 0)P(0)\Phi(0, t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 10 - 9e^{0.1t} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ and define $\alpha = 0.01$, then for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s$ the following is true

$$e^{0.11t}\sqrt{(10-9e^{0.1t})^2+1} \le e^{0.11s}\sqrt{(10-9e^{0.1s})^2+1}.$$
 (3.35)

Using this setup we obtain for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s$ and $x = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 & x_2 \end{pmatrix}^T \in \mathbb{R}^2$

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(t,s)P(s)x\|_{2} &= \left\| \begin{pmatrix} 10e^{0.1(t-s)} - 9e^{0.2(t-s)}e^{0.1s} \\ e^{0.1(t-s)} \end{pmatrix} \right\|_{2} |x_{2}| \\ &= e^{-0.1s} \left\| \begin{pmatrix} 10e^{0.1t} - 9e^{0.2t} \\ e^{0.1t} \end{pmatrix} \right\|_{2} |x_{2}| \\ &= e^{0.1(t-s)} \left\| \begin{pmatrix} 10 - 9e^{0.1t} \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \right\|_{2} |x_{2}| = e^{0.1(t-s)} \left\| P(t)x \right\|_{2} \end{split}$$

We conclude with inequality (3.35) that

$$\begin{aligned} \|P(t)x\|_{2} &= \sqrt{(10 - 9e^{0.1t})^{2} + 1} |x_{2}| \leq e^{-0.11(t-s)} \sqrt{(10 - 9e^{0.1s})^{2} + 1} |x_{2}| \\ &= e^{-0.11(t-s)} \|P(s)x\|_{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Combining these estimates we get for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s$ and for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(t,s)P(s)x\|_2 &= e^{0.1(t-s)} \, \|P(t)x\|_2 \le e^{0.1(t-s)} e^{-0.11(t-s)} \, \|P(s)x\|_2 \\ &= e^{-0.01(t-s)} \, \|P(s)x\|_2 \,. \end{split}$$

Let $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s, x \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and Q(t) = I - P(t) then

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \Phi(s,t)Q(t)x \right\|_{2} \\ & = \left\| \begin{pmatrix} e^{-0.2(t-s)} & 10 \left(e^{-0.1(t-s)} - e^{-0.2(t-s)} \right) \\ 0 & e^{-0.1(t-s)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -10 + 9e^{0.1t} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} x \right\|_{2} \\ & = e^{-0.2(t-s)} \left\| \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -10 + 9e^{0.1t} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} x \right\|_{2} = e^{-0.2(t-s)} \left\| Q(t)x \right\|_{2}. \end{split}$$

We see that system (3.34) is M-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_2$) on $\mathbb{I} = [0,1]$ with the invariant family of projectors $P(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 10 - 9e^{0.1t} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$.

Perturbation Results

Are (ft-) exponential dichotomies robust under small additive perturbations of the equation? For infinite time systems this is true. Various Roughness-Theorems provide precise bounds on the magnitude of the allowed (additive) perturbation. In the following we list some of these perturbation results. For continuous ift-systems a roughness result, which originates from [40, Chap. 4, Prop. 1], is presented in Theorem 3.4.1. We find a Roughness-Theorem for discrete invertible ift-systems with the content from Theorem 3.4.2 in [105, Proposition 2.10] or [85, Lemma 2.3]. For noninvertible systems we refer to [21, Theo. 19] and [117, Satz 2.1] and we present the statement in Theorem 3.4.3. Some of the perturbation results have been proved for compact time intervals, as well. In this thesis we differentiate between the hyperbolicity terms for ift- and ft-systems. Thus, we present the Roughness-Theorems for ift-systems only for infinite time intervals, but all infinite time Roughness-Theorems are transferable to K-hyperbolic ft-systems. For invertible ft-systems we prove two different roughness results, which guarantee the persistence of M-hyperbolicity. For noninvertible ft-systems the question: "Are M-hyperbolic systems robust under small additive perturbations?" still remains open to our knowledge.

Theorem 3.4.1 (Roughness-Theorem for continuous ift-systems). Let $\mathbb{I} \in \{[t_-,\infty), (-\infty,t_+], \mathbb{R}\}$ with $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{R}$ and assume that the differential equation (2.7) is hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} with data $(K, \alpha, \beta, P(\cdot))$. Let $B(\cdot) : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ satisfy

$$\delta := \sup_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \|B(t)\| < \frac{\gamma}{4K^2}, \text{ with } \gamma = \min\{\alpha, \beta\}$$
(3.36)

and denote by $\Psi(\cdot, \cdot)$ the solution operator of

$$\dot{y} = [A(t) + B(t)]y.$$
 (3.37)

Then (3.37) is hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} with data $\left(\frac{5K^2}{2}, \gamma - 2K\delta, \gamma - 2K\delta, Q(\cdot)\right)$ where

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{N}(Q(t_{-})) &:= \mathcal{N}(P(t_{-})), & \text{for } \mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, \infty), \\ \mathcal{R}(Q(t_{+})) &:= \mathcal{R}(P(t_{+})), & \text{for } \mathbb{I} = (-\infty, t_{+}], \\ \mathcal{R}(Q(0)) &:= \mathcal{R}(P(0)), \mathcal{N}(Q(0)) &:= \mathcal{N}(P(0)), & \text{for } \mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}. \end{split}$$

Theorem 3.4.2 (Roughness-Theorem for discrete invertible ift-systems). Let $\mathbb{I} \in \{\mathbb{Z}_{n_{-}}^{+}, \mathbb{Z}_{n_{+}}^{-}, \mathbb{Z}\}, n_{\pm} \in \mathbb{Z}$ and assume that the difference equation (2.8) is invertible and hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} with data (K, α, P_n) .

Then for $0 < \beta < \alpha$ and every $E_{\mathbb{I}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{k \times k})^{\mathbb{I}}$ with

$$\|E_{\mathbb{I}}\| \le \frac{1}{2} \inf_{n \in \mathbb{I}} \|A_n^{-1}\|^{-1}, \tag{3.38}$$

$$\|E_{\mathbb{I}}\| \le \frac{1}{2} K^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{e^{\beta} - e^{-\alpha}} + \frac{1}{e^{-\beta} - e^{-\alpha}} + \frac{1}{e^{\alpha} - e^{-\beta}} \right)^{-1},$$
(3.39)

the equation

$$u_{n+1} = (A_n + E_n)u_n, \quad n \in \mathbb{I}$$

has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{I} with data $(2K+1, \beta, Q_n(E_n))$.

Theorem 3.4.3 (Roughness-Theorem for discrete noninvertible ift-systems).

Let $\mathbb{I} \in \{\mathbb{Z}_{n_{-}}^{+}, \mathbb{Z}_{n_{+}}^{-}, \mathbb{Z}\}, n_{\pm} \in \mathbb{Z}$ and assume that the difference equation (2.8) is hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} with data (K, α, P_n) .

Then for $0 < \beta < \alpha$ there exists a positive constant $\gamma = \gamma(K, \alpha, \beta)$ such that for every $E_{\mathbb{I}} \in (\mathbb{R}^{k \times k})^{\mathbb{I}}$ with

$$\|E_{\mathbb{I}}\| \le \gamma$$

the equation

$$u_{n+1} = (A_n + E_n)u_n, \quad n \in \mathbb{I}_1 := \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}_{n_-}^+, & \text{for } \mathbb{I} = \mathbb{Z}_{n_-}^+, \\ \mathbb{Z}_{n_+-1}^-, & \text{for } \mathbb{I} = \mathbb{Z}_{n_+}^-, \\ \mathbb{Z}, & \text{for } \mathbb{I} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{I} with data $(2K, \beta, Q_n(E_n))$.

In the following we study the robustness of M-hyperbolic systems. As we have seen in the infinite time case a small perturbation of a hyperbolic system does not destroy the hyperbolicity. The only drawback is a larger constant and that the new exponential rates are generally smaller. For Mhyperbolicity the system must be "hyperbolic" with constant K = 1, so a perturbed M-hyperbolic system is only M-hyperbolic if the constant K does not change. Thus, the infinite time Roughness-Theorems are not transferable to M-hyperbolic systems, whereas all these Roughness-Theorems apply to Khyperbolic systems. **Theorem 3.4.4** (Roughness-Theorem for cont. K-hyperbolic ft-systems). Fix $K \in [1, \infty)$. Let equation (2.7) be defined for $t \in \mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+] \subset \mathbb{R}$ and be K-hyperbolic (on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$) with an invariant family of projectors $P: \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ and exponential rates $\alpha, \beta > 0$. Let $B: \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ satisfy

$$\delta:=\sup_{t\in\mathbb{I}}\|B(t)\|<\frac{\gamma}{4K^2}, \ \text{with}\ \gamma=\min\{\alpha,\beta\}$$

and denote by $\Psi(\cdot, \cdot)$ the solution operator of

$$\dot{y} = [A(t) + B(t)] y.$$
 (3.40)

Then (3.40) is $\frac{5K^2}{2}$ -hyperbolic (on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$) with an invariant family of projectors $Q : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ (w.r.t. Ψ), which satisfies $\mathcal{N}(Q(t_-)) = \mathcal{N}(P(t_-))$, and exponential rates $\tilde{\alpha} := \gamma - 2K\delta =: \tilde{\beta}$.

Proof. The expanded system

$$\dot{x} = \tilde{A}(t)x, t \in \mathbb{J} = [t_{-}, \infty)$$
(3.41)

of system (2.7) with

$$\tilde{A}(t) = \begin{cases} A(t), & \text{for } t \in \mathbb{I}, \\ A(t_+), & \text{for } t \in \mathbb{J} \setminus \mathbb{I} \end{cases}$$

has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{J} with constant K, exponential rates α, β and the invariant family of projectors $\tilde{P} : \mathbb{J} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ with

$$\tilde{P}(s) := \tilde{\Phi}(s, t_{-})P(t_{-})\tilde{\Phi}(t_{-}, s)$$
 for all $s \in \mathbb{J}$

with
$$\tilde{\Phi}(t,s) := \begin{cases} \Phi(t,s), & \text{for } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, \\ \Phi(t_+,s), & \text{for } t \in \mathbb{J} \setminus \mathbb{I}, s \in \mathbb{I}, \\ \text{Id}, & \text{for } t, s \in \mathbb{J} \setminus \mathbb{I}, \end{cases}$$

where $\Phi(t, s)$ denotes the solution operator of (2.7). The Roughness-Theorem 3.4.1 applies to the expanded system (3.41). Thus, for every $\tilde{B} : \mathbb{J} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ which fulfills (3.36), the perturbed system $\dot{y} = [\tilde{A}(t) + \tilde{B}(t)]y$ has an exponential dichotomy on $[t_-, \infty)$ with constant $\tilde{K} = \frac{5K^2}{2}$, with an invariant family of projectors $Q^+ : [t_-, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$, which satisfies $\mathcal{N}(Q^+(t_-)) = \mathcal{N}(\tilde{P}(t_-)) =$ $\mathcal{N}(P(t_-))$, and with exponential rates $\tilde{\alpha} := \gamma - 2K\delta =: \tilde{\beta}$. Set $B(t) := \tilde{B}(t)$ for $t \in I$ then by Definition 3.2.1 we obtain that (3.40) is $\frac{5K^2}{2}$ -hyperbolic with $Q(t) := Q^+(t)$ for $t \in \mathbb{I}$ and with $\tilde{\alpha}, \tilde{\beta}$.

Analogously, we get statements for discrete time K-hyperbolic systems, which are equivalent to Theorem 3.4.2 and Theorem 3.4.3.

Does there exist for every M-hyperbolic system a sufficiently small perturbation such that the perturbed system is M-hyperbolic, too? Or does every perturbation destroy the M-hyperbolicity? An exponential dichotomy (ift) of an invertible dynamical system persists under sufficiently small perturbations, which we prove in the following. To our knowledge, for noninvertible systems there still does not exist an answer to these questions. A Roughness-Theorem, which uses extremal growth rates, is presented in [82, Theo. 3.13]. This theorem works only for invertible systems. It yields a condition under which a perturbed M-hyperbolic invertible systems still remains M-hyperbolic. This condition requires a sufficiently small distance of the solution operators. It does not imply a boundary on the magnitude of the allowed perturbation. However, it is a first indicator that M-hyperbolicity is preserved under sufficiently small perturbations, at least for invertible systems. In [82, Theo. 3.13] the Roughness-Theorem is presented without a proof. For the reader's convenience a proof is stated here in addition.

Theorem 3.4.5 (Roughness-Theorem for invertible ft-systems).

Let \mathbb{I} be a compact interval. Let system (2.6) be invertible and M-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$) on \mathbb{I} with solution operator Φ and with an invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ with $\dim(\mathcal{R}(P(t_{-}))) = r \in \{0, \ldots, k\}$. Then any dynamical system with solution operator Ψ is M-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$) on \mathbb{I} with an invariant family of projectors $Q : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ with $\dim(\mathcal{R}(Q(t_{-}))) = r$ if

$$\widetilde{d}_{\mathbb{I}}(\Phi, \Psi) := \sup_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{1}^{k}} \left\{ \max\left\{ \left| \underline{\lambda}(X, \Phi) - \underline{\lambda}(X, \Psi) \right|, \left| \overline{\lambda}(X, \Phi) - \overline{\lambda}(X, \Psi) \right| \right\} \right\}
< \min\left\{ -\overline{\lambda}_{r}(\Phi), \underline{\lambda}_{k-r}(\Phi) \right\}.$$
(3.42)

Proof. By Lemma 3.2.12 it suffices to show $\overline{\lambda}_r(\Psi) < 0 < \underline{\lambda}_{k-r}(\Psi)$. By (3.42) we get for $r \neq 0$

$$\begin{split} \overline{\lambda}_{r}(\Psi) &= \min_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{r}^{k}} \left\{ \overline{\lambda}(X, \Psi) \right\} = \min_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{r}^{k}} \left\{ \overline{\lambda}(X, \Psi) - \overline{\lambda}(X, \Phi) + \overline{\lambda}(X, \Phi) \right\} \\ &\leq \inf_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{r}^{k}} \left\{ \left| \overline{\lambda}(X, \Psi) - \overline{\lambda}(X, \Phi) \right| \right\} + \min_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{r}^{k}} \left\{ \overline{\lambda}(X, \Phi) \right\} \\ &\leq \sup_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{r}^{k}} \left\{ \left| \overline{\lambda}(X, \Psi) - \overline{\lambda}(X, \Phi) \right| \right\} + \overline{\lambda}_{r}(\Phi) \\ &\leq \sup_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{1}^{k}} \left\{ \left| \overline{\lambda}(X, \Psi) - \overline{\lambda}(X, \Phi) \right| \right\} + \overline{\lambda}_{r}(\Phi) \\ &< -\overline{\lambda}_{r}(\Phi) + \overline{\lambda}_{r}(\Phi) = 0 \end{split}$$

and for r = 0 we obtain by definition $\overline{\lambda}_0(\Psi) = -\infty < 0$. For $r \neq k$ we see

$$\underline{\lambda}_{k-r}(\Psi) = \max_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{k-r}^{k}} \left\{ \underline{\lambda}(X, \Psi) \right\} - \max_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{k-r}^{k}} \left\{ \underline{\lambda}(X, \Phi) \right\} + \max_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{k-r}^{k}} \left\{ \underline{\lambda}(X, \Phi) \right\}$$

$$\geq -\sup_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{k-r}^{k}} \left\{ |\underline{\lambda}(X, \Psi) - \underline{\lambda}(X, \Phi)| \right\} + \underline{\lambda}_{k-r}(\Phi)$$

$$\geq -\sup_{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{1}^{k}} \left\{ |\underline{\lambda}(X, \Psi) - \underline{\lambda}(X, \Phi)| \right\} + \underline{\lambda}_{k-r}(\Phi)$$

$$> -\underline{\lambda}_{k-r}(\Phi) + \underline{\lambda}_{k-r}(\Phi) = 0$$

and for r = k we have by definition $\underline{\lambda}_0 = \infty > 0$.

The last Roughness-Theorem we like to present gives an upper bound on the magnitude of perturbation such that the perturbed M-hyperbolic system is still M-hyperbolic. Therefore, we need various technical calculations. To shorten the actual proof of the Roughness-Theorem 3.4.11 we show the technical details in several lemmas. The theorem originates from Berger [12, Lemma 2], where it is stated for continuous systems only. Consider the differential and difference equation

$$\dot{x}(t) = \tilde{A}(t)x(t), \qquad (3.43)$$

$$x(t+1) = \tilde{A}(t)x(t) \tag{3.44}$$

 $x \in \mathbb{R}^k, \ \tilde{A} \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}), \ t \in \mathbb{I}^{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}} := \begin{cases} \mathbb{I}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \mathbb{I}_1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$. Denote their

associated solution operator by Φ . For every matrix function $B \in \mathcal{C}^0(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}^{k \times k})$ and induced matrix norm $\|\cdot\|$ define

$$\left\|B\right\|_{\infty} := \max_{t \in \mathbb{I}^{\mathbb{R},\mathbb{Z}}} \left\|B(t)\right\|.$$

Lemma 3.4.6. Let $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a compact interval and $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$. Let Φ be the solution operator of (2.7). Then

$$e^{-(t-s)\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \le \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}$$
(3.45)

is satisfied for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$ and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^k$.

Proof. Let $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$ and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^k$. By (3.18) and the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\left|\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\|\Phi(t,s)\mu\right\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right| = \left|2\langle A(t)\Phi(t,s)\mu,\Phi(t,s)\mu\rangle_{\Gamma}\right| \le 2 \left\|A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left\|\Phi(t,s)\mu\right\|_{\Gamma}^{2}.$$

follows. Thus,

$$-2 \|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \leq \frac{d}{dt} \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2}$$

and

$$-2 \left\|A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(-\left\|\Phi(t,s)\mu\right\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right) \ge \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left(-\left\|\Phi(t,s)\mu\right\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right)$$

are satisfied. Using [30, Lemma II.4.9], which is similar to Gronwall's Lemma we obtain

$$- \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \leq \left(- \|\Phi(s,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right) e^{-(t-s)2\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} = -e^{-(t-s)2\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \|\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2}$$

Taking the square root and multiplying with -1 we get (3.45).

Lemma 3.4.7. Let $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ be a compact interval and (2.8) be invertible. Further, let $\|\cdot\|$ be any norm in \mathbb{R}^k . Then

$$\|A^{-1}\|_{\infty}^{-(t-s)} \|\mu\| \le \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\| \le \|A\|_{\infty}^{(t-s)} \|\mu\|$$
(3.46)

is satisfied for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^k$. If $\left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{1}{2} \left\| A^{-1} \right\|_{\infty}^{-1}$ holds for $\tilde{A}(\cdot)$ of (3.44) then

$$\left(2 \|A\|_{\infty}^{(t-s)}\right)^{-1} \|\mu\| \le \left\|\tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\mu\right\| \le \left(\frac{1}{2} \|A^{-1}\|_{\infty}^{-1} + \|A\|_{\infty}\right)^{(t-s)} \|\mu\|$$

is true for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^k$.

Proof. For the associated solution operator of (2.8) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Phi(t,s)\| &= \|A(t-1)\cdots A(s)\| \le \|A(t-1)\|\cdots \|A(s)\| \le \|A\|_{\infty}^{(t-s)}, \\ \|\Phi(s,t)\| &= \|A^{-1}(s)\cdots A^{-1}(t-1)\| \le \|A^{-1}\|_{\infty}^{(t-s)} \end{aligned}$$
(3.47)

for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \ge s$. Every invertible matrix B and induced matrix norm $\|\cdot\|$ satisfies

$$||B||^{-1} = ||B||^{-1} ||BB^{-1}|| \le ||B||^{-1} ||B|| ||B^{-1}|| = ||B^{-1}||.$$

Applying this to (3.47) then

$$\left(\left\| A^{-1} \right\|_{\infty}^{(t-s)} \right)^{-1} \le \left\| \Phi(s,t) \right\|^{-1} \le \left\| \Phi(s,t)^{-1} \right\| = \left\| \Phi(t,s) \right\|$$

follows for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \ge s$. With

$$\left\|A^{-1}\right\|^{-1} \|x\| = \left\|A^{-1}\right\|^{-1} \left\|A^{-1}Ax\right\| \le \left\|A^{-1}\right\|^{-1} \left\|A^{-1}\right\| \|Ax\| = \|Ax\|$$

(3.46) is proved. Let $\|\tilde{A} - A\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{1}{2} \|A^{-1}\|_{\infty}^{-1}$. Then the Banach-Lemma, cf. [69, Lemma 5.3] yields that \tilde{A} is invertible and satisfies

$$\left\|\tilde{A}^{-1}\right\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{\|A^{-1}\|_{\infty}}{1 - \|A^{-1}\|_{\infty} \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\infty}} \leq \frac{\|A^{-1}\|_{\infty}}{1 - \frac{1}{2}} = 2 \left\|A^{-1}\right\|_{\infty}.$$

Hence, with (3.46) we obtain for \tilde{A}

$$\left(2 \|A^{-1}\|_{\infty}^{(t-s)} \right)^{-1} \|\mu\| \le \left\| \tilde{A}^{-1} \right\|_{\infty}^{-(t-s)} \|\mu\| \le \left\| \tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\mu \right\| \le \left\| \tilde{A} \right\|_{\infty}^{(t-s)} \|\mu\|$$
$$\le \left(\left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\infty} + \|A\|_{\infty} \right)^{(t-s)} \|\mu\|$$
$$\le \left(\frac{1}{2} \|A^{-1}\|_{\infty}^{-1} + \|A\|_{\infty} \right)^{(t-s)} \|\mu\|$$

for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$ and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^k$.

Lemma 3.4.8. Let $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ be a compact interval. If for the systems (2.8) and (3.44)

$$\left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\infty} \le 1$$

holds then

$$\left\|\tilde{\Phi}(t,s) - \Phi(t,s)\right\| \le \left((1 + \|A\|_{\infty})^{(t-s)} - \|A\|_{\infty}^{(t-s)} \right) \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\infty}$$

is satisfied for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$.

Proof. Fix $s \in \mathbb{I}$. For t = s the statement is trivial. Thus, assume there exists a $T \in \mathbb{I}$ such that the statement is satisfied for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, $s \leq t < T$. Let $\|\tilde{A} - A\|_{\infty} \leq 1$ then

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \tilde{\Phi}(T,s) - \Phi(T,s) \right\| \\ \leq & \left\| \tilde{\Phi}(T,T-1) \left(\tilde{\Phi}(T-1,s) - \Phi(T-1,s) \right) \right\| \\ & + \left\| \left(\tilde{\Phi}(T,T-1) - \Phi(T,T-1) \right) \Phi(T-1,s) \right\| \\ \leq & \left\| \tilde{A} \right\|_{\infty} \left((1 + \|A\|_{\infty})^{(T-1-s)} - \|A\|_{\infty}^{(T-1-s)} \right) \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\infty} \\ & + \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\infty} \|A\|_{\infty}^{(T-1-s)} \\ \leq & \left(\left(\left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\infty} + \|A\|_{\infty} \right) \left((1 + \|A\|_{\infty})^{(T-1-s)} - \|A\|_{\infty}^{(T-1-s)} \right) \\ & + \|A\|_{\infty}^{(T-1-s)} \right) \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\infty} \\ \leq & \left((1 + \|A\|_{\infty}) \left((1 + \|A\|_{\infty})^{(T-1-s)} - \|A\|_{\infty}^{(T-1-s)} \right) + \|A\|_{\infty}^{(T-1-s)} \right) \\ & \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\infty} \\ = & \left((1 + \|A\|_{\infty})^{(T-s)} - \|A\|_{\infty}^{(T-1-s)} - \|A\|_{\infty}^{(T-s)} + \|A\|_{\infty}^{(T-1-s)} \right) \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\infty} \\ = & \left((1 + \|A\|_{\infty})^{(T-s)} - \|A\|_{\infty}^{(T-s)} \right) \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\infty} \end{split}$$

follows.

Lemma 3.4.9. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$, $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$ and $\Gamma = \Gamma^{T} > 0$. Let (2.7)/(2.8) be invertible and M-hyperbolic w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$ on \mathbb{I} with data (α, β, P) . Fix $s \in \mathbb{I}$ and let $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^{k}$. Define $\tilde{\eta} := \tilde{\eta}(t) := \tilde{\Phi}(t, s)\mu$, $\eta := \eta(t) = \Phi(t, s)\mu$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$. If

$$\left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \le \delta := \begin{cases} (t_+ - t_-)^{-1}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \min\left\{1, \frac{1}{2} \left\|A^{-1}\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{-1}\right\}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

 $holds\ then$

$$\|\tilde{\eta} - \eta\|_{\Gamma} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}\right) \le C \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right), \qquad (3.48)$$

is satisfied with

$$C = \begin{cases} 2(t_{+} - t_{-})e^{1+2(t_{+} - t_{-})\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ 2\left(\|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty} + \|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}\right)^{(t_{+} - t_{-})}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

If

$$\left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \le \min\left\{\delta, (2C)^{-1}\right\}$$

 $holds\ then$

$$\left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right) \leq 4C \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2}$$

$$(3.49)$$

is satisfied.

Proof. The first step is to find an upper bound for $\|\tilde{\eta} - \eta\|_{\Gamma}$. Let $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \ge s$ be fixed. The definition of $\tilde{\eta}, \eta$ yields

$$\|\tilde{\eta} - \eta\|_{\Gamma} = \left\| \left(\tilde{\Phi}(t,s) - \Phi(t,s) \right) \mu \right\|_{\Gamma} \le \left\| \tilde{\Phi}(t,s) - \Phi(t,s) \right\|_{\Gamma} \|\mu\|_{\Gamma}.$$
(3.50)

Let $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$. Then the variation of constants formula yields

$$\tilde{\Phi}(t,s) - \Phi(t,s) = \int_{s}^{t} \Phi(t,\tau) \left(\tilde{A}(\tau) - A(\tau)\right) \tilde{\Phi}(\tau,s) \mathrm{d}\tau, \qquad (3.51)$$

since |

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left(\tilde{\Phi}(t,s) - \Phi(t,s) \right) = \tilde{A}(t) \tilde{\Phi}(t,s) - A(t) \Phi(t,s)$$
$$= A(t) \left(\tilde{\Phi}(t,s) - \Phi(t,s) \right) + \left(\tilde{A}(t) - A(t) \right) \tilde{\Phi}(t,s).$$

By Lemma 3.4.6 the solution operators Φ and $\tilde{\Phi}$ satisfy

$$e^{-(r-z)||A||_{\Gamma,\infty}} \|\xi\|_{\Gamma} \le \|\Phi(r,z)\xi\|_{\Gamma} \le \|\Phi(r,z)\|_{\Gamma} \|\xi\|_{\Gamma},$$

$$e^{-(r-z)||\tilde{A}||_{\Gamma,\infty}} \|\xi\|_{\Gamma} \le \|\tilde{\Phi}(r,z)\xi\|_{\Gamma} \le \|\tilde{\Phi}(r,z)\|_{\Gamma} \|\xi\|_{\Gamma}.$$

for all $r, z \in \mathbb{I}, r \ge z$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$. These estimates imply together with (3.51)

$$\begin{split} & \left\|\tilde{\Phi}(t,s) - \Phi(t,s)\right\|_{\Gamma} \\ \leq & \int_{s}^{t} \left\|\Phi(t,\tau)\right\|_{\Gamma} \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left\|\tilde{\Phi}(\tau,s)\right\|_{\Gamma} d\tau \\ \leq & \int_{s}^{t} e^{(t-\tau)\left\|A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} e^{(\tau-s)\left\|\tilde{A}\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} d\tau \\ \leq & \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} e^{(t-s)\left\|A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \int_{s}^{t} e^{(\tau-s)\left(\left\|\tilde{A}-A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} - \left\|A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}\right)} d\tau \\ \leq & \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} e^{(t-s)\left\|A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \int_{s}^{t} e^{(\tau-s)\left(\left\|\tilde{A}-A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} + \left\|A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} - \left\|A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}\right)} d\tau \\ \leq & \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} e^{(t-s)\left\|A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \int_{s}^{t} e^{(\tau-s)\left\|\tilde{A}-A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} d\tau \\ \leq & e^{(t-s)\left\|A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(e^{(t-s)\left\|\tilde{A}-A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \frac{1}{\left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} - \frac{1}{\left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}}\right) \\ = & e^{(t-s)\left\|A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \left(e^{(t-s)\left\|\tilde{A}-A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} - 1\right). \end{split}$$
(3.52)

For $0 \le x \le 1$ the trivial estimate $e^x - 1 \le 2x$ is satisfied. If

$$\left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \le (t_+ - t_-)^{-1} =: \delta_1^{\mathbb{R}}$$

holds we get

$$\left(e^{(t-s)\left\|\tilde{A}-A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}}-1\right) \leq 2(t-s)\left\|\tilde{A}-A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}.$$

Thus, estimate (3.52) becomes for $\left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \leq (t_+ - t_-)^{-1} =: \delta_1^{\mathbb{R}}$ $\left\|\tilde{\Phi}(t,s) - \Phi(t,s)\right\|_{\Gamma} \leq e^{(t-s)\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \left(e^{(t-s)\|\tilde{A}-A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} - 1\right)$ $\leq 2(t-s)e^{(t-s)\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}$ $\leq C_1^{\mathbb{R}} \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}$ (3.53)

with $C_1^{\mathbb{R}} := 2(t_+ - t_-)e^{(t_+ - t_-)\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}}$. Let $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$. Then Lemma 3.4.8 yields for $\|\tilde{A} - A\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \leq 1 =: \delta_1^{\mathbb{Z}}$

$$\begin{split} \left\| \tilde{\Phi}(t,s) - \Phi(t,s) \right\|_{\Gamma} &\leq \left(\left(1 + \|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right)^{(t-s)} - \|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{(t-s)} \right) \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \\ &\leq \left(1 + \|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right)^{(t-s)} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \\ &\leq C_1^{\mathbb{Z}} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \end{split}$$
(3.54)

with $C_1^{\mathbb{Z}} := \left(1 + \|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}\right)^{(t_+-t_-)}$. Altogether for $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ let

$$\left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \le \delta_1 := \begin{cases} \delta_1^{\mathbb{R}} = (t_+ - t_-)^{-1}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \delta_1^{\mathbb{Z}} = 1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \end{cases}$$

then the upper bound (3.50) becomes by (3.53) and (3.54)

$$\|\tilde{\eta} - \eta\|_{\Gamma} \le \left\|\tilde{\Phi}(t,s) - \Phi(t,s)\right\|_{\Gamma} \|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \le C_1 \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \|\mu\|_{\Gamma}$$

with $0 < C_1 := \begin{cases} C_1^{\mathbb{R}} = 2(t_+ - t_-)e^{(t_+ - t_-)\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ C_1^{\mathbb{Z}} = \left(1 + \|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}\right)^{(t_+ - t_-)}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$ Thus, we have

$$\|\tilde{\eta} - \eta\|_{\Gamma} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}\right) \le C_1 \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} + \|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}\right). \quad (3.55)$$

Let $\left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \leq \delta_2 := \begin{cases} \delta_2^{\mathbb{R}} := \infty, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \delta_2^{\mathbb{Z}} := \frac{1}{2} \left\| A^{-1} \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{-1}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$ Then Lemma 3.4.6 yields for $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$

$$e^{-(t_{+}-t_{-})\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \leq \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma} = \|\eta\|_{\Gamma},$$

$$e^{-(t_{+}-t_{-})\|\tilde{A}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}} \|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \leq \|\tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma} = \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma},$$

i.e.

$$\|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \leq \|\eta\|_{\Gamma} e^{(t_{+}-t_{-})\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}}, \|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \leq \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} e^{(t_{+}-t_{-})}\|\tilde{A}\|_{\Gamma,\infty},$$
(3.56)

and Lemma 3.4.7 yields for $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$

$$\|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{-(t-s)} \|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \le \|\Phi(t,s)\mu\|_{\Gamma} = \|\eta\|_{\Gamma},$$

$$\left(2 \|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{(t-s)}\right)^{-1} \|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \le \left\|\tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\mu\right\|_{\Gamma} = \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma},$$

i.e.

$$\|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \le \|\eta\|_{\Gamma} \|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{(t-s)}, \|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \le \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} 2 \|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{(t-s)}.$$
(3.57)

Let

$$\left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \le \delta := \min\{\delta_1, \delta_2\} = \begin{cases} (t_+ - t_-)^{-1}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \min\{1, \frac{1}{2} \| A^{-1} \|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{-1}\}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Inserting (3.56) and (3.57) in (3.55) we get the first estimate (3.48)

$$\begin{split} \|\tilde{\eta} - \eta\|_{\Gamma} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}\right) \\ \leq C_{1} \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} + \|\mu\|_{\Gamma} \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}\right) \\ \leq C_{1} \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \begin{cases} \left(e^{(t_{+}-t_{-})}\|\tilde{A}\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + e^{(t_{+}-t_{-})}\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \left(2\|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{(t_{+}-t_{-})} \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{(t_{+}-t_{-})} \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases} \\ \leq C_{1} \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \begin{cases} e^{(t_{+}-t_{-})} \left(\|\tilde{A}-A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{+}\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}\right) \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ 2\|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{(t_{+}-t_{-})} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases} \\ \leq C \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right) \end{cases} \tag{3.58}$$

with a constant

$$0 < C := C_1 \begin{cases} e^{1+(t_+-t_-)\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ 2 \|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{(t_+-t_-)}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$
$$= \begin{cases} 2(t_+-t_-)e^{1+2(t_+-t_-)\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ 2 \left(\|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty} + \|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}\right)^{(t_+-t_-)}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

With the triangular inequality, with the third binomial formula and with (3.58) we get the upper bound

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right\| &= \left\| (\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} - \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}) \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma} \right) \\ &\leq \left\| \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} - \|\eta\|_{\Gamma} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma} \right) \\ &\leq \left\| \tilde{\eta} - \eta\|_{\Gamma} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma} \right) \\ &\leq C \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) \\ &\leq 2C \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left\| \tilde{\eta} \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + C \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left\| \|\tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right\|. \end{aligned}$$
(3.59)

Rearranging the terms in (3.59) yields

$$\left(1 - C \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}\right) \left\|\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right\| \leq 2C \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2}.$$

For $\|\tilde{A} - A\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \leq \min \{\delta, (2C)^{-1}\}$ the estimate (3.49) follows by the latter estimate, i.e.

$$\begin{split} \left| \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right| &= \left| \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right| \left(1 - C \frac{1}{2C} \right) 2 \\ &\leq \left| \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right| \left(1 - C \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) 2 \\ &\leq 4C \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \,. \end{split}$$

Lemma 3.4.10. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Let $\Gamma = \Gamma^{T} > 0$ and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^{k}$. Fix $s \in \mathbb{I}$. Define $\tilde{\eta} := \tilde{\eta}(t) := \tilde{\Phi}(t, s)\mu$, $\eta := \eta(t) := \Phi(t, s)\mu$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ $t \geq s$. Let

$$\left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \le \delta := \begin{cases} (t_+ - t_-)^{-1}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \min\left\{1, \frac{1}{2} \left\|A^{-1}\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{-1}\right\}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Then

$$\left| \langle \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma}(t)\tilde{\eta} \rangle - \langle \eta, S_{\Gamma}(t)\eta \rangle \right| \leq \bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right)$$
(3.60)

is satisfied for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, $t \ge s$ with

$$\bar{C} := \begin{cases} 1 + \|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty} C, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \left(1 + 2 \|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}\right) + \left(\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^2 + 1\right) C, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$
(3.61)

and

$$C := \begin{cases} 2(t_{+} - t_{-})e^{1+2(t_{+} - t_{-})\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ 2\left(\|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty} + \|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}\right)^{(t_{+} - t_{-})}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$
(3.62)

Proof. For $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ we get by equations (3.16) and (3.18), by the symmetry of $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\Gamma}$ and by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \langle \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma} \tilde{\eta} \rangle - \langle \eta, S_{\Gamma} \eta \rangle \right| \\ &= \left| \langle \tilde{A} \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} - \langle A \eta, \eta \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \langle (\tilde{A} - A) \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + \left| \langle A \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} - \langle A \eta, \eta \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \langle (\tilde{A} - A) \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + \left| \langle A (\tilde{\eta} - \eta), \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + \left| \langle A \eta, \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} - \langle A \eta, \eta \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \langle (\tilde{A} - A) \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + \left| \langle A (\tilde{\eta} - \eta), \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + \left| \langle A \eta, (\tilde{\eta} - \eta) \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \langle \tilde{A} - A \right|_{\Gamma,\infty} \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| A \|_{\Gamma,\infty} \| \tilde{\eta} - \eta \|_{\Gamma} \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma} + \| A \|_{\Gamma,\infty} \| \eta \|_{\Gamma} \| \tilde{\eta} - \eta \|_{\Gamma} \\ &= \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| A \|_{\Gamma,\infty} \| \tilde{\eta} - \eta \|_{\Gamma} (\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma} + \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}) . \end{aligned}$$
(3.63)

For $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$ we have by equation (3.17) and the latter arguments

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \langle \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma} \tilde{\eta} \rangle - \langle \eta, S_{\Gamma} \eta \rangle \right| \\ &= \left| \langle \tilde{A} \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{A} \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} + \langle \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} - \langle A \eta, A \eta \rangle_{\Gamma} - \langle \eta, \eta \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \langle ((\tilde{A} - A) + A) \tilde{\eta}, ((\tilde{A} - A) + A) \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} - \langle A \eta, A \eta \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| \\ &+ \left| \langle \tilde{\eta} - \eta, \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + \left| \langle \eta, \tilde{\eta} - \eta \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \langle (\tilde{A} - A) \tilde{\eta}, (\tilde{A} - A) \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + 2 \left| \langle (\tilde{A} - A) \tilde{\eta}, A \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + \left| \langle A \tilde{\eta}, A \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} - \langle A \eta, A \eta \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| \\ &+ \left| \langle \tilde{\eta} - \eta, \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + \left| \langle \eta, \tilde{\eta} - \eta \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \langle (\tilde{A} - A) \tilde{\eta}, (\tilde{A} - A) \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + 2 \left| \langle (\tilde{A} - A) \tilde{\eta}, A \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + \left| \langle A (\tilde{\eta} - \eta), A \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| \\ &+ \left| \langle A \eta, A (\tilde{\eta} - \eta) \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + \left| \langle \tilde{\eta} - \eta, \tilde{\eta} \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| + \left| \langle \eta, \tilde{\eta} - \eta \rangle_{\Gamma} \right| \\ &\leq \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{2} \left\| \tilde{\eta} \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + 2 \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left\| A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left\| \tilde{\eta} \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \left\| A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{2} \left\| \tilde{\eta} - \eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \left\| \tilde{\eta} \right\|_{\Gamma} \\ &+ \left\| A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{2} \left\| \eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \left\| \tilde{\eta} - \eta \right\|_{\Gamma} + \left\| \tilde{\eta} - \eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \left(\left\| \tilde{\eta} \right\|_{\Gamma} + \left\| \eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \right) \\ &\leq \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} + 2 \left\| A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \left\| \tilde{\eta} \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \\ &+ \left(\left\| A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{2} + 1 \right) \left\| \tilde{\eta} - \eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \left(\left\| \tilde{\eta} \right\|_{\Gamma} + \left\| \eta \right\|_{\Gamma} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(3.64)

Lemma 3.4.9 yields for $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ the upper bound

$$\|\tilde{\eta} - \eta\|_{\Gamma} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}\right) \le C \left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\|\tilde{\eta}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right)$$

with C defined in (3.62). By inserting this bound in estimates (3.63) and (3.64) the statement (3.60) follows, i.e.

$$\begin{split} \left| \langle \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma} \tilde{\eta} \rangle - \langle \eta, S_{\Gamma} \eta \rangle \right| \\ &\leq \begin{cases} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| A \|_{\Gamma,\infty} \| \tilde{\eta} - \eta \|_{\Gamma} \left(\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma} + \| \eta \|_{\Gamma} \right), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R} \\ \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} + 2 \| A \|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \\ &+ \left(\| A \|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{2} + 1 \right) \| \tilde{\eta} - \eta \|_{\Gamma} \left(\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma} + \| \eta \|_{\Gamma} \right), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases} \\ &\leq \begin{cases} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| A \|_{\Gamma,\infty} C \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R} \\ &\| \tilde{A} - A \|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} + 2 \| A \|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \\ &+ \left(\| A \|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{2} + 1 \right) C \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases} \\ &\leq \bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) \end{split}$$

with constant \bar{C} defined in (3.61).

Finally, we have all tools at hand to prove the Roughness-Theorem for M-hyperbolic invertible systems. For continuous systems see [12, Lemma 2].

Theorem 3.4.11 (Roughness-Theorem for invertible ft-systems). Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}, t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}, \mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$ and $\Gamma = \Gamma^{T} > 0$. Let (2.7)/(2.8) be invertible and M-hyperbolic w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$ on \mathbb{I} with data (α, β, P) . If

$$\left\|\tilde{A}(t)-A(t)\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}<\delta$$

with

$$\delta := \min\left\{\delta_{\mathbb{Z}}, (4C_d)^{-1} \frac{1 - e^{-\alpha}}{2e^{\alpha} - e^{-\alpha}}, (4C_d)^{-1} \frac{e^{\beta} - 1}{e^{\beta}}\right\},\$$

$$\delta_{\mathbb{Z}} := \left\{\substack{\infty, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \min\left\{1, \frac{1}{2} \|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{-1}\right\}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \\ C_d := \max\{C, \bar{C}\} \end{cases}$$
(3.65)

and C, \overline{C} defined in (3.62) and (3.61) then (3.43)/(3.44) is M-hyperbolic w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$ on \mathbb{I} with constants $\frac{1}{2}\alpha, \frac{1}{2}\beta$.

Proof. To show that the system (denoted in the following by g-system) generated by (3.43)/(3.44) is M-hyperbolic with rates $\frac{1}{2}\alpha$, $\frac{1}{2}\beta$ we apply Lemma 3.2.9. Thus, we have to show that an invariant family of projectors $\tilde{P} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ of the g-system exists such that

$$\langle \tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\xi, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma}(t)\tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\xi \rangle \leq -\hat{\alpha} \left\| \tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\xi \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2}$$
 (3.66)

is satisfied for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$ and all $\xi \in \mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(s))$ and additionally that

$$\langle \tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\xi, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma}(t)\tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\xi \rangle \ge \hat{\beta} \left\| \tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\xi \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2}$$

$$(3.67)$$

holds for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{N}(\tilde{P}(s))$ with

$$\hat{\alpha} := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}\alpha, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ 1 - e^{-\alpha}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \end{cases}, \quad \hat{\beta} := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}\beta, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ e^{\beta} - 1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Let $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and fix $s \in \mathbb{I}$. Let $t \in \mathbb{I}$, $t \geq s$. Define $\tilde{\eta} := \tilde{\eta}(t) := \tilde{\Phi}(t, s)\xi$ and $\eta := \eta(t) := \Phi(t, s)\xi$. In the following for legibility the dependency of t is not explicitly written down. First, we prove (3.66) for all $\xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s))$ and (3.67) for all $\xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(s))$ for our fixed s and all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, $t \geq s$. Then we define the family of projectors \tilde{P} . From Lemma 3.4.10 we obtain

$$\left| \langle \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma} \tilde{\eta} \rangle - \langle \eta, S_{\Gamma} \eta \rangle \right| \leq \bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma, \infty} \left(\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right)$$
(3.68)

59

with constant $\bar{C} > 0$ defined in (3.61) for

$$\left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \le \delta_1 := \begin{cases} (t_+ - t_-)^{-1}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \min\left\{1, \frac{1}{2} \left\|A^{-1}\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{-1}\right\}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Let

$$\left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \le \delta_2 := \min\left\{\delta_1, (2C)^{-1}\right\}, \ C_d := \max\{\bar{C}, C\}$$

with C defined in (3.62). The triangular inequality is used to separate $\langle \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma} \tilde{\eta} \rangle$ from the rest of (3.68). Then we insert the equivalent M-hyperbolic estimates

$$\langle \eta, S_{\Gamma} \eta \rangle \leq -\bar{\alpha} \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^2, \ \langle \eta, S_{\Gamma} \eta \rangle \geq \bar{\beta} \|\eta\|_{\Gamma}^2$$

from Lemma 3.2.9 with

$$\bar{\alpha} := \begin{cases} \alpha, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ 1 - e^{-2\alpha}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}, \ \bar{\beta} := \begin{cases} \beta, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ e^{2\beta} - 1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Thus, we get with (3.49)

$$\begin{split} &\langle \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma}, \tilde{\eta} \rangle \\ &\leq \langle \eta, S_{\Gamma} \eta \rangle + \bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) \\ &\leq -\bar{\alpha} \left\| \eta \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) \\ &= -\bar{\alpha} \left(\| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) + \bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(2 \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) \\ &\leq -\bar{\alpha} \left\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \bar{\alpha} \left\| \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right\| \\ &+ 2\bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \bar{C} \right\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left\| \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right| \\ &= - \left(\bar{\alpha} - 2\bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \left(\bar{\alpha} + \bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \left\| \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right| \\ &\leq - \left(\bar{\alpha} - 2\bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \left(\bar{\alpha} + \bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) 4C \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \\ &\leq - \left(\bar{\alpha} - 2C_{d} \left(1 + 2\bar{\alpha} \right) \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} - 4\bar{C}C \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \\ &\leq - \left(\bar{\alpha} - 2C_{d} \left(1 + 2\bar{\alpha} \right) \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} - 2\bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \\ &\leq - \left(\bar{\alpha} - 4C_{d} \left(1 + \bar{\alpha} \right) \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \\ &= - \left(\left(1 - e^{-2\alpha} \right) - 4C_{d} \left(2 - e^{-2\alpha} \right) \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \end{split}$$

for all $\mu \in \mathcal{R}(P(s))$. Let $\left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \leq \delta_3^1 := \min\left\{\delta_2, (4C_d)^{-1} \frac{e^{-\alpha} - e^{-2\alpha}}{2 - e^{-2\alpha}}\right\}$. Then we have

$$\langle \tilde{\eta}, S_{\Gamma} \tilde{\eta} \rangle$$

$$\leq - \left(\left(1 - e^{-2\alpha} \right) - 4C_d \left(2 - e^{-2\alpha} \right) \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^2$$

$$\leq - \left(1 - e^{-2\alpha} - \left(e^{-\alpha} - e^{-2\alpha} \right) \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^2$$

$$= - \left(1 - e^{-\alpha} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^2$$

$$= - \hat{\alpha} \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^2 .$$

The second estimate (3.67) for our fixed $s \in \mathbb{I}$ results from the same line of argument for $\left\|\tilde{A} - A\right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \leq \delta_3^2 := \min\left\{\delta_2, (4C_d)^{-1} \frac{e^{2\beta} - e^{\beta}}{e^{2\beta}}\right\}$ and each $\mu \in \mathcal{N}(P(s))$, i.e.

$$\begin{split} &\langle \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma} \tilde{\eta} \rangle \\ \geq &\langle \eta, S_{\Gamma} \eta \rangle - \bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) \\ \geq &\bar{\beta} \left\| \eta \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \left(\| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) \\ \geq & \left(\bar{\beta} - 2\bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \left(\bar{\beta} + \bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \left\| \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \| \eta \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right| \\ \geq & \left(\bar{\beta} - 2\bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \left(\bar{\beta} + \bar{C} \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) 4C \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \\ \geq & \left(\bar{\beta} - 4C_{d}(1 + \bar{\beta}) \left\| \tilde{A} - A \right\|_{\Gamma,\infty} \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \\ \geq & \left(e^{2\beta} - 1 - \left(e^{2\beta} - e^{\beta} \right) \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \\ = & \left(e^{\beta} - 1 \right) \| \tilde{\eta} \|_{\Gamma}^{2} \end{split}$$

Before we define the invariant family of projectors $\tilde{P} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ fulfilling (3.66) and (3.67) we show

$$\delta := \min\left\{\delta_{\mathbb{Z}}, (4C_d)^{-1} \frac{1 - e^{-\alpha}}{2e^{\alpha} - e^{-\alpha}}, (4C_d)^{-1} \frac{e^{\beta} - 1}{e^{\beta}}\right\} \le \min\left\{\delta_2, \delta_3^1, \delta_3^2\right\}, \quad (3.69)$$

where $\delta_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is defined in (3.65). We have

$$\min\left\{\delta_{2}, \delta_{3}^{1}, \delta_{3}^{2}\right\} = \min\left\{\delta_{2}, (4C_{d})^{-1} \frac{e^{-\alpha} - e^{-2\alpha}}{2 - e^{-2\alpha}}, (4C_{d})^{-1} \frac{e^{2\beta} - e^{\beta}}{e^{2\beta}}\right\}$$
$$= \min\left\{\delta_{2}, (4C_{d})^{-1} \frac{1 - e^{-\alpha}}{2e^{\alpha} - e^{-\alpha}}, (4C_{d})^{-1} \frac{e^{\beta} - 1}{e^{\beta}}\right\}.$$

For
$$\delta_2 = \min \{\delta_1, (2C)^{-1}\}$$
 and $\delta_1 = \begin{cases} (t_+ - t_-)^{-1}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \min \{1, \frac{1}{2} \|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma, \infty}^{-1}\}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$
follows with

$$(2C)^{-1} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{4}(t_{+} - t_{-})^{-1}e^{-(1+2(t_{+} - t_{-})\|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty})}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R} \\ \frac{1}{4}\left(1 + \|A\|_{\Gamma,\infty}\right)^{-(t_{+} - t_{-})}\|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{-(t_{+} - t_{-})}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$
$$< \begin{cases} (t_{+} - t_{-})^{-1}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \frac{1}{2}\|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{-(t_{+} - t_{-})}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$
$$\delta_{2} = \begin{cases} (2C)^{-1}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \min\left\{1, \frac{1}{2}\|A^{-1}\|_{\Gamma,\infty}^{-1}(2C)^{-1}\right\}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

With

$$(2C)^{-1} \ge (2C_d)^{-1} \ge (4C_d)^{-1} \ge (4C_d)^{-1} \frac{e^{\beta} - 1}{e^{\beta}}$$

we obtain (3.69).

Finally, we define the invariant family of projectors $\tilde{P} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$, which satisfies (3.66) for all $\mu \in \mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(s))$ and (3.67) for all $\mu \in \mathcal{N}(\tilde{P}(s))$ and all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, $t \geq s$. We already proved that by choosing δ sufficiently small the perturbed equation (3.43)/(3.44) is invertible as well. Thus, the solution operators Φ and $\tilde{\Phi}$ are both invertible. Hence, we define an invariant family of projectors by

$$\tilde{P}(s) := P(s), \ \tilde{P}(t) := \tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\tilde{P}(s)\tilde{\Phi}(s,t), \ t \in \mathbb{I}.$$

Then

$$\begin{split} &\langle \tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\mu, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma}(t)\tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\mu\rangle \leq -\hat{\alpha} \left\| \tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\mu \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \text{ for all } \mu \in \mathcal{R}(P(s)) = \mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(s)), \\ &\langle \tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\mu, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma}(t)\tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\mu\rangle \geq \hat{\beta} \left\| \tilde{\Phi}(t,s)\mu \right\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \text{ for all } \mu \in \mathcal{N}(P(s)) = \mathcal{N}(\tilde{P}(s)) \end{split}$$

are satisfied for all $t \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$. By the invariance of \tilde{P} and by the invertibility of $\tilde{\Phi}$

$$\begin{split} &\langle \tilde{\Phi}(t,t_0)\xi, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma}(t)\tilde{\Phi}(t,t_0)\xi\rangle \leq -\hat{\alpha} \left\| \tilde{\Phi}(t,t_0)\xi \right\|_{\Gamma}^2 \text{ for all } \xi \in \mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(t_0), \\ &\langle \tilde{\Phi}(t,t_0)\xi, \tilde{S}_{\Gamma}(t)\tilde{\Phi}(t,t_0)\xi\rangle \geq \hat{\beta} \left\| \tilde{\Phi}(t,t_0)\xi \right\|_{\Gamma}^2 \text{ for all } \xi \in \mathcal{N}(\tilde{P}(t_0)). \end{split}$$

follows for all $t_0, t \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq t_0$. Thus, by Lemma 3.2.9 the Equation (3.43)/(3.44) is M-hyperbolic with the invariant family of projectors \tilde{P} and rates $\frac{1}{2}\alpha, \frac{1}{2}\beta$.

Corollary 3.4.12. Let the assumptions of Theorem 3.4.11 be satisfied. Then for each $s \in \mathbb{I}$ the perturbed equation (3.43)/(3.44) is M-hyperbolic with the invariant family of projectors $\tilde{P}(t) := \tilde{\Phi}(t,s)P(s)\tilde{\Phi}(s,t), t \in \mathbb{I}$.

Chapter 4

Stable and Unstable Subspaces and Cones

For analyzing hyperbolic (i)ft-systems, it is convenient to study their stable and unstable set. These sets are invariant under the solution operator and they comprise the solutions that decay or grow at certain rates. In this chapter we start with linear systems. For linear ift-systems these sets are subspaces and for linear ft-systems they are cones. The stable and unstable subspaces of a linearized system are used to find the stable and unstable manifolds or fiber bundles of the underlying nonlinear system. The Stable Manifold Theorem states, roughly speaking, that the subspaces are tangential to the manifolds. We discuss the nonlinear setup in detail in Section 6.6. There, we present an analogous statement for finite time systems as well.

This chapter starts with the definition of the stable and unstable subspaces of an ift-system and presents an alternative representation using the unique invariant family of projectors. Then we derive a definition for the stable and unstable cone of an ft-system from the definition of the subspaces and prove that the cones have a similar relation to the invariant families of projectors. This means that the uniquely determined cones can be described by the union of the nonunique projectors.

Let system (2.6) be hyperbolic on $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ with the unique invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}^k$. Then the **stable and unstable set** of 0 at time $t_0 \in \mathbb{T}$ are defined as

$$^{\mathbb{T}}V_{s}(t_{0}) := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \Big| \sup_{t \geq t_{0}} \left\| \Phi(t, t_{0}) \xi \right\| < \infty \right\},$$

$$^{\mathbb{T}}V_{u}(t_{0}) := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \Big| \sup_{t \leq t_{0}} \left\| \Phi(t, t_{0}) \xi \right\| < \infty \right\}$$

$$(4.1)$$

if the system is invertible. For the definition and for a proof of the following property (4.2) we refer to [104, p.227] for continuous time systems and to [105, Proposition 2.3] for discrete time invertible systems. Analog statuents for

noninvertible systems are presented in [8, Theorem 2.5]. These sets satisfy

$$^{\mathbb{T}}V_s(t_0) = \mathcal{R}(P(t_0)), \ ^{\mathbb{T}}V_u(t_0) = \mathcal{N}(P(t_0))$$

$$(4.2)$$

for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{T}$, which shows that the stable and unstable sets are **subspaces**. This is not true for ft-systems.

For a compact interval I let system (2.6) be M-hyperbolic. Then an invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$, which fulfills (3.9) and (3.10) with rates $\alpha, \beta > 0$, is generally not unique. We expect that the stable and unstable t_0 -sets ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}(t_0)$ of the M-hyperbolic system (2.6) satisfy

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0) = \bigcup_{P(t_0)\in\mathcal{P}_{t_0}} \mathcal{R}(P(t_0)) \text{ and } {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0) = \bigcup_{P(t_0)\in\mathcal{P}_{t_0}} \mathcal{N}(P(t_0))$$
(4.3)

for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, where

$$\mathcal{P}_{t_0} := \{ P(t_0) | P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k} \text{ is an invariant family of projectors, which}$$
fulfills (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10) with constants $\alpha, \beta > 0 \}.$

We could use equation (4.3) as a definition for the stable and unstable sets ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}(\cdot)$. However, we prefer to define the finite time sets similar to (4.1), see Definition 4.1.3/ 4.1.5, and then show in Theorem 4.2.4 that the statements in (4.3) are satisfied.

Stable and Unstable Cones

In [43] we find a definition for the stable and unstable t_0 -set ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}(t_0)$ of a continuous ft-system. We derive an adequate definition for the stable and unstable sets of discrete ft-systems. We will see that the sets ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}(t_0)$ are double-cones for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Therefore, we start with the definition of various types of cones, see [67, Example 1.1.4], [122, Definition 2.1.2] and [28, Definition 2.11 and Exercise 2.12]. Then we define the stable and unstable set and study their properties and we conclude this chapter with the proof of the statements in (4.3).

Definition 4.1.1. A subset $C \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ is called a **cone** if $\lambda C \subset C$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, $\lambda \geq 0$. A cone is a **convex cone** if the cone is convex, i.e. if $C + C \subset C$. We call $C \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ a **closed cone** if C is closed and an **open cone** if $C \setminus \{0\}$ is open. Further, we say $D := -C \cup C$ is a **(closed, open, convex) double-cone** if C is a (closed, open, convex) cone. A cone C is a **connected cone** if $C \setminus \{0\}$ is connected. Let $D \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ be a double-cone such that $D \setminus \{0\}$ consists of two connected cones C, -C, then C is called a **half-cone** of D and D is called a **connected double-cone**. Let $C \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ be a nontrivial connected cone. By defining

$$\mathcal{X} := \partial C \cap \partial \mathcal{S}^1,$$

where $S^1 \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ denotes the unit sphere, we define the **width** d_C of C with the help of the Hausdorff-distance between the connected components of \mathcal{X} . Let $\mathcal{X}_i, 1 \leq i \leq n$ be the connected components of \mathcal{X} such that $\mathcal{X} = \bigcup_{i=1}^n \mathcal{X}_i$. The width is defined by

$$d_C := \begin{cases} \max\{\|x - y\|_2 | x, y \in \mathcal{X}\} &, \text{ if } n = 1; \\ \max\{d_H(\mathcal{X}_i, \mathcal{X}_j) | i, j \in \{1, \dots, n\}, i \neq j\} &, \text{ if } n > 1, \end{cases}$$
(4.4)

with
$$d_H(\mathcal{X}_i, \mathcal{X}_j) := \max\{d(x_i, \mathcal{X}_j) | x_i \in \mathcal{X}_i\},\$$

and $d(x_i, \mathcal{X}_j) := \min\{\|x_i - x_j\|_2 | x_j \in \mathcal{X}_j\}.$ (4.5)

If $D \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ is a connected double-cone then its width equals the width of its half-cone.

The angle τ_C of a nontrivial connected cone $C \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ with $-\bar{C} \cup \bar{C} \neq \mathbb{R}^k$ is defined as

$$\tau_C := \arccos\left(1 - \frac{(d_C)^2}{2}\right).$$

Remark 4.1.2. The equations (4.4)-(4.5) are well defined. Indeed the Hausdorff-distance $d_H : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ and the distance $d : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ are continuous and \mathcal{X} is compact (see below) and, hence, they reach their maximum and minimum on $\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{X}$. The set \mathcal{X} is compact, since $\mathcal{X} = \partial C \cap \partial S^1$ is bounded by the boundedness of S^1 and it is closed since both sets ∂C and ∂S^1 are closed.

We should mention that a cone or a double-cone, which is connected, is generally not a connected cone or connected double-cone in the sense of Definition 4.1.1; it must still be connected without 0. For an illustration see the top graphs in Figure 4.1.

We present a few examples of cones in 2-dimensional spaces in Figure 4.1 to see the difference between a connected cone and a cone, which is not a connected cone. In the second row of Figure 4.1 we see on the left a connected cone and on the right a connected double-cone. The pattern part marks one half-cone. The bottom pictures show the angle and width of a (double-)cone in a 2-dimensional space. The boundary of a nonempty open connected double-cone in a 2-dimensional subspace consists of two disjoint subspaces, see middle right part of Figure 4.1. Further, every connected cone in a 2-dimensional subspace is a convex cone. In higher dimensional subspaces this is generally not true, see for example Figure 4.6.

It is easy to see, that the intersection of two (connected, closed, double) cones is also a (connected, closed, double) cone. This is important for the definition of the stable and unstable t_0 -sets ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}(t_0)$ of continuous ft-systems as in [43]. This definition is not transferable to the discrete time case, since discrete systems are generally not invertible. We introduce an adequate definition



Figure 4.1: Different types of cones and the angle and width of a (double-)cone

for discrete systems in Definition 4.1.5. This definition applies to continuous time systems as well. However, we will define the (un)stable cones of continuous and discrete systems separately, since the definition for continuous systems avoids technicalities that occur for noninvertible systems only.

Definition 4.1.3. Consider equation (2.7) on $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$. Let $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and $\|\cdot\|$ be any norm in \mathbb{R}^k . We define the two cones

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{+}(t_{0}) := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \exists \alpha > 0 : \| \Phi(t, t_{0})\xi \| e^{\alpha t} \text{ is decreasing for } t \in [t_{0}, t_{+}] \right\}$$
$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(t_{0}) := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \exists \alpha > 0 : \| \Phi(t, t_{0})\xi \| e^{\alpha t} \text{ is decreasing for } t \in [t_{-}, t_{0}] \right\}$$

and we denote their intersection ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0) := {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+(t_0) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(t_0)$ as the stable t_0 -cone w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$. Similarly, we define the unstable t_0 -cone w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$ by ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0) := {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^+(t_0) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^-(t_0)$, where the two cones are defined as

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{+}(t_{0}) := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \big| \exists \beta > 0 : \| \Phi(t, t_{0}) \xi \| e^{-\beta t} \text{ is increasing for } t \in [t_{0}, t_{+}] \right\}, \\ {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{-}(t_{0}) := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \big| \exists \beta > 0 : \| \Phi(t, t_{0}) \xi \| e^{-\beta t} \text{ is increasing for } t \in [t_{-}, t_{0}] \right\}.$$

For noninvertible (discrete) systems we can not define ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}^{-}$ as above, since $\Phi(t, t_0)$ may not be defined for all $t \in [t_-, t_0]$. Therefore, we first define two maps for $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$

$$\Phi \mathcal{T}_{\min} : \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{I},$$

$$(\xi, n_{0}) \mapsto \bar{n} := \min \left\{ n \in [n_{-}, n_{0}]_{\mathbb{Z}} \middle| \exists x \in \mathbb{R}^{k} : \Phi(n_{0}, n)x = \xi \right\},$$

$$\Phi \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}} : \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \rightsquigarrow \mathbb{R}^{k},$$

$$(\xi, n_{0}) \mapsto \left\{ \mu \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \Phi(n_{0}, \bar{n})\mu = \xi \text{ with } \bar{n} := \Phi \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_{0}) \right\}.$$

The arrow \rightsquigarrow indicates that the given map is a set-valued map, see [6]. The first function provides the earliest time at which a preimage of a vector ξ under Φ still exists. The second function yields all preimages to that time (earliest defined time). Figure 4.2 illustrates an example, where the images of the two functions for a pictured vector ξ are marked.

We should mention that in contrast to ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}$ the function ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{ker}}$ is not a setvalued function. The image of ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{ker}}(\xi, n_0)$ is the earliest time n at which $\Phi(n, n_0)$ maps ξ to 0.

Basic properties of these three functions are presented in the next lemma.

Lemma 4.1.4. Let $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and Φ be the solution operator associated with (2.8).

(a) Then

 ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_0) \ge {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\Phi(n_1, n_0)\xi, n_1)$ is satisfied for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and $n_1, n_0 \in \mathbb{I}, n_1 > n_0$.

$$\Phi(\bar{n}+1,\bar{n})$$

$$\Phi(\bar{n}+1,\bar{n})$$

$$\Phi(\bar{n}+1,\bar{n})$$

$$\Phi(\bar{n}+1,\bar{n})$$

$$\Phi(\bar{n}+1,\bar{n})$$

$$\Phi(\bar{n}+1,\bar{n})$$

$$\Phi(\bar{n}+1,\bar{n})$$

$$\Phi(\bar{n}+1,\bar{n})$$

$$\Phi(\bar{n}-1,\bar{n}-2)$$

Figure 4.2: An illustration of the two functions ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_0), {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_0)$ for an example vector ξ at time $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$.

(b) If

$${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_0) = {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\Phi(n_1, n_0)\xi, n_1)$$

holds for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and $n_1, n_0 \in \mathbb{I}, n_1 > n_0$ then
 ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_0) \subset {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\Phi(n_1, n_0)\xi, n_1).$

(c) For all $\bar{\xi} \in \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\} | \exists \beta > 0 : \|\Phi(n, n_-)\xi\| e^{-\beta n} \text{ is increasing for all } n \in \mathbb{I}\}$ we have

$$_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}}(\bar{\xi}, n_{-}) \notin \mathbb{I}.$$

Proof. Fix $n_1, n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, $n_1 > n_0$ and let $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$. For (a) let $\bar{n}_0 := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_0)$ then there exists $\bar{x}_0 \in \mathbb{R}^k$ such that $\Phi(n_0, \bar{n}_0)\bar{x}_0 = \xi$ holds. It follows by $\Phi(n_1, \bar{n}_0)\bar{x}_0 = \Phi(n_1, n_0)\xi$ that

$$\Phi \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\Phi(n_1, n_0)\xi, n_1) = \min \left\{ n \in [n_-, n_1]_{\mathbb{Z}} \middle| \exists x \in \mathbb{R}^k : \Phi(n_1, n)x = \Phi(n_1, n_0)\xi \right\}$$

$$\leq \bar{n}_0.$$

For (b) let

$${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_0) = {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\Phi(n_1, n_0)\xi, n_1)$$

then

For (c) let

 $\bar{\xi} \in \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\} \middle| \exists \beta > 0 : \|\Phi(n, n_-)\xi\| e^{-\beta n} \text{ is increasing for all } n \in \mathbb{I} \right\}.$

Assume there exists an $\hat{n} \in \mathbb{I}$ with

$$\hat{n} = {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}}(\bar{\xi}, n_{-})$$

Then

$$0 = \left\| \Phi(\hat{n}, n_{-}) \bar{\xi} \right\| e^{-\beta \hat{n}} \ge \left\| \bar{\xi} \right\| e^{-\beta n_{-}} > 0.$$

This is a contradiction, thus, the assumption is wrong, i.e. ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{ker}(\bar{\xi}, n_{-}) \notin \mathbb{I}$. \Box

With these functions we are able to define the stable and unstable cone for noninvertible systems. The main difference to the invertible systems is the definition of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(\cdot)$. In Figure 4.3 we illustrate differences between solutions of invertible and noninvertible systems. Assume that Φ is the solution operator of an invertible system and Ψ is the solution operator of a noninvertible system. Let $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$, which is pictured in black in Figure 4.3. The invertible system has an invertible solution operator and yields for any previous time $t \in [n_-, n_0]$ one preimage of ξ under $\Phi(t, n_0)$, marked in blue.



Figure 4.3: Example that illustrates all preimages of a vector ξ for an invertible (blue) and for a noninvertible system (green).

Definition 4.1.3 implies $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$ if

 $\|\Phi(t, n_0)\xi\| e^{\alpha t}$ is decreasing for all $t \in [n_-, n_0]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and any $\alpha > 0$.

This is equivalent to $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$ if

 $\|\Phi(t, n_{-})\mu\| e^{\alpha t}$ is decreasing for all $t \in [n_{-}, n_{0}]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and any $\alpha > 0$,

where $\mu \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_0)$ and $n_{-} = {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_0)$. This condition does not use the inverse of the solution operator. Thus, it is an ansatz for noninvertible systems.

If a system is noninvertible then the preimages of ξ under $\Psi(n_0, \cdot)$ may not be unique and there may not exist a preimage of ξ to every previous time $t \in [n_-, n_0]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. All preimages of ξ are plotted in Figure 4.3 in green. The function $\Psi \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\cdot, n_0)$ determines for ξ the earliest time at which a preimage of ξ under Ψ exists. In Figure 4.3 this time is denoted by \bar{n} . It is possible that more than one preimage to time \bar{n} exists. Each of these preimages result in a "maximal long" solution, marked in Figure 4.3 by a black, red and blue circle. We want that the vector ξ lies in ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$ if ξ is part of a maximal long solution which is "decreasing". More precisely, $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$ if there exists a $\eta \in {}_{\Psi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_0)$ such that

 $\|\Psi(t,\bar{n})\eta\|e^{-\alpha t}$ is decreasing for all $t \in [\bar{n}, n_0]_{\mathbb{Z}}$.

With this background we define the almost stable and unstable cones of a discrete system. Note that the following definition is analog to Definition 4.1.3 for invertible systems, i.e. the almost stable cone coincides with the stable cone.

Definition 4.1.5. Consider equation (2.8) on $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. Let $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and $\|\cdot\|$ be any norm in \mathbb{R}^k . We define the two cones

and we denote their intersection ${}^{\mathbb{I}}\overline{V}_{s}(n_{0}) := {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{+}(n_{0}) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(n_{0})$ as the **almost** stable n_{0} -cone w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$. Similarly, we define the **unstable** n_{0} -cone w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$ by ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(n_{0}) := {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{+}(n_{0}) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{-}(n_{0})$, where the two cones are defined as

Remark 4.1.6. All sets in the above definitions are actually cones, even double-cones.

Indeed, let $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+(t_0)$. Then there exists $\alpha > 0$ such that

$$\|\Phi(t,t_0)\xi\|e^{\alpha t} \tag{4.6}$$

is decreasing for $t \in [t_0, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Further, for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\|\Phi(t,t_0)\lambda\xi\|e^{\alpha t} = |\lambda|\|\Phi(t,t_0)\xi\|e^{\alpha t}$$

$$(4.7)$$

is decreasing for $t \in [t_0, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Analogously, we can show the same statement for ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(t_0)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^{\pm}(t_0)$. Hence, all t_0 -sets ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}^{\pm}(t_0)$ are cones. Thus, ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$, ${}^{\mathbb{I}}\overline{V}_s(t_0)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0)$, as the intersections of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(t_0)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^{\pm}(t_0)$, are cones as well. They are double-cones, since equation (4.7) holds for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$.

Before we define the stable cone for noninvertible systems, we study the almost stable cone.

Remark 4.1.7. For noninvertible systems (2.6) with $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ it is possible that:

a) The almost stable cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(\cdot)$ is not forward invariant, i.e.

 $\Phi(n,m)^{\mathbb{I}}\overline{V}_s(m) \not\subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}\overline{V}_s(n) \text{ for any } n,m \in \mathbb{I}, n > m.$

b) dim(^I $\overline{V}_s(n_+) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(n_+)) > 0.$

The next two examples prove these statements.

Example 4.1.8. Consider the noninvertible system

$$x(n+1) = Bx(n), \ n \in \mathbb{I} = [0,2]_{\mathbb{Z}}, \ B = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.8)

We show the existence of a vector $x \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(n_+-1) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(1)$ such that $Bx \notin {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(n_+) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(2)$. Hence, we prove a).



has no preimage and its norm is decreasing in forward time, i.e. $\|\bar{x}\| \ge \|B\bar{x}\|$. This implies $\bar{x} \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(1)$. Every preimage of $B\bar{x}$ in ${}_{B}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(B\bar{x},2)$ under B^{2} maps under B to $\bar{y} := \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$. The vector \bar{y} maps to $B\bar{x}$ and, thus, its norm is not decreasing in forward time $(\|\bar{y}\| < \|B\bar{x}\|)$. This yields $B\bar{x} \notin {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(2)$ and a) is proved.

Example 4.1.9. To show statement b) we consider the system

$$x(n+1) = B(n)x(n), \ n \in \mathbb{I} = [0,2]_{\mathbb{Z}}, \ B(n) = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.5 \end{pmatrix} &, \ for \ n = 0, \\ \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} &, \ for \ n = 1. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.9)$$

We prove that $x := \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$ satisfies $x \in \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{I}\bar{V}_s(2) \cap \mathbb{I}V_u(2) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{I}\bar{V}_s(n_+) \cap \mathbb{I}V_u(n_+) \end{pmatrix}$, hence, we prove b).

Figure 4.5 shows different preimages of x. $\begin{pmatrix} 0.5\\0 \end{pmatrix}$ is a preimage at time



Figure 4.5: Preimages of $(2, 0)^T$ under $B(\cdot)$ of equation (4.9).

0 and its norm is increasing in forward time. Thus, $x \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{u}(2)$. $\begin{pmatrix} 0.5\\4 \end{pmatrix}$ is another preimage of x at time 0 and its norm is decreasing in forward time. Thus, $x \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(2)$. This yields $x \in ({}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(2) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(2))$.

The stable and unstable subspace of an hyperbolic ift-system are invariant due to (4.2) and the invariance of the family of projectors, i.e.

 $\Phi(n,m)^{\mathbb{T}}V_s(m) = {}^{\mathbb{T}}V_s(n) \text{ holds for all } n,m \in \mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R},\mathbb{Z}\}, n \ge m.$
For continuous ft-systems the stable and unstable cones are invariant as well. This is shown in Lemma 4.2.1.

For noninvertible systems the stable cone should be at least forward invariant. Thus, we need according to example (4.1.8) a modification of the almost stable cone.

Further, only 0 lies in the intersection of the stable and unstable subspace of an ift-system at each time. For noninvertible systems example 4.1.9 shows that this is not the case for the "last" time. Thus, we do not define the stable cone of noninvertible systems for the "last" time.

Definition 4.1.10. Consider (2.8) on $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. We define the stable $(n_+ - 1)$ -cone by

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_+-1) := {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(n_+-1).$$

Then we recursively define the stable n_0 -cones, $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_2$ by

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{0}) := \left\{ \xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{0}) \middle| \Phi(n_{0}+1,n_{0})\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{0}+1) \right\}$$

If equation (2.8) is invertible. Then the cone

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_+) := {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(n_+)$$

is called stable n_+ -cone.

This definition yields a forward invariant stable cone. For a proof see Lemma 4.2.1. Note, that the almost stable and stable cones coincide for invertible discrete ft-systems, i.e.

$$^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_0) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}\overline{V}_s(n_0)$$
 for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$.

Characteristics of the (Almost) Stable and Unstable Cone

We rewrite the almost stable and unstable cones of an ft-system such that they are not an intersection as in Definition 4.1.5. Further, we prove some characteristics, e.g. invariant properties, and we show that our cones are equivalent to the cones Karrasch defined in [83, Definition 4.4.]. This helps to finally prove statement (4.3).

For $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ we get with the monotony of e

$$e^{\alpha n} > e^{\alpha m}$$
, for all $\alpha > 0$, $n, m \in \mathbb{I}, n > m$

the equivalent representation

of the almost stable n_0 -cone of (2.8). Similarly, the unstable n_0 -cone of (2.8) is

For invertible systems (2.8) we obtain

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{0}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{0})$$

$$= \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \|\Phi(n, n_{0})\xi\| < \|\Phi(m, n_{0})\xi\| \text{ for all } n, m \in \mathbb{I}, n > m\}$$

$$\cup \{0\}, \qquad (4.12)$$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(n_{0}) = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \|\Phi(n, n_{0})\xi\| > \|\Phi(m, n_{0})\xi\| \text{ for all } n, m \in \mathbb{I}, n > m\}$$

$$\cup \{0\} \qquad (4.13)$$

for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Note, that the cones of (2.7) have the same characterization.

The following lemma summarizes some basic properties of the almost stable, of the stable and of the unstable cone. The statements for the continuous time systems can be found in [43]. For $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ we define the sets

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(t) := {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t), \ t \in \mathbb{I}.$$

Lemma 4.2.1. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Then the stable and unstable cones of system (2.6) satisfy

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t_{-}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{+}(t_{-}), \ {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t_{+}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{-}(t_{+}), \ {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(t_{-}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{+}(t_{-}),$$
(4.14)

and for invertible systems

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(t_+)$$

holds. The sets ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+$, ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^+$ are forward invariant and the sets ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-$, ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^-$ are backward invariant for invertible systems, i.e. for all $t_0, t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t_1 \geq t_0 \geq t_2$

$$\Phi(t_1, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}} V_{s,u}^+(t_0) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_{s,u}^+(t_1)$$
(4.15)

holds and we have

$$\Phi(t_2, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}} V_{s,u}^{-}(t_0) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_{s,u}^{-}(t_2), \text{ if } (2.6) \text{ is invertible.}$$
(4.16)

The unstable cone is invariant and the stable cone is at least forward invariant, i.e. for every $t_0, t_1 \in \mathbb{I}$, $t_1 \geq t_0$ the equation

$$\Phi(t_1, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_0) = {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_1)$$
(4.17)

holds and we obtain

$$\Phi(t_1, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_0) \begin{cases} = {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_1) &, \text{ if } (2.6) \text{ is invertible,} \\ \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_1) &, \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(4.18)

The almost stable cone is forward invariant w.r.t. t_- , i.e. for every $t \in \mathbb{I}$ we have

$$\Phi(t,t_{-})^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(t_{-}) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(t).$$
(4.19)

Further it satisfies

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(t_{-}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t_{-}).$$
(4.20)

Their intersection satisfies, if $t_+ \neq t_-$,

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t) = \{0\},$$
(4.21)

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(t) = \{0\}$$

$$(4.22)$$

for all $t \in \begin{cases} \mathbb{I} & , \text{ if } (2.6) \text{ is invertible}, \\ \mathbb{I}_1 & , \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$.

Proof. The equations in (4.14) are true since ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}^+(t_+) = \mathbb{R}^k = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}^-(t_-)$ holds by the definition of the cones. To show (4.15) let $t_0, t_1 \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t_1 \geq t_0$ and $\xi \in \Phi(t_1, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+(t_0)$. Then there exists a $\mu \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+(t_0)$ such that $\xi = \Phi(t_1, t_0)\mu$. Further by the definition of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+(t_0)$ there exists an $\alpha > 0$ such that

$$\|\Phi(t,t_0)\mu\|\,e^{\alpha t} = \|\Phi(t,t_1)\Phi(t_1,t_0)\mu\|\,e^{\alpha t} = \|\Phi(t,t_1)\xi\|\,e^{\alpha t}$$

is decreasing for all $t \in [t_1, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}} \subset [t_0, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}$. This implies $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+(t_1)$. Analogously, we obtain

$$\Phi(t_1, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}} V_u^+(t_0) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_u^+(t_1)$$

Let system (2.6) be invertible and let $t_0, t_2 \in \mathbb{I}, t_0 \geq t_2$ then

$$\begin{split} \Phi(t_2, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}} V_s^-(t_0) &= \{ \Phi(t_2, t_0) \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \exists \mu \in \mathbb{R}^k : \Phi(t_0, t_-) \mu = \xi, \exists \alpha > 0 : \\ & \| \Phi(t, t_-) \mu \| \, e^{\alpha t} \text{ is decreasing for all } t \in [t_-, t_0] \} \\ &\subset \{ \tilde{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^k | \exists \mu \in \mathbb{R}^k : \Phi(t_2, t_-) \mu = \tilde{\xi}, \exists \alpha > 0 : \\ & \| \Phi(t, t_-) \mu \| \, e^{\alpha t} \text{ is decreasing for all } t \in [t_-, t_2] \subset [t_-, t_0] \} \\ &= {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_s^-(t_2). \end{split}$$

The relation (4.16) for the "unstable" cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^-$ can be proved in the same way. To show (4.17) let $t_0, t_1 \in \mathbb{I}, t_1 \geq t_0$. Then by Lemma 4.1.4 (a)

$$\begin{split} \Phi(t_1, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_0) &= \Big\{ \Phi(t_1, t_0) \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \Big|_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, t_0) = n_-, \exists \mu_{t_-} \in {}_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, t_0), \\ \exists \beta > 0 : \| \Phi(t, t_-) \mu_{t_-} \| e^{-\beta t} \text{ is increasing for all } t \in \mathbb{I} \Big\} \\ &= \Big\{ \tilde{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^k \Big|_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\tilde{\xi}, t_1) = n_-, \exists \mu_{t_-} \in {}_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\tilde{\xi}, t_1), \\ \exists \beta > 0 : \| \Phi(t, t_-) \mu_{t_-} \| e^{-\beta t} \text{ is increasing for all } t \in \mathbb{I} \Big\} \\ &= \mathbb{I} V_u(t_1) \end{split}$$

holds. Next we show (4.18). If (2.6) is invertible we obtain for all $t_1, t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, $t_1 \geq t_0$

$$\Phi(t_1, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_0) = \left\{ \Phi(t_1, t_0) \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \middle| \exists \alpha > 0 : \| \Phi(t, t_-) \xi \| e^{\alpha n} \text{ is decreasing} \\ \text{for all } n \in \mathbb{I}, \ \mu \in {}_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, t_0) \right\} \\ = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \middle| \exists \alpha > 0 : \| \Phi(n, n_-) \mu \| e^{\alpha n} \text{ is decreasing} \\ \text{for all } n \in \mathbb{I}, \ \mu \in {}_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\Phi(t_1, t_0) \xi, t_1) \right\} \\ = {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_1).$$

If (2.6) is not invertible we get directly by Definition 4.1.10

$$\Phi(t_0+1,t_0)^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0+1) \text{ for } t_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1.$$

Hence, we inductively obtain

$$\Phi(t_1, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_0) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_1) \text{ for all } t_1, t_0 \in \mathbb{I}, \ t_1 \ge t_0.$$

Equation (4.14) and (4.15) yield for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$

$$\Phi(t,t_{-})^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}(t_{-}) = \Phi(t,t_{-})^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{+}(t_{-}) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{+}(t).$$
(4.23)

For every $\mu \in {}^{\mathbb{I}} \overline{V}_s(t_-)$ there exists an $\alpha > 0$ such that $\|\Phi(t,t_-)\mu\| e^{\alpha t}$ is decreasing for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Since ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi,t) = t_-$ holds for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ and all $\xi \in \Phi(t,t_-){}^{\mathbb{I}} \overline{V}_s(t_-)$ we have

$$\Phi(t,t_{-})^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(t_{-}) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(t)$$

$$(4.24)$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Equation (4.23) and (4.24) leads to (4.19).

By (4.14) and (4.19) we obtain

$$\Phi(n_{+}-1,n_{-})^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{-}) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{+}-1) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{+}-1).$$

Thus, ${}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(n_-) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_-).$

The statement (4.21) follows if (4.22) holds. Therefore, let $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, $t_0 < t_+$ and $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(t_0) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+(t_0) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^+(t_0)$. By the definition of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+(t_0)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^+(t_0)$ we get that $\alpha, \beta > 0$ exist such that $\|\Phi(t, t_0)\xi\| e^{\alpha t}$ is decreasing and $\|\Phi(t, t_0)\xi\| e^{-\beta t}$ is increasing for $t \in [t_0, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}$. The properties of an exponential function lead to $\|\Phi(t, t_0)\xi\| = 0$ for all $t \in [t_0, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}$ and, hence, $\xi = 0$.

Let system (2.6) be invertible. For $t_0 = t_+$ $(t_0 > t_-)$ we get that $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(t_0) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^-(t_0)$ has exactly one preimage for all $t \in [t_-, t_0]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Let $\xi_- \in \mathbb{R}^k$ such that $\xi = \Phi(t_0, t_-)\xi_-$. Then by $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(t_0)$ there exists an $\alpha > 0$ such that $\|\Phi(t, t_-)\xi_-\|e^{\alpha t}$ is decreasing for all $t \in [t_-, t_0]_{\mathbb{T}}$ and by $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^-(t_0)$ there exists a $\beta > 0$ such that $\|\Phi(t, t_-)\xi_-\|e^{-\beta t}$ is increasing for all $t \in [t_-, t_0]_{\mathbb{T}}$. This leads to $\xi_- = 0$ and, thus, $\xi = 0$.

Another characteristic of the stable and unstable cone is that except for 2-dimensional dynamical systems they are generally not convex double-cones. For an illustration we consider the 3-dimensional discrete equation

$$u(n+1) = A(n)u(n), n \in [1, 6]_{\mathbb{Z}}$$
(4.25)

where A(n) = D(n+1)BD(-n) with

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} 0.8 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0.9 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1.2 \end{pmatrix}, D(n) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(n\varphi) & 0 & -\sin(n\varphi)\\ \sin(n\varphi) & 0 & \cos(n\varphi)\\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ with } \varphi = \frac{\pi}{3}$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Denote the solution operator by $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$. The intersection of the 1-stable cone with the Euclidean unit-ball is illustrated in Figure 4.6.

We observe that the stable cone is not a convex double-cone, i.e. the half-cones are not convex cones. The intersection in Figure 4.6 is approximated using the MATLAB-command isosurface. The input of the function isosurface is a value table

$$g_1(x) = \max_{\ell \in [1,5]_{\mathbb{Z}}} \{ \|\Phi(\ell+1,1)x\| - \|\Phi(\ell,1)x\| \}$$



Figure 4.6: 1-stable cone of (4.25) intersected by the Euclidean unit-ball.

for x on the cuboid $[-1.1, 1.1]^3$ discretized with a $500 \times 500 \times 500$ grid. Further cones which are not convex double-cones are presented in [55, Section 3.3]. Note that the stable cones plotted and calculated there are not equivalent to our stable cones. The stable cone defined in [55] coincides with our cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+$.

Before we prove equation (4.3) we show that Karraschs definition of the (un)stable cone, see [83, Definition 4.4], is equivalent to our Definition 4.1.3. The definition in [83] is similar to the equation (4.3), which we want to establish.

Lemma 4.2.2. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$ then the Definition 4.1.3/4.1.5 of the unstable cone and almost stable cone is equivalent to the Definition 4.4 of [83], i.e. the following holds

with $\overline{\lambda}$ and $\underline{\lambda}$ defined as in (3.26), (3.27).

Proof. We prove ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_-) = V_s(\Phi)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-) = V_u(\Phi)$ similarly follows with Lemma 4.1.4 (c). We begin by introducing a map which gives the extremal growth rate of a single vector. Therefore, we need the sets

$$(\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^k)_{\neq}^{(t_-)} := \left\{ (t, s, \xi) \in (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^k) \middle| t \neq s, \ t, s < {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}}(\xi, t_-) \right\}, \\ (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I})_{\neq}^{(\xi, t_-)} := \left\{ (t, s) \in (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I}) \middle| (t, s, \xi) \in (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R})_{\neq}^{t_-} \right\}.$$

The map is well defined by

$$\Delta : \left(\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^k \right)_{\neq}^{t_-} \to \mathbb{R},$$

$$(t, s, \xi) \mapsto \frac{\ln(\|\Phi(t, t_-)\xi\|) - \ln(\|\Phi(s, t_-)\xi\|)}{t - s}.$$

$$(4.26)$$

It is easily seen that for all $(t, s, \xi) \in \left(\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^k\right)_{\neq}^{t_-}$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\Delta(t, s, \xi) = \Delta(s, t, \xi), \ \Delta(t, s, \xi) = \Delta(t, s, \lambda\xi)$$
(4.27)

hold. For $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$ define the set

$$X_{\xi} := \left\{ \lambda \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \lambda \in \mathbb{R} \right\}.$$

Obviously

$$X_{\xi} \in \operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k) \tag{4.28}$$

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\}$, since $\operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k)$ is the set of all 1-dimensional subspaces of \mathbb{R}^k . By (4.20), (4.26), (4.27) and (4.28) the statement holds, i.e.

$$= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\} \middle| \sup_{\substack{x \in X_{\xi}, \|x\| = 1\\ (t,s) \in (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I})_{\neq}^{(\xi,t_-)}}} \Delta(t,s,x) < 0 \right\} \cup \{0\}$$
$$= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\} \middle| \overline{\lambda}(X_{\xi}, \Phi) < 0 \right\} \cup \{0\}$$
$$= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \middle| \exists X \in \operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k) : \xi \in X, \ \overline{\lambda}(X, \Phi) < 0 \right\} \cup \{0\}$$
$$= V_s(\Phi).$$

The next lemma provides a condition, which guarantees that a system is Mhyperbolic. It also shows a part of the statement (4.3). The whole statement (4.3) is proved in Theorem 4.2.4. For a similar result of the following in continuous time we refer to [43, Theorem 14] and [83, Proposition 4.6].

Lemma 4.2.3. Let
$$\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$$
, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and system (2.6) be defined on the compact interval $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Let $\tilde{\mathbb{I}} := \begin{cases} \mathbb{I} & , \text{ if } (2.6) \text{ is invertible,} \\ \mathbb{I}_{1} & , \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$
Then $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ is an invariant family of projectors with

$$\mathcal{R}(P(t)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t) \text{ for all } t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}},$$
(4.29)

$$\mathcal{N}(P(t)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}$$

$$(4.30)$$

if and only if system (2.6) is M-hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} with this family of projectors.

Proof. First we show that M-hyperbolicity follows if (4.29) and (4.30) hold. We start with the proof of (3.9).

Let $s \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(s) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+(s)$. Then there exists an $\alpha > 0$ such that $\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\| e^{\alpha t}$ is decreasing for $t \in [s,t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}$. This leads to

$$\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\| e^{\alpha t} \le \|\Phi(s,s)\xi\| e^{\alpha s}$$
(4.31)

for all $t \ge s$. Even if (2.6) is not invertible estimate (4.31) is satisfied for $t \ge t_+ =: s$. Thus, we get the equivalent M-hyperbolic estimate

$$\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\| \le e^{-\alpha(t-s)} \|\xi\| \text{ for all } t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t \ge s \text{ and all } \xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s)).$$
(4.32)

Next we prove that

$$\Phi(t,s)|_{\mathcal{N}(P(s))}:\mathcal{N}(P(s))\to\mathcal{N}(P(t))$$
(4.33)

is invertible for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$. First we show injectivity. Therefore, let $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$ and $\xi_{1,2} \in \mathcal{N}(P(s))$ with $\Phi(t,s)\xi_1 = \Phi(t,s)\xi_2$. Then

$$\Phi(t,s)(\xi_1 - \xi_2) = 0$$
, i.e. $\Phi \mathcal{T}_{ker}(\xi_1 - \xi_2, s) \in \mathbb{I}$.

The subspace property of $\mathcal{N}(P(s))$ yields $\xi_1 - \xi_2 \in \mathcal{N}(P(s))$. For all $\xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(s)) \setminus \{0\}$ Lemma 4.1.4 implies ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{ker}(\xi, s) \notin \mathbb{I}$. Thus, $\xi_1 - \xi_2 = 0$. This proves that (4.33) is injective.

Invertibility follows if $\mathcal{N}(P(t))$ has the same dimension for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Let $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$ and $\mathcal{N}(P(r)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(r)$ for all $r \in \mathbb{I}$. Lemma 2.1.6 and

$$\mathcal{N}(P(r)) \oplus \mathcal{R}(P(r)) = \mathbb{R}$$

imply that $\mathcal{N}(P(r))$, $r \in \mathbb{I}$ is a subspace of maximal dimension in ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(r)$. Equation (4.17) yields the existence of a subspace $U(s) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(s)$ such that $\Phi(t,s)U(s) = \mathcal{N}(P(t))$. This leads to

$$\dim(\mathcal{N}(P(s))) \ge \dim(U(s)) \ge \dim(\mathcal{N}(P(t))). \tag{4.34}$$

From the injectivity of (4.33) and with (4.34) follows

$$\dim(\mathcal{N}(P(t))) = \dim(\mathcal{N}(P(s))).$$

Thus, (4.33) is invertible.

It remains to prove the second M-hyperbolic estimate (3.10). Let $s \in \mathbb{I}$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(s)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(s) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^-(s)$ then there exists a $\beta > 0$ and a unique $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^k$ with $\Phi(s, t_-)\mu = \xi$ such that $\|\Phi(t, t_-)\mu\| e^{-\beta t}$ is increasing for $t \in [t_-, s]_{\mathbb{T}}$. This leads to

$$\|\Phi(t,t_{-})\mu\| e^{-\beta t} \le \|\Phi(s,t_{-})\mu\| e^{-\beta s}$$

for all $t \leq s$. Denote the inverse of $\Phi(s,t)|_{\mathcal{N}(P(s))}$ by $\Phi(t,s)$ then we get the equivalent M-hyperbolic statement

$$\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\| \le e^{\beta(t-s)} \|\xi\| \text{ for all } \xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(s)), \ t \le s.$$

$$(4.35)$$

The equations (4.32), (4.35) and the invertibility of (4.33) prove that (2.6) is M-hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} with $P(\cdot)$.

Conversely, let (2.6) be M-hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} with the invariant family of projectors $P(\cdot)$ and dichotomy rates $\alpha, \beta > 0$. Let $s \in \mathbb{I}$ and $\mu(s) \in \mathcal{N}(P(s))$ then we have

$$\|\Phi(t,s)\mu(s)\| \le e^{\beta(t-s)}\|\mu(s)\| \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, t \le s$$

which implies

$$\|\Phi(t,s)\mu(s)\|e^{-\beta t} \le \|\mu(s)\|e^{-\beta s}.$$
(4.36)

By the invertibility of $\Phi(t,s)|_{\mathcal{N}(P(s))}$ there exists a $\mu(t_{-}) \in \mathcal{N}(P(t_{-}))$ such that $\Phi(s,t_{-})\mu(t_{-}) = \mu(s)$. Together with (4.36) we obtain for all $t \in \mathbb{I}, t \leq s$

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Phi(t,t_{-})\mu(t_{-})\| e^{-\beta t} &= \|\Phi(t,s)\Phi(s,t_{-})\mu(t_{-})\| e^{-\beta t} = \|\Phi(t,s)\mu(s)\| e^{-\beta t} \\ &\leq \|\mu(s)\| e^{-\beta s} = \|\Phi(s,t_{-})\mu(t_{-})\| e^{-\beta s}, \end{aligned}$$

i.e. $\|\Phi(t,t_{-})\mu(t_{-})\| e^{-\beta t}$ is increasing for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Hence, $\mu(s) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(s)$, see (4.11). Thus, $\mathcal{N}(P(s)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(s)$. Next we prove $\mathcal{R}(P(t)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t)$ for all $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$. We have

$$\|\Phi(t,s)\xi(s)\| \le e^{-\alpha(t-s)} \|\xi(s)\| \text{ for all } t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t \ge s \text{ and } \xi(s) \in \mathcal{R}(P(s)),$$

which implies

$$\|\Phi(t,s)\xi(s)\|e^{\alpha t} \le \|\Phi(s,s)\xi(s)\|e^{\alpha s}.$$

For $s \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}} \subset \mathbb{I}$ and $\xi(s) \in \mathcal{R}(P(s))$ it follows that $\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\|e^{\alpha t}$ is decreasing for all $t \in [s, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Hence, $\xi(s) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+(s)$ for all $s \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$ and $\xi(s) \in \mathcal{R}(P(s))$, i.e.

$$\mathcal{R}(P(s)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^+(s), \text{ for all } s \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}.$$
(4.37)

Combined with (4.14) we have

$$\mathcal{R}(P(t_{-})) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{+}(t_{-}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(t_{-}) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(t_{-}).$$

By induction we show $\mathcal{R}(P(t)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(t)$ for all $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$. Fix $s \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$. Assume

$$\mathcal{R}(P(t_0)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(t_0)$$
 for all $t_0 < s$.

Let $\xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(s))$ and $\bar{s} := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, s)$.

For $\bar{s} = s$ we obtain $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(s)$. This implies with (4.37) $\mathcal{R}(P(s)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(s)$. For $\bar{s} < s$, let $\tilde{\xi} \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\xi, s)$. The invariance of the family of projectors leads to

$$\xi = P(s)\xi = P(s)\Phi(s,\bar{s})\tilde{\xi} = \Phi(s,\bar{s})P(\bar{s})\tilde{\xi}.$$

This yields $\bar{\xi} := P(\bar{s})\tilde{\xi} \in \mathcal{R}(P(\bar{s}))$ and

$$\xi \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, s). \tag{4.38}$$

Our assumption and $\bar{s} < s$ imply $\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{R}(P(\bar{s})) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(\bar{s})$. By Definition 4.1.5 we get with $\bar{\xi} \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(\bar{s})$ and (4.38)

$$\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(s). \tag{4.39}$$

Statements (4.39) and (4.37) prove $\mathcal{R}(P(t)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(t)$ for all $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$. By Definition 4.1.10 we directly obtain

$$\mathcal{R}(P(t_+-1)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(t_+-1) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+-1).$$

Additionally,

$$\Phi(t_{+}-1,t_{+}-2)\mathcal{R}(P(t_{+}-2)) \subset \mathcal{R}(P(t_{+}-1)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t_{+}-1)$$

holds and yields

$$\mathcal{R}(P(t_+-2)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+-2).$$

Inductively the statement $\mathcal{R}(P(t)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$ follows for all $t \in \mathbb{I}_1$. If (2.6) is invertible we directly obtain by (4.18)

$$\mathcal{R}(P(t_{+})) = \Phi(t_{+}, t_{+} - 1) \mathcal{R}(P(t_{+} - 1)) \subset \Phi(t_{+}, t_{+} - 1)^{\mathbb{I}} V_{s}(t_{+} - 1) = {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_{s}(t_{+}).$$

Finally, we are able to prove that the stable cone is the union of the range whereas the unstable cone is the union of the kernel of all invariant projectors, which satisfy (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10), i.e. (4.3). This is the analog statement to the infinite time case (4.2), where the invariant family is unique. The nonuniqueness of the invariant family of projectors implies that the finite time (un)stable set is not a subspace as in the infinite time case. The (un)stable set is a cone, a union of subspaces.

Theorem 4.2.4. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Let system (2.6) be *M*-hyperbolic and $\tilde{\mathbb{I}} := \begin{cases} \mathbb{I} & , \text{ if } (2.6) \text{ is invertible,} \\ \mathbb{I}_{1} & , \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$

Then we have

$$\bigcup_{\tilde{P}(t_0)\in\mathcal{P}_{t_0}} \mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(t_0)) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0) \text{ for all } t_0 \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}},$$

and
$$\bigcup_{\tilde{P}(t_0)\in\mathcal{P}_{t_0}} \mathcal{N}(\tilde{P}(t_0)) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0) \text{ for all } t_0 \in \mathbb{I},$$

where $\mathcal{P}_{t_0} := \{\tilde{P}(t_0) | \tilde{P} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k} \text{ is an invariant family of projectors, which fulfills (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10) with constants <math>\alpha, \beta > 0\}.$

Proof. Let $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and $\tilde{P}(t_0) \in \mathcal{P}_{t_0}$ then system (2.6) is M-hyperbolic with the invariant family of projectors $\tilde{P} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ belonging to $\tilde{P}(t_0)$. By Lemma 4.2.3 we get

$$\mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(t)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t) \text{ for all } t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$$

and $\mathcal{N}(\tilde{P}(t)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t) \text{ for all } t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}.$

Conversely, fix $\bar{t} \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$ and let

 $\bar{\xi}(\bar{t}) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(\bar{t}).$

Next we construct a family of projectors $\tilde{P} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ with $\bar{\xi}(\bar{t}) \in \mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(\bar{t}))$. Then we prove $\tilde{P}(t) \in \mathcal{P}_t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Since system (2.6) is M-hyperbolic with an invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ we obtain by Lemma 4.2.3

$$\mathcal{R}(P(t_0)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0) \text{ for all } t_0 \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$$

and $\mathcal{N}(P(t_0)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0) \text{ for all } t_0 \in \mathbb{I}.$ (4.40)

This implies that there exists a subspace

$$S_{\bar{\xi}}(\bar{t}) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(\bar{t})$$

of dimension dim($\mathcal{R}(P(\bar{t}))$) with $\bar{\xi}(\bar{t}) \in S_{\bar{\xi}}(\bar{t})$. Every $\xi \in S_{\bar{\xi}}(\bar{t})$ satisfies either ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi,\bar{t}) = \bar{t}$ or there exists a $\mu \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(\bar{t}-1)$ with $\xi = \Phi(\bar{t},\bar{t}-1)\mu$. This implies inductively by the forward invariance of Φ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s$ (equation (4.18)) the existence of subspaces $S_{\bar{\xi}}(t), t \in [t_-, \bar{t})_{\mathbb{T}}$ with

$$S_{\bar{\xi}}(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t) \tag{4.41}$$

and $\dim(S_{\bar{\xi}}(t)) = \dim(\mathcal{R}(P(t)))$ such that

$$\Phi(t,s)S_{\bar{\xi}}(s) \subset S_{\bar{\xi}}(t) \text{ for all } t,s \in [t_-,\bar{t}]_{\mathbb{T}}, t>s.$$

$$(4.42)$$

Additionally, by the latter arguments there exits subspaces $S_{\bar{\xi}}(t), t \in (\bar{t}, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}$ of dimension dim $(\mathcal{R}(P(t)))$ such that

(4.41) is satisfied for all
$$t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$$
 (4.43)

and (4.42) is satisfied for all $t, s \in [\bar{t}, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}, t \ge s.$ (4.44)

Define the family of projectors $\tilde{P} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ recursively by $\mathcal{N}(\tilde{P}(t)) := \mathcal{N}(P(t))$ and

$$\mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(t)) := \begin{cases} \Phi(t, t_{-})S_{\bar{\xi}}(t_{-}) &, \text{ for (i)} \\ \begin{cases} S_{\bar{\xi}}(t_{-}) &, \text{ if } t = t_{-}, \\ \Phi(t, t - 1)\mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(t - 1)) \oplus W(t) &, \text{ if } t > t_{-} \end{cases} , \text{ for (ii)}$$

with (i) for invertible systems and with (ii) for noninvertible systems, where
$$W(t) \subset \begin{cases} {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t) &, \text{ for } t \in [t_- + 1, t_+ - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}, \\ \mathbb{R}^k &, \text{ for } t = t_+. \end{cases}$$

such that

$$\Phi(t,t-1)\mathcal{R}(\dot{P}(t-1))\oplus W(t) = S_{\bar{\xi}}(t), \qquad (4.45)$$

holds for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. This family is well defined by equation (4.21) and by the equations (4.40)-(4.44). Further, we have

$$\bar{\xi}(\bar{t}) \in \mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(\bar{t})),$$

$$\Phi(t,t-1)\mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(t-1)) \oplus W(t) \oplus \mathcal{N}(P(t)) = S_{\bar{\xi}}(t) \oplus \mathcal{N}(P(t)) = \mathbb{R}^k,$$

It remains to show, that $\tilde{P} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ satisfies $\tilde{P}(t) \in \mathcal{P}_t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

For invertible systems we obtain that the family of projectors is invariant by definition. By (4.40), (4.41) and (4.18) the relations $\mathcal{N}(\tilde{P}(t)) = \mathcal{N}(P(t)) \subset$ ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t)$ and $\mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(t)) = \Phi(t, t_0)S_{\bar{\xi}}(t_-) \subset \Phi(t, t_0){}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$ hold. Finally, Lemma 4.2.3 leads to $\tilde{P}(t) \in \mathcal{P}_t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

For noninvertible systems Lemma 2.2.5 yields that the family of projectors $\tilde{P}: \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ is invariant, since

$$\Phi(t,s)\mathcal{N}(\tilde{P}(s)) = \Phi(t,s)\mathcal{N}(P(s)) = \mathcal{N}(P(t)) = \mathcal{N}(\tilde{P}(t))$$

holds by Lemma 3.2.5 for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq s$. Equations (4.40), (4.41) and (4.45) yield $\mathcal{N}(\tilde{P}(t)) = \mathcal{N}(P(t)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t)$ and $\mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}(t)) = S_{\bar{\xi}}(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Lemma 4.2.3 implies $\tilde{P}(t) \in \mathcal{P}_t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

The inclusion

$$\bigcup_{\tilde{P}\in\mathcal{P}_{t_0}}\mathcal{N}(\tilde{P})\supset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0),$$

for any $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, can be shown just as the statement $\bigcup_{\tilde{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{t_0}} \mathcal{R}(\tilde{P}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$. However, we will prove it for the readers convenience. Fix $\tilde{t} \in \mathbb{I}$ and let

$$\bar{\mu}(\bar{t}) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(\bar{t}).$$

Next we construct a family of projectors $\hat{P} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ with $\bar{\mu}(\bar{t}) \in \mathcal{N}(\hat{P}(\bar{t}))$. Then we show that $\hat{P}(t) \in \mathcal{P}_t$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

By (4.40) there exists a subspace $U_{\bar{\mu}}(\bar{t}) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(\bar{t})$ of dimension dim $(\mathcal{N}(P(\bar{t})))$ with $\bar{\mu}(\bar{t}) \in U_{\bar{\mu}}(\bar{t})$. Further, by the invariance of Φ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u$ (Equation (4.17)) there exist subspaces $U_{\bar{\mu}}(t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ with

$$U_{\bar{\mu}}(t) \subset {}^{\scriptscriptstyle \parallel}V_u(t) \tag{4.46}$$

and dimension $\dim(\mathcal{N}(P(t)))$ such that

$$\Phi(t,s)U_{\bar{\mu}}(s) = U_{\bar{\mu}}(t) \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, \ t \ge s.$$

Define the family of projectors $\hat{P}:\mathbb{I}\rightarrow\mathbb{R}^{k\times k}$ by

$$\mathcal{N}(P(t)) := U_{\bar{\mu}}(t),$$
$$\mathcal{R}(\hat{P}(t)) := \mathcal{R}(P(t))$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. With equation (4.46), (4.40) and (4.21) we get

$$\mathcal{N}(\hat{P}(t)) \oplus \mathcal{R}(\hat{P}(t)) = U_{\bar{\mu}} \oplus \mathcal{R}(P(t)) = \mathbb{R}^k$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, since $\dim(\mathcal{R}(P(t))) = \dim(\mathcal{N}(P(t))) = k$. Thus, the family is well defined. Further, we have

$$\bar{\mu}(\bar{t}) \in \mathcal{N}(\hat{P}(\bar{t})).$$

The family of projectors is invariant by definition and by (4.40), (4.46) we obtain $\mathcal{N}(\hat{P}(t)) = U_{\bar{\mu}}(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t)$ and $\mathcal{R}(\hat{P}(t)) = \mathcal{R}(P(t)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Finally, Lemma 4.2.3 leads to $\hat{P}(t) \in \mathcal{P}(t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. This theorem and Corollary 3.4.12 state that the stable cone of an M-hyperbolic system is a subset of the stable cone of an sufficiently small perturbed system.

Chapter 5

Explicit Representations of (Un)Stable Subspaces and Cones

An explicit representation of the stable and unstable subspaces and cones of a linear (ft-)hyperbolic system is of great interest for nemerical approximation. We start this chapter with the study of ift-systems and their (un)stable subspaces. Then we move on with ft-systems. For a subset of M-hyperbolic systems we are able to find an explicit representation. This kind of systems are D-hyperbolic systems, which we define in Section 5.2.

In infinite time the invariant family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}, \mathbb{I} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ of an exponential dichotomy is unique and satisfies

$$^{\mathbb{T}}V_s(t) = \mathcal{R}(P(t)), \ ^{\mathbb{T}}V_u(t) = \mathcal{N}(P(t)).$$

To picture the stable and unstable subspaces we "only" need to find the unique family of projectors P. For invertible systems in discrete time

$$x(n+1) = A(n)x(n), \ n \in \mathbb{Z}$$

$$(5.1)$$

we get with the help of the Green's function $G(\cdot, \cdot)$, see [105], that u(n) = G(n, N+1)r for $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ is the unique bounded solution of

$$x(n+1) = A(n)x(n) + \delta_{n,N}r, \ n \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(5.2)

where $\delta_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } i = j, \\ 0, & \text{else} \end{cases}$ is the Kronecker delta. By [71, Theorem 2.1 and Corollary 1] we have the following.

Corollary 5.0.1. Let the inhomogeneous equation (5.2) possess for all $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $r \in \mathbb{R}^k$ a unique bounded solution fulfilling

$$||u(n)|| \le \begin{cases} Ke^{-\alpha(n-N-1)} ||r||, & \text{for } n \ge N+1, \\ Ke^{-\beta(N+1-n)} ||r||, & \text{for } n \le N. \end{cases}$$

Fix $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ and let $(u^i(n))_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ be the unique bounded solution of (5.2) for $r = e_i, i = 1, ..., k$, where e_i is the *i*-th unit vector. Then (5.1) possesses an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{Z} with projector

$$P(N+1) = (u^1(N+1), u^2(N+1), \dots, u^k(N+1)).$$

This means, with the help of the unique solution of (5.2) we get the unique projector of (5.1). For ft-systems we observed that the family of projectors is not unique. Hence, we cannot just approximate the projectors to get the stable and unstable cones. Doan, Palmer and Siegmund found an explicit form of the stable and unstable cone if the system is D-hyperbolic, see [43, Proposition 19]. In Section 5.4 we show that all D-hyperbolic systems, which we will introduce in Section 5.2, are also M-hyperbolic w.r.t. the same norm. To verify whether a system is D-hyperbolic we analyze the dynamical characteristics of solutions by using a $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma} := \sqrt{\langle \cdot, \Gamma \cdot \rangle}$ norm, where $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ is a positive definite, symmetric matrix and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the standard inner product. Before we introduce further tensors in Section 5.2, which we need to define hyperbolicity with the help of the dynamical pattern as in [61], [15], [45], [43], we study autonomous systems and analyze whether a matrix Γ exists such that the system is M-hyperbolic with respect to $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$. After we derived the explicit form of the cones we consider various examples to get an idea how stable and unstable cones are formed. In general the cones are not subspaces. Therefore, it is interesting to know how wide these cones are, i.e. how large the angle of the cone is. In Section 5.6 and 5.7 we present different statements about the width and the angle of a cone.

Γ -Norm and M-Hyperbolicity w.r.t. the Γ -Norm

First we analyze properties of the $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma} := \sqrt{\langle\cdot, \Gamma \cdot\rangle}$ norm, where $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ is a positive definite, symmetric matrix and $\langle\cdot, \cdot\rangle$ denotes the standard inner product. We study different types of autonomous systems to find cases where a matrix Γ exits such that the given system is M-hyperbolic with respect to $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$.

Theorem 5.1.1. Let $A \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ be diagonalizable, $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ and the system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x} = Ax, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ x(t+1) = Ax(t), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \end{cases} \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^k, t \in \mathbb{T}$$
(5.3)

be hyperbolic on \mathbb{T} . Then there exists a positive definite symmetric matrix $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ such that equation (5.3) is M-hyperbolic on every finite time interval with respect to the Γ -norm.

Proof. The given autonomous system (5.3) is hyperbolic. Denote by α, β the exponential rates and by P_A the invariant projector. A is diagonalizable, hence,

a matrix $S \in \operatorname{Gl}(\mathbb{R}^{k \times k})$ exists such that $S^{-1}AS =: D$ is an diagonal matrix. We define $P_D := S^{-1}P_AS$. Let Φ_A denote the solution operator of (5.3) then $\Phi_D := S^{-1}\Phi_AS$ is the solution operator of

$$\begin{cases} \dot{y} = Dy, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ y(t+1) = Dy(t), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \end{cases} \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^k, \ t \in \mathbb{T}.$$
(5.4)

By definition of P_D and Φ_D as well as by the invariance of Φ_A and the projector P_A the equations

$$P_D \Phi_D = S^{-1} P_A S S^{-1} \Phi_A S = S^{-1} P_A \Phi_A S$$

= $S^{-1} \Phi_A P_A S = S^{-1} \Phi_A S S^{-1} P_A S = \Phi_D P_D,$
 $P_D P_D = S^{-1} P_A S S^{-1} P_A S = S^{-1} P_A^2 S = S^{-1} P_A S = P_D$

hold. This shows that P_D is an invariant projector of (5.4). The relation $0 = P_D x = S^{-1} P_A S x, x \in \mathbb{R}^k$ yields

$$\mathcal{N}(P_D) = S^{-1} \mathcal{N}(P_A).$$

This leads to

$$\Phi_D \mathcal{N}(P_D) = S^{-1} \Phi_A S S^{-1} \mathcal{N}(P_A) = S^{-1} \Phi_A \mathcal{N}(P_A) = S^{-1} \mathcal{N}(P_A) = \mathcal{N}(P_D),$$

since Φ_A satisfies (3.8). Thus, Φ_D satisfies (3.8) and the inverse of $\Phi_D^t|_{\mathcal{N}(P_D)}$, $t \in \mathbb{T}_0^+$ exists. We denote it by Φ_D^{-t} , $t \in \mathbb{T}_0^+$. Let the exponential rates $\alpha, \beta > 0$ satisfy

$$\alpha \leq \begin{cases} -\max_{i \in \{1, \dots, k\}} \{(\Phi_D)_{i,i} | (\Phi_D)_{i,i} < 0\}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ -\ln(\max_{i \in \{1, \dots, k\}} \{|(\Phi_D)_{i,i}| | | (\Phi_D)_{i,i}| < 1\}), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \end{cases}$$
$$\beta \leq \begin{cases} \min_{i \in \{1, \dots, k\}} \{|(\Phi_D)_{i,i}| | | (\Phi_D)_{i,i} > 0\}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \ln(\min_{i \in \{1, \dots, k\}} \{|(\Phi_D)_{i,i}| | | (\Phi_D)_{i,i}| > 1\}), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

If they do not, reduce them until they do. It is easy to see that

$$\left\|\Phi_D^t P_D\right\|_2 \le e^{-\alpha t} \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{T}_0^+, \tag{5.5}$$

$$\left\|\Phi_D^t(\mathbf{I} - P_D)\right\|_2 \le e^{\beta t} \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{T}_0^-$$
(5.6)

holds, for more details see [107, p. 91] and [32, p. 386]. The equation $P_D x = S^{-1} P_A S x, x \in \mathbb{R}^k$ yields

$$\mathcal{R}(P_D) = S^{-1}\mathcal{R}(P_A).$$

Define $\Gamma := (S^{-1})^T S^{-1}$ then Γ is symmetric and we see by

$$\langle \xi, \Gamma \xi \rangle = \langle \xi, (S^{-1})^T S^{-1} \xi \rangle = \langle S^{-1} \xi, S^{-1} \xi \rangle = \left\| S^{-1} \xi \right\|_{\mathrm{I}}^2 > 0$$

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\}$ that Γ is positive definite. The Γ -norm and the identity norm are related as follows

$$\max_{0 \neq y \in \mathcal{R}(P_D)} \frac{\|\Phi_D y\|_{\mathbf{I}}}{\|y\|_{\mathbf{I}}} = \max_{0 \neq y \in \mathcal{R}(P_D)} \frac{\langle S^{-1}\Phi_A Sy, S^{-1}\Phi_A Sy \rangle}{\langle y, y \rangle}$$
$$= \max_{0 \neq y \in \mathcal{R}(P_D)} \frac{\langle \Phi_A Sy, \Gamma \Phi_A Sy \rangle}{\langle y, y \rangle} = \max_{0 \neq x \in \mathcal{R}(P_A)} \frac{\langle \Phi_A x, \Gamma \Phi_A x \rangle}{\langle S^{-1}x, S^{-1}x \rangle}$$
$$= \max_{0 \neq x \in \mathcal{R}(P_A)} \frac{\langle \Phi_A x, \Gamma \Phi_A x \rangle}{\langle x, \Gamma x \rangle} = \max_{0 \neq x \in \mathcal{R}(P_A)} \frac{\|\Phi_A x\|_{\Gamma}}{\|x\|_{\Gamma}}.$$

Together with (5.5) and (5.6) we observe that

 $\begin{aligned} \left\| \Phi_A^t x \right\|_{\Gamma} &\leq e^{-\alpha t} \left\| x \right\|_{\Gamma} \text{ for all } x \in \mathcal{R}(P_A), \ t \in \mathbb{T}_0^+, \\ \left\| \Phi_A^t x \right\|_{\Gamma} &\leq e^{\beta t} \left\| x \right\|_{\Gamma} \text{ for all } x \in \mathcal{N}(P_A), \ t \in \mathbb{T}_0^- \end{aligned}$

and consequently (5.3) is M-hyperbolic on every finite time interval with respect to the Γ -norm.

Does a matrix Γ exist for nondiagonalizable matrices? And if it does, what does this matrix Γ look like? In this thesis we will not answer these questions. However, we will study a Jordan-block matrix in Theorem 5.1.4 with eigenvalue $\lambda < 0$, which generates a hyperbolic system on \mathbb{R} with the identity projector and exponential rate $-\lambda$. We will prove that no positive definite symmetric matrix $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ exists such that the system generated by the Jordan-block matrix is M-hyperbolic w.r.t. the Γ -norm on a compact interval with the unique infinite time projector (identity projector) and exponential rate $-\lambda$. The question if there exists a matrix Γ such that the system is M-hyperbolic if we reduce the exponential rate $-\lambda$ still remains open.

In the proof of Theorem 5.1.1 we see which matrix Γ we can chose to get M-hyperbolicity w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$.

Remark 5.1.2. A possible positive definite symmetric matrix Γ such that equation (5.3) is M-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$) is $\Gamma = (S^{-1})^T S^{-1}$, where $S \in \text{Gl}(\mathbb{R}^{k \times k})$ such that $S^{-1}AS$ is a diagonal matrix.

Additionally, in the prove of Theorem 5.1.1 a relation between the (un)stable subspace of an autonomous ift-system and the (un)stable cone of the same autonomous ft-system is shown.

Corollary 5.1.3. Let $A \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ be diagonalizable and system (5.3) be hyperbolic on $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$. Then by Lemma 4.2.4 the stable (unstable) subspace of the ift-system (5.3), which do not depend on the the chosen norm, lies inside the stable (unstable) cone w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$ of any ft-system, which is defined by A.

Next we analyze a Jordan-block matrix with eigenvalue $\lambda < 0$. In Theorem 3.3.2 we proved that a Lyapunov norm exists such that the given system is M-hyperbolic on every compact interval with the identity projector and a rate $\alpha \leq -\lambda$. We will see that this Lyapunov norm is not generated by a positive definite symmetric matrix Γ , at least not for the exponential rate $-\lambda$.

Theorem 5.1.4. Let $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}], t_{-} \neq t_{+}$ and $A \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ be a Jordan-block w.r.t. the eigenvalue $\lambda < 0$. Then for every positive definite symmetric $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ the system

$$\dot{x} = Ax, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^k \tag{5.7}$$

is not M-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$) with the identity projector and exponential rate $-\lambda$.

Proof. The solution operator of (5.7) satisfies for $s, t + s \in \mathbb{I}$

$$\Phi(t+s,s) := e^{At} = e^{\lambda t} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & t & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & 1 & t \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} =: e^{\lambda t} \tilde{A}(t).$$

Assume that equation (5.7) is M-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$) on $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]$ with the identity projector P, exponential rate $\alpha = -\lambda$ and Γ positive definite and symmetric. Then we have

$$e^{\lambda t} \left\| \tilde{A}(t)x \right\|_{\Gamma} = \left\| \Phi(t+s,s)x \right\|_{\Gamma} \le e^{-\alpha t} \left\| x \right\|_{\Gamma} = e^{\lambda t} \left\| x \right\|_{\Gamma}$$
(5.8)

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^k = \mathcal{R}(P)$ and $t + s, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \ge 0$. Let $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and $\tilde{x} := \begin{pmatrix} x_2 & \cdots & x_k & 0 \end{pmatrix}^T$ then the equation

$$Ax = x + t\tilde{x}$$

holds. (5.8) and the symmetry of Γ leads for $t = t_+ - t_- > 0$ to

$$0 \ge \left\| \tilde{A}x \right\|_{\Gamma} - e^{-(\lambda - \lambda)t} \left\| x \right\|_{\Gamma}$$

= $\langle \tilde{A}(t)x, \Gamma \tilde{A}(t)x \rangle - \langle x, \Gamma x \rangle$
= $\langle x + t\tilde{x}, \Gamma(x + t\tilde{x}) \rangle - \langle x, \Gamma x \rangle$
= $\langle x, \Gamma x \rangle + 2t \langle x, \Gamma \tilde{x} \rangle + t^2 \langle \tilde{x}, \Gamma \tilde{x} \rangle - \langle x, \Gamma x \rangle$
= $2t \langle x, \Gamma \tilde{x} \rangle + t^2 \langle \tilde{x}, \Gamma \tilde{x} \rangle.$

Take $x = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{pmatrix}^T$ with $x_1 > 0$ then

$$0 \ge 2t(\Gamma_{11}x_1 + \Gamma_{21}) + t^2\Gamma_{11}$$

= $\Gamma_{11}(2tx_1 + t^2) + \Gamma_{21}2t$
= $2t\left(\Gamma_{11}x_1 + \frac{t}{2}\Gamma_{11} + \Gamma_{21}\right).$ (5.9)

91

By rearranging (5.9) we get

$$-\Gamma_{21} \ge \Gamma_{11} x_1 + \frac{t}{2} \Gamma_{11}. \tag{5.10}$$

Since Γ is positive definite the estimate $0 < e_i^T \Gamma e_i = \Gamma_{ii}$ is satisfied for all $i \in$ $\{1, \ldots, k\}$, where e_i denotes the unit vector. This means that the right hand side of (5.10) is unbounded for all $x_1 > 0$. Therefore no Γ_{21} exists such that (5.10) is satisfied for all $x_1 > 0$. Thus no positive definite symmetric matrix Γ exists such that system (5.7) is M-hyperbolic with the identity projector and exponential rate $-\lambda$.

D-Hyperbolicity

We introduce the Γ -strain acceleration tensor $M_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$ in addition to the Γ -strain tensor $S_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$ and zero Γ -strain set $Z_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$, which are defined in Definition 3.2.8. These tensors are the main ingredients of the D-hyperbolicity definition. For D-hyperbolic systems we can state an explicit representation of the stable and unstable cone, which we do in Section 5.3. Therefore, we analyze these tensors and study their definiteness. The Γ -strain acceleration tensor is called the Cotter-Rivlin rate in continuum mechanics, see [35, Subsection 4.3.13.]. All of the following definitions and statements for continuous time systems originate from [45], [15], [43] and for the two dimensional continuous time case we refer to [61]. In addition, we introduce similar concepts for discrete time systems.

For system (2.7) we impose the following assumption.

(A0) Let the matrix function A of (2.7) satisfy $A \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}^{k \times k})$.

We define the Γ -strain acceleration tensor $M_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$ and show why the tensor has the given form. Additionally, we present a relation between the definiteness of this tensor and the dynamical characteristics of solutions.

Definition 5.2.1. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{T}$ be a compact interval and let $\Gamma =$ $\Gamma^T > 0.$ For $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ assume (A0). For every $t \in \begin{cases} \mathbb{I}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \mathbb{I}_2, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$ the

matrix

$$M_{\Gamma}(t) := \begin{cases} \dot{S}_{\Gamma}(t) + S_{\Gamma}(t)A(t) + A(t)^{T}S_{\Gamma}(t), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ A(t)^{T}S_{\Gamma}(t+1)A(t) - S_{\Gamma}(t), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

is called the Γ -strain acceleration tensor of (2.7)/(2.8). Denote by $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t)$ the restriction of $\xi \mapsto \langle \xi, M_{\Gamma}(t) \xi \rangle$ to $Z_{\Gamma}(t)$. We call $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t)$ negative/positive definite if it attains only negative/positive values for all $\xi \in Z_{\Gamma}(t) \setminus \{0\}$ and indefinite if it attains both negative and positive values on $Z_{\Gamma}(t)$. For $\Gamma = I$ we write $M(\cdot)$ instead of $M_{\rm I}(\cdot)$.

The dynamical properties of solutions $\xi(\cdot)$ of the continuous system (2.7) intersecting the set $Z_{\Gamma}(t_0), t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ depend on the sign of the second derivative of $t \mapsto ||\xi(t)||^2$ at $t = t_0$. The sign characterizes whether the solution $\xi(\cdot)$ crosses transversally from a region with increasing norm to a region with decreasing norm or vice versa, for more details see Lemma 5.2.4. With equation (3.16) and assumption (A0) we get the identity

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}t^2} \|\xi(t)\|_{\Gamma}^2 = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \langle \xi(t), S_{\Gamma}(t)\xi(t) \rangle$$

$$= \langle \dot{\xi}(t), S_{\Gamma}(t)\xi(t) \rangle + \langle \xi(t), \dot{S}_{\Gamma}(t)\xi(t) + S_{\Gamma}(t)\dot{\xi}(t) \rangle$$

$$= \langle \xi(t), (\dot{S}_{\Gamma}(t) + S_{\Gamma}(t)A(t) + A(t)^T S_{\Gamma}(t))\xi(t) \rangle$$

$$= \langle \xi(t), M_{\Gamma}(t)\xi(t) \rangle.$$
(5.11)

Hence, the dynamical properties of solutions of (2.7) intersecting the set $Z_{\Gamma}(t_0)$, $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ depend on the definiteness of the matrix $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t_0)$. Continuous solutions which pass from a region with increasing (decreasing) norm to a region with decreasing (increasing) norm must intersect the set $Z_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$. Thus, the definiteness of $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t_0)$, $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ determines if a solution can leave or enter a region. More details are presented in Lemma 5.2.2.

Solutions ξ of the discrete system (2.8) can jump from a region with increasing norm to a region with decreasing norm or vice versa without an intermediate stop at $Z_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$. The positive definiteness of $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(n)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{I}$ does not prevent solutions from jumping from a region with increasing norm to a region with decreasing norm. It ensures that a solution has increasing norm after leaving the set $Z_{\Gamma}(n_0)$, $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. This can be seen by the following relation of S_{Γ} and M_{Γ} . With equation (3.17) we get for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_2$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \left(\|\xi(n+2)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\xi(n+1)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) - \left(\|\xi(n+1)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) \\ = \langle \xi(n+1), S_{\Gamma}(n+1)\xi(n+1) \rangle - \langle \xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle \\ = \langle A(n)\xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n+1)A(n)\xi(n) \rangle - \langle \xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle \\ = \langle \xi(n), [A(n)^{T}S_{\Gamma}(n+1)A(n) - S_{\Gamma}(n)]\xi(n) \rangle \\ = \langle \xi(n), M_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle.$$
(5.12)

For a more detailed statement about the dynamical properties of solutions of (2.8) we need to analyze the definiteness of $M_{\Gamma}(n)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{I}$. In Lemma 5.2.3 and 5.2.5 we present some of them. We start with some properties of the tensor for continuous systems.

Lemma 5.2.2. Assume (A0). Let $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a compact interval, $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$ and let $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t)$ of (2.7) be positive definite for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Fix $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\}$ and $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ with $\langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_0) \xi \rangle > 0$ then we have

$$\langle \Phi(t,t_0)\xi, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t,t_0)\xi \rangle > 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, t > t_0.$$

Let $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ with $\langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_0) \xi \rangle < 0$ then we have

$$\langle \Phi(t,t_0)\xi, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t,t_0)\xi \rangle < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, t < t_0.$$

Proof. Let $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ with $\langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_0) \xi \rangle > 0$. Assume that there exists a $\overline{t} \in \mathbb{I}, \overline{t} > t_0$ such that

$$\left\langle \Phi(t,t_0)\xi, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t,t_0)\xi \right\rangle \begin{cases} = 0, & \text{for } t = \bar{t}, \\ > 0, & \text{for } \bar{t} > t \ge t_0. \end{cases}$$
(5.13)

Then $\xi(\bar{t}) := \Phi(\bar{t}, t_0) \xi \in Z_{\Gamma}(\bar{t})$ and by the positive definiteness of $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(\bar{t})$ and (5.11) we have

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\langle\xi(\bar{t}), S_{\Gamma}(\bar{t})\xi(\bar{t})\rangle = \langle\xi(\bar{t}), M_{\Gamma}(\bar{t})\xi(\bar{t})\rangle > 0.$$

This implies with $\langle \Phi(\bar{t}, t_0)\xi, S_{\Gamma}(\bar{t})\Phi(\bar{t}, t_0)\xi \rangle = 0$ that a $t_1 \in \mathbb{I}, t_0 \leq t_1 < \bar{t}$ exists with

$$\langle \Phi(t_1, t_0)\xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_1)\Phi(t_1, t_0)\xi \rangle < 0$$

which is a contradiction to (5.13). Analogously, we get the second claim ("<"). $\hfill\square$

For discrete systems we introduce the corresponding statement.

Lemma 5.2.3. Let $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ be a compact interval, $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$ and let $M_{\Gamma}(n)$ of (2.8) be positive definite for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_2$. Fix $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\}$ and $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_2$ with $\langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_0)\xi \rangle > 0$ then we have for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_1$, $n \ge n_0$ with $\Phi(n, n_0)\xi \ne 0$

$$\langle \Phi(n, n_0)\xi, S_{\Gamma}(n)\Phi(n, n_0)\xi \rangle > 0.$$

Let $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\}$ and $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$ with $\langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_0) \xi \rangle < 0$ and let $\bar{n} \in \mathbb{I}$, $\bar{n} < n_0$ and $\bar{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^k$ with $\Phi(n_0, \bar{n})\bar{\xi} = \xi$ then we have

$$\langle \Phi(n,\bar{n})\bar{\xi}, S_{\Gamma}(n)\Phi(n,\bar{n})\bar{\xi}\rangle < 0 \text{ for all } n \in [\bar{n}, n_0 - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}.$$

Proof. Fix $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\}$. Define $\xi(n) := \Phi(n, n_0)\xi$ for all $n \in \mathbb{I}, n \ge n_0$. Then by the positive definiteness of $M_{\Gamma}(n_1)$ for all $n_1 \in \mathbb{I}_2$ and equation (5.12) we have for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_2$ with $\xi(n+1) \ne 0$

$$0 < \langle \xi(n), M_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle = \langle \xi(n+1), S_{\Gamma}(n+1)\xi(n+1) \rangle - \langle \xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle.$$
(5.14)

With $\langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_0)\xi \rangle > 0$ we get inductively for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_2$, $n > n_0$ with $\xi(n+1) \neq 0 \neq \xi(n)$

$$\langle \xi(n+1), S_{\Gamma}(n+1)\xi(n+1) \rangle > \langle \xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle > \langle \xi(n_0), S_{\Gamma}(n_0)\xi(n_0) \rangle > 0.$$

The same proof works analogously for the second claim ("<").

The characteristics of solutions of the continuous system (2.7), which intersect the zero Γ -strain set $Z_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$, are summarized in the next lemma.

Lemma 5.2.4. Assume (A0). Let $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a compact interval and $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$. Assume $\bar{\xi}(\cdot)$ is a solution of (2.7) with $\bar{\xi}(t_0) \in Z_{\Gamma}(t_0)$ for a $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and assume that the Γ -strain acceleration tensor fulfills

$$\langle \bar{\xi}(t_0), M_{\Gamma}(t_0)\bar{\xi}(t_0) \rangle > 0$$

Then there exist $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t_1 > t_0 > t_2$ such that

$$(>0, \quad for \ t_1 > t > t_0$$
 (5.15)

$$\langle \bar{\xi}(t), S_{\Gamma}(t)\bar{\xi}(t) \rangle$$
 = 0, for $t = t_0$ (5.16)

$$l < 0, \quad for t_0 > t > t_2. \tag{5.17}$$

Further, if the Γ -strain acceleration tensor $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t)$ is positive definite for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ then equation (5.15) holds for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t > t_0$ and equation (5.17) for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t < t_0$. If $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t)$ is negative definite for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ then equation (5.17) holds for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t > t_0$ and equation (5.15) for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t < t_0$.

Proof. Let $\xi(t_0) \in Z_{\Gamma}(t_0)$ and $\langle \xi(t_0), M_{\Gamma}(t_0)\xi(t_0) \rangle > 0$. Then we have $\langle \bar{\xi}(t_0), S_{\Gamma}(t_0)\bar{\xi}(t_0) \rangle = 0$ and with (5.11) we obtain $\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \langle \bar{\xi}(t_0), S_{\Gamma}(t_0)\bar{\xi}(t_0) \rangle > 0$. Thus, there exist $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t_1 > t_0 > t_2$ such that for all $t_1 > t > t_0$ equation (5.15) holds and for all $t_2 < t < t_0$ equation (5.17).

Let now $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t)$ be positive definite for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. By Lemma 5.2.2 and with the statements (5.15)-(5.17) we conclude (5.15) for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t > t_0$ and (5.17) for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t < t_0$. The statement for $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}$ negative definite follows analogously.

For the discrete system (2.8) the characteristics of solutions which intersect the zero Γ -stain set $Z_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$ depend on the definiteness of M_{Γ} .

Lemma 5.2.5. Let $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$. Assume $\bar{\xi}(n_0) \in Z_{\Gamma}(n_0)$ for an $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_2$. Let ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\bar{\xi}(n_0), n_0) =: \bar{n}$ and $\bar{\xi}(\bar{n}) \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\bar{\xi}(n_0), n_0)$. Set $\bar{\xi}(n) := \Phi(n, \bar{n})\bar{\xi}(\bar{n})$ for all $n \in [\bar{n}, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. Let $M_{\Gamma}(n)$ be positive definite for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_2$ then we have

$$\begin{cases} > 0, & \text{if } \bar{\xi}(n) \neq 0, \\ = 0, & \text{if } \bar{\xi}(n) = 0, \end{cases}, \quad \text{for } n \in \mathbb{I}, \ n_+ > n > n_0 \quad (5.18) \end{cases}$$

$$\left\langle \bar{\xi}(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\bar{\xi}(n) \right\rangle \begin{cases} = 0, & \text{for } n = n_0 \end{cases}$$
(5.19)

$$\begin{cases} < 0, & \text{if } \xi(n) \neq 0, \\ = 0, & \text{if } \bar{\xi}(n) = 0 \end{cases}, \quad \text{for } n \in \mathbb{I}, \ \bar{n} \le n < n_0. \tag{5.20}$$

Let $M_{\Gamma}(n)$ be negative definite for all $n \in \mathbb{I}$, $n \in \mathbb{I}_2$ then we have that (5.18) holds for all $\bar{n} \leq n < n_0$, equation (5.19) for $n = n_0$ and equation (5.20) for all $n \in \mathbb{I}$, $n_+ > n > n_0$. *Proof.* Let $M_{\Gamma}(n)$ be positive definite for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_2$. Fix $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_2$ and let $\xi(n_0) \in Z_{\Gamma}(n_0) \setminus \{0\}$. Then we get equation (5.19) by the definition of the zero Γ -strain set. The positive definiteness of $M_{\Gamma}(n_0)$ and (5.19) yield

$$0 < \langle \xi(n_0), M_{\Gamma}(n_0)\xi(n_0) \rangle = \langle \bar{\xi}(n_0+1), S_{\Gamma}(n_0+1)\bar{\xi}(n_0+1) \rangle - \langle \bar{\xi}(n_0), S_{\Gamma}(n_0)\bar{\xi}(n_0) \rangle = \langle \bar{\xi}(n_0+1), S_{\Gamma}(n_0+1)\bar{\xi}(n_0+1) \rangle$$

and the positive definiteness of $M_{\Gamma}(n_0 - 1)$ implies for $n_0 - 1 \in \mathbb{I}$

$$0 < \langle \bar{\xi}(n_0 - 1), M_{\Gamma}(n_0 - 1)\bar{\xi}(n_0 - 1) \rangle$$

= $\langle \bar{\xi}(n_0), S_{\Gamma}(n_0)\bar{\xi}(n_0) \rangle - \langle \bar{\xi}(n_0 - 1), S_{\Gamma}(n_0 - 1)\bar{\xi}(n_0 - 1) \rangle$
= $-\langle \bar{\xi}(n_0 - 1), S_{\Gamma}(n_0 - 1)\bar{\xi}(n_0 - 1) \rangle.$

With Lemma 5.2.3 we obtain (5.18) and (5.20). The statement for negative definite M_{Γ} follows analogously.

As in [15, Definition 2.4], [43, Definition 17] and [61] the whole space can be separated into different regions. Every region contains points of a special type. In fact, the type of a point is determined by the definiteness of the Γ -strain tensor $S_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$ and of the Γ -strain acceleration tensor $M_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$ of the linearization at this point. The dynamical characteristics of a solution is defined by the regions it passes. They can be grouped in different classes, i.e. if a solution stays in a region of strictly increasing/decreasing norm (repelling/attracting), or if it crosses just once from a region with strictly increasing norm into a region with strictly decreasing norm (quasihyperbolic) or vise versa (hyperbolic), or if it crosses the regions several times (elliptic). Systems are classified by the different types of solutions, which exist for the given system. Important for us are systems that only have repelling, attracting and hyperbolic solutions.

Therefore, $S_{\Gamma}(t), t \in \begin{cases} \mathbb{I}, & \text{for } \mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}, \\ \mathbb{I}_1, & \text{for } \mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$ needs to be indefinite, otherwise the

system only has attracting or repelling solutions. Additionally, it needs to be nondegenerate (no eigenvalue is 0) to exclude a region with constant norm. As

we have seen in Lemma 5.2.2 to Lemma 5.2.5 that $\begin{cases} M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t), t \in \mathbb{I}, & \text{for } \mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}, \\ M_{\Gamma}(t), t \in \mathbb{I}_{2}, & \text{for } \mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$

must be positive definite to get hyperbolic solutions. This type of system is called D-hyperbolic, since it is defined by the notion of the dynamical pattern. We summarize the latter thoughts for a continuous linear dynamical system in a proper definition, which is also presented in [43, Definition 17] [15, Definition 2.4].

Definition 5.2.6. Assume (A0). Let $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a compact interval and $\Gamma =$ $\Gamma^T > 0$. System (2.7) at time $t \in \mathbb{I}$ is called

• attracting if $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is negative definite,

- repelling if $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is positive definite,
- quasihyperbolic if $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is indefinite and nondegenerate and $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t)$ is negative definite,
- hyperbolic if $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is indefinite and nondegenerate and $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t)$ is positive definite,
- elliptic if $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is indefinite and nondegenerate $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t)$ is indefinite,
- degenerate in the other cases.

System (2.7) is called attracting/repelling etc. (on \mathbb{I}) if it is attracting/repelling etc. for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

Definition 5.2.7. Assume (A0). Let $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a compact interval and $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$. System (2.7) is called **D-hyperbolic** (dynamical hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$) if it is hyperbolic in the sense of Definition 5.2.6.

Note that if $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma(t)} := \sqrt{\langle \cdot, \Gamma(t) \cdot \rangle}$ is allowed to depend on time $t \in \mathbb{I}$ then the $\Gamma(t)$ -strain tensor equals $S_{\Gamma}(t) = \frac{1}{2} \left[A(t)\Gamma(t) + \Gamma(t)A^{T}(t) + \dot{\Gamma}(t) \right]$. Is means, we find for every solution $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ a family of matrices $\Gamma(\cdot)$ such that $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ lies in the attracting or repelling region of the linearized system. A discussion of a time depending norm is beyond the scope of this thesis.

For discrete time systems the D-hyperbolic definition is slightly different. We have one more condition. Surely, there exist adequate definitions of attracting, repelling, etc. discrete ft-systems. However, we do not introduce them in this thesis.

Definition 5.2.8. Let $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ be a compact interval and $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$. System (2.8) is called **D-hyperbolic** (on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$) if $S_{\Gamma}(n)$ is indefinite and nondegenerate for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_1$, if $M_{\Gamma}(n)$ is positive definite for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_2$ and if $S_{\Gamma}(n)$ has for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_1$ the same number of positive eigenvalues $\lambda > 0$.

The additional condition is

 $S_{\Gamma}(n)$ has for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_1$ the same number of positive eigenvalues $\lambda > 0.$ (5.21)

For continuous D-hyperbolic systems this is always true, since we require that $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is nondegenerate for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Hence, we do not need to mention this condition explicitly for the continuous time case. However, is it necessary for discrete systems to have an additional condition? Yes, it is. We want that every D-hyperbolic system is an M-hyperbolic system as well. For continuous systems this statement is proved in Theorem 5.4.2. For a reference see [43, Corollary 22]. To obtain this relation for discrete systems the additional condition is important. We first illustrate by an example that we need an additional condition. Then we state why it has to be (5.21).

In the following example we construct a system for which $S_{\Gamma}(n)$ is indefinite and nondegenerate for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_1$ and for which $M_{\Gamma}(n)$ is positive definite for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_2$. Note that the additional condition (5.21) is not satisfied. Then we prove that this system is not M-hyperbolic.

Example 5.2.9. Assume u(n + 1) = A(n)u(n) is a finite time system on $\mathbb{I} = \{0, 1, 2\}$ with $A(0) = \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 2\right)$ and $A(1) = \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{2}, 2, 2\right)$. Set $\Gamma = I$. We see that

$$S(0) = A(0)^{T} A(0) - I = \operatorname{diag} \left(-\frac{3}{4}, -\frac{3}{4}, 3 \right)$$
$$S(1) = A(1)^{T} A(1) - I = \operatorname{diag} \left(-\frac{3}{4}, 3, 3 \right)$$

are nondegenerate and indefinite and we get

$$M(0) = A(0)^T S(1)A(0) - S(0) = \operatorname{diag}\left(-\frac{3}{16}, \frac{3}{4}, 12\right) - \operatorname{diag}\left(-\frac{3}{4}, -\frac{3}{4}, 3\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{9}{16}, \frac{6}{4}, 9\right),$$

which is positive definite. Assume that our system is M-hyperbolic. Then the following must be true for an $\alpha, \beta > 0$ and for a projector $P(1) \in \mathbb{R}^{3 \times 3}$

$$\left\| \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{2}, 2, 2\right) \xi \right\| = \|A(1)\xi\| \le e^{-\alpha} \|\xi\| \text{ for all } \xi \in \mathcal{R}(P(1)), \quad (5.22)$$

$$\left\| \operatorname{diag}\left(2,2,\frac{1}{2}\right)\xi \right\| = \left\| A(0)^{-1}\xi \right\| \le e^{-\beta} \left\|\xi\right\| \text{ for all } \xi \in \mathcal{N}(P(1)).$$
(5.23)

Estimate (5.22) forces $\mathcal{R}(P(1)) \in \{\mathcal{L}(\xi) | \xi \in \mathbb{R}^3 : \xi_1 = 1, \xi_2^2 + \xi_3^2 < \frac{1}{4}\}$ and estimate (5.23) forces $\mathcal{N}(P(1)) \in \{\mathcal{L}(\xi) | \xi \in \mathbb{R}^3 : \xi_3 = 1, \xi_1^2 + \xi_2^2 < \frac{1}{4}\}.$

By this choices of range and kernel no projector P(1) exists such that $\mathcal{R}(P(1)) + \mathcal{N}(P(1)) = \mathbb{R}^3$. Hence, our system is not M-hyperbolic.

This proves that we need to add another condition to the D-hyperbolic definition. However, why do we require that the number of positive eigenvalues of $S_{\Gamma}(n)$ is the same for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_1$? In the next section we see that the stable and unstable cone of an M-hyperbolic system depends on $S_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$. More precisely, the dimension of the (un)stable cone depends on the number of negative (positive) eigenvalues of $S_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$. If the number of positive eigenvalues changes for different times the dimension of the cones changes. Then by (4.3) also the dimension of the range of "the projectors" changes. This is not allowed for an invariant family of projectors. Thus the number of positive eigenvalues of $S_{\Gamma}(n)$ need to stay the same for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_1$.

An Explicit Representation of (Un)Stable Cones

The following propositions imply explicit forms of the stable and unstable cones for D-hyperbolic systems. This enables the calculation and illustration of the cones of D-hyperbolic systems. We introduce the explicit representation of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u,s}^{\pm}$ and their boundaries for the continuous case in Proposition 5.3.1, which originates from [43, Proposition 19]. Then we find an explicit representation of the stable and unstable cones ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}$ and their boundaries. This conclusion is stated in Corollary 5.3.2. Further we develop related results for discrete time systems. These achievements are summarized in Proposition 5.3.4 and Corollary 5.3.5.

Proposition 5.3.1. Let $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$ and $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$. Assume (A0) and assume that (2.7) is D-hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} . Then the following statements hold:

(i) For each $t_0 \in [t_-, t_+)$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{+}(t_{0}) = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_{0})\xi \rangle > 0\} \cup \{0\}$$

is a connected double-cone and the boundary of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{+}(t_{0})$ satisfies

 $\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u^+(t_0) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_0) \xi \rangle = 0\} = Z_{\Gamma}(t_0).$

(ii) For each $t_0 \in (t_-, t_+]$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(t_0) = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_0)\xi \rangle < 0\} \cup \{0\}$$

is a connected double-cone and the boundary of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(t_{0})$ satisfies

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s^-(t_0) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_0) \xi \rangle = 0\} = Z_{\Gamma}(t_0).$$

(iii) For each $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and any $\xi \in Z_{\Gamma}(t_0)$ we get

$$\Phi(t, t_0)\xi \in \begin{cases} {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^+(t), & \text{for all } t > t_0 \\ {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(t), & \text{for all } t < t_0. \end{cases}$$

For the proof we refer to [43, Proposition 19]. The stable and unstable cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}$ can be characterized with the help of Proposition 5.3.1 and the equations (4.14), (4.18).

Corollary 5.3.2. Under the assumptions of Proposition 5.3.1 we obtain that

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t_{0}) = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \Phi(t_{+}, t_{0})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_{+})\Phi(t_{+}, t_{0})\xi \rangle < 0 \} \cup \{0\},$$
(5.24)

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0) = \{\Phi(t_0, t_-)\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_-)\xi \rangle > 0\} \cup \{0\}$$
(5.25)

are open connected double-cones for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Their boundaries satisfy

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_0) = \Phi(t_0, t_+) \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \subset \Phi(t_0, t_+) Z_{\Gamma}(t_+),$$

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_0) = \Phi(t_0, t_-) \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_-) \subset \Phi(t_0, t_-) Z_{\Gamma}(t_-).$$

Proof. Proposition 5.3.1 and Lemma 4.2.1 imply

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t_{0}) = \Phi(t_{0}, t_{+})^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t_{+}) = \Phi(t_{0}, t_{+})^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(t_{+})$$

= { $\Phi(t_{0}, t_{+})\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} |\langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_{+})\xi \rangle < 0$ } \cup {0}
= { $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} |\langle \Phi(t_{+}, t_{0})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_{+})\Phi(t_{+}, t_{0})\xi \rangle < 0$ } \cup {0}

and

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t_{0}) = \Phi(t_{0}, t_{-})^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{+}(t_{-})$$

= { $\Phi(t_{0}, t_{-})\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} |\langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_{-})\xi \rangle > 0$ } \cup { 0 }

By Proposition 5.3.1 the sets ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^+(t_-)$, ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(t_+)$ are open connected doublecones. Thus, the continuity of the linear function $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ and of $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ yield by [29, p. 109, Proposition 4] that the stable and unstable t_0 -cones ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}(t_0)$, $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, are open connected double-cones. The boundaries of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-)$ satisfy

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) = \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s^-(t_+) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_+)\xi \rangle = 0\} = Z_{\Gamma}(t_+), \\ \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_-) = \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u^+(t_-) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_-)\xi \rangle = 0\} = Z_{\Gamma}(t_-).$$

With the invariance of the cones ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(\cdot)$, ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(\cdot)$ (Lemma 4.2.1) and the continuity of $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ we get by [128, Lemma 6.4] that the boundaries $\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(\cdot)$, $\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(\cdot)$ are invariant. Hence, we obtain for every $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_0) = \Phi(t_0, t_+) \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \subset \Phi(t_0, t_+) Z_{\Gamma}(t_+),$$

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_0) = \Phi(t_0, t_-) \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_-) \subset \Phi(t_0, t_-) Z_{\Gamma}(t_-).$$

Г		
L		
L		
-		

In Lemma 5.7.2 we prove that even

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_0) = \Phi(t_0, t_+) Z_{\Gamma}(t_+),$$

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_0) = \Phi(t_0, t_-) Z_{\Gamma}(t_-)$$

hold for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$.

We develop similar statements for the stable and unstable cones of discrete systems. The proof of the following proposition for invertible discrete systems is similar to the one of Proposition 5.3.1. The proof of the statements about the cones of a noninvertible system is more involved and requires a few more steps. Therefore, we first show that for noninvertible D-hyperbolic systems the kernel of the solution operator is a subset of the stable cone. Note, that we already proved this statement for M-hyperbolic systems in Lemma 3.2.6 and Lemma 4.2.4.

Lemma 5.3.3. Let $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$. Assume that (2.8) is *D*-hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$). Then for every $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$ we have

$$\mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_+, n_0)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_0).$$

Proof. Let $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_+, n_0))$ with $\bar{n} := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_0)$ and $\mathring{n} := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\ker}(\xi, n_0)$ then $\Phi(n, n_0)\xi \neq 0$ for all $n_0 \leq n < \mathring{n}$. By Lemma 5.2.5 we get for all $\mu \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\operatorname{pre}}(\xi, n_0)$

$$\left\langle \Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu, S_{\Gamma}(n)\Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu \right\rangle \begin{cases} = 0, & \text{for } n \ge \mathring{n}, \\ < 0, & \text{for } \bar{n} \le n < \mathring{n}. \end{cases}$$

This implies with (3.17) for all $\bar{n} \leq n < \mathring{n}$

$$0 > \langle \Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu, S_{\Gamma}(n)\Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu \rangle = \|\Phi(n+1,\bar{n})\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2}$$

which is equivalent to

$$\|\Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu\|_{\Gamma} < \|\Phi(m,\bar{n})\mu\|_{\Gamma}$$

for all $n, m \in [\bar{n}, \mathring{n}]_{\mathbb{Z}}$, n > m. This leads with (4.10) to $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(n_0)$. With $\Phi(n_0 + 1, n_0)\xi = 0 \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_0 + 1)$ follows directly that $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_0)$.

Proposition 5.3.4. Let $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$. Assume that (2.8) is *D*-hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$). Then the following statements hold:

(i) For each $n_0 \in {}_1\mathbb{I}$

is a connected double-cone.

(ii) For each $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$

$$L(n_0) := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \Phi(n_+ - 1, n_0) \xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_+ - 1) \Phi(n_+ - 1, n_0) \xi \rangle < 0 \right\}$$

is an open connected double-cone and

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{0}) = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_{+} - 1)\Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})\xi \rangle < 0 \right\} \\ \cup \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_{+}, n_{0})), \qquad (5.27)$$
$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{0}) = \left\{ \xi \in L(n_{0}) | \Phi(n_{0} + 1, n_{0})\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{0} + 1) \right\} \cup \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_{+}, n_{0})).$$
(5.28)

(iii) For each $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{+}(n_{0}) = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_{0})\xi \rangle > 0 \right\} \cup \{0\}$$
(5.29)

is an open connected double-cone and the boundary of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{+}(n_{0})$ satisfies

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u^+(n_0) \subset \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_0) \xi \rangle = 0 \right\}.$$
(5.30)

Proof. We start with the proof (i) and first show (5.26). Fix $n_0 \in {}_1\mathbb{I}$. By definition of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$ we have $0 \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$. Let $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0) \setminus \{0\}$ with ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_0) =: \bar{n} < n_0$ then there exist an $\alpha > 0$ and a $\bar{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}^k$ with $\Phi(n_0, \bar{n})\bar{\mu} = \xi$ such that $\|\Phi(n, \bar{n})\bar{\mu}\|_{\Gamma} e^{\alpha n}$ is decreasing for $n \in [\bar{n}, n_0]$. This means that

$$\|\xi\|_{\Gamma}^{2} e^{2\alpha(n_{0})} - \|\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} e^{2\alpha(n_{0}-1)} \leq 0$$

is satisfied for $\mu := \Phi(n_0 - 1, \bar{n})\bar{\mu}$. Dividing by $e^{2\alpha(n_0 - 1)}$ we get with equation (3.17)

$$0 \ge e^{2\alpha} \|\xi\|_{\Gamma}^2 - \|\mu\|_{\Gamma}^2 > \|\xi\|_{\Gamma}^2 - \|\mu\|_{\Gamma}^2 = \langle \mu, S_{\Gamma}(n_0 - 1)\mu \rangle.$$

Conversely, let $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$. If ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_0) = n_0$ then we directly see that $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$. Suppose ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_0) =: \bar{n} < n_0$. Let $\bar{\mu} \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\xi, n_0)$ such that the estimate $\langle \mu, S_{\Gamma}(n_0 - 1)\mu \rangle < 0$ is true for $\mu = \Phi(n_0 - 1, \bar{n})\bar{\mu}$. Then Lemma 5.2.3 leads for all $\hat{n} \in [\bar{n}, n_0 - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $\hat{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}^k$ with $\Phi(n_0 - 1, \hat{n})\hat{\mu} = \mu$ to

$$\langle \Phi(n,\hat{n})\hat{\mu}, S_{\Gamma}(n)\Phi(n,\hat{n})\hat{\mu} \rangle < 0 \text{ for all } n \in [\hat{n}, n_0 - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}.$$
 (5.31)

Defining

$$a := a_{\Gamma}(\bar{n}) := \max_{n \in [\bar{n}, n_0 - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}} \left\{ \frac{\langle \Phi(n, \bar{n})\bar{\mu}, S_{\Gamma}(n)\Phi(n, \bar{n})\bar{\mu} \rangle}{\|\Phi(n+1, \bar{n})\bar{\mu}\|_{\Gamma}^2} \right\}$$

implies for all $n \in [\bar{n}, n_0 - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}$

$$a - \frac{\langle \Phi(n,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}, S_{\Gamma}(n)\Phi(n,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}\rangle}{\|\Phi(n+1,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}\|_{\Gamma}^2} \ge 0$$
(5.32)

and we obtain by (5.31) that a < 0. Further define

$$\alpha := \alpha_{\Gamma}(\bar{n}) := \frac{1}{2} \ln \left(1 - a_{\Gamma}(\bar{n}) \right) > 0$$

then

$$-a = e^{2\alpha} - 1. (5.33)$$

For all $n \in [\bar{n}, n_0 - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ we get with (3.17), with (5.33) and with (5.32)

$$\begin{split} &\|\Phi(n+1,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}\|_{\Gamma}^{2}e^{2\alpha(n+1)} - \|\Phi(n,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}\|_{\Gamma}^{2}e^{2\alpha n} \\ = &e^{2\alpha n}\left(\left(e^{2\alpha}-1\right)\|\Phi(n+1,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \|\Phi(n+1,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\Phi(n,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\right) \\ = &e^{2\alpha n}\left(\left(e^{2\alpha}-1\right)\|\Phi(n+1,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \langle\Phi(n,\bar{n})\bar{\mu},S_{\Gamma}(n)\Phi(n,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}\rangle\right) \\ = &e^{2\alpha n}\left\|\Phi(n+1,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}\|_{\Gamma}^{2}\left(-a + \frac{\langle\Phi(n,\bar{n})\bar{\mu},S_{\Gamma}(n)\Phi(n,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}\rangle}{\|\Phi(n+1,n)\bar{\mu}\|_{\Gamma}^{2}}\right) \le 0. \end{split}$$

This means $\|\Phi(n,\bar{n})\bar{\mu}\|_{\Gamma} e^{\alpha n}$ is decreasing for $n \in [\bar{n}, n_0]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. Hence, $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$ and (5.26) is shown.

Before we prove that the cone is a connected double-cone we show the statements (5.27) and (5.29).

For the proof of statement (5.27) let $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(n_0) \setminus \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_+, n_0))$ and define $\bar{n} := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_0)$. Then there exists (see equation (4.10)) a $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^k$ such that $\Phi(n_0, \bar{n})\mu = \xi$ and

$$\|\Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu\|_{\Gamma} < \|\Phi(m,\bar{n})\mu\|_{\Gamma}$$
 for all $n,m \in [\bar{n},n_{+}]_{\mathbb{Z}}, n > m$.

With equation (3.17)

$$0 > \|\Phi(n+1,\bar{n})\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} = \langle \Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu, S_{\Gamma}(n)\Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu \rangle$$

follows for all $n \in [\overline{n}, n_+ - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. For $n = n_+ - 1$ we obtain

$$0 > \langle \Phi(n_{+} - 1, \bar{n})\mu, S_{\Gamma}(n_{+} - 1)\Phi(n_{+} - 1, \bar{n}\mu) \rangle$$

= $\langle \Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})\Phi(n_{0}, \bar{n})\mu, S_{\Gamma}(n_{+} - 1)\Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})\Phi(n_{0}, \bar{n})\mu \rangle$
= $\langle \Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_{+} - 1)\Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})\xi \rangle.$

Conversely, let $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_+, n_0))$ with

$$\langle \Phi(n_+ - 1, n_0)\xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_+ - 1)\Phi(n_+ - 1, n_0)\xi \rangle < 0$$

and define $\bar{n} = {}_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_0)$. Then Lemma 5.2.3 and equation (3.17) yield

$$0 > \langle \Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu, S_{\Gamma}(n)\Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu \rangle = \|\Phi(n+1,\bar{n})\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu\|_{\Gamma}^{2}$$

for all $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^k$ with $\Phi(n_0, \bar{n})\mu = \xi$ and all $n \in [\bar{n}, n_+ - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. This means that

$$0> \|\Phi(n,\bar{n})\mu\|_{\Gamma}-\|\Phi(m,\bar{n})\mu\|_{\Gamma} \ \text{for all } n,m\in [\bar{n},n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}},\ n>m$$

is satisfied and it implies $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(n_0)$. By Lemma 5.3.3 we have

$$\mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_+, n_0)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_0) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(n_0).$$
(5.34)

Thus, equation (5.27) is shown. Equation (5.28) directly follows from (5.27) and (5.34).

For the proof of statement (5.29) fix $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$ and let $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^+(n_0) \setminus \{0\}$. Define $\xi(n) := \Phi(n, n_0)\xi$ for all $n \in [n_0, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. Then there exists a $\beta > 0$ such that $\|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma} e^{-\beta n}$ is increasing for $n \in [n_0, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$, hence

$$\|\xi(n+1)\|_{\Gamma}^2 e^{-2\beta(n+1)} - \|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^2 e^{-2\beta n} \ge 0$$

is satisfied for all $n \in [n_0, n_+ - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. Dividing by $e^{-2\beta n}$ implies with (3.17)

$$0 \le \|\xi(n+1)\|_{\Gamma}^2 e^{-2\beta} - \|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^2 < \|\xi(n+1)\|_{\Gamma}^2 - \|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^2 = \langle \xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle$$

for all $n \in [n_0, n_+ - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}$.

Conversely, let $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$ with $\langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_0) \xi \rangle > 0$. Define $\xi(n) := \Phi(n, n_0) \xi$ for all $n \in [n_0, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. By Lemma 5.2.3 we obtain

$$\langle \xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle > 0 \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{I}_1, \ n \ge n_0.$$
 (5.35)

Defining

$$b_{\Gamma} := \min_{n \in [n_0, n_+ - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}} \left\{ \frac{\langle \xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle}{\|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^2} \right\}.$$

we see by (5.35) that $b_{\Gamma} > 0$. It follows

$$-b_{\Gamma} + \frac{\langle \xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle}{\|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^2} \ge 0$$
(5.36)

for all $n \in [n_0, n_+ - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. Further define $\beta := \beta_{\Gamma} := \frac{1}{2} \ln(1 + b_{\Gamma}) > 0$ then

$$-b_{\Gamma} = 1 - e^{2\beta}.$$
 (5.37)

For all $n \in [n_0, n_+ - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ we get with (3.17), with (5.36) and with (5.37)

$$\begin{aligned} &\|\xi(n+1)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} e^{-2\beta(n+1)} - \|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} e^{-2\beta n} \\ &= e^{-2\beta(n+1)} \left((1-e^{2\beta}) \|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \|\xi(n+1)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) \\ &= e^{-2\beta(n+1)} \left((1-e^{2\beta}) \|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} + \langle\xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n)\rangle \right) \\ &= e^{-2\beta(n+1)} \|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \left(-b_{\Gamma} + \frac{\langle\xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n)\rangle}{\|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^{2}} \right) \ge 0. \end{aligned}$$

This means that $\|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma} e^{-\beta n}$ is increasing for $n \in [n_0, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$, hence $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^+(n_0)$. Thus (5.29) follows.

Next we finish the proof of statement (i) by proving that ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$ is a connected double-cone for all $n_0 \in {}_1\mathbb{I}$.

Fix $n_0 \in {}_1\mathbb{I}$. If the set ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0) \setminus \{0\}$ is connected then the half-cones of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_0)$ are connected, i.e. ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$ is a connected double-cone. Assume that ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0) \setminus \{0\}$ is not connected. We need to show that the half-cones of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$ are connected. Denote by C one half-cone of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$. Then every $x \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0) = C \cup (-C)$ satisfies one of the cases

$$\begin{cases} x \in C, & \text{case (a),} \\ -x \in C, & \text{case (b).} \end{cases}$$

For every $x \in C \setminus \{0\}$ and $y \in (-C) \setminus \{0\}$ we have

$$\overline{xy} \not\subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0), \tag{5.38}$$

where \overline{xy} denotes the line between x and y, since ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)\setminus\{0\}$ is not connected. Let $x \in C \setminus \{0\}$ and $y \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0) \setminus \{0\}$. To prove that C is connected we show that one of the two cases is true

$$\begin{cases} \overline{xy} \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0) \setminus \{0\}, & \text{case } (1), \\ \overline{x(-y)} \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0) \setminus \{0\}, & \text{case } (2). \end{cases}$$
(5.39)

This is sufficient, since the two cases above lead by (5.38) to

$$\begin{cases} \overline{xy} \subset C, & \text{in case (1),} \\ \overline{x(-y)} \subset C, & \text{in case (2).} \end{cases}$$
(5.40)

The cases (5.40) state that for every two points $x, y \in C$ there exists a path between these two points which lies in the cone C, i.e. C is connected.

The cases in (5.39) are true, if

$$\begin{cases} tx + (1-t)y \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(n_{0}) \setminus \{0\}, & \text{for case } (1), \\ tx - (1-t)y \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(n_{0}) \setminus \{0\}, & \text{for case } (2). \end{cases}$$
(5.41)

is satisfied for all $t \in [0, 1]$.

In the following we show (5.41) first for ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(x, n_0) = n_0$ and then for ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(x, n_0) < n_0$. Fix $t \in (0, 1)$. For

$${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(x, n_0) = n_0 \tag{5.42}$$

suppose both cases in (5.41) are not true then there exist $\mu_{1,2} \in \mathbb{R}^k$ with

$$tx + (1-t)y = \Phi(n_0, n_0 - 1)\mu_1,$$

$$tx - (1-t)y = \Phi(n_0, n_0 - 1)\mu_2,$$

i.e. ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(tx \pm (1-t)y, n_0) < n_0$. We get

$$tx = \frac{1}{2}(tx + (1-t)y + tx - (1-t)y) = \Phi(n_0, n_0 - 1)\frac{1}{2}(\mu_1 + \mu_2),$$

which is a contradiction to (5.42). Thus, one of the cases in (5.41) is true.

Assume

$${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(x, n_0) < n_0.$$

Then there exists $\mu_1 \in \mathbb{R}^k$ with

$$\Phi(n_0, n_0 - 1)\mu_1 = x \text{ such that } \langle \mu_1, S_{\Gamma}(n_0 - 1)\mu_1 \rangle < 0.$$
 (5.43)

If ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(tx + (1-t)y, n_0) = n_0$ then the first case of (5.41) is true. So suppose there exists a $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^k$ with

$$tx + (1-t)y = \Phi(n_0, n_0 - 1)\mu,$$

i.e. ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(tx + (1-t)y, n_0) < n_0$. By (5.43) we obtain $(1-t)y = \Phi(n_0, n_0 - 1)(\mu - t\mu_1)$. This implies

$${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(y, n_0) < n_0,$$

which induces with $y \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0) \setminus \{0\}$ that there exists $\mu_2 \in \mathbb{R}^k$ with

$$\Phi(n_0, n_0 - 1)y = \mu_2 \text{ such that } \langle \mu_2, S_{\Gamma}(n_0 - 1)\mu_2 \rangle < 0.$$
 (5.44)

Define

$$a := t(1-t) \left(\langle \mu_1, S_{\Gamma}(n_0-1)\mu_2 \rangle + \langle \mu_2, S_{\Gamma}(n_0-1)\mu_1 \rangle \right).$$
 (5.45)

We have with (5.43) and (5.44)

$$\begin{cases} \langle t\mu_{1} + (1-t)\mu_{2}, S_{\Gamma}(n_{0}-1)(t\mu_{1} + (1-t)\mu_{2}) \rangle, & a \leq 0, \\ \langle t\mu_{1} - (1-t)\mu_{2}, S_{\Gamma}(n_{0}-1)(t\mu_{1} - (1-t)\mu_{2}) \rangle, & a > 0, \end{cases} \\ = \begin{cases} t^{2} \langle \mu_{1}, S_{\Gamma}(n_{0}-1)\mu_{1} \rangle + (1-t)^{2} \langle \mu_{2}, S_{\Gamma}(n_{0}-1)\mu_{2} \rangle + a, & a \leq 0, \\ t^{2} \langle \mu_{1}, S_{\Gamma}(n_{0}-1)\mu_{1} \rangle + (1-t)^{2} \langle \mu_{2}, S_{\Gamma}(n_{0}-1)\mu_{2} \rangle - a, & a > 0, \end{cases}$$
(5.46)
<0.

This implies one of the cases in (5.41) with $tx \pm (1-t)y = \Phi(n_0, n_0 - 1)(t\mu_1 \pm (1-t)\mu_2)$. Thus ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^-(n_0)$ is a connected double-cone for every $n_0 \in {}_{1}\mathbb{I}$. Now we complete the proof of statements (ii) and (iii) by showing that

$$L(n_0) := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \Phi(n_+ - 1, n_0) \xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_+ - 1) \Phi(n_+ - 1, n_0) \xi \rangle < 0 \right\}$$

is an open connected double-cone for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$, since the proof that ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^+(n_0)$ is an open connected double-cone for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$ follows analogously to the one of $L(n_0)$.

Fix $\bar{n} \in \mathbb{I}_1$ and let $x, y \in L(\bar{n})$. Define $\mu_1 := \Phi(n_+ - 1, \bar{n})x$ and $\mu_2 := \Phi(n_+ - 1, \bar{n})y$ and a as in (5.45) with the setting $n_0 := n_+$. Then as in (5.46) we get

$$\langle \Phi(n_+ - 1, \bar{n})(tx \pm (1 - t)y), S_{\Gamma}(n_+ - 1)\Phi(n_+ - 1, \bar{n})(tx \pm (1 - t)y) \rangle$$

= $\langle t\mu_1 + (1 - t)\mu_2, S_{\Gamma}(n_+ - 1)(t\mu_1 + (1 - t)\mu_2) \rangle < 0,$

for + or -, i.e. $L(\bar{n})$ is a connected double-cone. That the cone is open follows by the continuity of $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$, more precisely there exists an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for all $\xi \in B_{\varepsilon}(x)$

$$\langle \Phi(n_+ - 1, \bar{n})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_+ - 1)\Phi(n_+ - 1, \bar{n})\xi \rangle < 0$$

holds, i.e. $L(n_0)$ is an open connected double-cone for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$.

The relation (5.30) holds directly, since the sets

$$\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_0)\xi \rangle > 0\}$$
 and $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_0)\xi \rangle < 0\}$

are open.

106

For the stable and unstable cones of a discrete D-hyperbolic system we get an explicit representation by Lemma 4.2.1 and Proposition 5.3.4. The representation of the boundaries can be shown as in the continuous case (Corollary 5.3.2). First we define for a subset $U \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ and $n, m \in \mathbb{I}$ with $n \ge m$

$$\Phi_{\rm pre}(n,m)U := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \Phi(n,m)\xi \in U \right\}.$$

Corollary 5.3.5. Under the assumptions of Proposition 5.3.4 we obtain that the almost stable n_+ -cone is an open connected double-cone with the representation

For all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$ we get that the almost stable n_0 -cone is a double-cone with the representation

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{0}) = L(n_{0})\dot{\cup}\mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_{+}-1,n_{0}))$$

and additionally that the stable n_0 -cone satisfies

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{0}) = \left\{ \xi \in L(n_{0}) \middle| \Phi(n_{0}+1, n_{0})\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{0}+1) \right\} \dot{\cup} \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_{+}-1, n_{0})).$$
(5.47)

For all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ the unstable cone is an open connected double-cone, which can be represented by

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(n_0) = \left\{ \Phi(n_0, n_-)\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_-)\xi \rangle > 0 \right\} \cup \{0\}.$$
 (5.48)

The boundary of the unstable cone satisfies for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(n_0) = \Phi(n_0, n_-) \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(n_-) \subset \Phi(n_0, n_-) Z_{\Gamma}(n_-),$$
 (5.49)

whereas the boundary of the almost stable cone satisfies for $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} \overline{V}_s(n_0) \subset \Phi_{\text{pre}}(n_+ - 1, n_0) Z_{\Gamma}(n_+ - 1).$$

Let (2.8) be invertible then the stable cones ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n)$ are open connected double-cones for all $n \in \mathbb{I}$ and

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_+) = \Phi(n_+, n_+ - 1)L(n_+ - 1) \cup \{0\},$$
(5.50)

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_0) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(n_0) = L(n_0) \cup \{0\},$$
(5.51)

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(n_0) \subset \Phi(n_0, n_+ - 1) Z_{\Gamma}(n_+ - 1)$$
(5.52)

hold for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$.

Proof. By Proposition 5.3.4 the almost stable n_+ -cone is an open connected double-cone, which can also be represented as

$$\begin{split} {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{+}) &= {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(n_{+}) \\ &= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} |_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi,n_{0}) = n_{0} \lor \left({}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi,n_{0}) =: \bar{n} < n_{0} \\ & \land \exists \bar{\mu} \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\xi,n_{0}) : \langle \mu, S_{\Gamma}(n_{0}-1)\mu \rangle < 0 \\ & \text{for } \mu := \Phi(n_{0}-1,\bar{n}) = \bar{\mu} \right) \right\} \cup \{ 0 \} \\ &= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} |_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi,n_{+}) = n_{+} \right\} \\ & \cup \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} |_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi,n_{+}) =: \bar{n} < n_{+} \land \exists \bar{\mu} \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\xi,n_{+}) : \\ & \langle \mu, S_{\Gamma}(n_{+}-1)\mu \rangle < 0 \text{ for } \mu := \Phi(n_{+}-1,\bar{n})\bar{\mu} \} \cup \{ 0 \}, \\ &= \mathcal{R}(\Phi(n_{+},n_{+}-1))^{C} \\ & \cup \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} |_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{min}}(\xi,n_{+}) =: \bar{n} < n_{+} \land \exists \bar{\mu} \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\xi,n_{+}) : \\ & \langle \mu, S_{\Gamma}(n_{+}-1)\mu \rangle < 0 \text{ for } \mu := \Phi(n_{+}-1,\bar{n})\bar{\mu} \} \cup \{ 0 \}. \end{split}$$

For all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$ we see by Proposition 5.3.4 and Lemma 5.2.5 that the almost n_0 -stable cone is a double-cone with the representation

$$\begin{split} {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{0}) &= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \Phi(n_{+}-1,n_{0})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_{+}-1)\Phi(n_{+}-1,n_{0})\xi \rangle < 0 \right\} \\ &\cup \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_{+},n_{0})) \\ &= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \Phi(n_{+}-1,n_{0})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_{+}-1)\Phi(n_{+}-1,n_{0})\xi \rangle < 0 \right\} \\ &\quad \dot{\cup} \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_{+}-1,n_{0})) \\ &= L(n_{0})\dot{\cup} \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_{+}-1,n_{0})) \end{split}$$

Indeed, for $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_+, n_0))$ we have

$$\langle \Phi(n_+, n_+ - 1) \Phi(n_+ - 1, n_0) \xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_+) \Phi(n_+, n_+ - 1) \Phi(n_+ - 1, n_0) \xi \rangle = 0$$

and Lemma 5.2.5 yields

$$\langle \Phi(n_+ - 1, n_0)\xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_+ - 1)\Phi(n_+ - 1, n_0)\xi \rangle < 0$$

if $\Phi(n_+ - 1, n_0) \xi \neq 0$, i.e. $\xi \notin \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_+ - 1, n_0))$. Recursively, we obtain the representation (5.47) of the stable n_0 -cone for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$.

For all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ the unstable cone is an open connected double-cone and (5.48) holds, since ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(\cdot)$ is invariant and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u^-$ an open connected double-cone by Proposition 5.3.4. The boundary of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(\cdot)$ fulfills (5.49) by the latter arguments. For the boundary of the almost stable cone we have for $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} \bar{V}_{s}(n_{0}) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_{+} - 1)\Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})\xi \rangle = 0 \}$$

= $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})\xi \in Z_{\Gamma}(n_{+} - 1) \}$
= $\Phi_{\text{pre}}(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})Z_{\Gamma}(n_{+} - 1).$
Let (2.8) be invertible then we obtain

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{+}) = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \big| \langle \mu, S_{\Gamma}(n_{+}-1)\mu \rangle < 0 \text{ for } \mu := \Phi(n_{+}-1,n_{+})\xi \right\} \cup \{0\}$$
$$= \Phi(n_{+},n_{+}-1)L(n_{+}-1)\cup \{0\}$$

and for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$ we have

$${}^{{}^{\mathbb{I}}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{0}) = L(n_{0}) \cup \{0\}.$$

Recursively, this yields

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{0}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{0}) = L(n_{0}) \cup \{0\}$$

for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$ and thus the boundary of the stable cone satisfies (5.52). By Proposition 5.3.4 the set $L(n_+ - 1)$ is a open connected double-cone. The continuity of $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ implies by (5.50) and (5.51) that the stable cones ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n)$ are open connected double-cones for all $n \in \mathbb{I}$.

In contrast to invertible systems the stable cone of a noninvertible system is usually not an open cone. Indeed, we proved for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$ that ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_0)$ is the disjunct union of a subset of an open connected double-cone and a closed double-cone, cf. (5.47).

The explicit form of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(n_+)$ turns out to be quite complicated. Roughly speaking we start with points at the end time n_+ then find special points to a previous time and finally go back to the time n_+ . Is this necessary? What happens if we start at the "first" time and then just go forward in time to n_+ . We introduce the sets

$$A := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \middle|_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_+) = \bar{n} < n_+ \land \exists \bar{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}^k \text{ with } \bar{\mu} \in {}_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_+) : \\ \langle \mu, S_{\Gamma}(n_+ - 1)\mu \rangle < 0 \text{ for } \mu = \Phi(n_+ - 1, \bar{n})\bar{\mu} \right\}$$
$$= {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(n_+) \setminus \{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \middle|_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_+) = n_+ \}$$
$$B := \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{I}_1} \left\{ \Phi(n_+, n)\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \middle|_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n) = n, \\ \langle \mu, S_{\Gamma}(n_+ - 1)\mu \rangle < 0 \text{ for } \mu = \Phi(n_+ - 1, n)\xi \right\}.$$

In Figure 5.1 we illustrate for an example that the sets A and B may be different for noninvertible systems. To find all points in A we start with all point at the end time n_+ , marked in green on the left panel. Then we take all preimages to the "minimal" time each, i.e. to time ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\cdot, n_+)$. These points are marked in the left half of Figure 5.1 by a red circle. Then we map the points with Φ to time $n_+ - 1$, marked by a red square. Every point μ at time $n_+ - 1$, which satisfies $\langle \mu, S_{\Gamma}(n_+ - 1)\mu \rangle < 0$ is plotted in blue. Thus, every green point, which is connected to a blue point with a red square lies in A. Hence, the two green points encircled in black lie in A. The right panel of Figure 5.1 shows how we find all points in the set B. Therefore, we start by marking all vectors ξ , which satisfy ${}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n) = n$ for an $n \in [n_-, n_+ - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}$.



Figure 5.1: Example to illustrate that the sets A and B are not necessary the same sets.

These points are encircled in green. The next step is to map these points with Φ to time $n_+ - 1$, marked in the right half of Figure 5.1 by a red square. Again, all boundary points, which are connected to a blue point marked by a red square lie in B. Hence, the tree points encircled in black lie in B. We see that there exists one more point in the set B, highlighted in yellow, then in set A. This point is not part of a "maximal long" solution with decreasing norm. Thus, the point marked in yellow is not part of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_+)$. This implies that the representation of the stable cone can not be simplified with the help of set B.

M-Hyperbolicity and D-Hyperbolicity

Before we study various examples in Section 5.5 to see how stable and unstable cones can look like we prove that every D-hyperbolic system is also M-hyperbolic. To obtain this result implied by Theorem 5.4.2 we first show some properties of the dimensions of stable and unstable cones. Related results for the continuous time case can be found in [43, Theorem 14, Theorem 21 and Remark 16].

Lemma 5.4.1. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{I}$, $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$ and $\Gamma = \Gamma^{T} > 0$. Assume that equation (2.8) is D-hyperbolic ($\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$) resp. assume (A0) and that equation (2.7) is D-hyperbolic ($\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$). Then there exist subspaces

$$\{0\} \neq \bar{U} \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-) \text{ and } \{0\} \neq \bar{S} \subset \begin{cases} {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+-1), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

such that

$$\dim(\bar{U}) + \dim(\bar{S}) = k$$

holds. Further, there exist subspaces

$$\{0\} \neq U(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t) \text{ and } \{0\} \neq S(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$$

such that

$$U(t) \oplus S(t) = \mathbb{R}^k$$
 and $\dim(U(t)) = \dim(\overline{U}), \ \dim(S(t)) = \dim(\overline{S})$

hold for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

If (2.7) is not invertible then there exist subspaces

$$S'(t), N(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t) \text{ with } N(t) := \mathcal{N}(\Phi(t_+ - 1, t)) \neq \{0\}$$

such that

$$S(t) = S'(t) \oplus N(t), \ t \in \mathbb{I}_1.$$

Proof. By Definition 3.2.8 $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is symmetric for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. This yields that all eigenvalues lie in \mathbb{R} , see [5, p. 692]. The D-hyperbolicity of (2.7)/(2.8) implies that $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is nondegenerate for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, i.e. no eigenvalue of $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ equals 0. Additionally, the number of positive eigenvalues (0 < d < k) is constant in time. The definition of D-hyperbolicity yields this directly for the discrete case, whereas the same follows for the continuous time case by the continuity of $S_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$ and that $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is nondegenerate for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Define

$$\bar{t}_{+} := \begin{cases} t_{+}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ t_{+} - 1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Let μ_1, \ldots, μ_d denote the positive eigenvalues of $S_{\Gamma}(\bar{t}_+)$ and $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_d$ of $S_{\Gamma}(t_-)$. Further let μ_{d+1}, \ldots, μ_k denote the negative eigenvalues of $S_{\Gamma}(\bar{t}_+)$ and $\lambda_{d+1}, \ldots, \lambda_k$ of $S_{\Gamma}(t_-)$. Due to the symmetry of $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ there exist orthogonal matrices $Q, R \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ such that

$$S_{\Gamma}(t_{-}) = Q^{T} \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_{1}, \dots, \lambda_{k})Q,$$

$$S_{\Gamma}(\bar{t}_{+}) = R^{T} \operatorname{diag}(\mu_{1}, \dots, \mu_{k})R$$

With Proposition 5.3.1/5.3.4 we obtain

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t_{-}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{+}(t_{-}) = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| \langle \xi, Q^{T} \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_{1}, \dots, \lambda_{k})Q\xi \rangle > 0 \right\} \cup \{0\} \\ = \left\{ Q^{T}\xi \left| \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} : \langle \xi, \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_{1}, \dots, \lambda_{k})\xi \rangle > 0 \right\} \cup \{0\} \right\}$$

for $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ we get

$$^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(\bar{t}_{+}) = ^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(t_{+}) = \left\{ R^{T}\xi \middle| \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} : \langle \xi, \operatorname{diag}(\mu_{1}, \dots, \mu_{k})\xi \rangle < 0 \right\} \cup \{0\}$$

and for $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$ we have

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(\bar{t}_{+}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(t_{+}-1) = \left\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| \langle R\xi, \operatorname{diag}(\mu_{1}, \dots, \mu_{k})R\xi \rangle < 0 \right\} \cup \{0\} \\ = \left\{ R^{T}\xi \left| \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} : \langle \xi, \operatorname{diag}(\mu_{1}, \dots, \mu_{k})\xi \rangle < 0 \right\} \cup \{0\}.$$

By the orthogonality of Q, R and Lemma 4.2.1 it follows that

 $\bar{U} := \left\{ Q^T(\xi_1, \dots, \xi_d, 0, \dots, 0)^T \big| \xi_1, \dots, \xi_d \in \mathbb{R} \right\} \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_-)$

is a $d\text{-dimensional subspace of }^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-)$ and that

$$\bar{S} := \left\{ R^T(0, \dots, 0, \xi_{d+1}, \dots, \xi_k)^T \middle| \xi_{d+1}, \dots, \xi_k \in \mathbb{R} \right\} \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(\bar{t}_+)$$

is a (k-d)-dimensional subspace of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(\bar{t}_+)$. For the dimensions we obtain

$$\dim(\overline{U}) + \dim(\overline{S}) = d + (k - d) = k.$$

For invertible systems, Lemma 4.2.1 yields

$$U(t) := \Phi(t, t_{-})\bar{U} \subset \Phi(t, t_{-})^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t_{-}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t),$$

$$S(t) := \Phi(t, t_{+})\bar{S} \subset \Phi(t, t_{+})^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t_{+}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t)$$

for every $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Hence, we see

$$\{0\} \subset U(t) \cap S(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t) = \{0\}.$$

Since $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ is nonsingular for invertible systems the dimension of U(t) and S(t) equals the dimension of \overline{U} and \overline{S} , respectively. Combining these results we get

$$\dim(U(t) + S(t)) = \dim(U(t)) + \dim(S(t)) - \dim(U(t) \cap S(t))$$

= $\dim(\bar{U}) + \dim(\bar{S}) - \dim(\{0\}) = k.$

This leads to $S(t) \oplus U(t) = \mathbb{R}^k$ for every $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

If (2.6) is noninvertible we find for all $t \in \mathbb{I}_2$ a subspace

$$S'(t) = \{ \bar{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^k | \Phi(t_+ - 1, t) \bar{\xi} := R^T (0, \dots, 0, \xi_{d+1}, \dots, \xi_k)^T, \\ \xi_i \in \mathbb{R} \text{ for } i \in \{ d+1, \dots, k \} \text{ and not all } \xi_i = 0 \} \cup \{ 0 \} \\ \subset^{\mathbb{I}} \bar{V}_s(t)$$

with

$$\dim(S'(t)) = k - d - \dim(\mathcal{N}(\Phi(t_+ - 1, t))), \tag{5.53}$$

$$S'(t) \cap \mathcal{N}(\Phi(t_+ - 1, t)) = \{0\}.$$
(5.54)

We observe that

$$\Phi(t+1,t)S'(t) \subset S'(t+1)$$
 and $\Phi(t_+-1,t_+-2)S'(t_+-2) \subset \bar{S}$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}_3$. This implies

$$S'(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}_1$. Lemma 4.2.1 leads to

$$U(t) := \Phi(t, t_-) \overline{U} \subset \Phi(t, t_-)^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_-) = {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t)$$

and by Lemma 5.3.3 and (4.21) we obtain

$$U(t) \cap (S'(t) \oplus N(\Phi(t_{+} - 1, t)) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t) = \{0\}$$
(5.55)

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}_1$ and further we get

$$d = \dim(\overline{U}) = \dim(\Phi(t, t_-)\overline{U}) + \dim(\mathcal{N}(\Phi(t, t_-)) \cap \overline{U})$$
$$= \dim(U(t)) + 0 = \dim(U(t))$$
(5.56)

Combining (5.53) and (5.56) we have for every $t \in \mathbb{I}_1$

$$\dim(S'(t)) + \dim(\mathcal{N}(\Phi(t_+ - 1, t))) + \dim(U(t))$$

= k - d - dim($\mathcal{N}(\Phi(t_+ - 1, t))$) + dim($\mathcal{N}(\Phi(t_+ - 1, t))$) + d = k.

This together with (5.54), (5.55) implies for all $t \in \mathbb{I}_1$

$$U(t) \oplus S'(t) \oplus N(t) = \mathbb{R}^k,$$

where $N(t) = \mathcal{N}(\Phi(t_+ - 1, t))$. For t_+ and noninvertible systems we have ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+) = \mathbb{R}^k$. Thus, there exist a subspace $S \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ such that $U(t_+) \oplus S = \mathbb{R}^k$ holds.

Finally we show that every D-hyperbolic system is also M-hyperbolic. This result can be found in [43, Corollary 22] for continuous ft-systems. Doan, Palmer and Siegmund additionally proved in [43, Theorem 21] that every continuous dynamical system is M-hyperbolic if the system is either attracting, repelling or quasihyperbolic, see Proposition 5.4.3.

Theorem 5.4.2. Let $\mathbb{T} \in {\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Let $\Gamma = \Gamma^{T} > 0$ and assume for the continuous case (A0). Let system (2.6) generated by (2.7)/(2.8) be D-hyperbolic w.r.t. the Γ -norm. Then system (2.6) is *M*-hyperbolic w.r.t. the Γ -norm.

Proof. By Lemma 5.4.1 there exist subspaces $S(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$ and $U(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ with $S(t) \oplus U(t) = \mathbb{R}^k$. Define the family of projectors by

$$\mathcal{R}(P(t)) := \begin{cases} \Phi(t, t_{-})S(t_{-}), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \begin{cases} S(t_{-}), & \text{for } t = t_{-}, \\ \Phi(t, t-1)\mathcal{R}(P(t-1)) + W(t), & \text{for } t > t_{-} \end{cases}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \\ \subset {}^{\mathbb{T}}V_{s}(t), \end{cases}$$

where $W(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$ such that

$$\dim(\mathcal{R}(P(t))) = \dim(S(t))$$

and by

$$\mathcal{N}(P(t)) := \Phi(t, t_{-})U(t_{-}) \subset \Phi(t, t_{-})^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_{-}) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t)$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Then Lemma 2.2.5 yields that this family is invariant, since $\dim(\mathcal{N}(P(t))) = \dim(U(t_{-})) = k - \dim(S(t_{-})) = k - \dim(\mathcal{R}(P(t)))$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Thus, by Lemma 4.2.3 system (2.6) is M-hyperbolic.

Corollary 5.4.3. Let $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$, $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$. Assume **(A0)**. If system (2.4) is repelling, attracting, hyperbolic or quasihyperbolic according to Definition 5.2.6 then it is also M-hyperbolic.

Proof. If $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is positive (negative) definite, then we directly obtain by (3.16) that there exists an $\alpha > 0$ ($\beta > 0$) such that $\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\|_{\Gamma} \leq e^{\alpha(t-s)} \|\xi\|_{\Gamma}$ ($\|\Phi(t,s)\xi\|_{\Gamma} \leq e^{-\beta(t-s)} \|\xi\|_{\Gamma}$) is satisfied for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$, $t,s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s$ ($t \leq s$), since \mathbb{I} is a compact interval. Thus, system (2.4) is M-hyperbolic.

Otherwise if (2.4) is hyperbolic then Theorem 5.4.2 implies the M-hyperbolicity of (2.4).

For quasihyperbolic systems analog statements as the ones in Proposition 5.3.1 exist, see [43, Proposition 20], and the M-hyperbolicity follows similar to Theorem 5.4.2. For a proof we refer to [43, Theorem 21]. \Box

Examples of 2-Dimensional D-Hyperbolic Systems

In this section we study different types of two-dimensional D-hyperbolic ftsystems and plot their stable and unstable cones. The stable and unstable subspaces of the extended ift-system on \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{Z} are pictured for comparison in addition. We start with continuous autonomous time systems and move on with a nonautonomous continuous ft-system.

For discrete systems it is possible that the solution operator is not invertible. Therefore, we plot the cones of two invertible and of one noninvertible discrete autonomous time systems as well as of one nonautonomous noninvertible ft-system. In the next section we analyze the width of the cones. Meanwhile, we have an eye on the decay of the boundary distance in the following examples.

Example 5.5.1. Consider the system

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x} \\ \dot{y} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -4 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} =: A \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.57)

for $t \in \mathbb{I} = [0, \pi]$ and let Γ be the identity. We see that $A \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}^{2\times 2})$ and we obtain that the symmetric strain tensor, defined in Definition 3.2.8, $S = S(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -4 \end{pmatrix}$ is indefinite and nondegenerate for each $t \in \mathbb{I}$. The matrix $M(t) = SA + AS = 2A^2 = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 32 \end{pmatrix}$, defined in Definition 5.2.1, is positive definite. Hence, the system is D-hyperbolic and Proposition 5.3.1 applies. The solution operator of (5.57) is

$$\Phi(t,s) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{t-s} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-4(t-s)} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Solving
$$\langle \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}, S \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \rangle = 0$$
 we get $|x| = 2|y|$. This leads for every $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ to
 ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} e^{t_0 - \pi} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{-4(t_0 - \pi)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2 \Big| |x| < 2|y| \right\} \cup \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\},$
 ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} e^{t_0} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{-4(t_0)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2 \Big| |x| > 2|y| \right\} \cup \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$

These cones are illustrated in Figure 5.2. In the left chart the green dashed lines show parts of the boundary of the stable cone, while the red dashed lines represent a part of the boundary of the unstable cone. The green (red) lines display all points on the boundary of the stable (unstable) cone with norm 0.5. Since the cones are symmetric it suffices to study one half-cone each. They are plotted in the right diagram of Figure 5.2 (green, red). For comparison the stable and unstable subspaces $\mathbb{R}V_s$ (blue) and $\mathbb{R}V_u$ (yellow) of the ift-system (5.57) for $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$ are additionally presented in the right figure.

We see that the stable subspace ${}^{\mathbb{R}}V_s$ lies inside the stable cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s$ and ${}^{\mathbb{R}}V_u$ is a subset of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u$. This underlines the theory, since A is diagonal, cf. Corollary 5.1.3.

Further, we notice that the width of the boundary of the stable cone decreases in backward time while the width of the boundary of the unstable cone decreases in forward time.

This implies the questions:



Figure 5.2: Stable (green) and unstable (red) cone of the ft-system (5.57). In the right graph only one half of each cone is plotted. In addition, we displayed in the right figure one half of each stable (blue) and unstable (yellow) subspace of the ift-system (5.57) on $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$.

- How fast decreases the width of the boundaries of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s$ and of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u$?
- How does the decay of the width of the boundaries depend on the system?

For a first answer we compare the cones of system (5.57) with the ones of

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x} \\ \dot{y} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & -8 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} = 2A \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.58)

 $t \in \mathbb{I} = [0, \pi]$. The D-hyperbolicity of system (5.58) (w.r.t. the identity norm) follows straight away, since the generating matrices of (5.58) and (5.57) only differ by the factor 2. In Figure 5.3 we plotted in the left the cones of system (5.57) and in the right the cones of system (5.58).

For an exact comparison of the decay of the width of the boundaries we create a table, where we note the angles of the cones at different times. Therefore, denote by $\tau_{s,u}^1(t)$ the angle of the stable and unstable t-cone of system (5.57) and by $\tau_{s,u}^2(t)$ the angle of the t-cones of system (5.58). In Table 5.1 the angles of the cones of system (5.57) and (5.58) are presented for 8 different times.

The stable t_+ -cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ as well as the unstable t_- -cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-)$ are the same for both systems. However, we see in Figure 5.3 that the width of the cones of system (5.58) decays faster than the width of the cones of system (5.57). Table 5.1 yields that the angle of the (un)stable t-cones of system (5.58) decays in backward (forward) time twice as fast as the angle of the (un)stable t-cones of system (5.57). By definition of the angle the same properties hold for the width.



Figure 5.3: Stable (green) and unstable (red) cone of system (5.57) (left) and of system (5.58) (right).

	$t_{-} = 0$	$t = \frac{\pi}{40}$	$t = \frac{2\pi}{40}$	$t = \frac{4\pi}{40}$	$t = \frac{36\pi}{40}$	$t = \frac{38\pi}{40}$	$t = \frac{39\pi}{40}$	$t_+ = \pi$
τ_s^1	1.9a	2.8a	4.2a	9.2a	0.25π	0.47π	0.59π	0.70π
τ_s^2	0	0	0	0	0.055π	0.25π	0.47	0.70π
$ au_u^1$	0.30π	0.21π	0.14π	0.070π	2.3a	1.0a	7.1a	4.8a
τ_u^2	0.30π	0.14π	0.070π	0.014π	0	0	0	0

Table 5.1: Angle of the stable and unstable *t*-cones of system (5.57) $(\tau_{s,u}^1(t))$ and of (5.58) $(\tau_{s,u}^2(t))$ rounded to mantissa size two, where $a = \pi 10^{-7}$.

The matrix functions defining systems (5.57) and (5.58) differ by the factor 2. Hence, their eigenvalues differ by the factor 2 as well. Thus, we expect that the decay of the width of the stable and unstable cones depends on the eigenvalues of the matrix defining the autonomous system. The width of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ and the width of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-)$ just depends on the relations of the eigenvalues, since the angles and thus the width of each of this cones is the same for both systems (5.57) and (5.58).

Form these observations we deduce our first conjectures that turn out to be wrong in general:

- The decay of the width of the cones depends on the eigenvalues of the matrix defining the autonomous system.
- The width of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ and the width of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-)$ just depend on the relations of these eigenvalues.

In Section 5.6 we analyze the behavior of the width of the cones. We prove in Lemma 5.6.5 that the angle of the cones of system (5.58) decays twice as fast as the angle of the cones of system (5.57) in the right time direction. Further we show that the decay is *d*-times faster if the defining matrix differ by the factor d. Before we start with the theoretical part, we have a look at a few more examples. The next one shows that the stable and unstable subspaces of an ift-system do not have to lie in the exact center of the cones of a shortened ft-system.

Example 5.5.2. Consider the system

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x} \\ \dot{y} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & q \\ 0 & -4 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} =: A \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}, \ q \in \mathbb{N}_0$$
(5.59)

for $t \in \mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$. Let Γ be the identity. Then the symmetric strain tensor

$$S = S(t) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\begin{pmatrix} 1 & q \\ 0 & -4 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ q & -4 \end{pmatrix} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \frac{q}{2} \\ \frac{q}{2} & -4 \end{pmatrix}$$

has the eigenvalues $\lambda_1 := \frac{-3+\sqrt{25+q^2}}{2} > 0$ and $\lambda_2 := \frac{-3-\sqrt{25+q^2}}{2} < 0$ and is indefinite and nondegenerate for every $t \in \mathbb{I}$ and $q \in \mathbb{N}_0$. The strain acceleration tensor is

$$M = M(t) = SA + A^{T}S = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -\frac{q}{2} \\ -\frac{q}{2} & 32 + q^{2} \end{pmatrix}$$

The eigenvalues are $\frac{34+q^2\pm\sqrt{(34+q^2)^2-256-7q^2}}{2} > 0$ and the matrix M is positive definite for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ and $q \in \mathbb{N}_0$. This means that system (5.59) is D-hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} . The matrix A has $\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$ as an eigenvector to the eigenvalue 1 and $\begin{pmatrix} q \\ -5 \end{pmatrix}$ as an eigenvector to -4. Then the solution operator is given by

$$\Phi(t,s) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & q \\ 0 & -5 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} e^{t-s} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{-4(t-s)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \frac{q}{5} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{5} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{t-s} & \frac{q}{5}(e^{t-s} - e^{-4(t-s)}) \\ 0 & e^{-4(t-s)} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Next we solve $\langle \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}, S \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \rangle = 0, i.e.$

$$0 = x^{2} + qxy - 4y^{2} = x^{2} + qxy + \frac{q^{2}}{4}y^{2} - \frac{q^{2}}{4}y^{2} - 4y^{2} = \left(x + \frac{q}{2}y\right)^{2} - \frac{16 + q^{2}}{4}y^{2}$$

Bringing $\frac{16+q^2}{4}y^2$ to the other side, taking the square root and solving the equation for x we get $x = \frac{-q \pm \sqrt{16+q^2}}{2}y$. This leads by (5.24), (5.25) to

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t_{0}) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} e^{t_{0}-1} & \frac{q}{5}(e^{t_{0}-1}-e^{-4(t_{0}-1)})\\ 0 & e^{-4(t_{0}-1)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x\\ y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2} \middle| c_{1}x < y < c_{2}x \right\} \cup \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\},$$
$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t_{0}) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} e^{t_{0}} & \frac{q}{5}(e^{t_{0}}-e^{-4(t_{0})})\\ 0 & e^{-4(t_{0})} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x\\ y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2} \middle| c_{2}x < y < c_{1}x \right\} \cup \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}$$

for every $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ with $c_1 := \frac{2}{-q + \sqrt{16 + q^2}}$ and $c_2 := \frac{2}{-q - \sqrt{16 + q^2}}$.

We have two purposes. We like to show that the stable and unstable subspaces do not lie in the exact center of the stable and unstable cone, respectively. Additionally, we are interested in the decay of the width of the boundaries.

For the first aim let $\mathbb{I} = [0,1]$ and q = 1. In Figure 5.4 one half-cone of the stable cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s$ (green) and unstable cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u$ (red) are illustrated by their boundaries up to a size of norm 1. The stable subspace ${}^{\mathbb{R}}V_s$ of the ift-system (5.59) for $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$ is colored in blue while the unstable subspace ${}^{\mathbb{R}}V_u$ is yellow. In the right part of Figure 5.4 the cones and subspaces are projected to the x - y-plane. Thus, we see where the subspaces of (5.59) are located inside the cones.



Figure 5.4: One half of the stable ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s$ (green) and unstable ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u$ (red) cone of system (5.59) with q = 1 together with one half of the stable ${}^{\mathbb{R}}V_s$ (blue) and unstable ${}^{\mathbb{R}}V_u$ (yellow) subspace of the same system for $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$ are illustrated. The right picture is a projection to the x - y-plane of the left figure.

In contrast to the first example (5.57) (Figure 5.2) the subspaces of the expended ift-system are not located in the exact center of the cones. This can easily be seen, since they are not orthogonal towards each other.

For analyzing the decay of the width of the cones of system (5.59) for different q let $\mathbb{I} = [0, \pi]$ as in example (5.57). Denote by $\tau_{s,u}^q(t)$ the angle of the t-cones of system (5.59), where $q \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 10\}$. Note that system (5.59) with q = 0 equals system (5.57). In Table 5.2 the angles $\tau_{s,u}^q(\cdot)$ are each presented for 6 different times and are rounded to mantissa size two. Denote by λ_{approx} an approximation of λ from

$$\tau_{s,u}^q(t_0)e^{\lambda(t_1-t_0)} \ge \tau_{s,u}^q(t_1), \ t_0, t_1 \in \mathbb{I}, t_0 \le t_1.$$

Therefore, we approximate $\ln(\tau_{s,u}^q(t)) = \lambda t + d$ with the MATLAB-function **polyfit** for t from 0 in 200 steps up to π . In the last column the approximated growth or decay rate λ_{approx} is notated with mantissa size four.

	$t_{-} = 0$	$t = \frac{\pi}{20}$	$t = \frac{2\pi}{20}$	$t = \frac{18\pi}{20}$	$t = \frac{19\pi}{20}$	$t_+ = \pi$	$\lambda_{ m approx}$
$ au_u^0$	0.295π	0.143π	0.0659π	2.31a	1.05a	0.481a	-4.996
$ au_u^1$	0.300π	0.143π	0.0658π	$2.29a\pi$	1.04a	0.472a	-4.999
$ au_u^2$	0.312π	0.145π	0.0650π	2.22a	1.01a	0.457a	-5.007
$ au_u^3$	0.328π	0.145π	0.0633π	2.12a	0.965a	0.437a	-5.018
$ au_u^4$	0.345π	0.143π	0.0607π	1.99a	0.906a	0.408a	-5.031
$ au_u^5$	0.361π	0.140π	0.0575π	1.84a	0.840a	0.376a	-5.043
$ au_u^6$	0.375π	0.135π	0.0540π	1.70a	0.775a	0.352a	-5.054
$ au_u^{10}$	0.414π	0.111π	0.0410π	1.24a	0.563a	0.251a	-5.088
$ au_s^0$	1.92a	4.21 <i>a</i>	9.23a	0.251π	0.471π	0.705π	4.951
$ au_s^1$	1.90 <i>a</i>	4.17a	9.15a	0.245π	0.461π	0.700π	4.948
τ_s^2	1.85a	4.06 <i>a</i>	8.90a	0.229π	0.436π	0.688π	4.940
$ au_s^3$	1.76a	3.87a	8.48a	0.209π	0.402π	0.672π	4.932
τ_s^4	1.66a	3.63a	7.96a	0.188π	0.366π	0.655π	4.924
$ au_s^5$	1.54a	3.37a	7.39a	0.168π	0.332π	0.640π	4.919
$ au_s^6$	$\overline{1.42a}$	3.11a	6.82a	0.151π	0.301π	0.626π	4.915
$ au_s^{10}$	1.03a	2.27a	4.97a	0.104π	0.210π	0.587π	4.912

Table 5.2: Angles of the stable and unstable cones τ_u^q of system (5.59) on $\mathbb{I} = [0, \pi]$ for $q \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 10\}$ and approximated growth and decay rate λ_{approx} .

We see that the angle of the unstable t_{-} -cones increases for greater q and that the angle of the stable t_{+} -cone decreases. Further, we see that the approximated decay rate is increasing in absolute value and that the approximated growth rate is decreasing when q increases.

This example shows that our conjecture that the decay of the width of the cones depends on the eigenvalues of the defining matrix (A) is generally not correct, otherwise the approximated decay rates would have been the same for all q. Thus, we conjecture that the decay of the width depends on the eigenvalues of the symmetric part $(S := \frac{1}{2}(A + A^T))$ of the matrix (A) defining the autonomous system, since they are quite close to the eigenvalues of the defining matrix (A), but they differ a little bit for different q. Having a look at the first column of Table 5.2 we see that the angle of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-)$ varies for $q \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 10\}$. Our first idea about these angles needs to be improved as well.

Our revised conjectures are:

- The decay of the width depends on the eigenvalues of the symmetric part $(S := \frac{1}{2}(A + A^T))$ of the matrix (A) defining the autonomous system.
- The width of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-)$ and the width of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ depend on the

relation of the eigenvalues of the symmetric part.

In Lemma 5.6.1 we prove this conjectures. Next, we study an nonautonomous ft-system. We construct a nonautonomous ft-system by rotating the autonomous system (5.57). We expect that the decay of the width stays the same, since a rotation leads to a similar strain tensor and thus, the eigenvalues are invariant under this transformation.

Example 5.5.3. Let $D = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(t) & -\sin(t) \\ \sin(t) & \cos(t) \end{pmatrix}$ and $A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -4 \end{pmatrix}$. Further, let u(t) be a solution of equation (5.57) for $t \in \mathbb{I} = [0, \pi]$. Then v(t) = D(t)u(t) is a solution of the nonautonomous system

$$\dot{v}(t) = \dot{D}(t)u(t) + D(t)\dot{u}(t) = [\dot{D}(t) + D(t)A]u(t) = [\dot{D}(t) + D(t)A]D^{T}(t)v(t)$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} \cos^{2}(t) - 4\sin^{2}(t) & 5\sin(t)\cos(t) - 1\\ 5\sin(t)\cos(t) + 1 & \sin^{2}(t) - 4\cos^{2}(t) \end{pmatrix} v(t) =: \tilde{A}(t)v(t)$$
(5.60)

for $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Let $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ then the solution operator is

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\Phi}(t,s) &= D(t)e^{At}e^{A(-s)}D(s)^T \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{c}(t)\mathfrak{c}(s)e^{t-s} + \mathfrak{s}(t)\mathfrak{s}(s)e^{-4(t-s)} & \mathfrak{c}(t)\mathfrak{s}(s)e^{t-s} - \mathfrak{s}(t)\mathfrak{c}(s)e^{-4(t-s)} \\ \mathfrak{s}(t)\mathfrak{c}(s)e^{t-s} - \mathfrak{c}(t)\mathfrak{s}(s)e^{-4(t-s)} & \mathfrak{s}(t)\mathfrak{s}(s)e^{t-s} + \mathfrak{c}(t)\mathfrak{c}(s)e^{-4(t-s)} \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

with $\mathfrak{c} = \cos$ and $\mathfrak{s} = \sin$. For the strain tensor we get for every $t \in \mathbb{I}$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{S}(t) &= \frac{1}{2} [\tilde{A}(t) + \tilde{A}^{T}(t)] = \frac{1}{2} [\dot{D}(t) + D(t)A] D^{T}(t) + D(t) [\dot{D}^{T}(t) + A^{T}(t)D^{T}(t)] \\ &= \frac{1}{2} [\dot{D}(t)D^{T}(t) + D(t)\dot{D}^{T}(t) + D(t)[A + A^{T}]D^{T}(t)] \\ &= D(t) [\frac{1}{2} [A + A^{T}] D^{T}(t) = D(t)SD^{T}(t) \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} \cos^{2}(t) - 4\sin^{2}(t) & 5\sin(t)\cos(t) \\ 5\sin(t)\cos(t) & \sin^{2}(t) - 4\cos^{2}(t) \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$

since for every differentiable $D^T = D^{-1}$ holds

$$\dot{D}(t)D^{T}(t) + D(t)\dot{D}^{T}(t) = 0.$$
 (5.61)

Thus $\tilde{S}(t)$ and S are similar for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. This means the eigenvalues are the same and we obtain that $\tilde{S}(t)$ is indefinite and nondegenerate for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. With equation (5.61) the strain acceleration tensor satisfies for every $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{M}(t) &= \dot{\tilde{S}}(t) + \tilde{S}(t)\tilde{A}(t) + \tilde{A}^{T}(t)\tilde{S}(t) \\ &= \dot{D}(t)SD^{T}(t) + D(t)S\dot{D}^{T}(t) + D(t)SD^{T}(t)\dot{D}(t)D^{T}(t) + D(t)SAD^{T}(t) \\ &+ D(t)\dot{D}^{T}(t)D(t)SD^{T}(t) + D(t)A^{T}SD^{T}(t) \\ &= \dot{D}(t)SD^{T}(t) + D(t)S\dot{D}^{T}(t) - D(t)S\dot{D}^{T}(t) - \dot{D}(t)SD^{T}(t) \\ &+ D(t)[SA + A^{T}S]D^{T}(t) \\ &= D(t)MD^{T}(t). \end{split}$$

This establishes that M(t) is positive definite for every $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Thus, the rotated system (5.60) is still D-hyperbolic w.r.t. the identity norm. The stable cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s$ and the unstable cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u$ of system (5.60) are plotted in Figure 5.5. The right panel shows one half-cone of each cone together with one half of each stable ${}^{\mathbb{R}}V_s$ and unstable subspace ${}^{\mathbb{R}}V_u$ of the extended ift-system (5.60) on $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$. The boundaries and the subspaces for all times $t \in \mathbb{I} = [0, \pi]$ are plotted up to a vector-length of 0.5.



Figure 5.5: Stable (green) and unstable (red) cone of system (5.60). In the right panel one half-cone of each cone is plotted and together with one half of the stable (blue) and unstable (black) subspace of (5.60) for $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$.

We observe that the cones of this system rotate around the (0, 0, t)-axis and the subspaces are still included in the exact center. For the original and rotated systems the angle and the position of the stable t_+ -cone and unstable t_- -cone are identical. As well, the decay of the angles stays the same only the position of the t-cones $(t \neq t_+, t \neq t_-)$ differs.

As conjectured the decay of the angles does not change by rotating the system, which is a nonautonomous similarity transformation. Next, we study discrete time systems and start with the invertible case.

Example 5.5.4. Consider the systems

$$\begin{pmatrix} x(n+1)\\ y(n+1) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0\\ 0 & 0.5 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x(n)\\ y(n) \end{pmatrix} =: A \begin{pmatrix} x(n)\\ y(n) \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.62)

$$\begin{pmatrix} x(n+1)\\ y(n+1) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 4 & 0\\ 0 & 0.25 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x(n)\\ y(n) \end{pmatrix} =: A^2 \begin{pmatrix} x(n)\\ y(n) \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.63)

for all $n\in\mathbb{I}=[0,8]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and let Γ be the identity. Then the symmetric strain tensor

$$S = S(n) = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{3}{4} \end{pmatrix}, & of \ system \ (5.62), \\ \begin{pmatrix} 15 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{15}{16} \end{pmatrix}, & of \ system \ (5.63) \end{cases}$$

is indefinite and nondegenerate for all $n \in \mathbb{I}$. The matrix

$$M(n) = A^{T}SA - S = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} 9 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{9}{16} \end{pmatrix}, & of system (5.62), \\ \begin{pmatrix} 15^{2} & 0 \\ 0 & \left(\frac{15}{16}\right)^{2} \end{pmatrix}, & of system (5.63) \end{cases}$$

is positive definite. Thus, the given systems (5.62) and (5.63) are D-hyperbolic and Corollary 5.3.5 applies. The solution operator is

$$\Phi(n,m) = A^{n-m} = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} 2^{n-m} & 0\\ 0 & \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{n-m} \\ 4^{n-m} & 0\\ 0 & \left(\frac{1}{4}\right)^{n-m} \end{pmatrix}, & of system (5.63). \end{cases}$$

Solving $\langle \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}, S \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \rangle = 0$ we get

$$|x| = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}|y|, & \text{for system (5.62),} \\ \frac{1}{4}|y|, & \text{for system (5.63).} \end{cases}$$

This leads for every $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ to

In the Figure 5.6 these cones are illustrated. For a clearer picture we only plotted one half-cone each. In the left part of Figure 5.6 the cones of system (5.62) are presented and in the right part we plotted the cones of system (5.63) for comparison. The green (red) lines show the boundaries of the (un)stable cone at each time $0, 1, 2, \ldots, 8$ up to a vector length of 0.5. The dashed lines illustrate the decrease of the angle between the boundaries. We observe that



Figure 5.6: One of the stable ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s$ (green) and one of the unstable ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u$ (red) half-cone of system (5.62) in the left and of system (5.63) on the right.

the decrease of the angle of the cones of system (5.63) is faster then the one

of the angle of the cones of system (5.62). We expect that the decrease of the right cones is twice as fast as of the left cones. For accurate data we calculate the angles for all times and present them with mantissa size three in Table 5.3. There, $\tau_{s,u}^1$ denotes the angle of the stable and unstable cone of system (5.62) and $\tau_{s,u}^2$ of system (5.63). Further, we denote by λ_{approx} an approximation of λ from

$$\tau_{s,u}^{i}(n_{0})e^{\lambda(n_{1}-n_{0})} \geq \tau_{s,u}^{i}(n_{1}), n_{0}, n_{1} \in \mathbb{I}, n_{0} \leq n_{1}, \ i \in \{1,2\}.$$

Therefore, we approximate $\ln(\tau_{s,u}^1(n)) = \lambda n + d$ with the MATLAB-function **polyfit** for $n \in [0,8]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $\ln(\tau_s^2(n)) = \lambda n + d$ for $n \in [1,8]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $\ln(\tau_u^2(n)) = \lambda n + d$ for $n \in [0,7]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. We see that the angles of both systems are different for

t	$ au_s^1$	$ au_s^2$	$ au_u^1$	$ au_u^2$
0	$1.94 \cdot 10^{-5}$	0	$7.05 \cdot 10^{-1}$	$8.44 \cdot 10^{-1}$
1	$7.77 \cdot 10^{-5}$	$9.49 \cdot 10^{-9}$	$2.95 \cdot 10^{-1}$	$1.56 \cdot 10^{-1}$
2	$3.11 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$1.52 \cdot 10^{-7}$	$7.92 \cdot 10^{-2}$	$9.95 \cdot 10^{-3}$
3	$1.24 \cdot 10^{-3}$	$2.43 \cdot 10^{-6}$	$1.99 \cdot 10^{-2}$	$6.22 \cdot 10^{-4}$
4	$4.97 \cdot 10^{-3}$	$3.89 \cdot 10^{-5}$	$4.97 \cdot 10^{-3}$	$3.89 \cdot 10^{-5}$
5	$1.99 \cdot 10^{-2}$	$6.22 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$1.24 \cdot 10^{-3}$	$2.43 \cdot 10^{-6}$
6	$7.92 \cdot 10^{-2}$	$9.95 \cdot 10^{-3}$	$3.11 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$1.52 \cdot 10^{-7}$
7	$2.95 \cdot 10^{-1}$	$1.56 \cdot 10^{-1}$	$7.77 \cdot 10^{-5}$	$9.49 \cdot 10^{-9}$
8	$7.05 \cdot 10^{-1}$	$8.44 \cdot 10^{-1}$	$1.94 \cdot 10^{-5}$	0
$\lambda_{ m approx}$	1.34	2.68	-1.34	-2.68

Table 5.3: The angle of the stable and unstable cone of system (5.62) $(\tau_{s,u}^1)$ and of system (5.63) $(\tau_{s,u}^2)$.

all times, but the decay and growth rate of system (5.63) is twice the decay and growth rate of system (5.62).

In Lemma 5.6.1 we show, that the angles of the stable and unstable cone depend on S_{Γ} . For continuous systems we obtain by (3.16) that $\langle x(\cdot), S_{\Gamma}(\cdot)x(\cdot)\rangle$ is equivalent to the gradient of the solution $x(\cdot) \in \mathbb{R}^k$. Therefore, it does not make a difference whether we take one or two infinitesimal time steps. On the contrary $\langle x(\cdot), S_{\Gamma}(\cdot)x(\cdot)\rangle$ displays for discrete systems the change of the length of $x(\cdot)$ in one step and obviously it does play a role if we take one or two steps.

For an illustration we show this behavior for a solution $x(\cdot)$ pictured in Figure 5.7 of a dynamical system defined on $\mathbb{I} = [1,9]$. We see that ||x(2)|| >||x(1)||, whereas $||x(n+2)|| \le ||x(n)||$ for all $n \in \mathbb{I}$. This means that $x(1) \in \mathbb{I}V_s^2(1)$ and $x(1) \notin \mathbb{I}V_s^1(1)$, where $\mathbb{I}V_s^{1,2}(1)$ denotes the stable cone of the "one step/two steps moving" system. Thus $\mathbb{I}V_s^2(1) \subset \mathbb{I}V_s^1(1)$. Generally, the angle of the stable cone increases if the number of steps increases. This explains why the angle of the stable cone at time n = 8 of system (5.62) is smaller than the corresponding angle of system (5.63). 5 Explicit Representations of (Un)Stable Subspaces and Cones



Figure 5.7: An example for illustrating that the angle of a systems changes if the system goes two steps instead of one step at the same time.

Finally, we turn our attention to noninvertible discrete systems.

Example 5.5.5. Consider the system

$$\begin{pmatrix} x(n+1)\\ y(n+1) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x(n)\\ y(n) \end{pmatrix} =: B \begin{pmatrix} x(n)\\ y(n) \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.64)

for $n \in \mathbb{I} = [0,3]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and let Γ be the identity. Then the symmetric strain tensor $S = S(n) = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$ of system (5.64) is indefinite and nondegenerate for all $n \in \mathbb{I}$. The matrix $M = M(n) = B^T S B - S = \begin{pmatrix} 9 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ is positive definite. Thus, the given system (5.62) is D-hyperbolic and Corollary 5.3.5 applies. The solution operator is for $m, n \in \mathbb{I}$ with $n \geq m$ given by

$$\Phi(n,m) = B^{n-m} = \begin{pmatrix} 2^{n-m} & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Solving $\langle \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix}, S \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \rangle = 0$ we get $\sqrt{3}|x| = |y|$. Hence, we have $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^2 | \langle \xi, S\xi \rangle < 0\} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2 | \sqrt{3}|x| < |y| \right\},$ $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^2 | \langle \xi, S\xi \rangle > 0\} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2 | \sqrt{3}|x| > |y| \right\},$ $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^2 | \langle B^i\xi, SB^i\xi \rangle < 0\} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2 | \sqrt{3}|2^ix| < 0 \right\} = \emptyset$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and

$$\begin{split} \left\{ \Phi(n_{+}, n_{+} - 1)\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \exists \mu \in \mathbb{R}^{k}, \Phi(n_{+}, n_{+} - 1)\xi = \Phi(n_{+}, \bar{n})\mu, \\ \bar{n} &= {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_{+} - 1) : \langle \xi, S\xi \rangle < 0 \right\} \\ &= \left\{ \left. \begin{pmatrix} 2x \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2} \middle| \exists \mu \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}\left(\begin{pmatrix} 2x \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, n_{+} - 1 \right) = \mathcal{L}\left(\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right), \\ x \in \mathbb{R} : \sqrt{3}|x| < 0 \right\} \\ &= \emptyset. \end{split}$$

The range $\mathcal{R}(\Phi(n_+, n_+ - 1)) = \mathcal{R}(B) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2 \middle| y = 0 \right\}$ yields for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_1$

$$\mathcal{R}(\Phi(n_+, n_+ - 1))^C = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^2 \middle|_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_+) = n_+ \right\} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2 \middle| y \neq 0 \right\},$$
$$\mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_+, n_0)) = \mathcal{N}(B^{n_+ - n_0}) = \mathcal{N}\left(\begin{pmatrix} 2^{n_+ - n_0} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2 \middle| x = 0 \right\}.$$

By Corollary 5.3.5 and the above statements the cones satisfy for all $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}_2 = [n_-, n_+ - 2]_{\mathbb{Z}}, n_1 \in \mathbb{I}$

$$\begin{split} {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{+}) &= \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x\\y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2} \middle| y \neq 0 \right\} \cup \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}, \\ {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{+}) &= \mathbb{R}^{k}, \\ {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{+}-1) &= \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x\\y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2} \middle| \sqrt{3} |x| < |y| \right\} \cup \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x\\y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2} \middle| x = 0 \right\} \\ &= \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x\\y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2} \middle| \sqrt{3} |x| < |y| \right\} \cup \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}, \\ {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{0}) &= \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x\\y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2} \middle| x = 0 \right\}, \\ {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(n_{1}) &= \left\{ B^{n_{1}-n_{-}} \begin{pmatrix} x\\y \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2} \middle| \sqrt{3} |x| > |y| \right\} \cup \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}. \end{split}$$

In Figure 5.8 these cones are illustrated. The fixed point 0 is marked for each time by a black ball.

Estimates for the Width of (Un)Stable Cones in 2-Dimensional Systems

For cones, the width and its change in time are of interest. For linear systems the width depends on the eigenvalues of the symmetric part of the defining



Figure 5.8: The stable (green) and unstable (red) cones of system (5.64).

matrix. The width of stable cones is decreasing in backward time in relation to the negative eigenvalues, while the width of unstable cones is decreasing in forward time in relation to the positive eigenvalues. In this section we concentrate the study on 2-dimensional systems. In Section 5.7 we present and prove estimates of the width of the (un)stable cone in 3 or higher dimensional systems (finite dimensional). The angle and the width of a cone is only defined for connected cones. In this thesis we restrict the study of the width of (un)stable cones to invertible systems. In Corollary 5.3.2 and Corollary 5.3.5 we proved that these cones are open connected double-cones. Note that the results of the unstable cones in discrete invertible M-hyperbolic systems also apply to noninvertible M-hyperbolic (regular) systems. The following lemma characterizes the zero strain set of a linear system, which leads with Corollary 5.3.2 and Corollary 5.3.5 to the boundaries of the stable and unstable cones. A similar statement for continuous systems can be found in [45, Proposition 29. Additionally, this lemma yields the width of the stable and unstable cones for invertible systems.

First make the assumptions:

(A1) Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}, t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}, \mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}} \text{ and } \Gamma = \Gamma^{T} > 0.$ Assume

 $\begin{cases} (A0) \text{ and that system (2.6), generated by (2.7),} & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \text{that the system (2.6), generated by (2.8),} & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$

is D-hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$.

(A2) Let
$$\tilde{\mathbb{I}} := \begin{cases} \mathbb{I}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \mathbb{I}_1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \end{cases}$$
, $\bar{t}_+ := \bar{t} := \begin{cases} t_+, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ t_+ - 1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \end{cases}$

and $\bar{t}_{-} := t_{-}$.

(A3) Assume (A2) and let k = 2. Let $\lambda_1(t) > 0 > \lambda_2(t)$ be the eigenvalues of $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ and $U(t) = (v_1(t) \ v_2(t))$ be an orthogonal matrix, where $v_i(t)$ are eigenvectors to $\lambda_i(t)$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, for all $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$.

By Definition 3.2.8 the matrix $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ is symmetric for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Thus, the assumption that for $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ and all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ an orthogonal basis of eigenvalues exists is trivial.

Lemma 5.6.1. Let k = 2. Assume (A1) and (A3). Then the zero Γ -strain set is for every $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$

$$Z_{\Gamma}(t) = \mathcal{L}\left(U(t)\left(\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_2(t)|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_1(t)}}\right)\right) \cup \mathcal{L}\left(U(t)\left(\frac{-\sqrt{|\lambda_2(t)|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_1(t)}}\right)\right)$$
$$= \left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 \left| \exists \lambda \in \mathbb{R} : x = \lambda(\sqrt{|\lambda_2(t)|}v_1(t) \pm \sqrt{\lambda_1(t)}v_2(t))\right\}.$$
(5.65)

Let (2.6) be invertible. Then the width $d_s(t_+)$ of the stable t_+ -cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ for continuous systems is

$$d_s(t_+) = \sqrt{\frac{4|\lambda_2(t_+)|}{|\lambda_2(t_+)| + \lambda_1(t_+)}} \quad (\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}),$$

the width $d_s(t_+ - 1)$ of the stable $t_+ - 1$ -cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+ - 1)$ for discrete systems is

$$d_s(t_+ - 1) = \sqrt{\frac{4|\lambda_2(t_+ - 1)|}{|\lambda_2(t_+ - 1)| + \lambda_1(t_+ - 1)}} \quad (\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}), \tag{5.66}$$

and the width $d_u(t_-)$ of the unstable t_- -cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-)$ is

$$d_u(t_-) = \sqrt{\frac{4\lambda_1(t_-)}{|\lambda_2(t_-)| + \lambda_1(t_-)}} \quad (\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}).$$
(5.67)

The width $d_s(t)$ of the stable t-cone is for $t \in \mathbb{I}$

$$d_{s}(t) = \left\| \frac{\Phi(t,\bar{t})U(\bar{t})\left(\frac{\sqrt{|\bar{\lambda}_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\bar{\lambda}_{1}}}\right)}{\left\| \Phi(t,\bar{t})U(\bar{t})\left(\frac{\sqrt{|\bar{\lambda}_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\bar{\lambda}_{1}}}\right)\right\|_{2}} - \frac{\Phi(t,\bar{t})U(\bar{t})\left(-\sqrt{|\bar{\lambda}_{2}|}{\sqrt{\bar{\lambda}_{1}}}\right)}{\left\| \Phi(t,\bar{t})U(\bar{t})\left(-\sqrt{|\bar{\lambda}_{2}|}{\sqrt{\bar{\lambda}_{1}}}\right)\right\|_{2}} \right\|_{2}, \quad (5.68)$$

where $\bar{\lambda}_{1,2} := \lambda_{1,2}(\bar{t})$.

The width $d_u(t)$ of the unstable t-cone is for $t \in \mathbb{I}$

$$d_{u}(t) = \left\| \frac{\Phi(t,t_{-})U(t_{-}) \left(\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}^{-}|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}^{-}}}\right)}{\left\| \Phi(t,t_{-})U(t_{-}) \left(\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}^{-}|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}^{-}}}\right)\right\|_{2}} - \frac{\Phi(t,t_{-})U(t_{-}) \left(\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}^{-}|}}{-\sqrt{\lambda_{1}^{-}}}\right)}{\left\| \Phi(t,t_{-})U(t_{-}) \left(\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}^{-}|}}{-\sqrt{\lambda_{1}^{-}}}\right)\right\|_{2}} \right\|_{2}},$$
(5.69)

where $\lambda_{1,2}^{-} := \lambda_{1,2}(t_{-}).$

Proof. For clarity we do not explicitly mention the dependency on t. Let $\xi \in Z_{\Gamma} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$. Then there exist constants $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\xi = av_1 + bv_2$ holds. Since U is an orthogonal matrix we have $\langle v_1, v_2 \rangle = 0$, $\langle v_i, v_i \rangle = 1$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$ and

$$0 = \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}\xi \rangle = \langle av_1 + bv_2, S_{\Gamma}av_1 + S_{\Gamma}bv_2 \rangle$$

= $\langle av_1, S_{\Gamma}av_1 \rangle + \langle av_1, S_{\Gamma}bv_2 \rangle + \langle bv_2, S_{\Gamma}av_1 \rangle + \langle bv_2, S_{\Gamma}bv_2 \rangle$
= $a^2 \langle v_1, \lambda_1 v_1 \rangle + ab \langle v_1, \lambda_2 v_2 \rangle + ab \langle v_2, \lambda_1 v_1 \rangle + b^2 \langle v_2, \lambda_2 v_2 \rangle$
= $a^2 \lambda_1 + b^2 \lambda_2$

follows. This leads to $a = \pm \sqrt{|\lambda_2|}c$ and $b = \pm \sqrt{\lambda_1}c$, where $c \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$. Thus, by Definition 3.2.8 equation (5.65) is true.

Let system (2.6) be invertible. By Corollary 5.3.2/5.3.5 the sets ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t)$ are connected double-cones for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ and by Lemma 5.4.1 they are nontrivial. It follows that the half-cones of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t)$, $t \in \mathbb{I}$ are nontrivial connected cones and the width of all cones is defined, see Definition 4.1.1. To calculate them we need for each cone two linear independent vectors on the boundary of one half-cone. The sums of the pairwise linear independent vectors

$$\tilde{v}_1 := \sqrt{|\lambda_2|} v_1 + \sqrt{\lambda_1} v_2 \in Z_{\Gamma},$$

$$\tilde{v}_2 := -\sqrt{|\lambda_2|} v_1 + \sqrt{\lambda_1} v_2 \in Z_{\Gamma},$$

$$\tilde{v}_3 := \sqrt{|\lambda_2|} v_1 - \sqrt{\lambda_1} v_2 \in Z_{\Gamma}$$

are $\tilde{v}_1 + \tilde{v}_2 = 2\sqrt{\lambda_1}v_2 =: cv_2$ and $\tilde{v}_1 + \tilde{v}_3 = 2\sqrt{|\lambda_2|}v_1 =: dv_1$. Additionally,

$$\langle cv_2, S_{\Gamma} cv_2 \rangle = c^2 \langle v_2, \lambda_2 v_2 \rangle = c^2 \lambda_2 < 0, \langle dv_1, S_{\Gamma} dv_1 \rangle = d^2 \langle v_1, \lambda_1 v_1 \rangle = d^2 \lambda_1 > 0$$

hold. This means

$$\tilde{v}_1(t_+) + \tilde{v}_2(t_+) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+) \text{ for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R},$$

$$\tilde{v}_1(t_+ - 1) + \tilde{v}_2(t_+ - 1) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+ - 1) \text{ for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z},$$

$$\tilde{v}_1(t_-) + \tilde{v}_3(t_-) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-) \text{ for } \mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$$

i.e. $\tilde{v}_1(\bar{t})$ and $\tilde{v}_2(\bar{t})$ as well as $\tilde{v}_1(t_-)$ and $\tilde{v}_3(t_-)$ are linear independent vectors on the boundary of a half cone of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(\bar{t})$ respectively ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-)$. By Definition 4.1.1, by the invertibility of Φ and by the invariance of the cones the width $d_{s,u}(t)$ of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}(t)$ satisfies (5.68) and (5.69) for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Further, the width $d_s(t_+)$ of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ for $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ fulfills

$$d_{s}(t_{+}) = \left\| \frac{U(t_{+}) \left(\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}(t_{+})|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}(t_{+})}}\right)}{\left\| U(t_{+}) \left(\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}(t_{+})|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}(t_{+})}}\right)\right\|_{2}} - \frac{U(t_{+}) \left(\frac{-\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}(t_{+})|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}(t_{+})}}\right)}{\left\| U(t_{+}) \left(\frac{-\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}(t_{+})|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}(t_{+})}}\right)\right\|_{2}}\right\|_{2}.$$

Note that $\|\cdot\|_2$ and the standard inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ are invariant under orthogonal transformations and that equation $\left\| \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \right\|_2 = \left\| \begin{pmatrix} -x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \right\|_2$ holds for every $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus, we get

$$d_{s}(t_{+}) = \left\| \frac{\left(\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}(t_{+})|}\right)}{\left\| \left(\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}(t_{+})|}\right)\right\|_{2}} - \frac{\left(-\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}(t_{+})|}\right)}{\left\| \left(\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}(t_{+})|}\right)\right\|_{2}} \right\|_{2}} = \left\| \frac{\left(2\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}(t_{+})|}\right)}{\left\| \left(\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}(t_{+})|}\right)\right\|_{2}} \right\|_{2}} = \sqrt{\frac{4|\lambda_{2}(t_{+})|}{|\lambda_{2}(t_{+})| + \lambda_{1}(t_{+})}}.$$

Analogously, we obtain (5.66) and (5.67).

Lemma 5.6.1 characterizes the width of the stable and unstable t-cones with the help of the solution operator. Additionally, we derive by the following lemma upper bounds of the width of the t-cones, even if we do not have an exact representation of the solution operator.

Lemma 5.6.2. Let k = 2 and assume (A1) and (A3). Let the given system be invertible. Further let $w_{1,2}(\bar{t}) \in \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(\bar{t})$ be linear independent with

$$w_1(\bar{t}) + w_2(\bar{t}) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(\bar{t})$$

and let $w_{1,2}(t_{-}) \in \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_{-})$ be linear independent with

$$w_1(t_-) + w_2(t_-) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-).$$

Further let $v_s(\bar{t}_{\pm}) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(\bar{t}_{\pm}), v_u(\bar{t}_{\pm}) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(\bar{t}_{\pm})$ with $||v_s(\bar{t}_{\pm})||_2 = 1 = ||v_u(\bar{t}_{\pm})||_2$ and with corresponding exponential rates $\alpha(\bar{t}_{\pm}), \beta(\bar{t}_{\pm}) > 0$, see Definition 4.1.3 and Definition 4.1.5, such that

$$w_{1,2}(\bar{t}_{\pm}) = v_s(\bar{t}_{\pm}) + c_{1,2}(\bar{t}_{\pm})v_u(\bar{t}_{\pm})$$

holds with constants $c_1(\bar{t}_{\pm}), c_2(\bar{t}_{\pm}) \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the width $d_s(t)$ of the stable t-cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$ and the width $d_u(t)$ of the unstable t-cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t)$ satisfy with $\delta(\bar{t}_{\pm}) := \alpha(\bar{t}_{\pm}) + \beta(\bar{t}_{\pm})$

$$d_s(t) \le C|c_1(\bar{t}) - c_2(\bar{t})|e^{-\delta(\bar{t})(\bar{t}-t)} \text{ for all } t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}},$$
(5.70)

$$d_u(t) \le C|c_1(t_-) - c_2(t_-)|e^{-\delta(t_-)(t-t_-)} \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I},$$
(5.71)

where C > 0 is a constant.

Proof. For clarity of presentation we leave out the dependency on \bar{t} . By Lemma 5.4.2 system (2.6) is M-hyperbolic. Further, by Lemma 4.2.4 and Definition 3.2.3 the estimates (3.10) and (3.15) are satisfied for v_s, v_u , more precisely $v_{s,u}$ and their corresponding exponential rates $\alpha, \beta > 0$ fulfill

$$\|\Phi(t,\bar{t})v_s\|_{\Gamma} \ge e^{\alpha(\bar{t}-t)} \|v_s\|_{\Gamma} \ge C_1 e^{\alpha(\bar{t}-t)} \|v_s\|_2 = C_1 e^{\alpha(\bar{t}-t)}, \qquad (5.72)$$

$$\|\Phi(t,\bar{t})v_u\|_{\Gamma} \le e^{-\beta(\bar{t}-t)} \|v_u\|_{\Gamma} \le C_2 e^{-\beta(\bar{t}-t)} \|v_u\|_2 = C_2 e^{-\beta(\bar{t}-t)}$$
(5.73)

for all $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$ and for constants $C_{1,2} > 0$, since all norms in \mathbb{R}^k are equivalent and $\|v_{s,u}\|_2 = 1$ by the above conditions. Fix $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$ and define

$$d_1(t) := \|\Phi(t,t)(v_s + c_1 v_u)\|_2, d_2(t) := \|\Phi(t,\bar{t})(v_s + c_2 v_u)\|_2.$$

Then the width $d_s(t)$ of the stable *t*-cone satisfies by Definition 4.1.1

$$\begin{aligned} d_s(t) &:= \left\| \Phi(t,\bar{t})(v_s + c_1 v_u) \frac{1}{d_1(t)} - \Phi(t,\bar{t})(v_s + c_2 v_u) \frac{1}{d_2(t)} \right\|_2 \\ &\leq \left\| \Phi(t,\bar{t})(v_s + c_1 v_u) \frac{1}{\|\Phi(t,\bar{t})v_s\|_2} - \Phi(t,\bar{t})(v_s + c_2 v_u) \frac{1}{\|\Phi(t,\bar{t})v_s\|_2} \right\|_2 \\ &= \left\| (c_1 - c_2) \Phi(t,\bar{t}) v_u \frac{1}{\|\Phi(t,\bar{t})v_s\|_2} \right\|_2 \\ &\leq \frac{C_2}{C_1} |c_1 - c_2| \frac{\|\Phi(t,\bar{t})v_u\|_{\Gamma}}{\|\Phi(t,\bar{t})v_s\|_{\Gamma}}. \end{aligned}$$

The estimates (5.72), (5.73) and $\delta := \alpha + \beta$ lead to

$$d_s(t) \le \left(\frac{C_2}{C_1}\right)^2 |c_1 - c_2| e^{-\delta(\bar{t} - t)}.$$

Analogously, we obtain the approximation of the width $d_u(t)$, $t \in \mathbb{I}$ of the unstable *t*-cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t)$ with the help of $v_{s,u}(t_-)$.

Remark 5.6.3. If all assumptions of Lemma 5.6.2 are satisfied and Γ is the identity we get that (5.70) and (5.71) are satisfied with C = 1, i.e. the width $d_s(t)$ and $d_u(t)$ fulfills

$$d_{s}(t) \leq |c_{1}(\bar{t}) - c_{2}(\bar{t})|e^{-\delta(\bar{t})(\bar{t}-t)} \text{ for all } t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}},$$

$$d_{u}(t) \leq |c_{1}(t_{-}) - c_{2}(t_{-})|e^{-\delta(t_{-})(\bar{t}-t_{-})} \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}.$$

If Γ is the identity we find a relation between the width $d_{s,u}(\bar{t}_{\pm})$ of the (un)stable \bar{t}_{\pm} -cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}(\bar{t}_{\pm})$ and the width $d_{s,u}(t)$ of the (un)stable *t*-cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}(t)$ for all $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$ resp. $t \in \mathbb{I}$. More precisely, the smaller the width of the stable and unstable \bar{t}_{\pm} -cones the smaller the width of the other stable and unstable cones.

Lemma 5.6.4. Let k = 2 and assume (A1) and (A3) for $\Gamma = I$. Let (2.6) be invertible. Then

$$v_1(t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t), \ v_2(t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$$

$$(5.74)$$

for all $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$.

Let $v_1(\bar{t}) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(\bar{t}), v_2(t_-) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_-)$. Denote the corresponding exponential rates of $v_2(\bar{t}_{\pm}) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(\bar{t}_{\pm})$ by $\tilde{\alpha}(\bar{t}_{\pm})$ and of $v_1(\bar{t}_{\pm}) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(\bar{t}_{\pm})$ by $\tilde{\beta}(\bar{t}_{\pm}) > 0$. Then the width $d_s(t)$ and $d_u(t)$ of the stable and unstable t-cones ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t)$ fulfill

$$d_s(t) \le \sqrt{1 + \frac{|\lambda_2(\bar{t})|}{\lambda_1(\bar{t})}} e^{-\tilde{\delta}(\bar{t})(\bar{t}-t)} d_s(\bar{t}) \text{ for all } t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}},$$
$$d_u(t) \le \sqrt{1 + \frac{|\lambda_2(t_-)|}{\lambda_1(t_-)}} e^{-\tilde{\delta}(t_-)(t-t_-)} d_u(t_-) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}$$

with $\tilde{\delta}(t_{\pm}) = \tilde{\alpha}(t_{\pm}) + \tilde{\beta}(t_{\pm})$ and $d_{s,u}(\bar{t}_{\pm})$ from Lemma 5.6.1.

Proof. For the eigenvectors $v_{1,2}(t)$ of the Γ -strain tensor $S_{\Gamma}(t), t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$, we have by the orthonormality of $v_{1,2}$

$$\langle v_1(t), S_{\Gamma}(t)v_1(t) \rangle = \langle v_1(t), \lambda_1(t)v_1(t) \rangle = \lambda_1(t) > 0, \langle v_2(t), S_{\Gamma}(t)v_2(t) \rangle = \langle v_2(t), \lambda_2(t)v_2(t) \rangle = \lambda_2(t) < 0.$$

Corollary 5.3.2 yields $v_1(t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t)$ and $v_2(t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t)$ for all $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$. Define the linear independent vectors

$$w_1(\bar{t}_{\pm}) := v_2(\bar{t}_{\pm}) + \frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_2(\bar{t}_{\pm})|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_1(\bar{t}_{\pm})}} v_1(\bar{t}_{\pm}),$$

$$w_2(\bar{t}_{\pm}) := v_2(\bar{t}_{\pm}) - \frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_2(\bar{t}_{\pm})|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_1(\bar{t}_{\pm})}} v_1(\bar{t}_{\pm}).$$

Then equation (5.65) implies

$$w_{1,2}(\overline{t}) \in Z(\overline{t}) = \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(\overline{t}),$$

$$w_{1,2}(t_-) \in Z(t_-) = \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_-)$$

by Corollary 5.3.2 and Corollary 5.3.5 and by the fact that exactly two linear independent vectors lie in $Z_{\Gamma}(\bar{t}_{\pm})$. Further, we have by (5.74)

$$w_1(\bar{t}) + w_2(\bar{t}) = 2v_1(\bar{t}) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(\bar{t}),$$

$$w_1(t_-) + w_2(t_-) = 2v_1(t_-) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_-).$$

Lemma 5.6.2 yields that the width satisfies for all $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$

$$d_s(t) \le \frac{2\sqrt{|\lambda_2(\bar{t})|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_1(\bar{t})}} e^{-\tilde{\delta}(\bar{t})|\bar{t}-t|} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{|\lambda_2(\bar{t})|}{\lambda_1(\bar{t})}} \sqrt{\frac{4|\lambda_2(\bar{t})|}{|\lambda_2(\bar{t})| + \lambda_1}} e^{-\tilde{\delta}(\bar{t})|\bar{t}-t|}$$

where $\tilde{\delta}(\bar{t}) := \tilde{\alpha}(\bar{t}) + \tilde{\beta}(\bar{t})$. Lemma 5.6.1 implies that

$$d_s(\bar{t}) = \sqrt{\frac{4|\lambda_2(\bar{t})|}{|\lambda_2(\bar{t})| + \lambda_1}}$$

Thus, we obtain

$$d_s(t) = \sqrt{1 + \frac{|\lambda_2(\bar{t})|}{\lambda_1(\bar{t})}} e^{-\tilde{\delta}(\bar{t})|\bar{t}-t|} d_s(\bar{t}).$$

The approximation for the unstable cone follows analogously.

In Example 5.5.1 we saw numerically that the decay of the angle of the stable and unstable cone of (5.58) is two times as fast as the decay of the angle of the stable and unstable cone of (5.57). This statement is proved in the following.

Lemma 5.6.5. Let $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]$. Assume that

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t), t \in \mathbb{I}$$
(5.75)

is D-hyperbolic on $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]$ with invertible matrix $A \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}$ and denote by $d_{s,u}^{1}(t)$ the width of the stable/unstable t-cone. Further, denote the width of the stable/unstable t-cone of

$$\dot{x}(t) = \mu A x(t), t \in \mathbb{I}, \mu \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$$
(5.76)

by $d_{s,u}^{\mu}(t)$. Then we have for all $r \in [0, \frac{t_{+}-t_{-}}{\mu}]$

$$d_s^{\mu}(t_+ - r) = d_s^1(t_+ - \mu r),$$

$$d_u^{\mu}(t_- + r) = d_u^1(t_- + \mu r).$$

Proof. In this proof we skip the dependency on t. Let λ be an eigenvalue of S = A and v a corresponding eigenvector then we have

$$S_{\mu}v = \mu Av = \mu \lambda v,$$

where S_{μ} is the strain tensor of (5.76). Thus, v is an eigenvector of S and S_{μ} . This implies that the matrix U with orthonormal eigenvectors of S as columns and the matrix U_{μ} with orthonormal eigenvectors of S_{μ} as columns satisfy $U = U_{\mu}$. Additionally, we obtain if and only if λ_1 and λ_2 are the eigenvalues of S then $\mu\lambda_1$ and $\mu\lambda_2$ are the eigenvalues of S_{μ} . Denote the solution operator of system (5.75) by $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ and the solution operator of system (5.76) by $\Phi_{\mu}(\cdot, \cdot)$. Fix $r \in [0, \frac{t_+-t_-}{\mu}]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Then we find the following relation between the two operators

$$\Phi_{\mu}(t_{+}-r,t_{+}) = e^{\mu A(t_{+}-r-t_{+})} = e^{A(t_{+}-\mu r-t_{+})} = \Phi(t_{+}-\mu r,t_{+}).$$

By Lemma 5.6.1 we have for the width of the stable cones

$$\begin{split} & d_{s}^{\mu}(t_{+}-r) \\ & = \left\| \frac{\Phi_{\mu}(t_{+}-r,t_{+})U_{\mu}\left(\frac{\sqrt{|\mu\lambda_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\mu\lambda_{1}}}\right)}{\left\| \Phi_{\mu}(t_{+}-r,t_{+})U_{\mu}\left(\frac{\sqrt{|\mu\lambda_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\mu\lambda_{1}}}\right)\right\|_{2}} - \frac{\Phi_{\mu}(t_{+}-r,t_{+})U_{\mu}\left(-\frac{\sqrt{|\mu\lambda_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\mu\lambda_{1}}}\right)}{\left\| \Phi_{\mu}(t_{+}-r,t_{+})U\sqrt{\mu}\left(-\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\mu\lambda_{1}}}\right)\right\|_{2}} \right\|_{2} \\ & = \left\| \frac{\Phi(t_{+}-\mu r,t_{+})U\sqrt{\mu}\left(\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}}}\right)}{\left\| \Phi(t_{+}-\mu r,t_{+})U\sqrt{\mu}\left(-\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}}}\right)\right\|_{2}} - \frac{\Phi(t_{+}-\mu r,t_{+})U\sqrt{\mu}\left(-\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}}}\right)}{\left\| \Phi(t_{+}-\mu r,t_{+})U\left(\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}}}\right)\right\|_{2}} \right\|_{2} \\ & = \left\| \frac{\Phi(t_{+}-\mu r,t_{+})U\left(\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}}}\right)}{\left\| \Phi(t_{+}-\mu r,t_{+})U\left(-\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}}}\right)\right\|_{2}} - \frac{\Phi(t_{+}-\mu r,t_{+})U\left(-\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}}}\right)}{\left\| \Phi(t_{+}-\mu r,t_{+})U\left(-\frac{\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}|}}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}}}\right)\right\|_{2}} \right\|_{2} \\ & = d_{s}^{1}(t_{+}-\mu r). \end{split}$$

The defining matrices of system (5.57) and (5.58) are $A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -4 \end{pmatrix}$ and $A^2 = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & -8 \end{pmatrix}$, respectively. For the angle $\tau_s^1(\cdot)$ of the stable cone of system (5.57) and for the angle $\tau_s^2(\cdot)$ of the stable cone of system (5.58) we obtain the relation

$$\tau_s^2(t_+ - r) = \arccos\left(\frac{2 - (d_s^2(t_+ - r))^2}{2}\right)$$
$$= \arccos\left(\frac{2 - (d_s^1(t_+ - 2r))^2}{2}\right) = \tau_s^1(t_+ - 2r)$$

for $r \in [0, \frac{t_+-t_-}{2}]$. Thus, the angle of the stable cone of system (5.58) decreases two times as fast as the angle of the stable cone of system (5.57).

Next we check how close the upper bounds of the width given by Lemma 5.6.4 are compared to the exact width of the stable cones of (5.57) and (5.58).

Example 5.6.6. Consider systems (5.57) and (5.58) for $t \in \mathbb{I} = [0, \pi]$. Let Γ be the identity. Then we get by Lemma 5.6.1 for both systems that the width $d_s = d_s(t_+)$ of the stable t_+ -cone satisfies

$$d_s = \begin{cases} \frac{2\sqrt{4}}{\sqrt{1+4}} = \frac{4}{\sqrt{5}}, & \text{for system (5.57),} \\ \frac{2\sqrt{8}}{\sqrt{2+8}} = \sqrt{\frac{4\times8}{10}} = \sqrt{\frac{16}{5}} = \frac{4}{\sqrt{5}}, & \text{for system (5.58).} \end{cases}$$

Next we verify the assumptions of Lemma 5.6.4. We prove that the eigenvectors of the strain tensor lie inside the infinite time subspaces, i.e. the eigenvectors lie in the stable cone with the infinite time exponential rates. The stable subspace of system (5.57) and (5.58) for $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$ is $\mathcal{L}\left(\begin{pmatrix}0\\1\end{pmatrix}\right)$ and the unstable subspace is $\mathcal{L}\left(\begin{pmatrix}1\\0\end{pmatrix}\right)$. The eigenvectors of $\left(\begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&-A\end{pmatrix}\right)$, of system (5.57),

$$S = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -4 \\ 2 & 0 \\ 0 & -8 \end{pmatrix}, & of system (5.57) \\ of system (5.58) \end{cases}$$

are $\begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix}$ to the negative eigenvalue and $\begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix}$ to the positive eigenvalue. Thus, the eigenvectors of S of system (5.57) fulfill the estimates (3.9) and (3.10) with the exponential rates $\alpha_1 := 1$ and $\beta_1 := 4$, while the eigenvectors of S of (5.58) fulfill (3.9) and (3.10) with $\alpha_2 := 2$ and $\beta_2 := 8$. Lemma 5.6.4 applies and yields that the width $d_s^1(t)$ of the stable t-cone of system (5.57) satisfies

$$d_s^1(t) \le \sqrt{1 + \frac{4}{1}} e^{-(4+1)(\pi-t)} \frac{4}{\sqrt{5}} = 4e^{-5(\pi-t)},$$

and the width $d_s^2(t)$ of the stable t-cone of system (5.58) satisfies

$$d_s^2(t) \le \sqrt{1 + \frac{8}{2}} e^{-(8+2)(\pi-t)} \frac{4}{\sqrt{5}} = 4 \left(e^{-5(\pi-t)} \right)^2$$

With this approximated width $(d_{approx}(\cdot))$ we find approximations $\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^{approx}$ of the boundaries $\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V_s$. For our systems (5.57) and (5.58) we have

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t) = \left\{ \lambda \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d_s(t)}{2} \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} \middle| \lambda \in \mathbb{R}, (d_s(t))^2 + x_2^2 \right\}, \\ \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s^{\text{approx}}(t) := \left\{ \lambda \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d_{\text{approx}}(t)}{2} \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} \middle| \lambda \in \mathbb{R}, (d_{\text{approx}}(t))^2 + x_2^2 = 1 \right\}.$$

In Figure 5.9 we plot the boundaries $\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s$ of the stable cone and their approximation $\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s^{\text{approx}}$ at norm 1, projected onto the $t - x_1$ plane.



Figure 5.9: In the top the boundaries $\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s$ of the stable half-cone (green) and their approximation $\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s^{\text{approx}}$ (blue) at norm 1 are projected onto the $t - x_1$ plane. The bottom parts show the decay of the width of the boundaries and of the width of their approximation by a logarithmic scale in backward time. On the left panel we illustrate the stable cone for system (5.57) and on the right panel for system (5.58).

These are shown on the left for system (5.57) and on the right for system (5.58). The approximation $\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^{\text{approx}}$ looks quite good for both systems except for times close to π , where the width of the cones is much smaller than the approximated width. In the bottom part of Figure 5.9 we see by a logarithmic scale that the width of the cones as well as the distant of the exact boundaries and their approximation decays towards 0 in backward time.

(Un)Stable Cones in 3- or Higher Dimensional D-Hyperbolic Systems

In this section we study two different autonomous 3 dimensional systems. We calculate and plot the stable and unstable cones and will see that the width of the cones decreases in one time direction each. Finally we finish this chapter with an analysis of the width of the stable and unstable cone in three or

higher finite dimensional D-hyperbolic systems, where we prove the decrease and obtain bounds for the width.

For this purpose the boundaries of the cones are of relevance. Corollary 5.3.2 and Corollary 5.3.5 motivate to invest in the study of the zero Γ -strain set $Z_{\Gamma}(\cdot)$. Analogously to Lemma 5.6.1, we obtain the following characterization of the zero Γ -strain set.

Lemma 5.7.1. Assume (A1) and (A2). Then the zero Γ -strain set of (2.7)/(2.8) is for $k \geq 2$ and $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$

$$Z_{\Gamma}(t) = \{ U(t)x | x \in \mathbb{R}^k : \sum_{i=1}^k x_i^2 \lambda_i(t) = 0 \},\$$

where $\lambda_i(t)$ are the eigenvalues of $S_{\Gamma}(t)$, $v_i(t)$ the associated eigenvectors such that $U(t) = (v_1(t) \cdots v_k(t))$ is orthogonal.

The next Lemma implies a explicit representation of the boundaries of the stable and unstable cone.

Lemma 5.7.2. Assume (A1) and (A2). Then

$$Z_{\Gamma}(\bar{t}) = \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(\bar{t}), \quad Z_{\Gamma}(t_-) = \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_-), \tag{5.77}$$

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_-) = \Phi(t_0, t_-) Z_{\Gamma}(t_-), \ t_0 \in \mathbb{I}.$$
(5.78)

Additionally, if (2.6) is invertible we obtain

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_0) = \Phi(t_0, \bar{t}) Z_{\Gamma}(\bar{t})$$
(5.79)

for all $t_0 \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$.

Proof. Let $\lambda_1(t)$ be the eigenvalues of $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ and $v_i(t)$ the associated eigenvectors such that $U(t) = (v_1(t) \cdots v_k(t))$ is orthogonal for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Let $t \in \mathbb{I}$ and $x \in Z_{\Gamma}(t) \setminus \{0\}$. Then there exist $a_i, i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$ such that

$$x = \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_i v_i(t)$$

and by Lemma 5.7.1 we have

$$0 = \langle x, S_{\Gamma}(t)x \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_i^2 \lambda_i(t).$$

Since $x \neq 0$ there exists $j \in \{1, ..., k\}$ with $a_j \neq 0$. W.l.o.g. let $\lambda_j > 0$. Thus, for every neighborhood U of x there exists an $\varepsilon > 0$ such hat

$$y_{\pm} := \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^{k} a_i v_i(t) + (a_j \pm \varepsilon) v_j(t) \in U.$$

W.l.o.g. let $a_j > 0$. Then for $\varepsilon < a_j$ we get

$$\begin{split} \langle y_{\pm}, S_{\Gamma}(t)y_{\pm} \rangle &= \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^{k} a_{i}^{2}\lambda_{i}(t) + (a_{j} \pm \varepsilon)^{2}\lambda_{j}(t) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_{i}^{2}\lambda_{i}(t) + (\pm 2\varepsilon a_{j} + \varepsilon^{2})\lambda_{j}(t) \\ &= (\pm 2\varepsilon a_{j} + \varepsilon^{2})\lambda_{j}(t) \\ \langle y_{+}, S_{\Gamma}(t)y_{+} \rangle &= (2\varepsilon a_{j} + \varepsilon^{2})\lambda_{j} > 0, \\ \langle y_{-}, S_{\Gamma}(t)y_{-} \rangle &= (-2\varepsilon a_{j} + \varepsilon^{2})\lambda_{j} < (-2\varepsilon^{2} + \varepsilon^{2})\lambda_{j}(t) = -\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{j}(t) < 0. \end{split}$$

By Corollary 5.3.2 and 5.3.5 it follows that

$$y_{-} \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(\bar{t}), \ y_{+} \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_{-})$$

and, thus,

$$x \in \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(\bar{t}), \ x \in \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u(t_-).$$

This proves (5.77). The invariance of $\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V_u$ and $\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V_s$ leads to (5.78) and (5.79).

With this information we are able to plot the boundaries of the (un)stable cones of 3 dimensional systems.

Example 5.7.3. Consider the system

$$\dot{x} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -4 \end{pmatrix} x =: Ax$$
(5.80)

for $\mathbb{I} = [0,3]$. Let Γ be the identity. It is easily seen that this is a D-hyperbolic system with solution operator

$$\Phi(t,s) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{t-s} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & e^{-2(t-s)} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & e^{-4(t-s)} \end{pmatrix}.$$

By calculating

$$\Phi(t_0, 3)Z(3) = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^3 | \langle \Phi(3, t_0)\xi, A\Phi(3, t_0)\xi \rangle = 0 \}, \Phi(t_0, 0)Z(0) = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^3 | \langle \Phi(0, t_0)\xi, A\Phi(0, t_0)\xi \rangle = 0 \}$$

for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ we obtain the boundaries of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0)$, respectively. The eigenvalues of A are 1, -2 and -4. Hence, the stable subspace of the infinite system generated by the associated eigenvectors $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^T, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^T$ must lie

inside ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$ for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, cf. Corollary 5.1.3. This leads to the fact, that the stable cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$ is infinite in the two directions of the two eigenvectors, see Figure 5.11. Analogously, we see that the unstable cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0)$ is infinite in the direction of the eigenvector $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^T$ belonging to the eigenvalue 1. Figure 5.10 shows the boundaries $\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0)$ of system (5.80) for different times t_0 and the unstable subspace of the infinite system. The lightest red cone illustrates the boundary $\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(0)$. The darkest red cone represents the boundary of the unstable cone at time 0.8. We see that this cone is close to the unstable subspace, marked in black. The other cones from light to dark red illustrate the boundaries of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0)$ at $t_0 = 0.2$, $t_0 = 0.4$ and $t_0 = 0.6$, respectively. In the right panel of Figure 5.10 the cones are projected to the $x_2 - x_3$ -plane. We see that they are elliptic, which is caused by the different negative eigenvalues of S(-2 and -4).



Figure 5.10: The boundaries of the unstable cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u$ (light to dark red) at time 0 up to 0.8 in 0.2 steps and the infinite subspace (black).

Analogously, Figure 5.11 shows that the boundaries of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$ converge in backward time $(t_0 \searrow t_-)$ to the stable subspace of the infinite system, marked in light green-back. The boundary of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(3)$ is plotted in the darkest green, while the boundary of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(2.2)$ is illustrated in the lightest green. The three cones between, from dark to light, represent the boundaries of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$ at $t_0 = 2.8$, $t_0 = 2.6$ and $t_0 = 2.4$.

Since the stable and unstable subspace are generally not orthogonal towards each other we study a second example.

Example 5.7.4. Consider the modified system

$$\dot{x} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -4 \end{pmatrix} x =: \tilde{A}x$$
(5.81)



Figure 5.11: The boundaries of the stable cones ${}^{\downarrow}V_s$ (dark to light green) at time 3 down to 2.2 in -0.2 steps and the infinite subspace (light green-black).

for $\mathbb{I} = [0,3]$ and let Γ be the identity. This system is also D-hyperbolic. The eigenvectors of \tilde{A} are $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^T$, $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & -3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^T$ and $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^T$ corresponding to the eigenvalues 1, -2 and -4, respectively. To see the difference between the stable cones of system (5.80) and (5.81) we illustrate in Figure 5.12 the cones of (5.81) at the same times (3, 2.8, 2.6, 2.4 and 2.2) and in the same colors as in Figure 5.11.

Lemma 5.7.6 ensures that the boundary of the stable and unstable cone converge against the stable and unstable subspace of the infinite system if the subspace lies inside the cone. More precisely, we show that the width of the cones decreases exponentially fast in one time direction. The width of the stable cone decreases in backward time whereas the width of the unstable cone decreases in forward time. First we introduce exponential rates of subspaces.

Lemma 5.7.5. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{I}$, $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$ be a compact interval and let $\Gamma = \Gamma^{T} > 0$. Assume

(A0) and that (2.6), generated by (2.7), for
$$\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$$
,
that systems (2.6), generated by (2.8), for $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$

is M-hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$ and invertible. Let $S \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ and $U \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_+)$ be subspaces. Then there exist exponential rates $\alpha, \beta > 0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_{\Gamma} &\geq e^{\alpha(t_+ - t_0)} \|v_s\|_{\Gamma}, \\ \|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_u\|_{\Gamma} &\leq e^{-\beta(t_+ - t_0)} \|v_u\|_{\Gamma} \end{aligned}$$
(5.82)



Figure 5.12: The boundaries of the stable cones ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s$ (dark to light green) at time 3 down to 2.2 in -0.2 steps and the infinite subspace (light green-black).

hold for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and $v_s \in S$, $v_u \in U$.

Proof. By Theorem 4.2.4 we find a family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ with $S \subset \mathcal{R}(P(t_+))$ and $U \subset \mathcal{N}(P(t_+))$ such that (2.6) is M-hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} with this family of projectors. Hence, there exist exponential rates $\alpha, \beta > 0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_{\Gamma} &\geq e^{\alpha(t_+ - t_0)} \|v_s\|_{\Gamma}, \\ \|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_u\|_{\Gamma} &\leq e^{-\beta(t_+ - t_0)} \|v_u\|_{\Gamma} \end{aligned}$$

hold for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and $v_s \in S \subset \mathcal{R}(P(t_+)), v_u \in U \subset \mathcal{N}(P(t_+)).$

Note, that for every D-hyperbolic invertible system the same holds, i.e. for every subspace of the cones there exists an exponential rate in the sense of (5.82).

Lemma 5.7.6. Assume (A1) and that system (2.6) with k = 3 is invertible. Let $S \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ be a subspace of maximal dimension $r \in \{1, 2\}$ with exponential rate α and let $v_s^1, \ldots, v_s^r \in S$ be a basis. Further let $v_u^1, \ldots, v_u^{k-r} \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_+)$ be a basis of a subspace $U \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_+)$ with exponential rate β which satisfies $U \oplus S = \mathbb{R}^k$. Then the distance of the stable cone ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$, $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, satisfies

$$d_s(t_0) \le \bar{C}e^{-\delta(t_+ - t_0)} \tag{5.83}$$

with $\delta = \alpha + \beta$.

Proof. For clarity we do not always mention the dependency on t_+ explicitly. By Corollary 5.3.2/ 5.3.5 one of the two cases

$$\begin{cases} {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+) \text{ is a connected cone,} & \text{case (i)} \\ {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+) \text{ has two connected half-cones,} & \text{case (ii)} \end{cases}$$

is true. Set

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{C}V_{s}(t_{+}) := \begin{cases} {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t_{+}), & \text{case (i)} \\ \text{half-cone of } {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t_{+}), & \text{case (ii)} \end{cases}$$

and denote by $\mathcal{X}_i, i \in \{1, \ldots, \ell\}$ the connected components of $\partial_C^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \cap \partial \mathcal{S}^1$, where \mathcal{S}^1 is the unit sphere in \mathbb{R}^k . Note that the subspace $S \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ satisfies

$$\dim(S) \begin{cases} = 1, & \text{if } \ell = 1, \\ = 2, & \text{if } \ell = 2. \end{cases}$$
(5.84)

Let

$$\bar{x} \in \partial_C^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \cap \partial \mathcal{S}^1$$

then we find $\lambda_i, \mu_j \in \mathbb{R}, i \in \{1, \dots, r\}, j \in \{1, \dots, k-r\}$ such that

$$\bar{x} = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \lambda_i v_s^i + \sum_{j=1}^{k-r} \mu_j v_u^j$$

Define $v_s := \sum_{i=1}^r \lambda_i v_s^i \in S \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ and $v_u := \sum_{j=1}^{k-r} \mu_j v_u^j \in U \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_+)$. Since S has the exponential rate α the estimate

$$\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_{\Gamma} \ge e^{\alpha(t_+ - t_0)} \|v_s\|_{\Gamma}$$
(5.85)

holds by (3.15) for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. For v_u we get by (3.10) for every $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$

$$\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_u\|_{\Gamma} \le e^{-\beta(t_+ - t_0)} \|v_u\|_{\Gamma}.$$
(5.86)

First we prove for $\ell = 1$ and every $\bar{x}, \bar{y} \in \mathcal{X}_1$ that there exists a constant $\bar{C} > 0$ such that

$$\left\|\frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}\|_2} - \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{y}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{y}\|_2}\right\|_2 \le \bar{C}e^{-\delta(t_+ - t_0)}$$
(5.87)

holds for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, where $\delta := \alpha + \beta$. Let $\ell = 1$. Then we obtain by (5.84)

$$\bar{x} = \lambda_1 v_s^1 + \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} \mu_j v_u^j$$

with $v_s = \lambda_1 v_s^1$ and $v_u = \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} \mu_j v_u^j$. For every $\bar{y} \in \partial_C^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \cap \partial \mathcal{S}^1$ there exist $\tilde{\lambda}_1, \tilde{\mu}_j \in \mathbb{R}^k, j \in \{1, \ldots, k-1\}$ such that

$$\bar{y} = \tilde{\lambda}_1 v_s^1 + \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} \tilde{\mu}_j v_u^j.$$

Set $y = \frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_1} \bar{y} = v_s + \frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_1} \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} \tilde{\mu}_j v_u^j =: v_s + \tilde{v}_u$. Let $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Then we get for the distance between the normed $\Phi(t_0, t_+) \bar{x} \in \partial_C^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_0)$ and the normed $\Phi(t_0, t_+) \bar{y} \in \partial_C^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_0)$

$$\begin{split} \left\| \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}\|_2} - \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{y}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{y}\|_2} \right\|_2 &= \left\| \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}\|_2} - \frac{\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_1}\Phi(t_0, t_+)y}{\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_1} \|\Phi(t_0, t_+)y\|_2} \right\|_2 \\ &\leq \left\| \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_2} - \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)y}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_2} \right\|_2 \\ &= \frac{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)(v_u - \tilde{v}_u)\|_2}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_2}. \end{split}$$

Using (5.85) and (5.86) and the equivalence of $\|\cdot\|_2$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$ then there exist constants C > 0, $C(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) > 0$ such that the distance satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}\|_2} - \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{y}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{y}\|_2} \right\|_2 &\leq C \frac{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)(v_u - \tilde{v}_u)\|_{\Gamma}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_{\Gamma}} \\ &\leq C \frac{\|(v_u - \tilde{v}_u)\|_{\Gamma} e^{-\beta(t_+ - t_0)}}{\|v_s\|_{\Gamma} e^{\alpha(t_+ - t_0)}} \\ &\leq C(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) e^{-\delta(t_+ - t_0)} \\ &\leq \bar{C} e^{-\delta(t_+ - t_0)} \end{aligned}$$

with $\delta = \alpha + \beta$ and $\bar{C} := \max \left\{ C(x, y) \middle| x, y \in (\partial_C^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \cap \partial S^1) \right\}$ (exists since $\partial_C^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \cap \partial S^1$ is compact). This shows estimate (5.87) for $\ell = 1$.

Next we prove for $\ell = 2$ that we find for every $\bar{x} \in \mathcal{X}_i$, $i \in \{1, 2\}$ a $\bar{y} \in \mathcal{X}_j$, $j \neq i$ and a $\bar{C} > 0$ such that (5.87) holds for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Let $\ell = 2$. First we construct a special $\bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and show that $\bar{y} \in \partial_C^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \cap \partial S^1$. Then we prove that \bar{x} and \bar{y} lie in different connecting components of $\partial_C^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \cap \partial S^1$.

Equation (5.24) yields that for $v_s \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ a s > 0 exists such that

$$\langle v_s, S_{\Gamma} v_s \rangle = -s.$$

By (5.25) we obtain $\langle \Phi(t_-, t_+)v_u, S_{\Gamma}(t_+)\Phi(t_-, t_+)v_u \rangle > 0$ and with Lemma 5.2.2 $\langle v_u, S_{\Gamma}(t_+)v_u \rangle > 0$ is satisfied. This means there exists a u > 0 such that

$$\langle v_u, S_{\Gamma}(t_+)v_u \rangle = u.$$
The symmetry of $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and S_{Γ} leads since $\bar{x} \in \partial_C^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \subset \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+)$ to

$$0 = \langle \bar{x}, S_{\Gamma} \bar{x} \rangle = \langle v_s, S_{\Gamma} v_s \rangle + 2 \langle v_s, S_{\Gamma} v_u \rangle + \langle v_u, S_{\Gamma} v_u \rangle$$
$$= -s + 2 \langle v_s, S_{\Gamma} v_u \rangle + u.$$
(5.88)

For $y := y(\lambda) := \lambda \left(v_s + \frac{-s}{u} v_u \right), \ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ we see using (5.88)

$$\begin{split} \langle y, S_{\Gamma}y \rangle &= \lambda^2 \langle v_s, S_{\Gamma}v_s \rangle + \lambda^2 2 \frac{-s}{u} \langle v_s, S_{\Gamma}v_u \rangle + \lambda^2 \left(\frac{-s}{u}\right)^2 \\ &= \lambda^2 \left(-s - \frac{s}{u} 2 \langle v_s, S_{\Gamma}v_u \rangle + \frac{s^2}{u^2} u\right) \\ &= \lambda^2 \left(-s - \frac{s}{u} (s - u) + \frac{s^2}{u}\right) \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

This implies $y \in \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+)$. Set $\bar{\lambda} \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\bar{y} := y(\bar{\lambda}) \in \partial^{\mathbb{I}}_C V_s(t_+)$ and $\|\bar{y}\| = 1$, i.e. $\bar{y} \in \partial^{\mathbb{I}}_C V_s(t_+) \cap \partial \mathcal{S}^1$. Next we show, that \bar{x} and \bar{y} lie in different connecting components. Since $v_u \notin S$ and $\frac{s}{u} > 0$ we observe that the vectors $\bar{x} = v_s + v_u$ and $\bar{y} = v_s - \frac{s}{u}v_u$ lie on different sides of the two dimensional subspace S, see (5.84). This means every path between \bar{x} and \bar{y} goes through S. Further, we have $S \cap \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \cap \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) = \{0\}$, since ${}^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \setminus \{0\}$ is by Corollary 5.3.2/ 5.3.5 open. Thus, there does not exist a path between \bar{x} and \bar{y} which lies in $\partial^{\mathbb{I}}_C V_s(t_+) \cap \partial \mathcal{S}^1 \subset \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \setminus \{0\}$. Hence, \bar{x} and \bar{y} lie in different connecting components.

Next we show estimate (5.87). Fix $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Then we get for the distance between the normed $\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}$ and $\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{y}$ as in the case $\ell = 1$

$$\begin{split} \left\| \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}\|_2} - \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{y}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{y}\|_2} \right\|_2 &= \left\| \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}\|_2} - \frac{\bar{\lambda}\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{y}(1)}{\bar{\lambda}\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{y}(1)\|_2} \right\|_2 \\ &\leq \left\| \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{x}}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_2} - \frac{\Phi(t_0, t_+)\bar{y}(1)}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_2} \right\|_2 \\ &\leq \frac{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)(v_s + v_u - (v_s - \frac{s}{u}v_u))\|_2}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_2} \\ &= \frac{(1 + \frac{s}{u})\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_2}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_2} \\ &\leq C \frac{(1 + \frac{s}{u})\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_2}{\|\Phi(t_0, t_+)v_s\|_\Gamma} \\ &\leq C(1 + \frac{s}{u})\frac{\|v_u\|_{\Gamma} e^{-\beta(t_+ - t_0)}}{\|v_s\|_{\Gamma} e^{\alpha(t_+ - t_0)}} \\ &\leq C(\bar{x})e^{-\delta(t_+ - t_0)} \\ &\leq \bar{C}e^{-\delta(t_+ - t_0)} \end{split}$$

for constants $C, C(\bar{x}) > 0$ with $\bar{C} := \max \{ C(x) | x \in (\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t_+) \cap \partial S^1) \}$ and $\delta = \alpha + \beta$.

Finally we proof (5.83). Note that by Definition 4.1.1 the distance of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ equals the distance of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_C V_s(t_+)$ for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Fix $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and denote by $\mathcal{X}_i(t)$, $i \in \{1, 2\}$ the connecting components of $\partial_C^{\mathbb{I}} V_s(t) \cap \partial \mathcal{S}^1$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. For $\ell = 1$ the distance of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ satisfies by (5.87) and the invertibility of $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$

$$d_s(t) = \max\{ \|x - y\|_2 | x, y \in \mathcal{X}_1(t_0) \}$$

$$\leq \max\{ \bar{C}e^{-\delta(t_+ - t_0)} | x, y \in \mathcal{X}_1(t_0) \} = \bar{C}e^{-\delta(t_+ - t_0)}$$

Let $\ell = 2$. Then we obtain by (5.87)

$$d_{H}(\mathcal{X}_{1}(t_{0}), \mathcal{X}_{2}(t_{0})) = \max\{\min\{\|x_{1} - x_{2}\|_{2} | x_{2} \in \mathcal{X}_{2}(t_{0})\} | x_{1} \in \mathcal{X}_{1}(t_{0})\} \\ \leq \max\{\|\bar{x} - \bar{y}(\bar{x})\|_{2} | \bar{x} \in \mathcal{X}_{1}(t_{0}) \text{ and } \bar{y}(\bar{x}) \text{ as defined before}\} \\ \leq \max\{\bar{C}e^{-\delta(t_{+} - t_{0})} | \bar{x} \in \mathcal{X}_{1}(t_{0})\} \\ = \bar{C}e^{-\delta(t_{+} - t_{0})}$$

and directly

$$d_H(\mathcal{X}_2(t_0), \mathcal{X}_1(t_0)) \le \bar{C}e^{-\delta(t_+ - t_0)}.$$

Thus, the distance of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_+)$ satisfies

$$d_s(t_0) = \max\{d_H(\mathcal{X}_1(t_0), \mathcal{X}_2(t_0)), d_H(\mathcal{X}_2(t_0), \mathcal{X}_1(t_0))\} \le \bar{C}e^{-\delta(t_+ - t_0)}$$

Chapter 6

Fiber Bundles in Finite and Infinite Time

In dynamical systems, stable and unstable manifolds of a hyperbolic trajectory are important sources for understanding underlying dynamics. Fiber bundles are the nonautonomous equivalent of hyperbolic manifolds in the autonomous case. Their study is important to understand the local behavior of nonlinear systems. In many areas of science and engineering invariant manifolds help formulating problems and finding special solutions. In [133] the benefit of invariant manifolds theory for various examples is discussed.

In this chapter we study finite and infinite time fiber bundles. We present three different ways to define finite time fiber bundles (ft-fiber bundles) and analyze the advantage and disadvantage between these concepts. To study homoclinic trajectories, which is our purpose later, the stable and unstable fiber bundle need to intersect. We analyze this property for the three concepts and find in this way an adequate analogon to the infinite time fiber bundles. In the last section we prove that roughly speaking the (un)stable cone of a linearization locally approximates the (un)stable (ft-)fiber bundles of the original system. This enables the numerical computation of the fiber bundles, which will be focused on in Section 6.7. We start this chapter by defining the invariant infinite time fiber bundles. The definition of invariant fiber bundles for ODE models can be found in [113]. Note that invariant fiber bundles of difference equations are similarly defined, see [7].

Definition 6.0.1. Stable and unstable global fiber bundles of a trajectory $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ of equation (2.2)/(2.3) are defined as

$$W_{s,u}^{\bar{x}} := \{(x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R} : \lim_{s \to \pm \infty} \|\varphi(x,s,t) - \bar{x}(s)\| = 0\} (cont.)$$
$$W_u^{\bar{x}} := \{(x_0,t_0)\mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{Z} : \exists \text{ solution } x : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}^k : x(t_0) = x$$
$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \|x(t) - \bar{x}(t)\| = 0\} (disk.)$$

and global t-fibers are $W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}(t) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^k : (x,t) \in W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}\}.$

Local fiber bundles w.r.t. a neighborhood $U(\cdot) \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ of $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ are defined as

$$_{U}W_{s}^{\bar{x}} := \{ (x,t) \in W_{s}^{\bar{x}} : \varphi(x,s,t) \in U(s) \quad \forall s \ge t \},$$

$$_{U}W_{u}^{\bar{x}} := \{ (x,t) \in W_{u}^{\bar{x}} : \varphi(x,s,t) \in U(s) \quad \forall s \le t \}$$

and local t-fibers are $_{U}W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}(t) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^k : (x,t) \in _{U}W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}\}.$

Monotonically (Un)Stable Ft-Fiber Bundles

In the literature we find, for example, in [45, Definition 35] a definition of stable and unstable fiber bundles for planar nonautonomous finite time differential equations, which requires a strictly monotonic convergence of solutions in forward or backward time towards the reference trajectory. This definition can be extended to higher dimensional differential equations. Hence, we call these sets monotonically (un)stable ft-fiber bundles. Note, that these sets do not have a manifold structure. However, they are some kind of analogon to the infinite time fiber bundles and, hence, we call them ft-fiber bundles. Thus, if we speak of ft-fiber bundles we do not mean that they satisfy respective topological structure, we only want to point out that they have analog properties as the infinite time fiber bundles.

In Section 6.2 and 6.3 we introduce two more sets, the monotonically ε -(un)stable ft-fiber bundle and respectively the ε -(un)stable ft-fiber bundle. We point out the differences between these concepts and analyze which one of the three definitions is the best suited analogon to the infinite time fiber bundle for our purpose, the study of homoclinic trajectories.

Definition 6.1.1. Let $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ be a solution of (2.2) with \mathbb{I} a compact interval and $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Then the set

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}M_s^{\bar{x}}(t_0) := \left\{ x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^k \big| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| \varphi(x_0, t, t_0) - \bar{x} \right\| < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_0) \right\}$$

is called the monotonically stable t_0 -ft-fiber of \bar{x} on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen norm and

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}M_u^{\bar{x}}(t_0) := \left\{ x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^k \big| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| \varphi(x_0, t, t_0) - \bar{x} \right\| > 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_0) \right\}$$

is called the **monotonically unstable** t_0 -ft-fiber of \bar{x} on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen norm. Further the sets

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}M^{\bar{x}}_{s,u} := \left\{ (x_0, t_0) \in \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{I} \big| x_0 \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}M^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}(t_0) \right\}$$

are called the monotonically stable and unstable ft-fiber bundles of \bar{x} on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen norm.

Next we show that for linear systems the stable and unstable cone, defined for a differentiable norm as in (4.12) and (4.13), coincide with the fiber bundles, defined as above, united with zero.

Lemma 6.1.2. Let $\|\cdot\|$ be an arbitrary differentiable norm in \mathbb{R}^k , $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}$ a compact interval and $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Further let ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$, ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0)$ be the stable and unstable t_0 -cone w.r.t. the chosen norm $\|\cdot\|$ of an M-hyperbolic system on \mathbb{I} with solution operator $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ and exponential rates $\alpha, \beta > 0$. Then we have

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t_{0}) = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \Phi(t, t_{0}) \xi \| < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \cup \{0\} = {}^{\mathbb{I}}M_{s}^{0}(t_{0}), \quad (6.1)$$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t_{0}) = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right\| \Phi(t, t_{0}) \xi \right\| > 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \cup \{0\} = {}^{\mathbb{I}}M_{u}^{0}(t_{0}), \quad (6.2)$$

where ${}^{\mathbb{I}}M_{s,u}(t_0)$ are the monotonically stable and unstable ft-fiber bundles of the given system.

Proof. For $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$ the inequality $\|\Phi(t,t_0)\xi\|e^{\alpha t} \leq \|\Phi(s,t_0)\xi\|e^{\alpha s}$ holds for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s$. Thus, we obtain for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$

$$0 \ge \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left[\|\Phi(t, t_0)\xi\|e^{\alpha t} \right] = e^{\alpha t} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\Phi(t, t_0)\xi\| + \|\Phi(t, t_0)\xi\|\alpha e^{\alpha t}.$$
(6.3)

The inequality is trivial for $\xi = 0$. For $\xi \neq 0$ we have $\|\Phi(t, t_0)\xi\|\alpha e^{\alpha t} > 0$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. By (6.3) the estimate $\frac{d}{dt} \|\Phi(t, t_0)\xi\| < 0$ holds for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, since $e^{\alpha t} > 0$. This leads to

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0) \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \Phi(t, t_0) \xi \| < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I} \} \cup \{0\} = {}^{\mathbb{I}}M_s^0(t_0).$$

Next we show ${}^{\mathbb{I}}M_s^0(t_0) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$. By definition of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$ it follows that $0 \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$ for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Let $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}M_s^0(t_0) \setminus \{0\}$ then there exists an $r \in \mathbb{R}$ with r > 0 such that

$$\max_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\Phi(t, t_0)\xi\| = -r_t$$

since \mathbb{I} is a compact interval. Choose α small enough such that

$$\max_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \|\Phi(t, t_0)\xi\| \alpha \le r$$

holds then we get

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left[\|\Phi(t,t_0)\xi\|e^{\alpha t} \right] = e^{\alpha t} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\Phi(t,t_0)\xi\| + \|\Phi(t,t_0)\xi\|\alpha \right)$$
$$\leq e^{\alpha t} \left(\max_{t\in\mathbb{I}} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\Phi(t,t_0)\xi\| + \max_{t\in\mathbb{I}} \|\Phi(t,t_0)\xi\|\alpha \right)$$
$$\leq e^{\alpha t} \left(-r+r \right) = 0$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Hence, the inequality

$$\|\Phi(t,t_0)\xi\|e^{\alpha t} \le \|\Phi(s,t_0)\xi\|e^{\alpha s}$$

holds for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t \geq s$. This leads to $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0)$ and (6.1) is proved. Analogously, we can show (6.2).

149

Remark 6.1.3. Assume (A0). Let $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$ and let system (2.7) be D-hyperbolic on the compact interval $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}$ w.r.t. the Γ -norm. Denote by $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ the solution operator then we have

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0) = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \Phi(t, t_0)\xi, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t, t_0)\xi \rangle < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \cup \{0\},$$
$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0) = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \Phi(t, t_0)\xi, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t, t_0)\xi \rangle > 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \cup \{0\}.$$

Indeed, since a Γ -norm is differentiable the statements follow from equations (6.1), (6.2) and equation (3.16). Without using equations (6.1) and (6.2) we already showed (see equations (5.24), (5.25))

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(t_{0}) = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \Phi(t_{+}, t_{0})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_{+})\Phi(t_{+}, t_{0})\xi \rangle < 0 \right\} \cup \{0\},$$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t_{0}) = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \Phi(t_{-}, t_{0})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_{-})\Phi(t_{-}, t_{0})\xi \rangle > 0 \right\} \cup \{0\}.$$

Since our system is D-hyperbolic $M_{Z_{\Gamma}}(t)$ is positive definite for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ and we get by Corollary 5.2.2 for all $\xi_s \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(t_0) \setminus \{0\}, \ \xi_u \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0) \setminus \{0\}$ and $t \in \mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$

$$\Phi(t,t_0)\xi_s = \Phi(t,t_+)\Phi(t_+,t_0)\xi_s \in \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t)\xi \rangle < 0\},\$$

$$\Phi(t,t_0)\xi_u = \Phi(t,t_-)\Phi(t_-,t_0)\xi_u \in \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t)\xi \rangle > 0\}.$$

In the following we study an example of a solution of an infinite time autonomous hyperbolic dynamical system, which lies on the infinite time stable manifold. We show that a finite part of this solution lies on the finite time monotonically unstable ft-fiber bundle, defined in Definition 6.1.1. One hyperbolic system that has the properties described in the following example is generated by the differential equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -u_2 + 0.98u_1 \\ u_1^2 - u_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.4)

Example 6.1.4. Consider a hyperbolic autonomous dynamical system on \mathbb{R} , which has a fixed point ξ and a nontrivial solution $x(\cdot)$ with $\lim_{t\to\infty} x(t) = \xi$, i.e. $x(t) \in W_s^{\xi}(t)$. Denote by φ the solution operator. Let $t_-, t_+, s_-, s_+ \in \mathbb{R}$ with

 $t_+ > t_- > s_+ > s_-, \ t_+ - t_- = s_+ - s_-.$

The solution $x(\cdot)$ curvess as presented in Figure 6.1.

For $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$ we observe that $x(t_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}M_s^{\xi}(t_0)$ for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, while for $\mathbb{I} = [s_-, s_+]$ we get $x(t_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}M_u^{\xi}(t_0)$ for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$.

Thus, we see that a finite part of an infinite solution can lie on the monotonically unstable ft-fiber although the infinite solution lies on the stable fiber.

To avoid this or at least to reduce the possibility of such a case we introduce the variable $\varepsilon > 0$ and require a addional condition. The new bundles are called monotonically ε -(un)stable ft-fiber bundles and are introduced in the next section.



Figure 6.1: A fixed point ξ (black) and a solution $x(\cdot)$ which converges to the fixed point (presented in green). In the right an ε -ball is drawn around ξ and the solution point $x(\bar{t})$ on the border is marked by a blue cross.

Monotonically ε -(Un)Stable Ft-Fiber Bundles

In this section we introduce a second way to define ft-fiber bundles, the so called monotonically ε -(un)stable ft-fiber bundles. We find similarities to the monotonically (un)stable ft-fiber bundles. Additionally to the continuous time case, we define the monotonically ε -(un)stable ft-fibers for discrete time systems as well.

In the following let $B_{\varepsilon}(y) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^k | \|x - y\|_2 < \varepsilon\}$ denote the open ε -ball around $y \in \mathbb{R}^k$ with radius $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$.

Definition 6.2.1. Let $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ be a solution of (2.2) and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then the set

$$\overset{\mathbb{I}}{\varepsilon} M_s^{\bar{x}} := \left\{ (x_0, t_0) \in \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{I} \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \varphi(x_0, t, t_0) - \bar{x}(t) \| < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, \right. \\ \left. \varphi(x_0, t_+, t_0) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_+)) \right\} \cup \left\{ (\bar{x}(t_0), t_0) | t_0 \in \mathbb{I} \right\}$$

is called the monotonically ε -stable ft-fiber bundle of \bar{x} on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen differentiable norm and

$$\overset{\mathbb{I}}{\varepsilon} M_{u}^{\bar{x}} := \left\{ (x_{0}, t_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \middle| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \varphi(x_{0}, t, t_{0}) - \bar{x}(t) \| > 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, \\ \varphi(x_{0}, t_{-}, t_{0}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_{-})) \right\} \cup \{ \bar{x}(t_{0}), t_{0}) | t_{0} \in \mathbb{I} \}$$

is called the **monotonically** ε -unstable ft-fiber bundle of \bar{x} on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen differentiable norm.

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t) := \left\{ x_{0} \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| (x_{0}, t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s} \right\}, \; {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{u}(t) := \left\{ x_{0} \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| (x_{0}, t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{u} \right\} \right\}$$

are the monotonically ε -stable and monotonically ε -unstable ft-t-fibers.

The almost stable and unstable cones with the explicit form given in (4.10), (4.11) represent ft-fiber bundles of a linearized system. The construction helps to define the ft-fiber bundles of a nonautonomous nonlinear difference equation. First we need a kernel function for $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and a solution $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ of (2.3)

This function yields the earliest time at which a vector ξ is mapped onto the solution \bar{x} , i.e. the earliest time at which ξ lies in the kernel of $\varphi(\xi, \cdot, n_0) - \bar{x}(\cdot)$.

Definition 6.2.2. Let $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ be a solution of (2.3) and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then the set

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{I}_{\varepsilon} M_{s}^{\bar{x}} &:= \Big\{ (\xi, n_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \Big| \exists \mu \in {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\xi, n_{0}) \text{ with } \bar{n} := {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{min}}(\xi, n_{0}) \text{ and} \\ & \mathring{n} := {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}}^{\bar{x}}(\mu, \bar{n}) : \| \varphi(\mu, n, \bar{n}) - \bar{x}(n) \| < \| \varphi(\mu, m, \bar{n}) - \bar{x}(m) \| \\ & \text{for all } n, m \in [\bar{n}, \mathring{n}]_{\mathbb{Z}}, n > m \text{ and } \varphi(\xi, n_{+}, n_{0}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(n_{+})), \Big\} \end{split}$$

is called the monotonically ε -stable ft-fiber bundle of \bar{x} on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen norm and

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M^{\bar{x}}_{u} := \left\{ (\xi, n_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \Big|_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_{0}) = n_{-} \text{ and } \exists \mu \in {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\xi, n_{0}) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(n_{-})) :$$
$$\|\varphi(\mu, n, n_{-}) - \bar{x}(n)\| > \|\varphi(\mu, m, n_{-}) - \bar{x}(m)\| \text{ for all } n, m \in \mathbb{I}, n > m \right\}$$
$$\cup \left\{ (\bar{x}(t_{0}), t_{0}) | t_{0} \in \mathbb{I} \right\}$$

is called the **monotonically** ε -unstable ft-fiber bundle of \bar{x} on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen norm.

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s}(n) := \left\{ x_{0} \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| (x_{0}, n) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s} \right\}, \; {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{u}(n) := \left\{ x_{0} \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| (x_{0}, n) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{u} \right\} \right\}$$

are called the monotonically ε -stable and ε -unstable ft-n-fibers.

The following example shows the main advantage of monotonically ε -stable and ε -unstable ft-fiber bundles over monotonically stable and unstable ft-fiber bundles.

Example 6.2.3. Consider the setting in Example 6.1.4 and in Figure 6.1. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\mathbb{I} := [r_-, r_+]$. Then a solution $y(\cdot)$ with $y(t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M_s^{\varepsilon}(t), t \in \mathbb{I}$ satisfies $y(r_+) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\xi)$, i.e. the boundary point $x(r_+)$ of $x(\cdot)$ lies in the ε -ball around the fixed point ξ . A solution $z(\cdot)$ with $z(t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M_u^{\xi}(t), t \in \mathbb{I}$ satisfies $y(r_-) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\xi)$, i.e. the boundary point $x(r_-)$ of $x(\cdot)$ lies in the ε -ball around the fixed point ξ . For $r_{\pm} := t_{\pm}$ the given solution $x(\cdot)$ satisfies $x(t_+) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\xi)$, cf. the right part

of Figure 6.1. This leads to $x(t_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M_s^{\xi}(t_0)$ for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. For $r_{\pm} := s_{\pm}$ the solution $x(\cdot)$ shown in the right half of Figure 6.1 satisfies

$$x(s_{-}) \notin B_{\varepsilon}(\xi)$$

Thus, for $\mathbb{I} = [s_-, s_+]$ we have

$$x(t_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}M_u^{\xi}(t_0), \quad x(t_0) \notin {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M_u^{\xi}(t_0)$$

for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$.

This shows that Definition 6.2.1 prevents or at least reduces the risk that finite parts of a stable infinite time solution lie on the unstable finite time fiber.

A disadvantage of Definition 6.2.1 in contrast to Definition 6.1.1 is that not all finite time parts of a monotonically stable infinite time solution lie in the monotonically ε -stable ft-fiber although they lie on the monotonically stable ft-fiber. This fact illustrates the following example.

Example 6.2.4. Consider a hyperbolic autonomous dynamical system on $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$, which has a fixed point ξ and two nontrivial solutions $y(\cdot)$, $z(\cdot)$ which monotonically converges towards the fixed point ξ as presented in Figure 6.2, where $t_{-}, t_{+}, s_{-}, s_{+} \in \mathbb{R}$ with

$$t_+ > t_- > s_+ > s_-, t_+ - t_- = s_+ - s_-.$$



Figure 6.2: A fixed point ξ in an ε -ball (black) and solutions $y(\cdot)$ (left) and $z(\cdot)$ (right) (presented in green) which converges towards the fixed point.

For $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$ we have $y(t_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M_s^{\xi}(t_0)$ for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, while for $\hat{\mathbb{I}} = [s_-, s_+]$ we have

$$y(t_0) \in {}^{\hat{\mathbb{I}}}M^{\xi}_s(t_0), \quad y(t_0) \notin {}^{\hat{\mathbb{I}}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\xi}_s(t_0)$$

for all $t_0 \in \hat{\mathbb{I}}$.

Thus, Definition 6.2.1 may yields less solutions which are stable in infinite time than Definition 6.1.1. The differential equation (6.4) generates a dynamical system with the required properties of example 6.2.4.

Both ft-fiber bundles (monotonically and monotonically ε) have one disadvantage in common. If a infinite stable solution ends in the ε -ball the finite time parts may not line in the ft-fibers. An illustration is presented the following example.

Example 6.2.5. Consider the setting of Example 6.2.4. The solution $z(\cdot)$ intersects three times the boundary of the ε -ball. The intersections are marked with an cross at time \bar{t} in blue, at s in red and at r in magenta. For $\mathbb{I} = [s - 1, \bar{t} + 1]$ we see

$$z(t_0) \notin {}^{\mathbb{I}}M_s^{\xi}(t_0), z(t_0) \notin {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M_s^{\xi}(t_0)$$

for all $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$, although $x(t_+) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\xi)$. The finite solution does not monotonically converge towards the fixed point ξ .

We analyze convergence properties of solutions on the continuous stable infinite fiber bundles. Therefore, let $\bar{\xi}$ be a fixed point of a continuous infinite time dynamical system and $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ be a solution with $\bar{x}(t) \in W_s^{\bar{\xi}}(t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$. The solution \bar{x} convergences towards the fixed point $\bar{\xi}$ but in general not monotonically. It satisfies

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \bar{x}(t) = \bar{\xi}$$

This means we find a $T \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\frac{d}{dt} \|\bar{x}(t) - \xi\| < 0$ for all t > T. An adaption to a finite time interval (if I is sufficiently large and $T \in \mathbb{I} \setminus \{t_+\}$) leads to the existence of a $T \in \mathbb{I} \setminus \{t_+\}$ such that $\frac{d}{dt} \|\bar{x}(t) - \xi\| < 0$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}, t > T$. Thus, we do not require monotonic convergence on the whole interval I. Hence, we should demand monotonic convergence inside an ε -ball around ξ for all forward defined times from the time at which the solution last intersects with the boundary of the ε -ball. Important is that we do not require monotonicity for all times, at which the solution lies inside the ε -ball. This means for the solution $z(\cdot)$ illustrated in the right panel of Figure 6.2 that we require monotonicity for all times $t \in \mathbb{I}, t > \overline{t}$ ($x(\overline{t})$ is marked by a blue cross) and not for times $t \in \mathbb{I}$ with r < t < s. Ft-fiber bundles with these properties are defined in the next section and are called ε -(un)stable ft-fiber bundles.

ε -(Un)Stable Ft-Fiber Bundles

A third way to define ft-fiber bundles is presented in this section. In contrast to the other two definitions a monotonically decrease or growth of the whole solution is not required for solutions on these ft-fiber bundles, which are called the ε -(un)stable ft-fiber bundles. As mentioned in the last section for the definition we need the last and first time at which a solution intersects with the boundary of the ε -ball.

Therefore, we introduce two functions, which yield the first and last time at which an orbit intersects with the boundary of an ε -ball around a given trajectory. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ then define

$$\begin{split} & {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}: \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{I} \cup \{t_{+}+1\}, \\ & (\mu, \bar{x}, \bar{t}) \mapsto \begin{cases} t_{+}+1, & \text{if } \varphi(\mu, t_{+}, \bar{t}) \notin B_{\varepsilon}(\varphi(\bar{x}, t_{+}, \bar{t})), \\ & \min\left\{\hat{t} \in \mathbb{I} | \hat{t} \geq \bar{t}, \varphi(\mu, t, \bar{t}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\varphi(\bar{x}, t, \bar{t})) \forall t \in \mathbb{I}, t > \hat{t}\right\}, \text{ else,} \end{cases}$$

For the solution $z(\cdot)$, illustrated in the right panel of Figure 6.2, the first function yields ${}_{\varphi}^{\mathbb{I}}\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(x(t),\xi,t) = \bar{t}$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ if $\bar{t} \in \mathbb{I}$. In the following lemmas we summarize some basic properties, as the symmetry, of these functions.

Lemma 6.3.1. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$ be a compact interval. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and φ be the solution operator of (2.1) then

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(x,y,t_0) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(y,x,t_0), \; {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\max}_{\varepsilon}(x,y) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\max}_{\varepsilon}(y,x)$$

hold for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$.

Proof. Let $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^k$ and $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Assume $\varphi(x, t_+, t_0) \notin B_{\varepsilon}(\varphi(y, t_+, t_0))$ then

$$\varepsilon \le \|\varphi(x, t_+, t_0) - \varphi(y, t_+, t_0)\|_2 = \|\varphi(y, t_+, t_0) - \varphi(x, t_+, t_0)\|_2,$$

i.e. $\varphi(y, t_+, t_0) \notin B_{\varepsilon}(\varphi(x, t_+, t_0))$. Thus, ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}B^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(x, y, t_0) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}B^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(y, x, t_0)$ holds. Next assume $\varphi(x, t_+, t_0) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\varphi(y, t_+, t_0))$ then

follows. Analogously, we get ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}B^{\max}_{\varepsilon}(x,y) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}B^{\max}_{\varepsilon}(y,x).$

155

Lemma 6.3.2. Let \mathbb{I} be a compact interval and $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ be a solution of (2.2)/(2.3) and let $\varepsilon > 0$. For each $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(x,\bar{x}(t_1),t_1) \leq {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(\varphi(x,t_2,t_1),\bar{x}(t_2),t_2)$$

is satisfied for all $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{I}, t_2 \geq t_1$.

Proof. Let $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$, $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{I} := [t_-, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}$, $t_2 \ge t_1$. If $t_+ + 1 = {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi} \mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(x, \bar{x}(t_1), t_1) \notin \mathbb{I}$ then

$$\varphi(\varphi(x,t_2,t_1),t_+,t_2) = \varphi(x,t_+,t_1) \notin B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_+)).$$

Thus $t_{+} + 1 = {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(\varphi(x, t_{2}, t_{1}), \bar{x}(t_{2}), t_{2}) \notin \mathbb{I}$. Assume ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(x, \bar{x}(t_{1}), t_{1}) \in \mathbb{I}$ then

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{I}_{\varphi} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(x, \bar{x}(t_{1}), t_{1}) \\ &= \min\{\hat{t} \in \mathbb{I} | \hat{t} \geq t_{1}, \varphi(x, t, t_{1}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t)) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, t > \hat{t} \} \\ &\leq \{\hat{t} \in \mathbb{I} | \hat{t} \geq t_{2}, \varphi(x, t, t_{1}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t)) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, t > \hat{t} \} \\ &= \{\hat{t} \in \mathbb{I} | \hat{t} \geq t_{2}, \varphi(\varphi(x, t_{2}, t_{1}), t, t_{2}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t)) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, t > \hat{t} \} \\ &= _{\varphi}^{\mathbb{I}} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(\varphi(x, t_{2}, t_{1}), \bar{x}(t_{2}), t_{2}). \end{split}$$

With the help of the latter studied functions we are able to define the ε -stable and ε -unstable ft-fiber bundles. We start with the continuous case.

Definition 6.3.3. Let $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Let $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ be a solution of (2.2). Then the set

$$\begin{split} {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^{\bar{x}}_{s} &:= \left\{ (x_{0}, t_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \middle| \hat{t} := {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi} \mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(\varphi(x_{0}, t_{-}, t_{0}), \bar{x}(t_{-}), t_{-}) \in \mathbb{I} \text{ and} \\ & \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| \varphi(x_{0}, t, t_{0}) - \bar{x}(t) \right\| < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, t > \hat{t} \right\} \cup \{ (\bar{x}(t_{0}), t_{0}) | t_{0} \in \mathbb{I} \} \end{split}$$

is called the ε -stable ft-fiber bundle of \bar{x} on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen differentiable norm. The ε -unstable ft-fiber bundle of \bar{x} on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen differentiable norm is defined as

$$\overset{\mathbb{I}}{\varepsilon} W_{u}^{\bar{x}} := \left\{ (x_{0}, t_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \middle| \hat{t} := \overset{\mathbb{I}}{\varphi} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\max}(\varphi(x_{0}, t_{-}, t_{0}), \bar{x}(t_{-})) \in \mathbb{I} \text{ and} \right. \\ \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| \varphi(x_{0}, t, t_{0}) - \bar{x}(t) \right\| > 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, t < \hat{t} \right\} \cup \left\{ (\bar{x}(t_{0}), t_{0}) \middle| t_{0} \in \mathbb{I} \right\}.$$

The sets

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t) := \left\{ x_{0} \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \big| (x_{0}, t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^{\bar{x}}_{s} \right\},$$
$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^{\bar{x}}_{u}(t) := \left\{ x_{0} \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \big| (x_{0}, t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^{\bar{x}}_{u} \right\}$$

are the ε -stable and ε -unstable ft-t-fibers.

Analogously to the continuous time case, we define the ε -stable and ε unstable ft-fiber bundles.

Definition 6.3.4. Let $\mathbb{I} := [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ with $n_{\pm} \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\varepsilon < 0$. Further, let $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ be a solution of (2.3). Then the set

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{I}_{\varepsilon} W^{\bar{x}}_{s} &:= \Big\{ (\xi, n_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \Big| \exists \mu \in {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\xi, n_{0}) \text{ with } \bar{n} := {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{min}}(\xi, n_{0}), \\ & \mathring{n} := {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}}^{\bar{x}}(\mu, \bar{n}) \text{ and } \hat{n} := {}_{\varphi}^{\mathbb{I}} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{min}}(\mu, \bar{x}(\bar{n}), \bar{n}) \in \mathbb{I} : \\ & \| \varphi(\mu, n, \bar{n}) - \bar{x}(n) \| < \| \varphi(\mu, m, \bar{n}) - \bar{x}(m) \| \\ & \text{for all } n, m \in \mathbb{I}, \mathring{n} \ge n > m > \hat{n} \Big\} \end{split}$$

is called the ε -stable ft-fiber bundle of \bar{x} on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen norm. The ε -unstable ft-fiber bundle of \bar{x} on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. the chosen norm is defined as

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{I}_{\varepsilon} W_{u}^{\bar{x}} &:= \Big\{ (\xi, n_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \Big|_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_{0}) = n_{-} \text{ and } \exists \mu \in_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_{0}) \text{ with } \\ \hat{n} &:= \mathbb{I}_{\varphi} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\max}(\mu, \bar{x}(n_{-})) \in \mathbb{I} : \\ \|\varphi(\mu, n, n_{-}) - \bar{x}(n)\| > \|\varphi(\mu, m, n_{-}) - \bar{x}(m)\| \\ for \text{ all } n, m \in \mathbb{I}, m < n < \hat{n} \Big\} \cup \big\{ (\bar{x}(n), n) \big| n \in \mathbb{I} \big\} . \end{split}$$

The sets

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{s}(n) := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | (x,n) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{s} \right\},$$
$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{u}(n) := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | (x,n) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{u} \right\}$$

are called the ε -stable and ε -unstable ft-n-fiber.

Characteristics of the Ft-Fiber Bundles

In this section we analyze the characteristics of the ft-fiber bundles defined in Definition 6.1.1, Definition 6.2.1, 6.2.2 and Definition 6.3.3, 6.3.4. In particular we study their invariance properties and we verify whether the stable and unstable fibers intersect. These facts enable us to determine an adequate analogon of the infinite time fiber bundles for finite time systems.

Remark 6.4.1. The ft-fiber bundles ${}^{\mathbb{I}}M_s^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$, ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M_s^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W_s^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$ of an invertible system are open sets for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. The ft-fiber bundles ${}^{\mathbb{I}}M_u^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$, ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M_u^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W_u^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$ of any dynamical system are open for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

Indeed, the monotonically ft-fiber bundles ${}^{\mathbb{I}}M_{s,u}^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$ are open for all $t \in \mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}$, see [45, Remark 36].

To prove that ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t_{0}), t_{0} \in \mathbb{I}$ of an invertible system is open it is sufficient to prove that for each $x_{0} \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t_{0})$ a $\delta > 0$ exists such that

$$\varphi(t_+, t_0) B_{\delta}(x_0) \subset B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_+)).$$

Let $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and $x_0 \in \mathbb{I}_{\varepsilon} M_s^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$. By the continuity of φ we find for every $B_{\delta}(x_0)$ a $\delta_1 > 0$ such that $\varphi(t_+, t_0) B_{\delta}(x_0) \subset B_{\delta_1}(\varphi(x_0, t_+, t_0))$. Thus, for δ sufficiently small we obtain

$$\varphi(t_+, t_0) B_{\delta}(x_0) \subset B_{\delta_1}(\varphi(x_0, t_+, t_0)) \subset B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_+)).$$

For noninvertible systems there exist a $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and a $\bar{x}(t_0) \neq \xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M_s^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$ with ${}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}}^{\bar{x}}(\xi, t_0) = t_0$. With these points the sets are not open. Since for every t_0 and each $\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M_u^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$ we have ${}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}}^{\bar{x}}(\xi, t_0) \notin \mathbb{I}$ the set ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M_u^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$ of any dynamical system is open. Analogously, we obtain that ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W_u^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$, $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ of an invertible system and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W_u^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$, $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ of any dynamical system are open.

The ft-fibers have invariance properties. For ${}^{\mathbb{I}}M_{s,u}^{\bar{x}}$ we refer to [45, Theorem 37]. The following lemma shows that ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M_{s,u}^{\bar{x}}(t)$ are "invariant" sets for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, $\varepsilon > 0$. In Lemma 6.4.3 we prove the same invariance properties for ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W_{s,u}^{\bar{x}}$, $\varepsilon > 0$.

Lemma 6.4.2. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$. Assume that $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k}$ is a solution of (2.2)/(2.3) and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then the monotonically ε -unstable ft-fiber bundle $\mathbb{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} M_{u}^{\bar{x}}$ is invariant and the monotonically ε -stable ft-fiber bundle $\mathbb{I}_{\varepsilon} M_{s}^{\bar{x}}$ is at least forward invariant w.r.t. t_{-} , i.e. we have for all $t_{1}, t_{0} \in \mathbb{I}, t_{1} > t_{0}$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{u}(t_{1}) = \varphi(t_{1}, t_{0})^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{u}(t_{0}), \qquad (6.5)$$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t_{1}) \supset \varphi(t_{1}, t_{-})^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t_{-})$$

$$(6.6)$$

and if φ is invertible

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t_{1}) = \varphi(t_{1}, t_{0})^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t_{0}).$$

$$(6.7)$$

Proof. We show the invariance for the ε -stable ft-fibers. For $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ let $t_0, t_1 \in \mathbb{I}$ and $x(t_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M_s^{\bar{x}}(t_0) \setminus \{\bar{x}(t_0)\}$. Then we have for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$

$$0 > \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\varphi(x(t_0), t, t_0) - \bar{x}(t)\| = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\varphi(\varphi(x(t_0), t_1, t_0), t, t_1) - \bar{x}(t)\|$$

This implies $\varphi(x(t_0), t_1, t_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M_s^{\overline{x}}(t_1)$ and we get

$$\varphi(t_1, t_0)_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} M_s^{\bar{x}}(t_0) \subset {}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} M_s^{\bar{x}}(t_1).$$
(6.8)

Thus (6.6) is shown. Since φ is invertible and (6.8) holds for all $t_0, t_1 \in \mathbb{I}$ we get (6.7). By the same arguments we obtain Equation (6.5).

For $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$ we get for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$

$$\begin{split} \varphi(t,t_{-})_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}}M_{s}^{\bar{x}}(t_{-}) &= \left\{\varphi(\xi,t,t_{-}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \xi \in \frac{\mathbb{I}}{\varepsilon}M_{s}^{\bar{x}}(t_{-}) \right\} \\ &= \left\{\varphi(\xi,t,t_{-}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \varphi(\xi,t_{+},t_{-}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_{+})) \text{ and} \\ &\|\varphi(\xi,t,t_{-}) - \bar{x}(t)\| < \|\varphi(\xi,s,t_{-}) - \bar{x}(s)\| \\ &\text{ for all } t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq t > s \text{ with } t := \varphi \mathcal{T}_{ker}^{\bar{x}}(\xi,t_{-}) \right\} \\ &\subset \left\{\tilde{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle|_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\tilde{\xi},t) = t_{-}, t := \varphi \mathcal{T}_{ker}^{\bar{x}}(\tilde{\xi},t) : \varphi(\tilde{\xi},t_{+},t) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_{+})), \\ &\exists \xi \in \varphi \mathcal{T}_{pre}(\tilde{\xi},t) : \|\varphi(\xi,t,t_{-}) - \bar{x}(t)\| < \|\varphi(\xi,s,t_{-}) - \bar{x}(s)\| \\ &\text{ for all } t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq t > s \right\} \\ &\subset_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} M_{s}^{\bar{x}}(t). \end{split}$$

Further for all $t_1, t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ with $t_1 > t_0$ we obtain by Lemma 4.1.4

$$\begin{split} \varphi(t_1, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M^{\bar{x}}_u(t_0) \\ = & \{\varphi(\xi, t_1, t_0) \in \mathbb{R}^k |_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, t_0) = t_- \land \exists \mu \in {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\xi, t_0) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_-)) : \\ & \|\varphi(\mu, t, t_-) - \bar{x}(t)\| > \|\varphi(\mu, s, t_-) - \bar{x}(s)\| \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t > s \} \\ & \cup \{\bar{x}(t_0)\} \\ = & \{\tilde{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^k |_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\tilde{\xi}, t_1) = t_- \land \exists \mu \in {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\tilde{\xi}, t_1) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_-)) : \\ & \|\varphi(\mu, t, t_-) - \bar{x}(t)\| > \|\varphi(\mu, s, t_-) - \bar{x}(s)\| \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t > s \} \\ & \cup \{\bar{x}(t_0)\} \\ = & \frac{\mathbb{I}}{\varepsilon} M^{\bar{x}}_u(t_1). \end{split}$$

Let φ be invertible then we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi(t_1, t_0)_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} M_s^{\bar{x}}(t_0) \\ &= \left\{ \varphi(t_1, t_0) \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \middle| \left\| \varphi(\xi, t, t_0) - \bar{x}(t) \right\| < \left\| \varphi(\xi, s, t_0) - \bar{x}(s) \right\| \\ &\text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t > s \text{ and } \varphi(\xi, t_+, t_0) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_+)) \right\} \cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_1) \right\} \\ &= \left\{ \tilde{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^k \middle| \left\| \varphi(\tilde{\xi}, t, t_1) - \bar{x}(t) \right\| < \left\| \varphi(\tilde{\xi}, s, t_1) - \bar{x}(s) \right\| \\ &\text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t > s \text{ and } \varphi(\tilde{\xi}, t_+, t_1) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_+)) \right\} \cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_1) \right\} \\ &= _{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} M_s^{\bar{x}}(t_1). \end{split}$$

Note that ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s}$ is in general not forward invariant, see Example 4.1.8.

The ft-fiber bundles have the same invariance properties as the monotonically ft-fiber bundles.

Lemma 6.4.3. Let $\mathbb{T} \in {\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} := [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$ and let $\varepsilon > 0$. Further, let $x(\cdot)$ be a trajectory of system (2.2)/(2.3) then the ε -unstable ft-t-fibers are invariant under $\varphi(\cdot, t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ and the ε -stable ft-t_-fiber is forward invariant, i.e.

$$\begin{split} \varphi(t,t_{-})_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}}W_{s}^{\bar{x}}(t_{-}) &\subset {}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}}W_{s}^{\bar{x}}(t) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, \\ \varphi(t_{1},t_{0})_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}}W_{u}^{\bar{x}}(t_{0}) &= {}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}}W_{u}^{\bar{x}}(t_{1}) \text{ for all } t_{1}, t_{0} \in \mathbb{I}, \ t_{1} \geq t_{0}. \end{split}$$

If the system is invertible then the ft-t-fibers are invariant under $\varphi(\cdot, t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, i.e.

$$\varphi(t_1, t_0)_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^{\bar{x}}(t_0) = {}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^{\bar{x}}(t_1) \text{ for all } t_1, t_0 \in \mathbb{I}.$$

Proof. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Let $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ be a trajectory of (2.3), $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. For all $t_1 \in \mathbb{I}$, $t_1 \ge t_0$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} \varphi(t_1, t_0)_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_u^{\bar{x}}(t_0) \\ &= \left\{ \varphi(x, t_1, t_0) \in \mathbb{R}^k \big|_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(x, t_0) = t_- \text{ and } \exists \mu \in_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(x, t_0) \text{ with} \\ \hat{t} := \frac{\mathbb{I}}{\varphi} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\max}(\mu, \bar{x}(t_-)) \in \mathbb{I} : \|\varphi(\mu, t, t_-) - \bar{x}(t)\| > \|\varphi(\mu, s, t_-) - \bar{x}(s)\| \\ \text{ for all } s, t \in \mathbb{I}, \ s < t < \hat{t} \right\} \cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_1) \right\} \\ &= \left\{ y \in \mathbb{R}^k \big|_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(y, t_1) = t_- \text{ and } \exists \mu \in_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(y, t_1) \text{ with} \\ \hat{t} := \frac{\mathbb{I}}{\varphi} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\max}(\mu, \bar{x}(t_-)) \in \mathbb{I} : \|\varphi(\mu, t, t_-) - \bar{x}(t)\| > \|\varphi(\mu, s, t_-) - \bar{x}(s)\| \\ \text{ for all } s, t \in \mathbb{I}, \ s < t < \hat{t} \right\} \cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_1) \right\} \\ &= _{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_u^{\bar{x}}(t_1). \end{split}$$

The forward invariance of the ε -stable ft- t_- -fiber is given by

$$\begin{split} \varphi(t,t_{-})^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t_{-}) \\ &:= \Big\{ \varphi(x_{-},t,t_{-}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \Big| \, \dot{t} := _{\varphi}\mathcal{T}^{\bar{x}}_{ker}(x_{-},t_{-}) \text{ and } \hat{t} := _{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(x_{-},\bar{x}(t_{-}),t_{-}) \in \mathbb{I} : \\ & \|\varphi(x_{-},t_{1},t_{-}) - \bar{x}(t_{1})\| < \|\varphi(x_{-},t_{0},t_{-}) - \bar{x}(t_{0})\| \\ & \text{ for all } t_{1},t_{0} \in \mathbb{I}, \ \dot{t} \ge t_{1} > t_{0} > \hat{t} \Big\} \cup \{\bar{x}(t)\} \\ &= \Big\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \Big| \exists x_{-} \in _{\varphi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(x,t) \text{ with } t_{-} := _{\varphi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(x,t), \dot{t} := _{\varphi}\mathcal{T}^{\bar{x}}_{ker}(x_{-},t_{-}) \text{ and } \\ & \hat{t} := _{\varphi}^{\mathbb{I}}\mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(x_{-},\bar{x}(t_{-}),t_{-}) \in \mathbb{I} : \\ & \|\varphi(x_{-},t_{1},t_{-}) - \bar{x}(t_{1})\| < \|\varphi(x_{-},t_{0},t_{-}) - \bar{x}(t_{0})\| \\ & \text{ for all } t_{1},t_{0} \in \mathbb{I}, \ \dot{t} \ge t_{1} > t_{0} > \hat{t} \Big\} \cup \{\bar{x}(t)\} \\ &\subset \Big\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \Big| \exists \mu \in _{\varphi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(x,t) \text{ with } \bar{t} := _{\varphi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(x,t), \dot{t} := _{\varphi}\mathcal{T}^{\bar{x}}_{\text{ker}}(\mu,\bar{t}) \text{ and } \\ & \hat{t} := _{\varphi}^{\mathbb{I}}\mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(\mu,\bar{x}(\bar{t}),\bar{t}) \in \mathbb{I} : \\ & \|\varphi(\mu,t_{1},\bar{n}) - \bar{x}(t_{1})\| < \|\varphi(\mu,t_{0},\bar{n}) - \bar{x}(t_{0})\| \\ & \text{ for all } t_{1},t_{0} \in \mathbb{I}, \ \dot{t} \ge t_{1} > t_{0} > \hat{t} \Big\} \cup \{\bar{x}(t)\} \\ &= _{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}}\mathcal{W}^{\bar{x}}(t). \end{aligned}$$

Let $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ be a trajectory of (2.2) or of an invertible system (2.3). For $t_1 \in \mathbb{I}$ we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi(t_1, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^x_s(t_0) \\ &:= \left\{ \varphi(x_0, t_1, t_0) \in \mathbb{R}^k \left| \hat{t} := \frac{\mathbb{I}}{\varphi} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(\varphi(x_0, t_-, t_0), \bar{x}(t_-), t_-) \in \mathbb{I} \text{ and} \right. \\ &\left. \|\varphi(x_0, t, t_0) - \bar{x}(t)\| < \|\varphi(x_0, s, t_0) - \bar{x}(s)\| \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, \ t > s > \hat{t} \right\} \\ &\cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_1) \right\} \\ &= \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^k \left| \hat{t} := \frac{\mathbb{I}}{\varphi} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(\varphi(\varphi(x, t_0, t_1), t_-, t_0), \bar{x}(t_-), t_-) \in \mathbb{I} \text{ and} \right. \\ &\left. \|\varphi(\varphi(x, t_0, t_1), t, t_0) - \bar{x}(t)\| < \|\varphi(\varphi(x, t_0, t_1), s, t_0) - \bar{x}(s)\| \right. \\ &\text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, \ t > s > \hat{t} \right\} \\ &\cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_1) \right\} \\ &= \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^k \left| \hat{t} := \frac{\mathbb{I}}{\varphi} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(\varphi(x, t_-, t_1), \bar{x}(t_-), t_-) \in \mathbb{I} \text{ and} \right. \\ &\left. \|\varphi(x, t, t_1) - \bar{x}(t)\| < \|\varphi(x, s, t_1) - \bar{x}(s)\| \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, \ t > s > \hat{t} \right\} \\ &\cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_1) \right\} \\ &= \frac{\mathbb{I}}{\varepsilon} W^{\bar{x}}_s(t_1). \end{split}$$

Analogously, we get for the ε -unstable ft-fibers $\varphi(t_1, t_0)^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^{\bar{x}}_u(t_0) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^{\bar{x}}_u(t_1)$. \Box

It is easy to see that the monotonically ε -(un)stable ft-*t*-fibers are subsets of the ε -(un)stable ft-*t*-fibers and of the monotonically (un)stable ft-*t*-fibers, i.e.

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}(t) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I},$$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}} M^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}(t) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}.$$

$$(6.9)$$

In the following we analyze where and when the sets ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}$ coincide. We show in Lemma 6.4.4 that the ft-fibers ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}$ and the monotonically ft-fibers ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}$ coincide in a small neighborhood of the solution \bar{x} . For linear D-hyperbolic systems we prove in Lemma 6.4.5 that the (monotonically) ε -(un)stable ft-fibers coincide with the ε -(un)stable ft-fibers and locally coincide with the (un)stable cones.

Lemma 6.4.4. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$ be a compact interval. Let $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ be a solution of system (2.1) and fix $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exists an $\bar{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}(t_{-})\cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(\bar{x}(t_{-}))={}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}(t_{-})\cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(\bar{x}(t_{-})).$$

Proof. By (6.9) it follows that the left-hand side of the claim is a subset of the right-hand side.

For the other inclusion first note that an $\bar{\varepsilon} > 0$ exists such that

$$\varphi(t, t_{-})B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(\bar{x}(t_{-})) \subset B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t)) \tag{6.10}$$

holds for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, since φ is continuous, \mathbb{I} is a compact interval and $\bar{x}(t) = \varphi(\bar{x}(t_{-}), t, t_{-})$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Let $x_0 \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}(t_{-}) \cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(\bar{x}(t_{-}))$. Then by equation (6.10) we have

$$\varphi(x_0, t, t_-) \subset B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t)), \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}.$$

This implies with $t_{-} = {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(x_0, t_{-})$ and all $x \in {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{pre}(x_0, t_{-})$ that

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(x,\bar{x}(t_{-}),t_{-})=t_{-}, \; {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\max}_{\varepsilon}(x,\bar{x}(t_{-}))=t_{+},$$

which means that the solution corresponding to x_0 stays in the ε -ball for all times $t \in \mathbb{I}$. By definition the solutions lies in ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}$ and thus it is monotonically increasing/ decreasing for all times $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Hence, we see

$$x_0 \in {}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} M_{s,u}^{\bar{x}}(t_-) \cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(\bar{x}(t_-)).$$

Next we show that the ε -(un)stable ft-fiber of a linear D-hyperbolic system locally coincides with the (un)stable cone, see Definition 4.1.3/4.1.5.

Lemma 6.4.5. Assume (A1). Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ and solution $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ of (2.7)/(2.8) we get

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}(t_0) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}(t_0).$$
(6.11)

Further the sets ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^0_{s,u}(t_0)$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(t_0)/{}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0)$ locally coincide, i.e.

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^0_s(t_0) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(t_0) \cap \Phi_{\rm pre}(t_+, t_0)B_{\varepsilon}(0), \qquad (6.12)$$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^0_u(t_0) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_u(t_0) \cap \Phi(t_0, t_-)B_{\varepsilon}(0).$$
(6.13)

Proof. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Assume $x_0 \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_s(t_0) \setminus {\bar{x}(t_0)}$ and let $t_{\min} := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(x_0, t_0)$ then there exists an $x_{\min} \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(y_0, n_0)$ (in the case $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ the preimage x_{\min} is unique and exists to time t_-) such that

$$\hat{t} := {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\Phi} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}(x_{\min}, \bar{x}(t_{\min}), t_{\min}) \in \mathbb{I}$$

and

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\Phi(t, t_{\min}) x_{\min} - \bar{x}(t)\|_{\Gamma} < 0, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \|\Phi(s, t_{\min}) x_{\min} - \bar{x}(s)\|_{\Gamma} < \|\Phi(t, t_{\min}) x_{\min} - \bar{x}(t)\|_{\Gamma}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

holds for all $\begin{cases} t \in \mathbb{I}, \ t > \hat{t}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ t, s \in \mathbb{I}, \ \hat{t} \ge s > t > \hat{t}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$ with $\mathring{t} := \varphi \mathcal{T}_{\text{ker}}^{\tilde{x}}(x_{\min}, t_{\min})$ (in the case $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$ we have $\mathring{t} = t_+$). By equation (3.16)/(3.17) we get

$$0 > \langle \Phi(t, t_{\min}) x_{\min} - \bar{x}(t), S_{\Gamma}(t) (\Phi(t, t_{\min}) x_{\min} - \bar{x}(t)) \rangle$$
(6.14)

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, $\begin{cases} t > \hat{t}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \hat{t} - 1 \ge t > \hat{t}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$ By the D-hyperbolicity of (2.7)/(2.8) Lemma 5.2.2/5.2.3 applies and we obtain

equation (6.14) for all $t \in [t_{\min}, \hat{t})_{\mathbb{T}}$. This leads to

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\Phi(t, t_{\min}) x_{\min} - \bar{x}(t)\|_{\Gamma} < 0, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \|\Phi(s, t_{\min}) x_{\min} - \bar{x}(s)\|_{\Gamma} < \|\Phi(t, t_{\min}) x_{\min} - \bar{x}(t)\|_{\Gamma}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

for all $\begin{cases} t \in \mathbb{I}, \ t \ge t_{\min}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ t, s \in \mathbb{I}, \ \mathring{t} \ge s > t \ge t_{\min}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$ By the definition of the monotonically ε -stable ft- t_0 -fiber we get $x_0 \in \frac{\mathbb{I}}{\varepsilon} M_s^{\bar{x}}(t_0)$

and thus

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t_{0}) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t_{0}).$$

With equation (6.9) we get (6.11).

The statement about the unstable sets follows analogously.

Next we note that $\bar{x}(\cdot) := 0$ is a solution of the linear equation (2.7)/(2.8)and as a consequence the left-hald sides of the claims (6.12) and (6.13) are well defined. Using (6.11) and the definition of the monotonically ε -stable ft- t_0 -fiber we get for $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$

and for $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}$

$$\begin{split} {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{0}_{s}(t_{0}) &= {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{0}_{s}(t_{0}) \\ &= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \exists x_{\min} \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\xi, t_{0}) \text{ with } t_{\min} := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{min}}(\xi, t_{0}), \\ & \mathring{t} := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}^{0}_{\mathrm{ker}}(x_{\min}, t_{\min}) : \| \Phi(s, t_{\min}) x_{\min} \|_{\Gamma} < \| \Phi(t, t_{\min}) x_{\min} \|_{\Gamma} \\ & \text{ for all } s, t \in \mathbb{I}, \mathring{t} \geq s > t \geq t_{\min}, \Phi(t_{+}, t_{0}) \xi \in B_{\varepsilon}(0) \right\}. \end{split}$$

Equation (4.12)/(4.10) prove that the ft-fiber bundles satisfy equation (6.12). The second claim (6.13) follows analogously. For every finite time solution $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ of (2.2) or (2.3) and every $\varepsilon > 0$ the intersection of the monotonically (ε -)stable and the (ε -)unstable ft-fiber bundle is empty, i.e.

 ${}^{\mathbb{I}}M_s^{\bar{x}}\cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}M_u^{\bar{x}}=\emptyset,\; {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M_s^{\bar{x}}\cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M_u^{\bar{x}}=\emptyset \text{ for every solution }\bar{x}:\mathbb{I}\to\mathbb{R}^k,\; \varepsilon>0.$

(Un)Stable Ft-Fiber Bundles and Ft-Hyperbolicity

We determine an adequate analogon of the infinite time fiber bundles for finite time systems with the help of the studied characteristics in the previous section. Further we define ft-hyperbolic trajectories and the stable and unstable ftfiber bundles of the linearization. These fiber bundles roughly speaking locally approximate the fiber bundles of the original system, which we prove in the next section.

Because of the invariance of the monotonically (ε -)unstable ft-fiber bundles and the at least forward invariance of the monotonically (ε -)stable ft-fiber bundles w.r.t. t_{-} we can not extend the fibers such that they will intersect. Our purpose later is to find homoclinic trajectories, which lie in the intersection of the stable and unstable fibers, see Chapter 7. Hence, we are interested in the intersection of the stable and unstable ft-fibers. Thus, in this thesis we choose the ε -stable and ε -unstable ft-fibers (Definition 6.3.3/6.3.4) as the analogon of the stable and unstable fibers (Definition 6.0.1) for finite time systems.

Next we define stable and unstable ft-fiber bundles of a linearization and ft-hyperbolic solutions. We need the following condition:

(A3) Let $f : \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ of equation (2.2) be a continuous function with continuous derivatives f_x and $f_x^{(2)}$.

Roughly speaking a solution \bar{x} of a nonlinear system is call ft-hyperbolic if the linearization w.r.t. \bar{x} is D-hyperbolic.

Definition 6.5.1. Assume (A3). Let $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a compact interval and $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$. A solution $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ of (2.2) is called **ft-hyperbolic** (finite time hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$) if for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ the symmetric part

$$S_{\Gamma}^{\bar{x}}(t) := \frac{1}{2} (\Gamma f_x(\bar{x}(t), t) + (f_x(\bar{x}(t), t))^T \Gamma)$$

of $f_x(\bar{x}(t), t)$ is indefinite and

$$M_{\Gamma}^{\bar{x}}(t) := \dot{S}_{\Gamma}^{\bar{x}}(t) + S_{\Gamma}^{\bar{x}}(t) f_x(\bar{x}(t), t) + f_x(\bar{x}(t), t)^T S_{\Gamma}^{\bar{x}}(t)$$

with $\dot{S}_{\Gamma}^{x}(t) = (S_{\Gamma}^{x})_{t}(t) + (S_{\Gamma}^{x})_{x}(t)f(x(t),t)$ is positive definite for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

Definition 6.5.2. Let $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ be a compact interval and $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$. A solution $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ of (2.3) is called **ft-hyperbolic** (finite time hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$) if for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_1$ the symmetric matrix

$$S_{\Gamma}^{\bar{x}}(n) := \left((f_n)_x(\bar{x}(n)) \right)^T \Gamma(f_n)_x(\bar{x}(n)) - \Gamma$$

is indefinite and

$$M_{\Gamma}^{\bar{x}}(n) := \left((f_n)_x(\bar{x}(n)) \right)^T S_{\Gamma}^{\bar{x}}(n+1)(f_n)_x(\bar{x}(n)) - S_{\Gamma}^{\bar{x}}(n)$$

is positive definite for all $n \in \mathbb{I}_2$.

If $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ is an ft-hyperbolic solution of (2.2)/(2.3) then the linearized equation (2.4)/(2.5) is D-hyperbolic. Let $\tilde{\mathbb{I}} := \begin{cases} \mathbb{I}_1, & \text{if } (2.3) \text{ is noninvertible,} \\ \mathbb{I}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$ and let $\bar{t} := \begin{cases} t_+ - 1, & \text{for } (2.3), \\ t_+, & \text{for } (2.2). \end{cases}$ We call

$$^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{\bar{x}} := \left\{ (x_{0}, t_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \tilde{\mathbb{I}} \middle| \langle \Phi(\bar{t}, t_{0}) x_{0}, S_{\Gamma}^{\bar{x}}(\bar{t}) \Phi(\bar{t}, t_{0}) x_{0} \rangle < 0 \right\} \qquad (6.15)$$

$$\cup \left\{ (0, t_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \tilde{\mathbb{I}} \right\}$$

and

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{\bar{x}} := \left\{ \left(\Phi(t_{0}, t_{-})x_{-}, t_{0} \right) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \middle| \langle x_{-}, S_{\Gamma}^{\bar{x}}(t_{-})x_{-} \rangle > 0 \right\}$$

$$\cup \left\{ \left(0, t_{0} \right) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \right\}$$

$$(6.16)$$

the stable and unstable ft-fiber bundle of the linearization. These sets coincide with the stable and unstable cone of the linearized system, see Corollary 5.3.2/5.3.5. By Lemma 6.4.5 this is a well-considered definition.

We show in Section 6.6 roughly speaking that the (un)stable ft-fiber bundle of the linearization locally approximates the (un)stable ft-fiber bundle of the original system. For this purpose [83, Theorem 4.13] functions as a basis. We first show that our monotonically ε -(un)stable t_{-} -fiber is equivalent to a modified version of the domains of finite-time attraction/repulsion of [83, Definition 4.9].

Lemma 6.5.3. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$, $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$, $\varepsilon > 0$ and let $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k}$ be an ft-hyperbolic solution of (2.2)/(2.3). Then the monotonically ε -stable

and arepsilon-unstable ft-t_-fibers of Definition 6.2.1/ 6.2.2

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} M^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t_{-}) = \begin{cases} \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \varphi(\xi, t, t_{-}) - \bar{x}(t) \| < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, \\ \varphi(\xi, t_{+}, t_{-}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_{+})) \right\} \cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_{-}) \right\} &, \text{ for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \, \| \varphi(\xi, t, t_{-}) - \bar{x}(t) \| < \| \varphi(\xi, s, n_{-}) - \bar{x}(s) \| \\ \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, \ t \geq t > s \text{ with } t := \varphi \mathcal{T}^{\bar{x}}_{\mathrm{ker}}(\xi, t_{-}), \\ \varphi(\xi, t_{+}, t_{-}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_{+})) \right\} &, \text{ for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \end{cases} \\ \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \varphi(\xi, t, t_{-}) - \bar{x}(t) \| > 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, \\ \xi \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_{-})) \right\} \cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_{-}) \right\} &, \text{ for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \, \| \varphi(\xi, t, t_{-}) - \bar{x}(t) \| > \| \varphi(\xi, s, t_{-}) - \bar{x}(s) \| \\ \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, \ t > s, \xi \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_{-})) \right\} \cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_{-}) \right\} &, \text{ for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

are equivalent to

$$\begin{split} M^{s}_{\bar{x}} &:= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \setminus \{\bar{x}(t_{-})\} \middle| \sup_{\substack{(t,s) \in (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I})^{\xi}_{\neq}}} \Delta^{\bar{x}}_{\varphi}(t,s,\xi) < 0, \ \varphi(\xi,t_{+},t_{-}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_{+})) \right\} \\ & \cup \{\bar{x}(t_{-})\}, \\ M^{u}_{\bar{x}} &:= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \setminus \{\bar{x}(t_{-})\} \middle| \inf_{\substack{(t,s) \in (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I})^{\xi}_{\neq}}} \Delta^{\bar{x}}_{\varphi}(t,s,\xi) > 0, \ \xi \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_{-})) \right\} \\ & \cup \{\bar{x}(t_{-})\}, \end{split}$$

 $respectively \ with$

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_{\varphi}^{\bar{x}} &: (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^{k})_{\neq} \to \mathbb{R}, \\ &(t, s, \xi) \mapsto \frac{\ln\left(\|\varphi(\xi, t, t_{-}) - \bar{x}(t)\|\right) - \ln\left(\|\varphi(\xi, s, t_{-}) - \bar{x}(s)\|\right)}{t - s}, \\ &(\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^{k})_{\neq} := \left\{(t, s, \xi) \in \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| t \neq s, \ t, s \leq \varphi \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}}^{\bar{x}}(\xi, t_{-})\right\}, \\ &(\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I})_{\neq}^{\xi} := \left\{(t, s) \in \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \middle| t \neq s, \ t, s \leq \varphi \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}}^{\bar{x}}(\xi, t_{-})\right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. Let $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{\bar{x}(t_-)\}$. Set $\mathring{t} := {}_{\varphi}\mathcal{T}_{ker}^{\bar{x}}(\xi, t_-)$. Note that $\mathring{t} = t_+$ for $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}$. Then we have

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\varphi(\xi,t,t_{-})-\bar{x}(t)\| < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \|\varphi(\xi,t,t_{-})-\bar{x}(t_{-})\| < \|\varphi(\xi,s,t_{-})-\bar{x}(t_{-})\| \\ & \text{for all } t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq t > s, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \|\varphi(\xi,t,t_{-})-\bar{x}(t)\| - \|\varphi(\xi,s,t_{-})-\bar{x}(s)\| < 0 \text{ for all } t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq t > s \\ \Leftrightarrow \Delta_{\varphi}^{\bar{x}}(t,s,\xi) = \frac{\ln\left(\|\varphi(\xi,t,t_{-})-\bar{x}(t)\|\right) - \ln\left(\|\varphi(\xi,s,t_{-})-\bar{x}(s)\|\right)}{t-s} < 0 \\ & \text{for all } t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t \geq t > s \\ \Leftrightarrow \sup_{(t,s)\in(\mathbb{I}\times\mathbb{I})_{\neq}^{\xi}} \Delta_{\varphi}^{\bar{x}}(t,s,\xi) < 0. \end{cases}$$

Thus, the stable sets are equivalent. The equivalence of the unstable sets follows analogously. $\hfill \Box$

Local Approximation of (Ft-)Fiber Bundles

In infinite time, $\mathbb{I} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, local stable and unstable fiber bundles ${}_{U}W^{0}_{s,u}$ (see Def. 6.0.1) of a hyperbolic fixed point 0 exist and can be represented by a local graph representation. For discrete invertible systems we refer to [70, Theorem 3.2], for noninvertible systems to [58, Theorem and proof 3.8] and [124, Theorem 4.1] and for continuous systems see [76, Theorem 6.5)]. Further references are [110, Theorem 4.9], [112, Theorem 3.2] and [113, Theorem 3.2]. More precisely, if (2.4)/(2.5) has an exponential dichotomy with the family of projectors $P : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$, there exist maps $s^{\pm} : \mathbb{I} \times U \to \mathbb{R}^k$ with

$$s^{+}(t,x) = s^{+}(t,P(t)x) \in \mathcal{N}(P(t)), \ s^{-}(t,x) = s^{-}(t,(I-P(t))x) \in \mathcal{R}(P(t))$$

such that the fiber bundles of (2.2)/(2.3) satisfy

$${}_{U}W^{0}_{s} = \left\{ (t, x + s^{+}(t, x)) \in \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^{k} | x \in \mathcal{R}(P(t)) \cap U \right\},$$

$${}_{U}W^{0}_{u} = \left\{ (t, x + s^{-}(t, x)) \in \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^{k} | x \in \mathcal{N}(P(t)) \cap U \right\}.$$

With this representation we can show that the stable and unstable subspace of the linearization locally approximate the stable and unstable fibers. In particular, under smoothness assumptions we have

$$T_0 W_s^0(t_0) = V_s^0(t_0), \ T_0 W_u^0(t_0) = V_u^0(t_0)$$
(6.18)

for $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ where $T_0 W^0_{s,u}(t_0)$ denotes the tangent space of $W^0_{s,u}(t_0)$ at 0, i.e.

$$T_0 W^0_{s,u}(t_0) := \left\{ \nu \in \mathbb{R}^k | \exists \zeta \in \mathcal{C}^1((-\delta, \delta), {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^0_{s,u}(t_0)) : \zeta(0) = 0, \dot{\zeta}(0) = \nu \right\},$$

see [21, p. 3370]. For a proof and more details we refer to [105, Proposition 5.4], [76, Theorem 9], [124, Theorem and proof 4.2] and [70, Theorem 3.5].

In the following we show for finite time systems roughly speaking that the (un)stable cone of the linearization locally approximates the (un)stable ft-fiber bundle of the original system. More precisely, the boundaries locally approximate each other. This statement proved in Theorem 6.6.1 holds for continuous systems as well as for discrete systems. In particular, we show a result for our ft-fibers, which is analogous to [83, Theorem 4.13]. We use some of the definitions and techniques presented in [83]. From now on let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ and let $\mathbb{I} \subset \mathbb{T}$ be a compact interval. First we define the **growth rate of a point** by

$$\underline{\mu}: \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\} \times C(\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^k, \mathbb{R}^k) \to \mathbb{R}, \ (x, \varphi) \mapsto \inf_{\substack{(t,s) \in (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I})_{\neq}^x}} \Delta_{\varphi}(t, s, x),$$
$$\overline{\mu}: \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\} \times C(\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^k, \mathbb{R}^k) \to \mathbb{R}, \ (x, \varphi) \mapsto \sup_{\substack{(t,s) \in (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I})_{\neq}^x}} \Delta_{\varphi}(t, s, x),$$

with $\Delta_{\varphi} := \Delta_{\varphi}^0$, $(\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I})_{\neq}^x$ defined in (6.17).

Then we have by definition of $\overline{\lambda}, \underline{\lambda}$, see equations (3.26) -(3.27), for all $X \in Gr(1, \mathbb{R}^k)$ and $\overline{x} \in X \setminus \{0\}$

$$\overline{\lambda}(X,\Phi) = \sup_{\substack{x \in X, \|x\|=1, \\ (t,s) \in (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I})_{\neq}^{x}}} \Delta_{\Phi}(t,s,x) = \sup_{x \in X, \|x\|=1} \overline{\mu}(x,\Phi) = \overline{\mu}(\bar{x},\Phi), \quad (6.19)$$

$$\underline{\lambda}(X,\Phi) = \inf_{\substack{x \in X, \|x\|=1, \\ (t,s) \in (\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I})_{\perp}^{x}}} \Delta_{\Phi}(t,s,x) = \inf_{x \in X, \|x\|=1} \underline{\mu}(x,\Phi) = \underline{\mu}(\bar{x},\Phi).$$
(6.20)

Let φ be the solution operator of the differential equation (2.2)/the difference equation (2.3) and Φ be the solution operator of the of the linearization along the zero reference trajectory (2.4)/(2.5). For analyzing the common properties of the solution operator φ and the solution operator Φ we introduce a measure of their approximation as in [83, equation (44a),(44b)]

$$m: \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \to \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \tag{6.21}$$

$$\int 0, \qquad \nu = 0,$$

$$\nu \mapsto \begin{cases} \sup_{x \in B_{\nu}[0] \setminus \{0\}} \max\{|\underline{\mu}(x,\varphi) - \underline{\mu}(x,\Phi)|, |\overline{\mu}(x,\varphi) - \overline{\mu}(x,\Phi)|\}, \quad \nu \neq 0, \end{cases}$$

where $B_{\nu}[0] := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^k | ||x|| \le \nu\}$ denotes the close ν -ball around 0 with radius ν .

In the following we need that m is continuous at 0. Karrasch yields conditions under which m is continuous at 0 in the discrete and in the continuous time case. For more information we refer to [83, Lemma 4.10 and Lemma 4.11]. Let 0 be a fixed point of (2.2)/(2.3), $\varepsilon, \delta > 0$ and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^0_{s,u}$ be the ft-fiber bundles of (2.2)/(2.3) of 0. Then the **stable and unstable tangent sets** at a general point $x \in \partial^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^0_{s,u}(t), t \in \mathbb{I}$, are defined by

$$T_x \partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^0(t) := \left\{ \nu \in \mathbb{R}^k | \exists \zeta \in \mathcal{C}^1((-\delta, \delta), \partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^0(t)) : \zeta(0) = x, \dot{\zeta}(0) = \nu \right\},$$
(6.22)

where $\partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^{0}$ denotes the boundary of the ft-fiber bundles $_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^{0}$. An analogous definition of (6.22) can be found in [21, p. 3370]. We show that the tangent set at 0 of the boundary of the ft-fibers of the original system equals the cone boundary of the linearized (along zero) system.

Theorem 6.6.1. Let $\varepsilon > 0$, $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$, $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}}$ be a compact interval. Let $\Gamma = \Gamma^{T} > 0$ and $0 : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k}$ be an ft-hyperbolic solution (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$) of equation (2.2)/(2.3). Assume (A1). Let ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{0}_{s,u}$ be the ft-fiber bundles of equation (2.2)/(2.3) and let ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V^{0}_{s,u}$ be the ft-fiber bundles of the linearization (2.4)/(2.5). If the function m defined in (6.21) is continuous at 0 then the tangent set at 0 of the boundary $\partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}}W^{0}_{s,u}$ equals the boundary $\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V^{0}_{s,u}$, i.e. for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ we have

$$T_0\varphi(t,t_-)\partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}}W_{s,u}^0(t_-) = \Phi(t,t_-)\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}^0(t_-).$$
(6.23)

Proof. Lemma 6.4.4 yields the existence of an $\bar{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W_{s,u}(t_{-})\cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(0)={}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{0}_{s,u}(t_{-})\cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(0)$$

and by Lemma 6.5.3 we obtain

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^0_{s,u}(t_-)\cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(0)={}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M_{s,u}(t_-)\cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(0)=M^{s,u}_0\cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(0).$$

This means that we have

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{0}_{s}(t_{-}) \cap B_{\overline{\varepsilon}}(0) = \left\{ \xi \in B_{\overline{\varepsilon}}(0) \middle| \overline{\mu}(\xi,\varphi) < 0 \right\} \cup \{0\}, \tag{6.24}$$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^0_u(t_-) \cap B_{\overline{\varepsilon}}(0) = \left\{ \xi \in B_{\overline{\varepsilon}}(0) \middle| \underline{\mu}(\xi, \varphi) > 0 \right\} \cup \{0\}.$$
(6.25)

For the stable and unstable ft-fibers of the linearization, see (6.15) and (6.16), we obtain by Lemma 4.2.2 and (6.19), (6.20)

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^0(t_-) = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\} \middle| \exists X \in \operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k) : \xi \in X, \ \overline{\lambda}(X, \Phi) < 0 \right\} \cup \{0\},$$

= $\left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \setminus \{0\} \middle| \overline{\mu}(x, \Phi) < 0 \right\} \cup \{0\},$ (6.26)

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{0}(t_{-}) = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \setminus \{0\} \big| \underline{\mu}(x, \Phi) > 0 \right\} \cup \{0\}.$$
(6.27)

First we show that for any

$$X, Y \in \operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k) \text{ with } X \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V^0_s(t_-), \ Y \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V^0_u(t_-) \text{ there exists}$$

a $\delta > 0$ such that $B_{\delta}(0) \cap X \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^0_s(t_-), \ B_{\delta}(0) \cap Y \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^0_u(t_-).$ (6.28)

Let $X, Y \in Gr(1, \mathbb{R}^k)$ with $X \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V^0_s(t_-)$ and $Y \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V^0_u(t_-)$ then by (6.26) and (6.27) as well as by the definition of $\overline{\mu}$ and $\underline{\mu}$ we have for all $x_1, x_2 \in X \setminus \{0\}$, $y_1, y_2 \in Y \setminus \{0\}$

$$\overline{\mu}(x_1, \Phi) = \overline{\mu}(x_2, \Phi) < 0, \ \underline{\mu}(y_1, \Phi) = \underline{\mu}(y_2, \Phi) > 0.$$

By the continuity of m there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that $m(\nu) < -\overline{\mu}(x, \Phi)$ and $m(\nu) < \underline{\mu}(y, \Phi)$ for each $\nu \in [0, \delta]$ and $x \in X \setminus \{0\}, y \in Y \setminus \{0\}$. For all $x \in B_{\delta}[0] \cap X \setminus \{0\}, y \in B_{\delta}[0] \cap Y \setminus \{0\}$ we have with (6.21)

$$\begin{aligned} &-\overline{\mu}(x,\Phi) > m(\delta) \ge \left|\overline{\mu}(x,\varphi) - \overline{\mu}(x,\Phi)\right|,\\ &\underline{\mu}(y,\Phi) > m(\delta) \ge \left|\underline{\mu}(y,\Phi) - \underline{\mu}(y,\varphi)\right|.\end{aligned}$$

This implies for all $x \in B_{\delta}[0] \cap X \setminus \{0\}, y \in B_{\delta}[0] \cap Y \setminus \{0\}$

$$\overline{\mu}(x,\varphi) < 0 \text{ and } \underline{\mu}(y,\varphi) > 0,$$

which leads by (6.24) and (6.25) for $\delta < \bar{\varepsilon}$ to (6.28).

Define

$$\mathcal{V}_{s,u} := \left(\mathbb{R}^k \setminus \overline{{}^{\mathbb{I}} V^0_{s,u}(t_-)} \right) \cup \{0\},$$
$$\mathcal{W}_{s,u} := \left(\mathbb{R}^k \setminus \overline{{}^{\mathbb{I}} W^0_{s,u}(t_-)} \right) \cup \{0\}.$$

We prove that for any

$$X, Y \in \operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k) \text{ with } X \subset \mathcal{V}_s, \ Y \subset \mathcal{V}_u \text{ there exists a } \delta > 0$$

such that $B_{\delta}[0] \cap X \subset \mathcal{W}_s, \ B_{\delta}[0] \cap Y \subset \mathcal{W}_u.$ (6.29)

Therefore, we need the boundary of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}V^0_{s,u}(t_-)$ w.r.t. $\overline{\mu}$ and $\underline{\mu}$. By the D-hyperbolicity of the linearization we can apply Corollary 5.3.2 and 5.3.5 as well as Lemma 5.2.2 and 5.2.3 and we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{I}_{V_{s}^{0}}^{\mathbb{I}}(t_{-}) &= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \setminus \{0\} \middle| \overline{\mu}(\xi, \Phi) < 0 \right\} \cup \{0\} \\ &= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \langle \Phi(\bar{t}, t_{-})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(\bar{t})\Phi(\bar{t}, t_{-})\xi \rangle < 0 \right\} \cup \mathcal{N}(\Phi(\bar{t}, t_{-})), \\ V^{a} \\ &:= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \setminus \{0\} \middle| \overline{\mu}(\xi, \Phi) > 0 \right\} \cup \{0\} \\ &= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \sup_{t,s \in \mathbb{I}, t > s} \| \Phi(t, t_{-})\xi \|_{\Gamma} - \| \Phi(s, t_{-})\xi \|_{\Gamma} > 0 \right\} \cup \{0\} \\ &= \left\{ \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \frac{d}{dt} \| \Phi(t, t_{-})\xi \|_{\Gamma} > 0 \text{ for any } t \in \mathbb{I} \right\} , \text{ for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \| \Phi(t+1, t_{-})\xi \|_{\Gamma} - \| \Phi(t, t_{-})\xi \|_{\Gamma} > 0 \text{ for any } t \in \mathbb{I}_{1} \right\}, \text{ for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \\ &\cup \{0\} \\ &= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \langle \Phi(t, t_{-})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(t)\Phi(t, t_{-})\xi \rangle > 0 \text{ for any } t \in \widetilde{\mathbb{I}} \right\} \cup \{0\} \\ &\supset \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \langle \Phi(\bar{t}, t_{-})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(\bar{t})\Phi(\bar{t}, t_{-})\xi \rangle > 0 \right\} \cup \{0\} =: \bar{V}^{a}. \end{split}$$

Statement (4.19) and Lemma 5.7.2 yield

$$\begin{split} \overline{{}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{0}(t_{-})} &\subset \Phi_{\mathrm{pre}}(\bar{t},t_{-})^{\overline{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{0}(\bar{t})} \\ &= \Phi_{\mathrm{pre}}(\bar{t},t_{-}) \left({}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{0}(\bar{t}) \cup Z_{\Gamma}(\bar{t})\right) \\ &= \left\{ \Phi_{\mathrm{pre}}(\bar{t},t_{-})\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(\bar{t})\xi \rangle \leq 0 \right\} \\ &= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \middle| \langle \Phi(\bar{t},t_{-})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(\bar{t})\Phi(\bar{t},t_{-})\xi \rangle \leq 0 \right\}. \end{split}$$

This implies

$$\begin{split} & \left({}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^0(t_-) \setminus \{0\} \right) \dot{\cup} \left(V_a \setminus \{0\} \right) \dot{\cup} \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \middle| \overline{\mu}(\xi, \Phi) = 0 \right\} \\ &= \mathbb{R}^k \\ &= {}^{\overline{\mathbb{I}}} \overline{V_s^0(t_-)} \dot{\cup} \left(\overline{V}^a \setminus \{0\} \right) \\ &\subset {}^{\overline{\mathbb{I}}} \overline{V_s^0(t_-)} \cup \left(V^a \setminus \{0\} \right) \\ &= \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s^0(t_-) \cup \left({}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s^0(t_-) \setminus \{0\} \right) \cup \left(V^a \setminus \{0\} \right). \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\left\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k \left| \overline{\mu}(\xi, \Phi) = 0 \right\} \subset \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_s^0(t_-).$$

170

Analogously, we get

$$\left\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^k | \underline{\mu}(\xi, \Phi) = 0\right\} \subset \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_u^0(t_-).$$

These statements yield together with (6.24), (6.25), (6.26), (6.27) and the continuity of $\overline{\mu}$ and $\underline{\mu}$

$$\frac{\overline{{}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{0}(t_{-})}}{\overline{{}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{0}(t_{-})}} = \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \setminus \{0\} | \overline{\mu}(\xi, \Phi) \leq 0 \right\} \cup \{0\},$$

$$\frac{\overline{{}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{0}(t_{-})}}{\overline{{}^{\varepsilon}W_{s}^{0}(t_{-})} \cap B_{\overline{\varepsilon}}(0)} \subset \left\{ \xi \in B_{\overline{\varepsilon}}[0] \setminus \{0\} | \overline{\mu}(\xi, \varphi) \leq 0 \right\} \cup \{0\},$$

$$\frac{\overline{{}^{\mathbb{I}}W_{u}^{0}(t_{-})} \cap B_{\overline{\varepsilon}}(0)}{\overline{{}^{\varepsilon}W_{u}^{0}(t_{-})} \cap B_{\overline{\varepsilon}}(0)} \subset \left\{ \xi \in B_{\overline{\varepsilon}}[0] \setminus \{0\} | \underline{\mu}(\xi, \varphi) \geq 0 \right\} \cup \{0\},$$

and hence

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{V}_{s} &= \left(\mathbb{R}^{k} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{I}V_{s}^{0}(t_{-})}\right) \cup \{0\} \\
&= \left\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \setminus \{0\} | \overline{\mu}(\xi, \Phi) > 0\right\} \cup \{0\}, \\
\mathcal{V}_{u} &= \left(\mathbb{R}^{k} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{I}V_{u}^{0}(t_{-})}\right) \cup \{0\} \\
&= \left\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \setminus \{0\} | \underline{\mu}(\xi, \Phi) < 0\right\} \cup \{0\}, \\
\mathcal{W}_{s} \cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}[0] &:= \left(\left(\mathbb{R}^{k} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{I}W_{s}^{0}(t_{-})} \cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(0)\right) \cup \{0\}\right) \cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}[0] \\
&\supset \{\xi \in B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}[0] \setminus \{0\} | \overline{\mu}(\xi, \varphi) > 0\} \cup \{0\}. \quad (6.30) \\
\mathcal{W}_{u} \cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}[0] &:= \left(\left(\mathbb{R}^{k} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{I}W_{u}^{0}(t_{-})} \cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}(0)\right) \cup \{0\}\right) \cap B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}[0] \\
&\supset \{\xi \in B_{\bar{\varepsilon}}[0] \setminus \{0\} | \underline{\mu}(\xi, \varphi) < 0\} \cup \{0\}. \quad (6.31)
\end{aligned}$$

Let $X, Y \in Gr(1, \mathbb{R}^k)$ with $X \subset \mathcal{V}_s, Y \subset \mathcal{V}_u$. Then analogously to the prove of (6.28) there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that for all $x \in B_{\delta}[0] \cap X \setminus \{0\}, y \in B_{\delta}[0] \cap Y \setminus \{0\}$ the following holds

$$\overline{\mu}(x,\Phi) > m(\delta) \ge |\overline{\mu}(x,\Phi) - \overline{\mu}(x,\varphi)|, -\underline{\mu}(y,\Phi) > m(\delta) \ge |\underline{\mu}(y,\varphi) - \underline{\mu}(y,\Phi)|,$$

which imply

$$\overline{\mu}(x,\varphi) > 0, \ \mu(y,\varphi) < 0.$$

This leads with (6.30) and (6.31) and $\delta < \bar{\varepsilon}$ to

$$B_{\delta}[0] \cap X \subset \mathcal{W}_s, \ B_{\delta}[0] \cap Y \subset \mathcal{W}_u$$

i.e. (6.29) is proved.

Our next step is to prove

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V^0_{s,u}(t_-) = T_0 \partial^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^0_{s,u}(t_-).$$
(6.32)

Let $X \in \operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k)$ with $X \subset \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V^0_{s,u}(t_-)$ and assume

 $X \not\subset T_0 \partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W^0_s(t_-).$

Define

$$T_{s,u} := \left\{ X \in \operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k) \middle| X \subset T_0 \partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^0(t_-) \right\}, T_{s,u}^a := \left\{ X \in \operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k) \middle| \exists \delta > 0 : X \cap B_{\delta}[0] \subset \mathcal{W}_s \right\}, T_{s,u}^i := \left\{ X \in \operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k) \middle| \exists \delta > 0 : X \cap B_{\delta}[0] \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W_{s,u}^0(t_-) \right\}.$$

Then

$$T_{s,u} \dot{\cup} T^a_{s,u} \dot{\cup} T^i_{s,u} = \mathbb{R}^k$$

is satisfied. For X we obtain w.l.o.g.

$$X \subset T^i_{s,u} \text{ with } d_T(X, T^a_{s,u}) = \rho, \qquad (6.33)$$

where

$$d_T(X, T^b_{s,u}) := \inf \left\{ d(X, Y) | Y \in \operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k), \ Y \subset T^b_{s,u} \right\}, b \in \{i, a\}, d(X, Y) := \inf \left\{ \|x - y\|_2 \ | x \in X, y \in Y \text{ with } \|x\|_2 = 1 = \|y\|_2 \right\}.$$

Let $X_1 \in \operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k)$ with

$$X_1 \in \mathcal{V}_{s,u} \text{ and } d(X_1, X) < \rho.$$
(6.34)

Then by (6.33) we have

$$X_1 \subset T^i_{s.u}.\tag{6.35}$$

Statement (6.34), (6.29) and the definition of $T_{s,u}^{i,a}$ yield

$$X_1 \subset T^a_{s,u}$$

which is a contradiction to (6.35) and thus,

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V^0_{s,u}(t_-) \subset T_0 \partial^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^0_{s,u}(t_-)$$

holds.

Conversely, let $Y \in \operatorname{Gr}(1, \mathbb{R}^k)$ with $Y \subset T_0 \partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^0(t_-)$ and assume $Y \not\subset \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_{s,u}^0(t_-)$. Then $Y \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}} V_{s,u}(t_-)$ or $Y \subset \mathcal{V}_{s,u}$. The statements (6.28) and (6.29) yield a contradiction. Thus,

$$\partial^{\mathbb{I}} V^0_{s,u}(t_-) \supset T_0 \partial^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^0_{s,u}(t_-)$$

holds and (6.32) is shown.

Finally, we prove claim (6.23). Let $x \in \Phi(t, t_{-})\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V^{0}_{s,u}(t_{-})$ then there exists a

$$y \in \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V^0_{s,u}(t_-) = T_0 \partial^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^0_{s,u}(t_-)$$
(6.36)

with

$$x = \Phi(t, t_{-})y. \tag{6.37}$$

Further by (6.36) and (6.22) there exists a function $\zeta \in \mathcal{C}^1((-\delta, \delta), \partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^0(t_-))$ with $\zeta(0) = 0$ and $\dot{\zeta}(0) = y$. The function

$$\varphi(t,t_{-})\zeta \in \mathcal{C}^{1}((-\delta,\delta),\varphi(t,t_{-})\partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}}W^{0}_{s,u}(t_{-}))$$

satisfies $\varphi(\zeta(0), t, t_{-}) = \varphi(0, t, t_{-}) = 0$ and since Φ is the linearization of φ we get with (6.37)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\varphi(\zeta(0),t,t_{-}) = \Phi(t,t_{-})\dot{\zeta}(0) = \Phi(t,t_{-})y = x.$$

This implies $x \in T_0 \varphi(t, t_-) \partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^0(t_-)$, which leads to

$$\Phi(t,t_{-})\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V^{0}_{s,u}(t_{-}) \subset T_{0}\varphi(t,t_{-})\partial^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{0}_{s,u}(t_{-}).$$

Conversely, let $x \in T_0 \varphi(t, t_-) \partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^0(t_-)$. Then there exists a function $\zeta \in \mathcal{C}^1((-\delta, \delta), \varphi(t, t_-) \partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^0(t_-))$ with $\zeta(0) = 0$ and $\dot{\zeta}(0) = x$. Since $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^k, \mathbb{R}^k)$ there exists a function $\nu \in \mathcal{C}^1((-\delta, \delta), \partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^0(t_-))$ with $\nu(0) = 0$ such that $\zeta(\rho) = \varphi(\nu(\rho), t, t_-)$ holds for all $\rho \in (-\delta, \delta)$. Then $0 = \varphi(\nu(0), t, t_-) = \zeta(0)$ is still true and we get by the definition of a tangent set (6.22) and equation (6.32) that

$$\begin{aligned} x &= \dot{\zeta}(0) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \varphi(\nu(0), t, t_{-}) \\ &= \Phi(t, t_{-}) \dot{\nu}(0) \in \Phi(t, t_{-}) T_0 \partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s,u}^0(t_{-}) = \Phi(t, t_{-}) \partial^{\mathbb{I}} V_{s,u}^0(t_{-}). \end{aligned}$$

This leads to

$$\Phi(t,t_{-})\partial^{\mathbb{I}}V^{0}_{s,u}(t_{-}) \supset T_{0}\varphi(t,t_{-})\partial^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{0}_{s,u}(t_{-})$$

and our claim (6.23) is shown.

An Algorithm to Calculate Fiber Bundles

In this section we numerically approximate the fiber bundles we introduced and studied in the last sections. More precisely, we approximate fiber bundles of infinite and finite time systems for both invertible and noninvertible systems. Numerical tools for their computation in invertible infinite time systems

are often based on continuation techniques, see for example [106, Subchapter 6.2], [68], [91] or [92]. If the system is noninvertible, stable sets cannot be computed via backward iteration. To avoid this problem, the authors of [48] proposed a refined approach – the so called search circle algorithm – for computing stable sets without applying the inverse mapping for 2-dimensional autonomous infinite time systems.

The method that we introduce here generalizes these ideas to the nonautonomous case where 0 is a hyperbolic fixed point. Another algorithm that works for invertible and noninvertible, autonomous and nonautonomous 2 or 3 dimensional systems is the contour algorithm. Hüls introduced this algorithm in [74] for discrete time systems and additionally, applied it to continuous time systems in [75].

Most of these techniques also apply for finite time systems. Before we study algorithms for finite time systems, we present a generalization of the search circle algorithm for infinite time system as in [54, Subsection 5.2].

Consider

$$x(n+1) = f(x(n), n) =: f_n(x(n)), \quad f_n(0) = 0, \ x(n) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

The algorithm chooses the first point on the tangent space of the stable fiber, which is a good linear approximation of the fiber. This subspace can formally be expressed as the stable subspace of an exponential dichotomy, which the variational equation

$$u_{n+1} = Df_n(0)u_n, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}$$

possesses due to our hyperbolicity assumption, see (6.18). Indeed, these subspaces are numerically accessible for at least discrete invertible systems, see Corollary 5.0.1.

One step of the algorithm works as follows. Assume we already have an approximation of the (n + 1)-th fiber, given by the set of points $M^{n+1} := \{p_1^{n+1}, \ldots, p_{\ell_{n+1}}^{n+1}\}$ that are marked in blue in Figure 6.3. Further assume that the points p_1^n, \ldots, p_r^n on the *n*-th fiber have also been computed (light blue data in Figure 6.3). We search for the next point p_{r+1}^n on a circular segment γ shown in Figure 6.3. Therefore, its boundary points p_{end}^n and p_{start}^n are mapped by f_n . If the angle α of the circular segment is chosen appropriately, $f_n(p_{\text{start}}^n)$ and $f_n(p_{\text{end}}^n)$ lie on different sides of the (n + 1)-th fiber and thus, $f_n(\gamma)$ has a common intersection with this fiber. For its approximation, we first detect the neighboring points $p_{\text{left}}^{n+1}, p_{\text{right}}^{n+1} \in M^{n+1}$ and then calculate the point of intersection between the line segment $\overline{p}_{\text{left}}^{n+1}p_{\text{right}}^{n+1}$ and $f_n(\gamma)$ using bisection. Its preimage under f_n is the next point p_{r+1}^n on the *n*-th fiber. In case $f_n(\gamma)$ lies beyond the (n + 1)-th fiber, the continuation of the *n*-th fiber stops and we proceed with the (n - 1)-th fiber. Note that the first fibers that we compute in this way are rather short, but expanding dynamics on the stable fibers – in backward time – lead to an increase of length if *n* decreases.



Figure 6.3: Approximation of stable fiber bundles.

Figure 6.4 illustrates this increase of length for our artificial example from Section 8.1. In the left diagram the stable fibers are extremely close to each other. To reveal the differences we rotate the highlighted area of the left picture and show its zoom in the right part of Figure 6.4. The bottom stable fiber (darkest shade of green) in Figure 6.4 is the first computed one and belongs to time 70*h*. Since this is the first fiber we approximate we start with a small part of the stable subspace of the linearization. Then by using our algorithm we computed the rest of the plotted fibers; the last computed one is the 65-th fiber at the top (lightest shade of green). Particularly, the shades of green from dark to light show the order, in which stable fibers are calculated by our algorithm.

We finally note that details on the choice of the search angle α and on techniques for step size control have a similar implementation in autonomous systems and can be found in [48].

The computation of unstable fiber bundles is not so involved. We can choose points on the tangent space and iterate them in forward time, jumping in this way from fiber to fiber (neglecting small approximation errors).

In Figure 6.5 the stable and unstable fibers of the trivial solution of the model from Section 8.1 are shown. The stable fibers (green) are computed with the algorithm from above while the unstable fibers (red) are approximated by forward iteration. The diagram visualizes the fiber bundles on the time interval [-30h, 30h].



Figure 6.4: Computation of stable fibers for (8.3), (8.4) with h = 0.04.



Figure 6.5: Stable and unstable fiber bundles of (8.3), (8.4) with h = 0.04.

In the following we approximate 2-dimensional finite time dynamical systems. Analogously to the infinite time case, we compute the stable and unstable fibers via iteration if the given system is invertible. By Theorem 6.6.1 the stable and unstable cones of the linearization locally approximate the stable and unstable fibers. Thus, all points in the cones which are at least ε close to the ft-hyperbolic solution are a good first approximation. By iterating these sets we get approximations of the stable and unstable fibers for all times in the given interval. Hence, the length of the fibers increase in the respective time direction as in the infinite time case. In contrast to infinite time systems we can not extend the time interval such that our algorithm provids sufficiently long fibers. For the infinite time system (8.3) we approximated the fiber bundles on [-70h, 70h] and plotted them only on the time interval [-30h, 30h] for h = 0.04. In Figure 6.5 these fibers are illustrated and we see that they are sufficiently long. For comparison we plotted in Figure 6.6 the boundary of the stable and unstable fibers of the finite time system (7.9), which we study in Chapter 7. In the left top picture the increase of the length of the stable fibers is visualized. In the right top part the stable and unstable fibers, approximated by iteration, are presented. As expected, the fibers are not one dimensional as the ones of the infinite time system. At the bottom of Figure 6.6 the stable and unstable fibers are plotted for the times 1.9 (left) and 0.7 (right). It is easily seen that the length of the stable fibers at times close to 2.5 and of the unstable fibers at times close to -2.5 is very short, while in the middle of the interval both fibers, the stable and unstable ones are of a proper length.



Figure 6.6: Stable (green) and unstable (red) fibers of (7.9) computed via iteration; at the bottom left at time 1.9 and at the bottom right at time 0.7.

This is not the case for all finite time systems. If the interval is to short then the fibers may not grow fast enough. Thus, we may only be able to approximate the fibers in a small neighborhood of the solution. Hence, we probably do not get the information we are interested in, for example, if the stable and unstable fibers intersect. Another drawback of finite time fiber bundles is that they are generally not invariant or at least forward invariant. More precisely, for noninvertible systems they are not invariant. If the system is invertible we already found a way to approximate the fiber bundles. If the system is not invertible we would like to approximate the fibers by a similar algorithm as described before for noninvertible, infinite time systems. The problem is that we need forward invariance of the boundaries for the algorithm to work. Assume the boundary of the stable fibers are forward invariant then, we can apply the algorithm onto each of the two boundary curves. If the boundary of the stable fiber bundle is not forward invariant we get an approximation of the fibers by defining a new forward invariant set, which includes the fibers. Let

$$\hat{\xi} \hat{W}_{s}^{\bar{x}} := \{ (x_{0}, n_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} | \hat{n} := \frac{\mathbb{I}}{\varphi} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(x_{0}, \bar{x}(n_{0}), n_{0}) \in \mathbb{I}, \hat{n} := \frac{1}{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{ker}^{\bar{x}}(x_{0}, n_{0}) : \\ \| \varphi(x_{0}, n_{2}, n_{0}) - \bar{x}(n_{2}) \| < \| \varphi(x_{0}, n_{1}, n_{0}) - \bar{x}(n_{1}) \| \\ \text{for all } n_{1}, n_{2} \in \mathbb{I}, \hat{n} \ge n_{2} > n_{1} > \hat{n} \}$$

be the **forward** ε -stable ft-fiber bundle of a solution $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ of (2.3) for an $\varepsilon > 0$. For this set we easily see that

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{s} \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}\hat{W}^{\bar{x}}_{s}.$$

Further, these sets are forward invariant, i.e.

$$\varphi(n_2, n_1)^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} \hat{W}^{\bar{x}}_s(n_1) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} \hat{W}^{\bar{x}}_s(n_2)$$

holds for all $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{I}$, $n_2 > n_1$ by the following. Let $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{I}$, $n_2 > n_1$ and let $x \in {}_{\varphi}^{\mathbb{I}} \hat{W}_s^{\bar{x}}(n_1)$ then $\hat{n} := {}_{\varphi}^{\mathbb{I}} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(x, \bar{x}(n_1), n_1) \in \mathbb{I}$ and

$$\|\varphi(x, n, n_1) - \bar{x}(n)\| < \|\varphi(x, m, n_1) - \bar{x}(m)\|$$

holds for all $n, m \in \mathbb{I}$, $\mathring{n} \geq n > m \geq \hat{n}$ with $\mathring{n} := {}_{\varphi}\mathcal{T}_{ker}^{\bar{x}}(x, n_1)$. Further, by Lemma 6.3.2 we have $\hat{n} \leq \tilde{n} := {}_{\varphi}^{\mathbb{I}}\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(\varphi(x, n_2, n_1), \bar{x}(n_2), n_2) \in \mathbb{I}$. Hence,

$$\|\varphi(\varphi(x, n_2, n_1), n, n_2) - \bar{x}(n)\| < \|\varphi(\varphi(x, n_2, n_1), m, n_2) - \bar{x}(m)\|$$

holds for all $\mathring{n} \ge n > m \ge \widetilde{n} \ge \widehat{n}$. Last we prove that either $\mathring{n} \le n_2$ or $_{\varphi}\mathcal{T}_{ker}^{\overline{x}}(\varphi(x, n_2, n_1), n_2) = \mathring{n}$ holds. Let $\mathring{n} > n_2$. Then

$$n_{2} < \mathring{n} = \min\{n \in [n_{1}, n_{+}]_{\mathbb{Z}} | \varphi(x, n, n_{1}) = 0\}$$

= $\min\{n \in [n_{2}, n_{+}]_{\mathbb{Z}} | \varphi(\varphi(x, n_{2}, n_{1}), n, n_{2}) = 0\} = {}_{\varphi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}}^{\bar{x}}(x, n_{2}).$

Thus, $\varphi(x, n_2, n_1) \in {}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} \hat{W}_s^{\bar{x}}(n_2)$. Note that Contour techniques also apply to finite time systems. In [55] an algorithm is introduced and applied to various examples of 2 and 3 dimensional systems. The stable fibers considered there coincide with our forward invariant set ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} \hat{W}^{\bar{x}}_s$. Thus, we can apply the contour algorithm to approximate the forward ε -stable ft-fiber bundle. The obtained approximation is a superset of the original stable ft-fiber bundle and, thus, an approximation for the original stable ft-fiber bundle.
Chapter 7

(In)Finite Time Homoclinic Trajectories

Systems that describe phenomena with chaotic properties often exhibit homoclinic orbits. Examples for chaotic behavior are electrical circuits [127], lasers in nonlinear optics [41], bursting phenomena in mathematical biology [1] and chemical reactions with chaotic oscillations in the reactant concentrations [56]. Further references to examples are mentioned in [89]. All these examples show homoclinic dynamics and, thus, the analysis of homoclinic orbits is of great interest.

In this chapter we study homoclinic trajectories of continuous and discrete, finite and infinite time systems. These trajectories lie in the intersection of stable and unstable fiber bundles. In finite time the intersection is generally more than a point or curve. Thus, we define the homoclinic tube, which is the union of all homoclinic trajectories. We present a way to numerically approximate this tube and prove that the distant of the boundaries decays to the middle of the finite time interval if the distant remains sufficiently small for all times. Further, we prove in Section 7.3 that homoclinic orbits of continuous time systems induce homoclinic orbits of a system, discretized by a one-step method. Therefore, we analyze the h-flow of a dynamical system in Section 7.2.

Most results for infinite time systems that are presented in this chapter originate from the publication [54].

The following definition of homoclinic trajectories can be found for discrete infinite time systems in [73] and for a similar definition in continuous infinite time we refer to [19].

Definition 7.0.1. Two bounded trajectories $x(\cdot)$ and $y(\cdot)$ of the system (2.1) for $\mathbb{I} := \mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ are homoclinic toward each other if

$$\lim_{\substack{t \to \pm \infty, \\ t \in \mathbb{T}}} \|x(t) - y(t)\| = 0.$$
(7.1)

If y(t) = 0 for all $t \in \mathbb{T}$ is a (trivial) trajectory (equilibrium) of (2.1) and if $x(\cdot)$ is homoclinic toward $y(\cdot)$ then (7.1) has the form $\lim_{t\to\pm\infty} ||x(t)|| =$ 0. Unless stated otherwise, homoclinic always means homoclinic toward the equilibrium 0. A homoclinic trajectory is also called a **homoclinic orbit**. Studying the definition of the stable and unstable fiber bundle (Def. 6.0.1) we observe that equation (7.1) is equivalent to

$$x(t) \in W_s^y(t) \cap W_u^y(t) \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{T}.$$
(7.2)

This means that every homoclinic orbit lies in the intersection of the stable and unstable fiber bundle.

To obtain an adequate definition for "homoclinic" trajectories in finite time we transfer the properties of an infinite time trajectory to the finite time case. The condition (7.1) only works for infinite time trajectories. For finite time systems we cannot take $\lim_{t\to\pm\infty}$. Hence, it is only meaningful to assume that the trajectories are close to each other at the boundary times t_{\pm} . This leads to the condition

$$\|x(t_{\pm}) - y(t_{\pm})\|_2 < \varepsilon, \tag{7.3}$$

for a fixed $\varepsilon > 0$.

To point out the dependency of ε we define ε -homoclinic trajectories for finite time system. The condition (7.3) does not yield (7.2) for our ft-fiber bundles. Thus, in finite time we have to examine (7.2) explicitly. In contrast to infinite time systems, fibers in finite time are fat objects. Hence, the intersection of the stable and unstable ft-fiber bundle normally includes more than one ε -homoclinic trajectory. Therefore, we define the intersection of the stable and unstable ft-fibers as the ε -homoclinic tube. This tube is the union of all ε -homoclinic trajectories.

Definition 7.0.2. Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}$ and $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]_{\mathbb{T}}$ be a compact interval with $t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}$. Two different trajectories $x(\cdot)$ and $y(\cdot)$ of system (2.1) are ε homoclinic towards each other (form an ε -homoclinic trajectory pair) if

$$x(t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_s(t) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_u(t) \text{ for } a \ t \in \mathbb{I}.$$

$$(7.4)$$

Trajectories which are ε -homoclinic towards the hyperbolic fixed point 0 are called ε -homoclinic trajectories.

Let $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ be a trajectory. The ε -homoclinic t-tube

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}T^{\bar{x}}_{\varepsilon}(t) := {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{\bar{x}}_{u}(t)$$

is the set of all trajectories of (2.2) or (2.3) at time $t \in \mathbb{I}$ which are ε -homoclinic towards $\bar{x}(\cdot)$. The ε -homoclinic tube is defined by

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}T_{\varepsilon}^{\bar{x}} = \left\{ (x_0, t_0) \in \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{I} | x_0 \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}T_{\varepsilon}^{\bar{x}}(t_0) \right\}.$$

Remark 7.0.3. • For invertible systems an ε -homoclinic trajectory pair satisfies (7.4) for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, see Corollary 7.0.6.

• Caused by the monotonicity of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{y}_{s,u}(\cdot)$ a solution $x(\cdot) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{y}_{s}(\cdot) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{y}_{u}(\cdot)$ has to leave the ε -ball around $y(\cdot)$. This means, the only trivial ε -homoclinic trajectory pair $(x(\cdot), y(\cdot))$ satisfies $y(\cdot) = x(\cdot)$. Indeed, from $||x(t) - y(t)||_{2} < \varepsilon$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ follows ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{y}_{s,u}(t) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^{y}_{s,u}(t)$ and thus, the intersection is

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^y_s(t)\cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^y_u(t)={}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^y_s(t)\cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}M^y_u(t)=\{y\}.$$

• The ε-homoclinic tube may consists of two tubes, since the fibers extent to two sides.

As mentioned before we want that an ε -homoclinic trajectory pair satisfies (7.3). This is not explicitly required in the Definition 7.0.2. However, (7.3) follows from (7.4).

Lemma 7.0.4. Let $(x(\cdot), y(\cdot))$ form an ε -homoclinic trajectory pair of system (2.2)/(2.3) then $||x(t_{\pm}) - y(t_{\pm})||_2 < \varepsilon$ is satisfied.

Proof. By Definition 7.0.2 we have $x(t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_s(t) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_u(t)$ for a $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Then the definitions of the *t*-fibers lead to $x(t_{\pm}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(y(t_{\pm}))$. Thus, we have $||x(t_{\pm}) - y(t_{\pm})||_2 < \varepsilon$.

Lemma 7.0.5. The definition of an ε -homoclinic trajectory pair is symmetric, *i.e.* if $(x(\cdot), y(\cdot))$ is an ε -homoclinic trajectory pair then $(y(\cdot), x(\cdot))$ is one as well.

Proof. Let $(x(\cdot), y(\cdot))$ be an ε -homoclinic trajectory pair. We show that if

$$x(t_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_s(t_0) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_u(t_0)$$

for a $t_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ then

$$y(t_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^x_s(t_0) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^x_u(t_0).$$

Let $x(t_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_s(t_0) \setminus \{0\}$ and $\bar{t} = {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi} \mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(x(t_-), y(t_-), t_-)$. Then we have

 $\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|x(t) - y(t)\| < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, t > \bar{t}, & \text{in continuous time,} \\ \|x(t) - y(t)\| < \|x(s) - y(s)\| & \text{for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t > s > \bar{t}, & \text{in discrete time.} \end{cases}$

By the symmetry of the estimates and the symmetry of $_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(\cdot, \cdot, t)$ (Lemma 6.3.1) for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ we have $y(t_0) \in _{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_s^x(t_0)$. Analogously, we can prove that from $x(t_0) \in _{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_u^y(t_0)$ the statement $y(t_0) \in _{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_u^x(t_0)$ follows.

Corollary 7.0.6. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. If $x(\cdot)$, $y(\cdot)$ are two different trajectories of an invertible systems (2.2)/(2.3) such that there exist $t_0, t_1 \in \mathbb{I}$ with

$$x(t_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_s(t_0), \quad x(t_1) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_u(t_1)$$

then we get for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$

$$x(t) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_s(t) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_u(t).$$

If $x(\cdot)$, $y(\cdot)$ are two different trajectories of a (non)invertible system (2.3) such that there exists $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$ with

$$x(t_{-}) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_s(t_{-}), \quad x(n_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_u(n_0)$$

then we get for all $n \in \mathbb{I}$

$$x(n) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_s(n) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_u(n).$$

Proof. Let (2.2)/(2.3) be invertible and $x(t_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_s(t_0), x(t_1) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_u(t_1)$ for any $t_0, t_1 \in \mathbb{I}$. Then we have for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$ by the invariance of the fiber bundles (Lemma 6.4.3)

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \varphi(x(t_0), t, t_0) \in \varphi(t, t_0)_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_s^y(t_0) = {}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_s^y(t), \\ x(t) &= \varphi(x(t_1), t, t_1) \in \varphi(t, t_1)_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_u^y(t_1) = {}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_u^y(t), \end{aligned}$$

which prove the first statement.

Let (2.2)/(2.3) be noninvertible and $x(t_{-}) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_s(t_{-}), x(n_0) \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon} W^y_u(n_0)$ for any $n_0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Then we have for all $n \in \mathbb{I}$

$$\begin{aligned} x(n) &= \varphi(x(t_{-}), n, t_{-}) \in \varphi(n, t_{-})_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s}^{y}(t_{-}) \subset _{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s}^{y}(n), \\ x(n) &= \varphi(x(n_{0}), n, n_{0}) \in \varphi(n, n_{0})_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{u}^{y}(n_{0}) = _{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{u}^{y}(n), \end{aligned}$$

which prove the second statement.

In the following we need the Banach space of bounded functions which is defined for $i \in \mathbb{N}$ as

$$X^{i} = \Big\{ u(\cdot) \in \mathcal{C}^{i}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^{k}) : \left\| u \right\|_{i} = \sum_{j=0}^{i} \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| u^{(j)}(t) \right\|_{\infty} < \infty \Big\}.$$

For infinite time systems the way the stable and unstable fibers intersect is of interest. If they intersect transversally than homoclinic orbits are preserved under a small perturbation of the system. For tangential intersections homoclinic orbits generally vanish if the system is perturbed. Thus, we analyze whether the intersection is transversal or tangential. First we have a look at the definition of a infinite time transversal orbit and an illustration of the different types of intersections. **Definition 7.0.7.** A homoclinic orbit $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ of (2.2) for $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$ is called **transversal** if the following is true.

(T) A function $u(\cdot) \in X^1$ satisfies

 $\dot{u}(t) = f_x(\bar{x}(t), t)u(t), \ t \in \mathbb{R}$

if and only if $u(\cdot) = 0$.

Geometrically, transversality means that stable and unstable fiber bundles intersect transversally along the homoclinic orbit, see Theorem 7.0.10. In Figure 7.1 both types of intersection, transversal (top left) and tangential (bottom left) are pictured. For each system we also plotted the fiber bundles of two sufficiently small perturbed systems (second and third coulomb). Note that in nonautonomous continuous ift-systems the intersection of stable and unstable fibers at a fixed time does not necessarily have a whole orbit in common. As mentioned before a transversal intersection is preserved under small perturbation whereas a tangential intersection does typically not survive under perturbation. This can be seen in Figure 7.1. The second and third picture of the first row still have a homoclinic (blue) point whereas the second and third picture of the second row do not have a homoclinic point. For stable and unstable ft-fibers the way of intersection does not play a role for the existence of ε -homoclinic points of a perturbed system. For small perturbations an intersection is always preserved if the fibers are fat sets. In the right panels of Figure 7.1 two different kinds of intersection are plotted, before and after perturbing the system. The fiber bundles are illustrated as fat sets, since this is in general the case. Figure 7.1 shows that the fibers of the perturbed systems (fifths and sixths column) intersect for both types of intersection (blue points).

Studying the last row of Figure 7.1 we claim that

Claim 7.0.8. It is possible to get a nontrivial ε -homoclinic tube of an autonomous system although the same system for $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$ does not have a non-trivial homoclinic trajectory.

In Section 7.1 we illustrate this statement by an explicit example and we give numerical tools to approximate an ε -homoclinic tube.

Before we summarize alternative characterizations of transversality in Theorem 7.0.10 we impose for system (2.2) a few assumptions under which we later show that homoclinic orbits of (2.2) induce homoclinic orbits of a discretized system.

From now on assume $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$ or that $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+] \subset \mathbb{R}$ is a compact interval.

(A4) Let h > 0 and if \mathbb{I} is compact such that $\frac{t_-}{h}, \frac{t_+}{h} \in \mathbb{Z}$. Define

$$\mathbb{J} := \mathbb{J}_h := \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & \text{if } \mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}, \\ [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}} := [\frac{t_-}{h}, \frac{t_+}{h}]_{\mathbb{Z}}, & \text{if } \mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]. \end{cases}$$
(7.5)



Figure 7.1: Examples of fiber bundles (infinite time left panels, finite time right panels). Two different kinds of intersection, tangential (bottom) and transversal (top), of the stable (green) and unstable (red) fiber are plotted. The fibers are plotted before (1. and 4. column) and after perturbing (2., 3., 5. and 6. column) the system. All homoclinic points (intersections) are marked in blue.

Further set

$$\mathbb{J}_1 := \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & \text{if } \mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}, \\ [\frac{t_-}{h}, \frac{t_+}{h} - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}, & \text{if } \mathbb{J} = [\frac{t_-}{h}, \frac{t_+}{h}]_{\mathbb{Z}}. \end{cases}$$
(7.6)

(A5) $f \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}^k)$ satisfies conditions, assuring existence and uniqueness of global solutions of (2.2) as well as the following estimates for the solution operator φ . For any compact set $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ there exist constants $C_1(\mathcal{K}), h_1(\mathcal{K}) > 0$ such that the inequality

$$\|\varphi_x(x,t,s)\| \le C_1(\mathcal{K})$$

holds for all $x \in \mathcal{K}$ and $|t - s| \leq h_1(\mathcal{K})$. For $n \in \mathbb{J}_1$ let

$$\varphi_n(x,h) := \varphi(x,(n+1)h,nh)$$

be \mathcal{C}^d smooth w.r.t. $h, d \geq 1$. Mixed derivatives $(\varphi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,\ell)}, \ell \in \{0, \ldots, d\}$ exist and satisfy the uniform Lipschitz condition

$$\left\| (\varphi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,d)}(x,\mu_1) - (\varphi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,d)}(x,\mu_2) \right\| \le C_1(\mathcal{K}) \|\mu_1 - \mu_2\|$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{K}$, $0 \le \mu_{1,2} \le h_1(\mathcal{K})$ and $n \in \mathbb{J}_1$.

Further, let $\left\| (\varphi_n)_{x,h}^{(r,1)}(x,h) \right\| \leq C_1(\mathcal{K})$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}, r \in \{0,1\}, x \in \mathcal{K}$ and $0 \leq h \leq h_1(\mathcal{K})$.

(A6) $0 \in \mathbb{R}^k$ satisfies f(0,t) = 0 for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

Remark 7.0.9. If (2.2) possesses a (hyperbolic) bounded solution $\xi(\cdot) \in X^0$, then the transformed system

$$\dot{y} = g(y, t), \quad g(y, t) := f(y + \xi(t), t) - f(\xi(t), t)$$

has 0 as a t-independent (hyperbolic) equilibrium. Thus, without loss of generality (A6) is fulfilled. Note that (A5) is invariant under this transformation.

(A7) 0 is (ft-)hyperbolic. Denote the data of the corresponding variational equation

$$\dot{x} = f_x(0, \cdot)x$$

by $(K, \beta, P^{s,u}(\cdot))$.

(A8) A nontrivial homoclinic orbit $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ of (2.2) exists.

Next we present equivalent statements to (T) from Definition 7.0.7.

Theorem 7.0.10. Let $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$. Assume (A5)-(A8), then the following statements are equivalent

- (a_c) The homoclinic orbit $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ is transversal in the sense of (T).
- (b_c) The variational equation

$$\dot{u} = f_x(\bar{x}(\cdot), \cdot)u \tag{7.7}$$

has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{R} .

(c_c) The linear operator

$$L(\bar{x}): X^1 \to X^0, \ L(\bar{x})u(\cdot) := \dot{u}(\cdot) - f_x(\bar{x}(\cdot), \cdot)u(\cdot)$$

is a homeomorphism.

(d_c) The tangent spaces $T_{\bar{x}(0)}W^0_{s,u}(0)$ of the fibers $W^0_{s,u}(0)$ at the point $\bar{x}(0)$ satisfy

$$T_{\bar{x}(0)}W^0_u(0) \oplus T_{\bar{x}(0)}W^0_s(0) = \mathbb{R}^k.$$

Proof. (**a**_c)⇒(**b**_c): Since $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ is a homoclinic orbit w.r.t. the hyperbolic equilibrium 0, the Roughness-Theorem 3.4.1 applies and gives an exponential dichotomy of (7.7) that we can extend to \mathbb{R}^+ and \mathbb{R}^- . By assuming (**a**_c), a nontrivial bounded solution cannot exist. Using [104, Prop. 2.1] half sided dichotomies can be combined into a dichotomy on \mathbb{R} . $(\mathbf{b_c}) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{c_c})$: Assuming $(\mathbf{b_c})$ then $\mathcal{N}(L(\bar{x})) = \{0 \in X^1\}$ directly follows. On the other hand by [39, Chapter V.1] we obtain for each $r \in X^0$ – using Green's function – a unique bounded solution in X^1 of the inhomogeneous equation

$$\dot{u} = f_x(\bar{x}(\cdot), \cdot)u + r(\cdot).$$

Thus $L(\bar{x})$ is injective and surjective.

- $(\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{c}}) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{c}})$: The claim immediately follows, since $L(\bar{x})$ is a homeomorphism.
- $(\mathbf{a_c}) \Leftrightarrow (\mathbf{d_c})$: For a proof we refer to the end of Section 7.2 where we introduce the discrete equivalent of these statements.

We see that every homoclinic orbit which is transversal is also a hyperbolic trajectory and vice versa. Since Theorem 7.0.10 is not applicable to finite time systems we assume

(A9) The homoclinic orbit $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ is (ft-)hyperbolic.

For the infinite time case this is equivalent to $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ is a transversal orbit, as assumed in [54]. Several of the following results hold true for bounded (ft-)hyperbolic trajectories that need not to be homoclinic. For this case, we assume

(A10) Let $\bar{y}(\cdot)$ be a (ft-)hyperbolic bounded trajectory of (2.2). Denote by $(\bar{K}, \bar{\beta}, \bar{Q}^{s,u}(\cdot))$ the (ft-)dichotomy data of the corresponding variational equation

$$\dot{u} = f_x(\bar{y}(\cdot), \cdot)u$$

and let $S^{\bar{y}}(t,s)$ be its solution operator.

Approximation of ε -Homoclinic Tubes and Numerical Tools

In this subsection we concentrate on ε -homoclinic tubes. We prove Claim 7.0.8, i.e.

it is possible to get a nontrivial ε -homoclinic tube of an autonomous system although the same system for $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$ does not have a nontrivial homoclinic trajectory,

with the help of an explicit example. Further, we find numerical tools to approximate this tubes and a theoretical statement about their width. To actually plot ε -homoclinic tubes it is helpful that they are invariant under the solution operator.

Lemma 7.1.1. Let $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ be an ft-hyperbolic trajectory of the invertible ftsystem (2.2)/(2.3) and let $\varepsilon > 0$. Then the ε -homoclinic t-tube

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}T^{\bar{x}}_{\varepsilon}(t) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}W^{\bar{x}}_{s}(t) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}W^{\bar{x}}_{u}(t)$$

is open and invariant under $\varphi(\cdot, t)$.

Proof. By Lemma 6.4.3 both, the ε -stable ${}^{\mathbb{I}}W_s^{\bar{x}}(t)$ and the ε -unstable ${}^{\mathbb{I}}W_u^{\bar{x}}(t)$ ftt-fibers are invariant under $\varphi(\cdot, t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$, i.e. the intersection is invariant. By Definition 6.3.3/ 6.3.4 we see that ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W_{s,u}^{\bar{x}}(t)$ are open sets for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Thus, the ε -homoclinic t-tube is open.

By the continuity of $\varphi(\cdot, \cdot)$ we get that the boundary of the tube is invariant. To plot the tube (boundary of the tube) it is sufficient to calculate the boundary of ${}^{\mathbb{I}}T^{\bar{x}}_{\varepsilon}(t_{-})$ and plot its image under $\varphi(t, t_{-})$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

To show that Claim 7.0.8 is true we first consider the autonomous system

$$\dot{x} = \begin{pmatrix} 1.6 \left(x(1) + x(2)^2 \right) \\ -1.6 \left(-x(1)^2 + x(2) \right) \end{pmatrix} = f(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^2$$
(7.8)

on $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$. For this system a nontrivial homoclinic orbit exists. With the Numlab application for Matlab [102] the manifolds of the hyperbolic fixed point 0 are plotted for the parameters h := 0.01 and l = 300, where h denote the step size of the classical Runge-Kutta method and l the number of steps. The generated plot is presented in the left of Figure 7.2. The time independency of the system induces that the fibers are autonomous. This means that if the manifolds intersect then they have the whole homoclinic orbit in common, since the fibers are invariant. Hence, the manifolds intersect tangentially and the existing homoclinic orbit is tangential. As illustrated in Figure 7.1 (left bottom panel) the homoclinic orbit vanishes by perturbing the given system (7.8). To prove this we study the perturbed system

$$\dot{x} = \begin{pmatrix} 1.6 \left(x(1) + x(2)^2 \right) \\ -1.6016 \left(-x(1)^2 + x(2) \right) \end{pmatrix} = f(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$
(7.9)

For comparison we also let Numlab plot the manifolds of the hyperbolic fixed point 0 of the perturbed system (7.9) for the same parameters (h = 0.01, l = 300). These manifolds are pictured in the right half of Figure 7.2. Note that the manifolds do not intersect. Hence, the system (7.9) does not have a nontrivial homoclinic trajectory.

In the following example we show that on a finite time interval system (7.9) has a nontrivial ε -homoclinic tube. This proves Claim 7.0.8. Further we develop a tool to approximate the tube.



Figure 7.2: The stable and unstable manifolds of the fixed point 0 of system (7.8) (left) and (7.9) (right).

Example 7.1.2. Consider the finite time autonomous system (7.9) on $\mathbb{I} = [-2.5, 2.5]$. We see that 0 is a fixed point. Our aim is to find all nontrivial ε -homoclinic trajectories towards 0 for $\varepsilon := 0.1$ and prove that at least one ε -homoclinic orbit exists. First we start with the approximation of the stable and unstable fiber bundles. Therefore, we compute the stable and unstable cones $V_{s,u}$ of the linearization with the help of Lemma 5.6.1. To apply this lemma we show that 0 is an ft-hyperbolic solution, i.e. $f_x(0)$ is D-hyperbolic w.r.t. the euclidean norm ($\Gamma = I$). The symmetric part of $f_x(0)$ is $f_x(0) = \text{diag}(1.6, -1.6016)$ itself (indefinite and nondegenerate) and the acceleration tensor is $M = 2f_x(0)^2$ (positive definite). Thus, 0 is an ft-hyperbolic solution and by Lemma 5.6.1 we have

$$\partial V_s(2.5) = \partial V_u(-2.5) = \mathcal{L}\left(\begin{pmatrix}\sqrt{1.6016}\\\sqrt{1.6}\end{pmatrix}\right) \cup \mathcal{L}\left(\begin{pmatrix}-\sqrt{1.6016}\\\sqrt{1.6}\end{pmatrix}\right)$$

Since these boundaries approximate the boundaries of the fiber bundles locally, see Theorem 6.6.1, we take as a first approximation all points in the cones which are at least ε close to 0.

These sets are illustrated in Figure 7.3 in the light green $(V_s(2.5) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(0))$ and in light red $(V_u(-2.5) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(0))$. To prove which points

$$x_u(-2.5) \in \partial \left(V_u(-2.5) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(0) \right)$$

(bright red in the top left picture) satisfy

$$x_u(2.5) = \Phi(2.5, -2.5) x_u(-2.5) \in V_s(2.5) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(0)$$



Figure 7.3: Finding all $\varepsilon = 0.1$ -homoclinic trajectories to the fixed point 0 of system (7.9).

we need the solution operator $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ of system (7.9). Since the solution operator is not given explicitly we approximate $x_u(2.5)$ with the help of the classical Runge-Kutta method of order 4, see [108, S.172]. This is a discretization method, thus, we need a step size

$$h := \frac{5}{n}, \ n = 500.$$

We calculate $\{\Phi(2.5, -2.5)x | x \in (\partial(V_s(-2.5) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(0)) \cap G)\}$, where G is a adjusted fine grid. These points are plotted in red in the right middle part of Figure 7.3. The ones which satisfy $x_u(2.5) \in \overline{V_s(2.5)} \cap B_{\varepsilon}(0)$ are marked with an x and are also plotted (red) in the panel below. Further, their preimages at time -2.5 are plotted (red) in the left bottom part. Next we search for all points

$$x_u(-2.5) \in V_u(-2.5) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(0)$$

which satisfy

$$x_u(2.5) = \Phi(2.5, -2.5) x_u(-2.5) \in \partial(V_s(2.5) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(0))$$

With time reversal and negative step size for the classical Runge-Kutta method we obtain an approximation of $\{\Phi(-2.5, 2.5)x | x \in (\partial(V_s(2.5) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(0)) \cap G)\},\$ illustrated in green in the left middle part of Figure 7.3. The points x which satisfy

$$x \in V_u(-2.5) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(0)$$

are marked by an x and are also plotted (green) in the panel below. Further, their images at time 2.5 are shown (green) in the right bottom graphic. $\Phi(\cdot, -2.5)x_u(-2.5)$ is an ε -homoclinic trajectory towards 0 if and only if the point $x_u(-2.5)$ lies inside the (by the red and green x) marked set in the left bottom panel of Figure 7.3. The boundary points at time 2.5 lie inside the marked set in the right bottom panel.

The boundary of the $\varepsilon = 0.1$ -homoclinic tube w.r.t. the fixed point 0 is illustrated in the top of Figure 7.4. To approximate it we started with the boundary (green and red points in the right bottom picture of Figure 7.3) of the $\varepsilon = 0.1$ -homoclinic t = 2.5-tube. Then we searched the previous points with the help of the classical Runge-Kutta method and step size -0.01. The boundary of all $\varepsilon = 0.1$ -homoclinic orbit points at time 2.5 are the boundary point in green. The magenta boundary points mirror the boundary of the $\varepsilon = 0.1$ -homoclinic tube at time -2.5. For each 0.5-time step the points of the boundary are marked in different colors from magenta over yellow to green. The left panel of Figure 7.4 shows a sector of the orbit tube from the top. The whole tube projected to the x_1 - x_2 -plane is plotted in the right panel of Figure 7.4. 7.1 Approximation of ε -Homoclinic Tubes and Numerical Tools



Figure 7.4: All $\varepsilon = 0.1$ -homoclinic trajectories w.r.t. the fixed point 0 of system (7.9).

With the method described above we construct a boundary value problem, which enables a direct calculation of the boundary of the tube. This ansatz also applies to noninvertible dynamical systems. Consider

$$\dot{x} = f(x,t), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^k, t \in \mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$$

and assume that 0 is an ft-hyperbolic solution. Let $\Gamma = \Gamma^T > 0$ and let $S_{\Gamma}(t) = \frac{1}{2}[\Gamma f_x(0,t) + f_x(0,t)^T \Gamma]$ be the symmetric part of $f_x(0,t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Denote by $\mathbb{I}V_{s,u}(t), t \in \mathbb{I}$ the stable and unstable *t*-cones of the linearized system. We discretize this system by applying a one-step method

$$x_{n+1} = f_n(x_n), n \in [0, N]_{\mathbb{Z}}$$

with step size $h = \frac{t_+ - t_-}{N}$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}, N > 0$. First define an operator whose zeros imply trajectories of the one-step method, i.e. $F : \mathbb{R}^{(N+1)k} \to \mathbb{R}^{Nk}$,

$$F\begin{pmatrix}x_0\\\vdots\\x_N\end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix}x_1 - \tilde{f}_0(x_0)\\\vdots\\x_N - \tilde{f}_{N-1}(x_{N-1})\end{pmatrix}$$

Let $X = \begin{pmatrix} x_0 & \dots & x_N \end{pmatrix}^T$, fix₂ $\in \mathbb{R}$ be variable and fix₁ $\in \mathbb{R}$ be a constant. Define the operator $F_1 : \mathbb{R}^{(N+1)k+1} \to \mathbb{R}^{(N+1)k+1}$ by

$$F_1\begin{pmatrix}X\\\text{fix}_2\end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix}F(X)\\b_{\text{proj}}^1(x_0, x_N, \text{fix}_2)\\\langle x_0, S_{\Gamma}(t_-)x_0\rangle\end{pmatrix}$$

with boundary condition

$$b_{\text{proj}}^1: \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^k, \ b_{\text{proj}}^1(x, y, \mu) := \begin{pmatrix} Y_s(t_-)^T x - \text{fix}_1 \\ Y_u(t_+)^T y - \mu \end{pmatrix},$$

where $Y_{s,u}(t)$ forms a basis of $(U_{u,s}(t))^{\perp}$ and $U_{s,u}(t) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s,u}(t)$ is a vector space of maximal dimension for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. This is an adapted version of the projection boundary condition presented in [72] for the infinite time case. Note that $Y_s(t_-)^T x - \text{fix}_1$ displays the "distance" between x and the ft-hyperbolic solution 0 at time t_- . For an ε -homoclinic orbit the "distance" does not need to be zero. It is variable in the interval $(-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$, since the boundary point of a homoclinic orbit $x(\cdot)$ satisfies $||x(t_{\pm})|| < \varepsilon$.

Further define the following operator $F_2 : \mathbb{R}^{(N+1)k+1} \to \mathbb{R}^{(N+1)k+1}$ by

$$F_2\begin{pmatrix}X\\\text{fix}_2\end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix}F(X)\\b_{\text{proj}}^1(x_0, x_N, \text{fix}_2)\\\|x_0\|_2 - \varepsilon\end{pmatrix}.$$

Let now fix₂ $\in \mathbb{R}$ be a constant.

Then define the operators $F_{3,4}: \mathbb{R}^{(N+1)k+1} \to \mathbb{R}^{(N+1)k+1}$ by

$$F_3\begin{pmatrix}X\\\text{fix}_1\end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix}F(X)\\b_{\text{proj}}^2(x_0, x_N, \text{fix}_1)\\\langle x_N, S_{\Gamma}(t_+)x_N\rangle\end{pmatrix}, \ F_4\begin{pmatrix}X\\\text{fix}_1\end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix}F(X)\\b_{\text{proj}}^2(x_0, x_N, \text{fix}_1)\\\|x_N\|_2 - \varepsilon\end{pmatrix},$$

with the boundary condition

$$b_{\text{proj}}^2: \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^k, \ b_{\text{proj}}^2(x, y, \mu) := \begin{pmatrix} Y_s(t_-)^T x - \mu \\ Y_u(t_+)^T y - \text{fix}_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

If fix_{1,2} are fixed, then $b_{\text{proj}}^1(x, y, \text{fix}_2) = b_{\text{proj}}^2(x, y, \text{fix}_1)$ for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$. This means that if (x, fix_2) is a zeros of F_1 with fixed fix_1 and if x(N+1) solves the last equation of $F_{3,4}$ then (x, fix_1) is a zero of $F_{3,4}$ with fixed fix_2.

To get the boundary of an ε -homoclinic tube we first need to find a fix₁ \in $(0, \varepsilon]$ such that $X \in \mathbb{R}^{(N+1)k}$ with $F_1(X, \mu) = 0$ for a $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ lies on the boundary of the ε -homoclinic tube. Note that the stable cone is a good approximation of the stable fiber in a small neighborhood of 0. Thus, it is sufficient to prove that the boundary point $X(N+1) = x_N$ (at time t_+) lies on the boundary of the intersection of the stable cone and the ε -ball around 0, i.e.

$$\langle x_N, S_{\Gamma}(t_+)x_N \rangle \leq 0, \ \|x_N\|_2 = \varepsilon$$

or $\langle x_N, S_{\Gamma}(t_+)x_N \rangle = 0, \ \|x_N\|_2 \leq \varepsilon.$ (7.10)

We change fix₁ sufficiently small and approximate with the Newton method a zero of F_1 with the changed fix₁. If the condition (7.10) is satisfied for the new zero we continue with this procedure until the condition is not satisfied. This leads to a set of trajectories which form one part of the tube boundary. The boundary of the ε -homoclinic tube consists of six segments. The first segment is the one we just calculated. The other five segments are obtained in a similar way. We need to find a zero

of
$$F_1$$
 for fix₁ $\in [-\varepsilon, 0)$,
of F_2 for fix₁ $\in [-\varepsilon, \varepsilon]$,

which satisfy condition (7.10). Via continuation w.r.t. fix_1 in the given interval as long as (7.10) is true we get two more curves of the tube boundary. Further we need a zero

of
$$F_3$$
 for fix₂ $\in [-\varepsilon, 0)$ and fix₂ $\in (0, \varepsilon]$,
of F_4 for fix₂ $\in [-\varepsilon, \varepsilon]$

which satisfy

$$\langle x_0, S_{\Gamma}(t_-)x_0 \rangle \ge 0, \ \|x_0\| = \varepsilon$$

or $\langle x_0, S_{\Gamma}(t_-)x_0 \rangle = 0, \ \|x_0\| \le \varepsilon.$ (7.11)

Via continuation this time w.r.t fix₂ as long as (7.11) is true we get the rest of the tube boundary.

We can calculate all six parts of the tube boundary separately or combined. For the first alternative we need for each function $F_{2,4}$ one initial trajectory and for $F_{1,3}$ two, one for a fixed parameter in $[-\varepsilon, 0)$ and one for a fixed parameter in $(0, \varepsilon]$. This means, we need six initial trajectories. Via continuation we obtain six curves, which together form the boundary of the tube. The second alternative requires only one initial trajectory. Figure 7.5 describes a way to obtain the entire boundary with just one initial trajectory. We start with one initial trajectory x, one initial parameter fix₂ and a fixed fix₁ $\in (0, \varepsilon]$ such that (x, fix_2) is a zero of F_1 which satisfies (7.10). This solution and fixed constant fix₁ are marked in black in Figure 7.5. Via continuation as described above w.r.t. fix₁ as long as (7.10) is satisfied we get a curve with boundary points (x^{\pm}, fix_2^{\pm}) . Denote the fixed constants by fix₁[±]. The boundary points satisfy $\langle x_N^+, S_{\Gamma} x_N^+ \rangle = 0$ and $||x_N^-||_2 = \varepsilon$. Then $(x^+, \operatorname{fix}_1^+)$ is a zero of F_3 with constant fix_2^+ and $(x^-, \operatorname{fix}_1^-)$ is a zero of F_4 with constant fix_2^- . Via continuation w.r.t. fix₂ we get two more parts of the tube boundary (curves) and for each boundary point with fixed constant a initial point for an other F_i function (with fixed constant). Continuing this procedure until the curves reach its initial point, we get the entire boundary via continuation from one initial trajectory. In Figure 7.5 we see how to change fix₁ and fix₂ such that we get a zero of another F_i function. Further it shows which function F_i we have to use.



Figure 7.5: Circle of continuation to approximate the boundary of an ε -homoclinic tube with one initial trajectory x.

Finally we apply this method to equation (7.9).

Example 7.1.11. (part 2)

We apply the continuation algorithm from above, which is based on the boundary value problems F_i , and obtain as illustrated in Figure 7.6 the boundary of the tube. We plotted the boundary at time -2.5 and 2.5 to illustrate where the boundary of the tube and the stable and unstable cone coincide. The boundary value problem requires for the solution points at these times that they lie in the (un)stable cone and an ε -ball.



Figure 7.6: Calculation of all points of the ε -homoclinic tube of system (7.9) with the boundary value problem.

Having another look at Figure 7.4 we see in the bottom panel that the distance between the boundaries decreases if the distant to the fixed point increases. To analyze this in more detail we take three points X_1 , X_2 and X_3 on the boundary of the ε -tube at time 2.5. These points are marked in black in Figure 7.7.



Figure 7.7: Three reference points of the boundary of the ε -homoclinic tube at time 2.5 (marked in black) of system (7.9).

We approximate the corresponding orbits $X_1(\cdot)$, $X_2(\cdot)$ and $X_3(\cdot)$ with the classical Runge-Kutta method and step size h = -0.01. First we take the orbit $X_1(\cdot)$ and calculating for each 0.01-time step the smallest distance d to the orbit $X_2(\cdot)$, i.e.

 $d(t_0) := \min_{t \in (\mathbb{I} \cap h\mathbb{Z})} \|X_1(t_0) - X_2(t)\|_2, \ t_0 \in \mathbb{I} \cap 0.01\mathbb{Z}.$

In Figure 7.8 the blue dashed line shows this distance. The solid blue line gives us the distance between the same orbits approximated with a smaller step size h = -0.001. The green lines illustrates the distance of $X_1(\cdot)$ to the orbit $X_3(\cdot)$ and the black lines of $X_2(\cdot)$ to $X_3(\cdot)$. The dashed lines show the distance between the orbits approximated with step size h = -0.01 while the solid lines illustrate the distance between the orbits approximated with step size h = -0.001. In the right part of Figure 7.8 we computed for each logarithmic distance graph a linear fit to all points from time -2.3 to -1.8 and a second fit to all points from time 1.3 to 1.8.

The linear fits provide approximations of the gradients. We observe that the distance decays exponentially fast to the middle of the interval. In general the distance does not decays towards the the exact middle of the interval. The place (time) depends on the exponential rates. The graphs corresponding to step size h = -0.001 (solid lines) decreases until they reach J_1 and the graphs corresponding to step size h = -0.01 (dashed lines) only until they reach $J \subset J_1$ (in Figure 7.8 the intervals J and J_1 are coordinated for the black graphs). We expect that the decay does not stop in an interval J of J_1 , as the plotted graphs, if we theoretically calculate the distance between the continuous orbits. In Figure 7.9 we illustrate the reason why the decay stops. In the left part we plotted the three orbits $X_1(\cdot)$ (blue), $X_2(\cdot)$ (red) and $X_3(\cdot)$ (green) projected to



Figure 7.8: The distance of three different trajectories $(\Phi(\cdot, 2.5)Xi, i = 1, 2, 3)$ over the time interval.

the x_1 - x_2 -plane. The right part shows a section of these orbits (points of the orbit for times close to 0). Two distances calculated between the discretized orbits are marked with a black line. The brown lines illustrate the distance between the continuous orbits, which are shorter than the black lines.



Figure 7.9: Numerical artifacts are causing that the distance does not exponentially decrease for times close to 0.

We expect that the approximation of the distances gets more precise the smaller we choose the step size. Further we await that in the theoretical case the distance decays exponentially fast towards the middle of the given interval I. Beyn, Hüls and Schenke studied in [21] infinite time discrete hyperbolic dynamical systems. They showed that two finite orbit segments in a small neighborhood of a hyperbolic orbit converge exponentially fast towards each other (for t towards some time in the given finite time interval). Inspired by this publication we study a solution $x(\cdot)$ of a continuous finite time dynamical system which generates a K-hyperbolic, $K \in [1, \infty)$, variational equation. We prove that two solutions of the original system in a small neighborhood of the solution $x(\cdot)$ converge exponentially fast towards each other (for t towards some time in the interval).

Theorem 7.1.12. Let $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$, $K \in [1, \infty)$ and $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ be a solution of equation (2.2). Further let

$$\dot{u}(t) = f_x(\bar{x}(t), t)u(t)$$

be K-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$) on \mathbb{I} with $\alpha, \beta > 0$. Then there exists an $\bar{\varepsilon} > 0$, $0 < \tilde{\alpha} \leq \alpha, \ 0 < \tilde{\beta} \leq \beta$ and a constant C > 0 such that for all $0 < \varepsilon \leq \bar{\varepsilon}$ any two solutions z_1, z_2 of (2.2) with $\sup_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \|z_{1,2}(t) - \bar{x}(t)\| \leq \varepsilon$ satisfy

$$||z_1(t) - z_2(t)|| \le 5\varepsilon K^2 C(e^{-\tilde{\alpha}(t-t_-)} + e^{-\tilde{\beta}(t_+-t)})$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

Proof. Define $d(t) = z_1(t) - z_2(t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$. Then $d(\cdot)$ solves

$$d(t) = \dot{z}_1(t) - \dot{z}_2(t) = f(z_1(t), t) - f(z_2(t), t)$$

= $\int_0^1 f_x(z_2(t) + sd(t), t) dsd(t) =: A(t)d(t).$

Next we show that

$$\dot{u}(t) = A(t)u(t) \tag{7.12}$$

has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{I} with $\tilde{K} = \frac{5K^2}{2}$ and exponential rates $0 < \tilde{\alpha} \leq \alpha, \ 0 < \tilde{\beta} \leq \beta$. For that purpose we use Theorem 3.4.4 and need to show that

$$\sup_{t\in\mathbb{I}} \|A(t) - f_x(\bar{x}(t), t)\| < \frac{\min\{\alpha, \beta\}}{4}.$$

The modulus of continuity is given by

$$\omega(f_x, \mathbb{R}^k, \delta) = \sup \left\{ \sup_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \left\| f_x(x(t), t) - f_x(y(t), t) \right\| \left| x, y : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k : \sup_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \left\| x(t) - y(t) \right\| \le \delta \right\}.$$

Choose $\bar{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that $\omega(f_x, \mathbb{R}^k, \varepsilon) < \frac{\min\{\alpha, \beta\}}{4}$ for all $0 < \varepsilon \leq \bar{\varepsilon}$. Then by $\sup_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \|z_2(t) + sd(t) - \bar{x}(t)\| \leq s \sup_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \|z_1(t) - \bar{x}(t)\| + (1-s) \sup_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \|z_2(t) - \bar{x}(t)\|$ $\leq s\varepsilon + (1-s)\varepsilon = \varepsilon, \ s \in [0,1],$

we get

$$\sup_{t\in\mathbb{I}} \|A(t) - f_x(\bar{x}(t), t)\| \le \int_0^1 \sup_{t\in\mathbb{I}} \|f_x(z_2(t) + sd(t), t) - f_x(\bar{x}(t), t)\| \,\mathrm{d}s$$
$$\le \int_0^1 \omega(f_x, \mathbb{R}^k, \varepsilon) \,\mathrm{d}s$$
$$= \omega(f_x, \mathbb{R}^k, \varepsilon) < \frac{\min\{\alpha, \beta\}}{4}.$$

This implies an exponential dichotomy (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$) of (7.12) on \mathbb{I} with $\tilde{K} = \frac{5K^2}{2}$, $0 < \tilde{\alpha} \leq \alpha, \ 0 < \tilde{\beta} \leq \beta$ and an invariant family of projectors $Q : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$. Denote the solution operator of (7.12) by Ψ , then the solution $d(\cdot)$ of (7.12) satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} d(t) &= Q(t)d(t) + (\mathbf{I} - Q(t))d(t) = Q(t)\Psi(t, t_{-})d(t_{-}) + (\mathbf{I} - Q(t))\Psi(t, t_{+})d(t_{+}) \\ &= \Psi(t, t_{-})Q(t_{-})d(t_{-}) + \Psi(t, t_{+})(\mathbf{I} - Q(t_{+}))d(t_{+}). \end{aligned}$$

Combining this with

$$\sup_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \|d(t)\| = \sup_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \|z_1(t) - \bar{x}(t) + \bar{x}(t) - z_2(t)\|$$

$$\leq \sup_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \|z_1(t) - \bar{x}(t)\| + \sup_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \|z_2(t) - \bar{x}(t)\| \leq \varepsilon + \varepsilon = 2\varepsilon$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|d(t)\| &\leq \|\Psi(t,t_{-})Q(t_{-})d(t_{-})\| + \|\Psi(t,t_{+})(\mathbf{I}-Q(t_{+}))d(t_{+})\| \\ &\leq \frac{5K^{2}}{2}e^{-\tilde{\alpha}(t-t_{-})} \|Q(t_{-})d(t_{-})\| + \frac{5K^{2}}{2}e^{-\tilde{\beta}(t_{+}-t)} \|(\mathbf{I}-Q(t_{+}))d(t_{+})\| \\ &\leq \frac{5K^{2}}{2} \sup_{t\in\mathbb{I}} \|d(t)\| C \left(e^{-\tilde{\alpha}(t-t_{-})} + e^{-\tilde{\beta}(t_{+}-t)}\right) \\ &\leq 5\varepsilon K^{2}C \left(e^{-\tilde{\alpha}(t-t_{-})} + e^{-\tilde{\beta}(t_{+}-t)}\right) \end{split}$$

with $C = \max\{\|Q(t_{-})\|, \|I - Q(t_{+})\|\}.$

Corollary 7.1.13. Let $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$, $K \in [1, \infty)$ and $\bar{x} : \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ be a solution of equation (2.2). Further let

$$\dot{u}(t) = f_x(\bar{x}(t), t)u(t)$$

be M-hyperbolic (w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|$) on \mathbb{I} with $\alpha, \beta > 0$. Then there exists an $\bar{\varepsilon} > 0$, $0 < \tilde{\alpha} \leq \alpha, \ 0 < \tilde{\beta} \leq \beta$ and a constant C > 0 such that for all $0 < \varepsilon \leq \bar{\varepsilon}$ any two solutions z_1, z_2 of (2.2) with $\sup_{t \in \mathbb{I}} \|z_{1,2}(t) - \bar{x}(t)\| \leq \varepsilon$ satisfy

$$||z_1(t) - z_2(t)|| \le 2\varepsilon C(e^{-\tilde{\alpha}(t-t_-)} + e^{-\tilde{\beta}(t_+-t)})$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.

Proof. Using Theorem 3.4.11 instead of Theorem 3.4.4 we obtain the constant 1 instead of $\frac{5K^2}{2}$.

For K-hyperbolic systems we conclude that the distance of the boundary of the ε -homoclinic tube decreases to the middle of the given interval if the distance stays sufficiently small for all times within the interval. In our example (7.9) this is the case.

Discretization by the *h*-Flow

In this subsection, we discretize the differential equation (2.2), using the *h*-flow. From a numerical point of view, this ansatz is of no practical relevance. It is introduced for deriving error estimates of one-step methods in the next subsection.

From now on if not other mentioned assume (A4). Further, let $\varphi(\cdot, t, s)$ be defined for all $t, s \in \mathbb{I}$ (invertible). We consider the *h***-flow**

$$\varphi_n(x,h) := \varphi(x,(n+1)h,nh), \ n \in \mathbb{J}_1$$
(7.13)

and note that the resulting dynamical system generated by the difference equation

$$x_{n+1} = \varphi_n(x_n, h), n \in \mathbb{J}_1, x_n \in \mathbb{R}^k$$
(7.14)

is invertible. An orbit

$$\varphi_{\mathbb{J}}(\cdot,h) := \begin{cases} \varphi_{\mathbb{Z}}(\cdot,h), & \text{for } \mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z} \\ (\cdot;\varphi_{\mathbb{J}_1}(\cdot,h)), & \text{for } \mathbb{J} \neq \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

that satisfies the boundary condition $b(\cdot, \varphi_{n_+-1}(\cdot, h)) = 0)$ is a zero of the operator

$$\Upsilon: S_{\mathbb{J}} \times \mathbb{R} \to S_{\mathbb{J}}, \ (x_{\mathbb{J}}, h) \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} x_{n+1} - \varphi_n(x_n, h), & n \in \mathbb{J}_1 \\ hb(x_{n_-}, x_{n_+}), & \text{if } \mathbb{J} \neq \mathbb{Z} \end{pmatrix}$$

that operates on the Banach space of bounded sequences

$$S_{\mathbb{J}} := \begin{cases} \{x_{\mathbb{Z}} = (x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} : x_n \in \mathbb{R}^k, \|x_{\mathbb{Z}}\| := \sup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \|x_n\| < \infty \}, \text{ if } \mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}, \\ \{x_{\mathbb{J}} = (x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{J}} : x_n \in \mathbb{R}^k \}, \text{ if } \mathbb{J} \neq \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Assuming (A10), the discretized orbit

$$\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h) := (\bar{y}_n(h))_{n \in \mathbb{J}} := (\bar{y}(nh))_{n \in \mathbb{J}}$$

$$(7.15)$$

is bounded and a zero of Υ , where φ is the solution operator of (2.2), if the boundary condition equals zero. Further, we look at the corresponding variational equation, $b \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}^{2k}, \mathbb{R}^k)$, that we obtain by differentiating Υ w.r.t. the first component

$$\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h),h): S_{\mathbb{J}} \to S_{\mathbb{J}}, \tag{7.16}$$
$$u_{\mathbb{J}} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} u_{n+1} - (\varphi_n)_x(\bar{y}_n(h),h)u_n, & n \in \mathbb{J}_1\\ h(D_1b(\bar{y}_{n_-},\bar{y}_{n_+})u_{n_-} + D_2b(\bar{y}_{n_-},\bar{y}_{n_+})u_{n_+}), & \text{if } \mathbb{J} \neq \mathbb{Z}. \end{pmatrix}$$

Transversality of homoclinic orbits $x_{\mathbb{Z}}(h)$ in discrete time systems is characterized by one of the equivalent properties given in Theorem 7.2.1, see Theorem 7.0.10 for the continuous time case and note that all results applied in the proof have a discrete time counterpart. For the equivalence of (a_{Δ}) and (d_{Δ}) we particularly refer to [70, Lemma 3.7].

Theorem 7.2.1. Let $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$. Assume (A5)-(A8) and let h > 0. Then $\bar{x}_{\mathbb{Z}}(h)$ is a homoclinic orbit of (7.13). Furthermore, the following statements are equivalent:

- $(\mathbf{a}_{\Delta}) \ u_{n+1} = (\varphi_n)_x (\bar{x}_n(h), h) u_n, \quad u_{\mathbb{Z}} \in S_{\mathbb{Z}} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad u_{\mathbb{Z}} = 0.$
- (b_{Δ}) The variational equation

$$u_{n+1} = (\varphi_n)_x(\bar{x}_n(h), h)u_n, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}$$

has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{Z} .

- (c_{Δ}) $\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{Z}}}(\bar{x}_{\mathbb{Z}}, h)$ is a homeomorphism.
- (d_{Δ}) The tangent spaces $T_{\bar{x}_0}W^0_{s,u}(0,h)$ of the global stable and unstable 0-fibers $W^0_{s,u}(0,h)$ of the h-flow $x_{n+1} = \varphi_n(x_n,h)$ satisfy

$$T_{\bar{x}_0} W^0_s(0,h) \oplus T_{\bar{x}_0} W^0_u(0,h) = \mathbb{R}^k.$$

As in the continuous time case the statements in Theorem 7.2.1 are not equivalent for finite time systems. We want at least that from statement (b_{Δ}) statement (c_{Δ}) follows. Therefore, it is important that the domain of definition and the range of $\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{Z}}}$ have the same dimension. This is the reason why we added for finite time systems to the one-step-method a boundary condition. To prove that from (b_{Δ}) the statement (c_{Δ}) follows we need assumptions depending on the boundary condition. (A11) Let the images of the projectors $\bar{Q}^s(t_-)$, $\bar{Q}^u(t_+)$ satisfy $\mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^s(t_-)) \oplus \mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^u(t_+)) = \mathbb{R}^k$ and let the boundary condition $b(\cdot, \cdot)$ satisfies $b \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R}^{2k}, \mathbb{R}^k)$ and $b := b(\bar{y}_{n_-}, \bar{y}_{n_+}) = 0$. Further, let

$$B(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}) := h \left(D_1 b + D_2 b \Phi(n_+, n_-)_{|\mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^s(t_-)))} \quad D_1 b \bar{\Phi}(n_-, n_+) + D_2 b_{|\mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^u(t_+)))} \right) :$$
$$\mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^s(n_-)) \oplus \mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^u(n_+)) \to \mathbb{R}^k$$

be invertible. For any compact set $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ there exist a constant $C(\mathcal{K}) > 0$ such that

$$\left\| b_x(x_{n_-}, x_{n_+}) - b_x(y_{n_-}, y_{n_+}) \right\| \le C(\mathcal{K}) \left\| x_{\mathbb{J}} - y_{\mathbb{J}} \right\|$$

holds for all $x_n, y_n \in \mathbb{R}^k, n \in \mathbb{J}$.

With these assumptions we obtain that for ft-hyperbolic trajectories $y_{\mathbb{J}}$ the operator $\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(y_{\mathbb{J}}, h)$ is a homeomorphism (" $(b_{\Delta}) \to (c_{\Delta})$ "). The proof is similar to [73, Theorem 4] and [21, Theorem 6] for infinite autonomous and nonautonomous systems on finite time intervals.

Theorem 7.2.2. Let $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$. Assume (A4), (A5) and that $\bar{y}(\cdot)$ is a trajectory of (2.2). Then $\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$ is a trajectory of (7.13). Let the variational equation

$$u_{n+1} = (\varphi_n)_x)(\bar{y}_n(h), h)u_n, \ n \in \mathbb{J}_1$$

have an ft-exponential dichotomy with the invariant family of projectors $\bar{Q}^{s,u}(hn) = \bar{Q}^{s,u}_n(h), n \in \mathbb{J}$ and solution operator $\Phi(n,m), m, n \in \mathbb{J}, n \geq m$. Further assume (A11). Then $\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(y_{\mathbb{J}}, h)$ is a homeomorphism.

Proof. By (A5) it is sufficient to show that (7.16) is bijective. Hence, we have to prove that for every $y_{\mathbb{J}_1} \in S_{\mathbb{J}_1}$ and $r \in \mathbb{R}^k$ there exists a unique solution $\bar{u}_{\mathbb{J}}$ of the boundary value problem

$$\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}},h)u_{\mathbb{J}} = \begin{pmatrix} y_{\mathbb{J}_1} \\ r \end{pmatrix}.$$

Denote by $\Phi(m,n)$ the inverse of $\Phi(n,m)|_{\mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^u_m(h))}$ for all $n,m \in \mathbb{I}, n \geq m$. The general solution of the linear equation is given by

$$u_n := \Phi(n, n_-)v_- + \Phi(n, n_+)v_+ + \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}_1} G(n, m+1)y_m$$

with $v_{-} \in \mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}_{n_{-}}^{s}(h))$ and $v_{+} \in \mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}_{n_{+}}^{u}(h))$, where $G(\cdot, \cdot)$ is the Green's function, see [105].

To show that the solution is unique we have to prove that v_{-} and v_{+} are unique. We insert the general solution into the boundary condition

$$r = hD_1 b(\bar{y}_{n_-}, \bar{y}_{n_+})[v_- + \Phi(n_-, n_+)v_+ + \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}_1} G(n_-, m+1)y_m] + hD_2 b(\bar{y}_{n_-}, \bar{y}_{n_+})[\Phi(n_+, n_-)v_- + v_+ + \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}_1} G(n_+, m+1)y_m].$$

Since $y_{\mathbb{J}_1}$ is fixed and given we define

$$R = hD_1b(\bar{y}_{n_-}, \bar{y}_{n_+}) \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}_1} G(n_-, m+1)y_m + hD_2b(\bar{y}_{n_-}, \bar{y}_{n_+}) \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}_1} G(n_+, m+1)y_m.$$

Set $b = b(\bar{y}_{n_-}, \bar{y}_{n_+})$. Then we need to solve

$$\begin{aligned} r - R &= h[D_1 b + D_2 b \Phi(n_+, n_-)] v_- + h[D_1 b \Phi(n_-, n_+) + D_2 b] v_+ \\ &= h \left(D_1 b + D_2 b \Phi(n_+, n_-) \quad D_1 b \Phi(n_-, n_+) + D_2 b \right) \begin{pmatrix} v_- \\ v_+ \end{pmatrix} \\ &= B(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}) \begin{pmatrix} v_- \\ v_+ \end{pmatrix}. \end{aligned}$$

By (A11) the vectors v_{-} and v_{+} are unique.

(Ft-)Hyperbolicity as well as transversality of a trajectory in continuous time carries over to the discrete trajectory generated by the h-flow.

- **Lemma 7.2.3.** (a) Assume (A4), (A5) and (A10), then $\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$ is a (ft-)hyperbolic bounded trajectory of $\varphi_n(\cdot, h)$.
- (b) Let J = Z. Assume (A5)-(A8), then the following statements are equivalent.
 - (b₁) The continuous time orbit $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ is transversal.
 - (b₂) There exists an $\hat{h} > 0$ such that $\bar{x}_{\mathbb{Z}}(h)$ is a transversal homoclinic orbit of the h-flow $\varphi_n(\cdot, h)$ for all step sizes $0 < h \leq \hat{h}$.

Proof. Assume (A4), (A5) and (A10). Denote by $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ the solution operator of the variational equation

$$u_{n+1} = (\varphi_n)_x (\bar{y}_n(h), h) u_n, \quad n \in \mathbb{J}_1$$

$$(7.17)$$

and observe by the following that

$$\Phi(n,m) = S^{\bar{y}}(nh,mh), \quad n,m \in \mathbb{J}.$$
(7.18)

Since $S^{\bar{y}}(\cdot, \cdot)$ is the solution operator of $\dot{u} = f_x(\bar{y}(\cdot), \cdot)u$ we get for $s, t \in \mathbb{I}$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}S^{\bar{y}}(t,s) = f_x(\bar{y}(t),t)S^{\bar{y}}(t,s).$$
(7.19)

Further, $\varphi(\bar{y}(s), t, s)$ is a solution of $\dot{x} = f(x, t)$. Inserting and differentiating by x yields with $\varphi(\bar{y}(s), t, s) = \bar{y}(t)$ the equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\varphi_x(\bar{y}(s), t, s) = f_x(\bar{y}(t), t)\varphi_x(\bar{y}(s), t, s).$$
(7.20)

Comparing (7.19) and (7.20) we get by the uniqueness of the solution operator

$$S^{\bar{y}}(t,s) = \varphi_x(\bar{y}(s), t, s). \tag{7.21}$$

Since $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ is the solution operator of (7.17) we get with (7.13), (7.15) and (7.21)

$$\Phi(n+1,n) = (\varphi_n)_x(\bar{y}_n(h),h) = \varphi_x(\bar{y}(nh),(n+1)h,nh) = S^{\bar{y}}((n+1)h,nh).$$
(7.22)

This implies (7.18) since $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ and $S^{\bar{y}}(\cdot, \cdot)$ are both solution operators. Using the continuous time dichotomy data from (A10), we define

$$Q_n^{s,u}(h) := \bar{Q}^{s,u}(hn), \ n \in \mathbb{J}$$

and immediately obtain that (7.17) has an (ft-)exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{J} with data $(\bar{K}, h\bar{\beta}, Q_n^{s,u}(h))$. This completes the proof of (a).

For proving (b) assume (A5)-(A8). If (b_1) holds true, then Theorem 7.0.10 guarantees that (5.1) has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{R} . An application of (a) combined with the observation that the *h*-flow preserves homoclinic structures proves (b_2) .

To show the implication $"(b_2) \Rightarrow (b_1)"$, we assume that (b_1) is not satisfied, i.e. the orbit $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ is not transversal. Then a nontrivial bounded solution $u(\cdot)$ of (5.1) exists. As a consequence, we find an $\tilde{h} > 0$ such that $u_{\mathbb{Z}}(h) = (u(nh))_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \neq 0$ for all $0 < h \leq \tilde{h}$ and $u_{n+1}(h) = S^{\bar{x}}((n+1)h, nh)u_n(h)$ holds for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, where $S^{\bar{x}}(s, t)$ is the solution operator of (5.1). Applying the identity

$$S^{\bar{x}}((n+1)h, nh) = (\varphi_n)_x(\bar{x}_n(h), h)$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ (see (7.22)) we obtain

$$u_{n+1}(h) = (\varphi_n)_x(\bar{x}_n, h)u_n(h), \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Since $u_{\mathbb{Z}}(h) \neq 0$ for all $h \leq \tilde{h}$ Theorem 7.2.1 (a_{Δ}) applies and thus $\bar{x}_{\mathbb{Z}}(h)$ is not transversal for all $h \leq \tilde{h}$. This violates condition (b_2).

Before we are finally able to prove the last equivalence relation of Theorem 7.0.10 we show that the stable and unstable 0-fiber bundles $W_{s,u}^0(0)$ of the continuous infinite time system generated by (2.2) coincide with those $W_{s,u}^0(0, h)$ of the system generated by (7.14) for h sufficiently small. For finite time systems this statement is generally not true. We can not guarantee that a function which is strictly decreasing (increasing) on a discrete interval is also strictly decreasing (increasing) on the continuous interval no matter how small the step size h is. This is not dramatical since Lemma 7.2.4 is only needed to finish the proof of Theorem 7.0.10. Hence, the statement $W_{s,u}^0(0, h) = W_{s,u}^0(0)$ is important for transversal orbits. We showed that we do not have to explicitly distinguish between transversal and tangentil finite time homoclinic orbits.

Lemma 7.2.4. Assume (A4), (A5) and (A6) and $0 \in \mathbb{I}$. Let $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then for every h > 0 we have

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{0}_{s,u}(0) \subset {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{0}_{s,u}(0,h),$$

where ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^0_{s,u}(0,h)$ are the (un)stable 0-fiber bundles of (7.14) and ${}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^0_{s,u}(0)$ of (2.2). Let $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$. Then there exists a constant $\hat{h} > 0$ such that

$$W_{s,u}^0(0,h) = W_{s,u}^0(0)$$

holds for all $0 < h < \hat{h}$, where $W^0_{s,u}(0,h)$ are the (un)stable 0-fiber bundles of (7.14) and $W^0_{s,u}(0)$ of (2.2).

Proof. Let $\mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]$ with $0 \in \mathbb{I}$. By the invertibility of the solution operator we have

$$\begin{split} {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{0}_{s}(0) =& \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \hat{t} := {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(\varphi(\xi, t_{-}, 0), 0) \in \mathbb{I} : \\ & \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \varphi(\xi, t, 0) \| \leq 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, t > \hat{t} \} \\ =& \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \hat{t} := {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(\varphi(\xi, t_{-}, 0), 0) \in \mathbb{I} : \\ & \| \varphi(\xi, t, 0) \| \leq \| \varphi(\xi, s, 0) \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{I}, t > s > \hat{t} \} \\ \subset& \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \hat{t} := {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varphi}\mathcal{B}^{\min}_{\varepsilon}(\varphi(\xi, t_{-}, 0), 0) \in \mathbb{J} : \\ & \| \varphi(\xi, th, 0) \| \leq \| \varphi(\xi, sh, 0) \| \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbb{J}, t > s > \hat{t} \} \\ =& {}^{\mathbb{I}}_{\varepsilon}W^{0}_{s,u}(0, h). \end{split}$$

Analogously, the statement holds for the unstable fiber bundles. Let $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}$. Then $W^0_{s,u}(0) \subset W^0_{s,u}(0,h)$ is true since

$$\left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^k \big| \lim_{\substack{s \to \pm \infty, \\ s \in \mathbb{R}}} \|\varphi(x, s, 0)\| = 0\right\} \subset \left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^k \big| \lim_{\substack{n \to \pm \infty, \\ n \in \mathbb{Z}}} \|\varphi(x, nh, 0)\| = 0\right\}$$

holds. For proving the other inclusion let $x_0 \in W^0_{s,u}(0,h)$. For every $t \in \mathbb{R}$ we find an $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $nh \leq t \leq (n+1)h$ holds. With **(A5)**, **(A6)** and the mean value theorem we get

$$\sup_{\substack{nh \le t \le (n+1)h}} \|\varphi(x_0, t, 0)\| \\
= \sup_{\substack{nh \le t \le (n+1)h}} \|\varphi(\varphi(x_0, nh, 0), t, nh) - \varphi(0, t, nh)\| \\
= \sup_{\substack{nh \le t \le (n+1)h}} \left\| \int_0^1 \varphi_x(s\varphi(x_0, nh, 0), t, nh) ds\varphi(x_0, nh, 0) \right\| \\
\le C_1 \|\varphi(x_0, nh, 0)\|.$$
(7.23)

From $x_0 \in W^0_{s,u}(0,h)$ it follows that $\lim_{\substack{n \to \pm \infty, \\ n \in \mathbb{Z}}} \|\varphi(x_0, nh, 0)\| = 0$ holds. With (7.23) we get $\lim_{\substack{t \to \pm \infty, \\ t \in \mathbb{R}}} \|\varphi(x_0, t, 0)\| = 0$ and consequently $x_0 \in W^0_{s,u}(0)$. \Box

Combining these results, we prove the remaining statements of Theorem 7.0.10.

Proof of Theorem 7.0.10, "(a_c) \Leftrightarrow (d_c)". It follows from Lemma 7.2.3 (b) that an $\hat{h} > 0$ exists such that (a_c) \Leftrightarrow (a_Δ holds for all $h \leq \hat{h}$). Applying Theorem 7.2.1 we get (a_Δ) \Leftrightarrow (d_Δ) and finally, Lemma 7.2.4 yields (d_Δ holds for all $h \leq \hat{h}$) \Leftrightarrow (d_c).

Corollary 7.2.5. Let $\bar{x}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ be a transversal homoclinic orbit of the map $\varphi_n(\cdot, h)$. Then $\bar{x}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is a **regular** solution of the operator Υ , i.e. $\Upsilon(\bar{x}_{\mathbb{Z}}, h) = 0$ and $\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{Z}}}(\bar{x}_{\mathbb{Z}}, h)$ is a homeomorphism.

Discretization by a One-Step Method

For a general one-step method, we prove a closeness result for approximate trajectories in our nonautonomous context. From this, we conclude our main theorem - the persistence of homoclinic orbits under one-step discretizations. We still assume (A4).

We consider a general one-step method

$$x_{n+1} = \psi_n(x_n, h), \quad x_n \in \mathbb{R}^k, \quad n \in \mathbb{J}_1$$
(7.24)

with step size h > 0. The orbits of (7.24) are zeros of the operator

$$\tilde{\Upsilon}: S_{\mathbb{J}} \times \mathbb{R} \to S_{\mathbb{J}}, \quad (x_{\mathbb{J}}, h) \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} x_{n+1} - \psi_n(x_n, h), & n \in \mathbb{J}_1 \\ hb(x_{n_-}, x_{n_+}), & \text{for } \mathbb{J} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}} \end{pmatrix}$$

if their boundary points are zeros of the boundary condition b. We assume consistency of order d as well as smoothness:

(A12) For any compact set $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ there exist constants $C_2(\mathcal{K}), h_2(\mathcal{K}) > 0$ such that the consistency estimate of order $d \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\|\varphi_n(x,h) - \psi_n(x,h)\| \le C_2(\mathcal{K})h^{d+1}$$

holds for all $n \in \mathbb{J}_1$, $x \in \mathcal{K}$ and $0 < h \leq h_2(\mathcal{K})$.

(A13) Mixed derivatives of $\psi_n(x,h)$ up to order 3 exist. For any compact set $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ the derivatives are continuous and uniformly bounded by some constant $\tilde{C}(\mathcal{K})$ in $\mathcal{K} \times (0, h_3(\mathcal{K})]$, with $0 < h_3(\mathcal{K})$ sufficiently small. Furthermore, $\psi_n(x,h)$ is \mathcal{C}^d smooth in h and mixed derivatives $(\psi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,d)}(x,h)$ exist and satisfy the uniform Lipschitz estimate

$$\left\| (\psi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,d)}(x,\mu_1) - (\psi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,d)}(x,\mu_2) \right\| \le C_3(\mathcal{K}) |\mu_1 - \mu_2|$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{J}_1$, $x \in \mathcal{K}$ and $0 < \mu_{1,2} \leq h_3(\mathcal{K})$ with a constant $C_3(\mathcal{K}) > 0$.

The following lemma summarizes closeness estimates between the h-flow and an one-step method with step size h. Garay proved in [51] closeness estimates for autonomous infinite time systems which are also satisfied for finite time systems. With our uniformity Assumptions (A12) and (A13) Garay's approach immediately carries over to the nonautonomous case. For the readers convenience, a sketch of the proof is presented. For more details the reader is refert to [53, Lemma 2.3.1].

Lemma 7.3.1. Assume (A4),(A5), (A12) and (A13). Then for any compact set $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ there exist constants $\tilde{C}(\mathcal{K}), C_4(\mathcal{K}), h_4(\mathcal{K}) > 0$ such that for all $x \in \mathcal{K}$ and $0 < h \leq h_4(\mathcal{K})$ with $h_4(\mathcal{K}) \leq h_{1,2,3}(\mathcal{K})$ the following statements hold true:

- (i) $\sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}_1} \|(\varphi_n)_x(x,h) (\psi_n)_x(x,h)\| \le C_4(\mathcal{K})h^{d+1},$
- (ii) $\psi_n(x,h) = x + h\Delta_n(x,h)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{J}_1$, where $\Delta_n(x,h) := \int_0^1 (\psi_n)_h(x,sh) ds$ has the same smoothness properties as ψ_n except for losing one derivative with respect to h. Further, for $r \in \{0,1,2\}$ the following estimates are true:

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}_1} \|(\Delta_n)_x^{(r)}(x,h)\| \le \tilde{C}(\mathcal{K}), \tag{7.25}$$

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}_1} \|(\psi_n)_x(x,h)^{-1}\| \le \frac{1}{1 - h\tilde{C}(\mathcal{K})}.$$
(7.26)

Proof. With Taylor's formula at h = 0 and (A13) we get for all $n \in \mathbb{J}_1$

$$\varphi_n(x,h) - \psi_n(x,h) = \int_0^1 \left(\frac{(1-s)^{d-1}}{(d-1)!} (\varphi_n(x,sh) - \psi_n(x,sh))_h^{(d)} - (\varphi_n(x,0) - \psi_n(x,0))_h^{(d)} \right) \mathrm{d}sh^d$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{K}$, $0 < h \leq h_4(\mathcal{K})$. By differentiating this expression w.r.t. x and using (A5) and (A12) we get the estimate from (i). The second statement follows immediately from the mean value theorem. The estimate (7.25) is a direct consequence of (A13) and with the Banach-Lemma we obtain (7.26) for sufficiently small h.

Corollary 7.3.2. Assume (A4) and (A5). Then for any compact set $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ there exist constants $C_1(\mathcal{K}), h_4(\mathcal{K}) > 0$ such that for all $x \in \mathcal{K}$ and $0 < h \leq h_4(\mathcal{K})$ with $h_4(\mathcal{K}) \leq h_1(\mathcal{K})$

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}_1} \left\| \left(\varphi_n \right)_x (x, h)^{-1} \right\| \le \frac{1}{1 - hC_1(\mathcal{K})}$$

holds.

Now, we have all tools at hand to prove h^d -closeness between orbits of the continuous time system and orbits of the one-step discretization, see [136, Theorem 4.3] for a related result in autonomous systems.

Theorem 7.3.3. Assume (A4),(A5) and (A10)-(A13). Then there exist constants $h_5, \delta > 0$ such that for all $0 < h \leq h_5$ the operator $\tilde{\Upsilon}(\cdot, h)$ has a unique zero $\tilde{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$ in a δ -neighborhood of $\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$.

Furthermore, $\tilde{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$ is a (ft-)hyperbolic bounded trajectory of (7.24) that satisfies

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}} \|\tilde{y}_n(h) - \bar{y}_n(h)\| = \mathcal{O}(h^d).$$
(7.27)

Proof. Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ be compact and sufficiently large. We prove the statements from above by applying Lemma A.0.1 with the settings: $F = \tilde{\Upsilon}$, $Y = S_{\mathbb{J}}$, $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}^+$, $Z = S_{\mathbb{J}}$ and $\bar{v}_0(h) = \bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$, $\delta_1 = \delta$ and $\delta_2 = h_5$.

We verify the assumptions of Lemma A.0.1 and first prove that $\Upsilon(\cdot, h)$ for $0 < h \leq h_5$ is invertible with uniformly bounded inverse. Since the boundary conditions of $\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(x_{\mathbb{J}}, h)$ and $\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(x_{\mathbb{J}}, h)$ are the same we get by Lemma 7.3.1 the closeness estimate

$$\left\| \tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(x_{\mathbb{J}},h) - \Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(x_{\mathbb{J}},h) \right\| = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}_{1}} \left\| (\varphi_{n})_{x}(x_{n},h) - (\psi_{n})_{x}(x_{n},h) \right\|$$

$$\leq C_{4}(\mathcal{K})h^{d+1}$$
(7.28)

for all $0 < h \leq h_4(\mathcal{K})$ and $x_{\mathbb{J}} \in \mathcal{K}^{\mathbb{J}}$. Lemma 7.2.3 (a) yields an exponential dichotomy of the generated dynamical system (7.17). The exponential rate is $h\bar{\beta}$ the invariant family of projector is $Q_n^{s,u}(h) := \bar{Q}^{s,u}(hn)$ and for $\mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}$ we have a constant \bar{K} . Denote the corresponding solution operator by $\Phi(n,m), m, n \in \mathbb{J}_1$. Further, by Theorem 7.2.1 for $\mathbb{I} = \mathbb{Z}$ and by Theorem 7.2.2 for $\mathbb{I} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ we see that $\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)$ is a homeomorphism for all $0 < h \leq h_4(\mathcal{K})$. Then the Banach-Lemma and the estimate (7.28) guarantee the existence of a possible smaller bound $0 < h_5 \leq h_4(\mathcal{K})$ such that $\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)$ is a homeomorphism for all $0 < h \leq h_5$. Consequently, we obtain for any $\tilde{r}_{\mathbb{J}}, r_{\mathbb{J}} \in S_{\mathbb{J}}$ unique solutions $\tilde{u}_{\mathbb{J}}, u_{\mathbb{J}} \in S_{\mathbb{J}}$ of the inhomogeneous equations

$$\widehat{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h),h)\tilde{u}_{\mathbb{J}}=\tilde{r}_{\mathbb{J}},\quad \Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h),h)u_{\mathbb{J}}=r_{\mathbb{J}}.$$
(7.29)

Assume $\mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}$. By [105, Lemma 2.7] we obtain

$$\|u_{\mathbb{Z}}\| \le \bar{K} \frac{1 + e^{-h\bar{\beta}}}{1 - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} \|r_{\mathbb{Z}}\| = \bar{K} \frac{1 + e^{-h\bar{\beta}}}{1 - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} \|\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{Z}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{Z}}(h), h)u_{\mathbb{Z}}\|.$$
(7.30)

Assume $\mathbb{J} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$. Then we have for the norm of the Green's function

$$\|G(n,m)\| \le e^{-h\bar{\beta}|n-m|}$$

for all $n, m \in \mathbb{J}$. For a proof of the estimate see [105]. Let $n \in \mathbb{J}$, $n \neq n_{-}$ be fixed then we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}_1} G(n, m+1) \right\| &\leq \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}, m \neq n_-} \|G(n, m)\| \leq \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}, m \neq n_-} e^{-h\bar{\beta}|n-m|} \\ &= \sum_{n_- < m \leq n} e^{-h\bar{\beta}|n-m|} + \sum_{n < m \leq n_+} e^{-h\bar{\beta}|n-m|} \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{n-n_-1} e^{-h\bar{\beta}i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n_+-n} e^{-h\bar{\beta}i} \\ &= \frac{1 - (e^{-h\bar{\beta}})^{n-n_-}}{1 - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} + \frac{e^{-h\bar{\beta}}(1 - (e^{-h\bar{\beta}})^{n_+-n})}{1 - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} \\ &\leq \frac{1 + e^{-h\bar{\beta}}}{1 - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} =: C_G(h) \end{aligned}$$

and for $n = n_{-}$ we have

$$\left\|\sum_{m\in\mathbb{J}_{1}}G(n,m+1)\right\| \leq \sum_{m\in\mathbb{J},m\neq n_{-}}e^{-h\bar{\beta}|n-m|} = \sum_{n_{-}< m\leq n_{+}}e^{-h\bar{\beta}|n-m|} = \sum_{i=1}^{n_{+}-n_{-}}e^{-h\bar{\beta}i}$$
$$= \frac{e^{-h\bar{\beta}}(1-(e^{-h\bar{\beta}})^{n_{+}-n_{-}})}{1-e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} \leq \frac{1+e^{-h\bar{\beta}}}{1-e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} = C_{G}(h).$$

Since $u_{\mathbb{J}}$ is a solution of the second inhomogeneous equation of (7.29) there exist $v_{-} \in \mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}_{n_{-}}^{s}(h)), v_{+} \in \mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}_{n_{+}}^{u}(h))$ such that

$$u_n = \Phi(n, n_-)v_- + \Phi(n, n_+)v_+ + \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}_1} G(n, m+1)r_m$$

holds for all $n \in \mathbb{J}$. Studying the boundary condition of $\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)$ and denoting $b := b(\bar{y}_{n_{-}}, \bar{y}_{n_{+}})$ we have just as in the proof of Theorem 7.2.1

$$B(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}) \begin{pmatrix} v_{-} \\ v_{+} \end{pmatrix} = r_{n_{+}} - h\left(D_{1}b\sum_{m\in\mathbb{J}_{1}}G(n_{-},m+1)r_{m} + D_{2}b\sum_{m\in\mathbb{J}_{1}}G(n_{+},m+1)r_{m}\right).$$

First define some constants

$$C_b := \max \{ \|D_1 b\|, \|D_2 b\|, 1\}, \qquad (7.31)$$

$$C_{B^{-1}} := \max\left\{ \left\| B^{-1}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}) \right\|, 1 \right\}.$$
(7.32)

Then we get by (A11), $C_G(h) = \frac{1+e^{-h\bar{\beta}}}{1-e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} \ge 1$ and $h \le 1$

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \begin{pmatrix} v_{-} \\ v_{+} \end{pmatrix} \right\| \\ \leq \left\| B^{-1}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}) \right\| \left\| r_{n_{+}} - h \left(D_{1}b \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}_{1}} G(n_{-}, m+1)r_{m} + D_{2}b \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}_{1}} G(n_{+}, m+1)r_{m} \right) \right\| \\ \leq C_{B^{-1}} \left(\left\| r_{\mathbb{J}} \right\| + hC_{b} \left(\left\| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}_{1}} G(n_{-}, m+1) \right\| + \left\| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}_{1}} G(n_{+}, m+1) \right\| \right) \right\| r_{\mathbb{J}} \right\| \right) \\ \leq C_{B^{-1}} \left(1 + 2hC_{b}C_{G}(h) \right) \left\| r_{\mathbb{J}} \right\| \\ \leq 3C_{B^{-1}}C_{b}C_{G}(h) \left\| r_{\mathbb{J}} \right\|. \end{aligned}$$

$$(7.33)$$

For the solution $u_{\mathbb{J}}$ we obtain by the hyperbolicity and (7.33), (7.31) and (7.32)

$$\begin{aligned} |u_{n}\| &\leq \|\Phi(n, n_{-})v_{-}\| + \|\Phi(n, n_{+})v_{+}\| + \left\|\sum_{m \in \mathbb{J}_{1}} G(n, m+1)\right\| \|r_{\mathbb{J}}\| \\ &\leq \|v_{-}\| + \|v_{+}\| + C_{G}(h) \|r_{\mathbb{J}}\| \\ &\leq 2 \left\| \binom{v_{-}}{v_{+}} \right\| + C_{G}(h) \|r_{\mathbb{J}}\| \\ &\leq 6C_{B^{-1}}C_{b}C_{G}(h) \|r_{\mathbb{J}}\| + C_{G}(h) \|r_{\mathbb{J}}\| \\ &\leq 7C_{B^{-1}}C_{b}C_{G}(h) \|r_{\mathbb{J}}\| \\ &\leq \bar{K}C_{G}(h) \left\|\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)u_{\mathbb{J}}\right\| \end{aligned}$$
(7.34)

for a constant $\bar{K} = 7C_{B^{-1}}C_b$ and all $n \in \mathbb{J}$.

For $\mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathbb{J} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ we get by an elementary estimate for the exponential (see [53, Lemma 1.3.1.]) and estimate (7.30), (7.34)

$$\|u_{\mathbb{J}}\| \leq \bar{K} \frac{1+e^{-h\beta}}{1-e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} \left\|\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h),h)u_{\mathbb{J}}\right\| \leq \frac{1}{\nu h} \left\|\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h),h)u_{\mathbb{J}}\right\|$$
(7.35)

with some constant $\nu > 0$ that does neither depend on h nor on $r_{\mathbb{J}}$.

Combining (7.28) with (7.35) for $r_{\mathbb{J}} := \Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)\tilde{u}_{\mathbb{J}}$, the estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \|\tilde{r}_{\mathbb{J}}\| &= \left\|\tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)\tilde{u}_{\mathbb{J}}\right\| \\ &\geq \left\|\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)\tilde{u}_{\mathbb{J}}\right\| - \left\|(\Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h) - \tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h))\tilde{u}_{\mathbb{J}}\right\| \\ &\geq \nu h \left\|\tilde{u}_{\mathbb{J}}\right\| - C_{4}(\mathcal{K})h^{d+1} \left\|\tilde{u}_{\mathbb{J}}\right\| \geq \frac{1}{2}\nu h \left\|\tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)^{-1}\tilde{r}_{\mathbb{J}}\right\| \end{aligned} (7.36)$$

holds for all $0 < h \le h_5$ with a possibly smaller h_5 . Since (7.36) holds true for all $\tilde{r}_{\mathbb{J}} \in S_{\mathbb{J}}$ we conclude

$$\left\| \tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)^{-1} \right\|^{-1} \ge \frac{\nu h}{2}.$$

$$(7.37)$$

Next, we verify Assumption (A.1) of Lemma A.0.1. Therefore define

$$\sigma(h) := \frac{\nu h}{2}$$
 and $\kappa(h) := \frac{\sigma(h)}{2}$. (7.38)

Lemma 7.3.1, (A13) and the mean value theorem yield with $C(\mathcal{K}) := \sup \left\{ C(\mathcal{K}), \tilde{C}(\mathcal{K}) \right\}$

$$\left\| \tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(x_{\mathbb{J}},h) - \tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h),h) \right\|$$

$$\leq \sup \left\{ h \left\| \left((\Delta_{n})_{x}(\bar{y}_{n}(h),h) - (\Delta_{n})_{x}(x_{n},h) \right)_{n \in \mathbb{J}_{1}} \right\|, h \left\| b_{x}(x_{n_{-}},x_{n_{+}}) - b_{x}(\bar{y}_{n_{-}}(h),\bar{y}_{n_{+}}(h)) \right\| \right\},$$

$$\leq \sup \left\{ h \int_{0}^{1} \left\| \left((\Delta_{n})_{x}^{(2)}(\bar{y}_{n}(h) + s(x_{n} - \bar{y}_{n}(h)),h) \right)_{n \in \mathbb{J}_{1}} \right\| ds \left\| \bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h) - x_{\mathbb{J}} \right\|, hC(\mathcal{K}) \left\| x_{\mathbb{J}} - \bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h) \right\| \right\}$$

$$\leq C(\mathcal{K})h \left\| \bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h) - x_{\mathbb{J}} \right\|$$

$$(7.40)$$

for all $x_{\mathbb{J}} \in \mathcal{K}^{\mathbb{J}}$ and $0 < h \leq h_4(\mathcal{K})$. Note that for sufficiently small δ the estimate $\overline{C}(\mathcal{K})h\delta \leq \kappa(h)$ holds. By (7.40)(7.37) and (7.38) Assumption (A.1) is confirmed for all $||x_{\mathbb{J}} - \overline{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)|| \leq \delta$:

$$\begin{split} \left\| \tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(x_{\mathbb{J}},h) - \tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h),h) \right\| &\leq \bar{C}(\mathcal{K})h\delta \leq \kappa(h) < \sigma(h) = \frac{\nu h}{2} \\ &\leq \left\| \tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h),h)^{-1} \right\|^{-1}. \end{split}$$

Assumption (A.2) of Lemma A.0.1 immediately follows from (A12) for sufficiently small h_5 , $0 < h \le h_5$:

$$\begin{split} \left\| \tilde{\Upsilon}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h) \right\| &= \left\| \tilde{\Upsilon}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h) - \Upsilon(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h) \right\| \\ &= \left\| (\varphi_n(\bar{y}_n(h), h) - \psi_n(\bar{y}_n(h), h))_{n \in \mathbb{J}_1} \right\| \\ &\leq C_2(\mathcal{K}) h^{d+1} \leq \frac{\nu h}{4} \delta \leq \frac{\sigma(h)}{2} \delta = (\sigma(h) - \kappa(h)) \delta \end{split}$$

Thus, Lemma A.0.1 applies and guarantees the existence of a unique zero $\tilde{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$ of $\tilde{\Upsilon}(\cdot, h)$ in a δ -neighborhood of $\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$, satisfying the inequality (7.27)

$$\|\tilde{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h) - \bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)\| \leq (\sigma(h) - \kappa(h))^{-1} \left\| \tilde{\Upsilon}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h) \right\|$$
$$\leq \frac{4}{\nu h} C_2(\mathcal{K}) h^{d+1} = \frac{4C_2(\mathcal{K})}{\nu} h^d$$
(7.41)

for all $0 < h \leq h_5$.

Next, we prove hyperbolicity of this solution.

In order to show that the variational equation, given in terms of the operator $\tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\tilde{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)$, has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{J} , we apply the Roughness-Theorem 3.4.2/3.4.11 with the settings: $A(n) := A_n =: (\varphi_n)_x(\bar{y}_n(h), h)$ and $\tilde{A}(n) := \tilde{A}_n := (\psi_n)_x(\tilde{y}_n(h), h)$ and $E_n := \tilde{A}(n) - A(n) = (\psi_n)_x(\tilde{y}_n(h), h) - (\varphi_n)_x(\bar{y}_n(h), h), n \in \mathbb{J}_1.$ With (7.40) and (7.41) it follows

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\tilde{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h),h) - \tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h),h) \right\| &\leq \bar{C}(\mathcal{K})h \left\| \tilde{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h) - \bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h) \right\| \\ &\leq \bar{C}(\mathcal{K})h \frac{4C_{3}(\mathcal{K})}{\nu}h^{d} = \hat{C}(\mathcal{K})h^{d+1} \end{aligned}$$

and combining this result with (7.28) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|E_{\mathbb{J}_{1}}\| &= \left\|\tilde{A}_{\mathbb{J}_{1}} - A_{\mathbb{J}_{1}}\right\| \\ &= \sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}_{1}} \left\|(\psi_{n})_{x}(\tilde{y}_{n}(h), h) - (\varphi_{n})_{x}(\bar{y}_{n}(h), h)\right\| \\ &= \left\|\tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\tilde{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h) - \Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)\right\| \\ &\leq \left\|\tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\tilde{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h) - \tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)\right\| + \left\|\tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h) - \Upsilon_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)\right\| \\ &\leq (\hat{C}(\mathcal{K}) + C_{4}(\mathcal{K}))h^{d+1}. \end{split}$$
(7.42)

By Corollary 7.3.2 we observe for h sufficiently small

$$\left\|A_{\mathbb{J}_{1}}^{-1}\right\| = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}_{1}} \left\|(\varphi_{n})_{x}(\bar{y}_{n}(h), h)^{-1}\right\| \le \frac{1}{1 - hC_{1}(\mathcal{K})}$$
(7.43)

and together with (7.42) this yields the estimate

$$\frac{1}{2}\inf_{n\in\mathbb{J}_1} \|A_n^{-1}\|^{-1} \ge \frac{1}{2}(1 - hC_1(\mathcal{K})) \ge (\hat{C}(\mathcal{K}) + C_4(\mathcal{K}))h^{d+1} \ge \|E_{\mathbb{J}_1}\|$$
(7.44)

for h sufficiently small. This is the first Assumption (3.38) of the Roughness-Theorem 3.4.2. For verifying the second Assumption (3.39) and the condition of the Roughness-Theorem 3.4.11, note that (7.17) has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{J} with rate $h\bar{\beta}$ and for $\mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}$ with constant \bar{K} . By Taylor expanding we observe

$$\left(\frac{1}{e^{\frac{h\bar{\beta}}{2}} - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} + \frac{1}{e^{-\frac{h\bar{\beta}}{2}} - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} + \frac{1}{e^{h\bar{\beta}} - e^{-\frac{h\bar{\beta}}{2}}}\right)^{-1} = \frac{3}{10}\bar{\beta}h + \mathcal{O}(h^2), \quad (7.45)$$

$$\left(\frac{1-e^{-h\beta}}{2e^{h\bar{\beta}}-e^{-\bar{\beta}}}\right) = \bar{\beta}h + \mathcal{O}(h^2), \qquad (7.46)$$

$$\left(\frac{e^{h\bar{\beta}-1}}{e^{h\bar{\beta}}}\right) = \bar{\beta}h + \mathcal{O}(h^2).$$
 (7.47)

As a consequence

$$||E_{\mathbb{J}_1}|| \le (\hat{C}(\mathcal{K}) + C_4(\mathcal{K}))h^{d+1} \le \frac{1}{2}\bar{K}^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{e^{\frac{h\bar{\beta}}{2}} - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} + \frac{1}{e^{-\frac{h\bar{\beta}}{2}} - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} + \frac{1}{e^{h\bar{\beta}} - e^{-\frac{h\bar{\beta}}{2}}}\right)^{-1}$$
(7.48)

holds true for h sufficiently small, i.e. the second assumption (3.39) is satisfied. Minimize $h_5 > 0$ such that (7.43), (7.44) and (7.48) are satisfied for all $0 < h \le h_5$.

Next we prove the condition of the Roughness-Theorem 3.4.11. In the following let $C_0 > 0$ be a generic constant which will increase if necessary. Assumption (A5) yields

 $\|A_{\mathbb{J}_1}\| \le C_1(\mathcal{K})$

for $0 < h \leq h_1(\mathcal{K})$ $(h_5 \leq h_4(\mathcal{K}) \leq h_1(\mathcal{K}))$. Together with (7.43) we obtain for the constants C, \overline{C} and C_d from the Roughness-Theorem 3.4.11

$$C = 2 \left(\left\| A_{\mathbb{J}_{1}}^{-1} \right\| + \left\| A_{\mathbb{J}_{1}} \right\| \left\| A_{\mathbb{J}_{1}}^{-1} \right\| \right)^{(n_{+}-n_{-})}$$

$$\leq 2 \left(\frac{1}{1 - hC_{1}(\mathcal{K})} + \frac{C_{1}(\mathcal{K})}{1 - hC_{1}(\mathcal{K})} \right)^{(n_{+}-n_{-})}$$

$$\leq \frac{C_{0}}{(1 - hC_{1}(\mathcal{K}))^{(n_{+}-n_{-})}}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \bar{C} &= (1+2 \|A_{\mathbb{J}_1}\|) + \left(\|A_{\mathbb{J}_1}\|^2 + 1\right) C \\ &\leq (1+2C_1(\mathcal{K})) + \left(C_1(\mathcal{K})^2 + 1\right) \frac{C_0}{\left(1 - hC_1(\mathcal{K})\right)^{(n_+ - n_-)}} \\ &\leq C_0 \left(1 + \frac{1}{\left(1 - hC_1(\mathcal{K})\right)^{(n_+ - n_-)}}\right) = C_0 \frac{\left(1 - hC_1(\mathcal{K})\right)^{(n_+ - n_-)} + 1}{\left(1 - hC_1(\mathcal{K})\right)^{(n_+ - n_-)}} \\ &\leq C_0 \frac{2}{\left(1 - hC_1(\mathcal{K})\right)^{(n_+ - n_-)}} \leq \frac{C_0}{\left(1 - hC_1(\mathcal{K})\right)^{(n_+ - n_-)}} \end{split}$$

and

$$C_d = \max\{C, \bar{C}\} \le \frac{C_0}{(1 - hC_1(\mathcal{K}))^{(n_+ - n_-)}}$$

for all $0 < h \leq h_5$. This implies

$$(4C_d)^{-1} \ge \frac{(1 - hC_1(\mathcal{K}))^{(n_+ - n_-)}}{4C_0} > \frac{1}{8C_0}$$
(7.49)

for h sufficiently small. Combined with (7.42), (7.46) and with (7.47)

$$\left\| \tilde{A}_{\mathbb{J}_{1}} - A_{\mathbb{J}_{1}} \right\| \leq (\hat{C}(\mathcal{K}) + C_{4}(\mathcal{K}))h^{d+1} < \min\left\{ 1, (4C_{d})^{-1} \frac{1 - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}}{2e^{h\bar{\beta}} - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}}, (4C_{d})^{-1} \frac{e^{h\bar{\beta}} - 1}{e^{h\bar{\beta}}} \right\}$$
(7.50)

follows for h sufficiently small. Thus, the condition of the Roughness-Theorem 3.4.11 is satisfied. Minimize $h_5 > 0$ such that (7.49) and (7.50) are satisfied

for all $0 < h \leq h_5$. Theorem 3.4.2/3.4.11 applies and guarantees that the variational equation, given in terms of $\tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{J}}}(\tilde{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), h)$, has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{J} with rate $\frac{h\bar{\beta}}{2}$ and for $\mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}$ with constant $2\bar{K} + 1$. Thus, $\tilde{y}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$ is a (ft-)hyperbolic bounded trajectory of the *h*-step method $\psi_{\mathbb{J}_1}(\cdot, h)$ for all $0 < h \leq h_5$.

We exploit this result for analyzing discretized homoclinic orbits. Note that the application of a one-step method turns the equilibrium 0 into a bounded trajectory.

Corollary 7.3.4. Assume (A5)-(A7), (A12),(A13) and (A11). Choose h_5 and δ as in Theorem 7.3.3. Then there exists a C > 0 such that for all $0 < h \leq h_5$ a unique (ft-)hyperbolic bounded trajectory $\tilde{\xi}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$ of (7.24) in a δ -neighborhood of the equilibrium 0 of (2.2) exists which satisfies

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}} \left\| \tilde{\xi}_n(h) - 0 \right\| \le Ch^d.$$
(7.51)

The variational equation, belonging to $\tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{Z}}}(\tilde{\xi}_{\mathbb{Z}}(h), h)$, has an (ft-)exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{J} with rate $\frac{h\beta}{2}$ and for $\mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}$ with constant 2K + 1.

Further, assume (A8) and (A9). Then there exists a unique (ft-)hyperbolic bounded trajectory $\tilde{x}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$ of (7.24) in a δ -neighborhood of the (ft-)hyperbolic (ε -)homoclinic orbit $\bar{x}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$ (ε > 0) of the h-flow which satisfies

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}} \|\tilde{x}_n(h) - \bar{x}_n(h)\| \le Ch^d.$$
(7.52)

Furthermore, for $\mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}$ there exists an $N \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ such that

$$\sup_{h \in \mathbb{Z}_{\pm N}^{\pm}} \|\tilde{x}_n(h) - \tilde{\xi}_n(h)\| \le 3Ch^d \tag{7.53}$$

holds with $\mathbb{Z}_N^+ := [N, \infty) \cap \mathbb{Z}, \ \mathbb{Z}_{-N}^- := (-\infty, -N] \cap \mathbb{Z}.$ For $\mathbb{J} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$

$$\left\|\tilde{x}_{n_{\pm}}(h) - \tilde{\xi}_{n_{\pm}}(h)\right\| \le 2Ch^d + \varepsilon \tag{7.54}$$

is satisfied.

Proof. Fix $0 < h \leq h$. It remains to prove the estimate (7.53) for sufficiently large $|n|, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and (7.54). First consider $\mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}$. With (7.51), (7.52) and (A8), see Definition 7.0.1, there exist a $N := N(h) \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ such that

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\pm N}^{\pm}} \|\tilde{x}_n(h) - \tilde{\xi}_n(h)\| \\ \leq \sup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \|\tilde{x}_n(h) - \bar{x}_n(h)\| + \sup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\pm N}^{\pm}} \|\bar{x}_n(h) - 0\| + \sup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \|0 - \tilde{\xi}_n(h)\| \leq 3Ch^d.$$
For $\mathbb{J} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ we obtain by the latter arguments

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \tilde{x}_{n_{\pm}}(h) - \tilde{\xi}_{n_{\pm}}(h) \right\| &\leq \sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}} \left\| \tilde{x}_{n}(h) - x_{n}(h) \right\| + \left\| x_{n_{\pm}}(h) - 0 \right\| + \sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}} \left\| 0 - \tilde{\xi}_{n}(h) \right\| \\ &\leq 2Ch^{d} + \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

For $\mathbb{J} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ the estimate (7.54) implies that $(\tilde{x}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), \tilde{\xi}_{\mathbb{J}}(h))$ forms a $(2Ch^d + \varepsilon)$ -homoclinic pair. For the infinite time cases $\mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}$ we know, from the previous results, that the tails of the discretized hyperbolic bounded trajectories $\tilde{x}_{\mathbb{Z}}(h)$ and $\tilde{\xi}_{\mathbb{Z}}(h)$ of (7.24) stay in a common small neighborhood. In the following we show that these trajectories are indeed homoclinic toward each other for all $0 < h \le h_5$. This can be achieved by establishing the identity

$$\lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \left\| \tilde{x}_n(h) - \tilde{\xi}_n(h) \right\| = 0.$$

The next lemma states that if two hyperbolic bounded trajectories stay in a sufficiently small common neighborhood, then they converge towards each other. Note that a related result for the autonomous case can be found in [105, Lemma 5.3].

Lemma 7.3.5. Assume that $f_n \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^k, \mathbb{R}^k)$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and let $\xi_{\mathbb{Z}}$ be a bounded trajectory of the difference equation

$$x_{n+1} = f_n(x_n), \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(7.55)

Further, assume that $(f_n)_x$ is uniformly Lipschitz with constant L in a neighborhood of $\xi_{\mathbb{Z}}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and that the variational equation

$$u_{n+1} = (f_n)_x(\xi_n)u_n, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}$$

$$(7.56)$$

has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{Z} with data $(K, \alpha, P_n^{s,u})$. Fix $n_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $x_{\mathbb{Z}}$ be a second bounded trajectory of (7.55), satisfying the following estimates with some constant $0 < \beta < \alpha$:

$$\|(x_n - \xi_n)_{n \in \mathbb{T}}\| \le L^{-1} \inf_{n \in \mathbb{T}} \|(f_n)_x(\xi_n)^{-1}\|^{-1},$$
(7.57)

$$\|(x_n - \xi_n)_{n \in \mathbb{T}}\| \le L^{-1} K^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{e^{\beta} - e^{-\alpha}} + \frac{1}{e^{-\beta} - e^{-\alpha}} + \frac{1}{e^{\alpha} - e^{-\beta}}\right)^{-1}, \quad (7.58)$$

for $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{Z}_{n_1}^-, \mathbb{Z}_{n_1}^+\}$.

Then there exists a constant $\tilde{C} > 0$ such that the exponential estimate

$$||x_n - \xi_n|| \le \tilde{C}e^{-\beta|n-n_1|} \tag{7.59}$$

holds for all $n \in \mathbb{T}$.

Proof. First we define $z_n := x_n - \xi_n$ for $n \in \mathbb{T}$ and get with the mean value theorem

$$z_{n+1} = x_{n+1} - \xi_{n+1} = f_n(x_n) - f_n(\xi_n)$$

= $f_n(z_n + \xi_n) - f_n(\xi_n) = \int_0^1 (f_n)_x(\xi_n + sz_n) dsz_n.$

By defining $B_n = \int_0^1 (f_n)_x (\xi_n + sz_n) ds$ we see that $z_{\mathbb{T}}$ is a bounded solution of

$$u_{n+1} = B_n u_n, \quad n \in \mathbb{T}.$$
(7.60)

To finish the proof, we show that (7.60) has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{T} with data $(2K + 1, \beta, Q_n^{s,u})$.

Assume this dichotomy is already known. Then we get $z_n = Q_n^u z_n$ for $n \in \mathbb{T}^- = \mathbb{Z}_{n_1}^-$ and $z_n = Q_n^s z_n$ for $n \in \mathbb{T}^+ = \mathbb{Z}_{n_1}^+$ since $z_{\mathbb{T}}$ is a bounded solution of (7.60). Denote by $\Phi(\cdot, \cdot)$ the corresponding solution operator, then

$$||z_n|| = ||\Phi(n, n_1)Q_{n_1}^{s, u} z_{n_1}|| \le (2K+1)e^{-\beta|n-n_1|}||z_{n_1}||$$

for $n \in \mathbb{T}^{\pm}$ which completes the proof of (7.59).

For proving an exponential dichotomy of (7.60), we start with (7.56) that already has an exponential dichotomy and apply the Roughness-Theorem 3.4.2. To verify its assumptions, we use the estimate

$$||B_n - (f_n)_x(\xi_n)|| \le \int_0^1 ||(f_n)_x(\xi_n + sz_n) - (f_n)_x(\xi_n)|| \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$\le L \int_0^1 ||sz_n|| \, \mathrm{d}s \le \frac{1}{2}L||z_n|| \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{T}$$

Then Assumption (3.38) of the Roughness-Theorem 3.4.2 directly follows from (7.57) and (3.39) from (7.58).

Our next step is to show that discretized infinite time homoclinic trajectories converge towards each other. For this task, Lemma 7.3.5 is applied to the one-step method $\psi_{\mathbb{Z}}(\cdot, h)$ and the hyperbolic bounded trajectories $\tilde{\xi}_{\mathbb{Z}}(h)$ and $\tilde{x}_{\mathbb{Z}}(h)$.

From Corollary 7.3.4 we know that the variational equation, belonging to $\tilde{\Upsilon}_{x_{\mathbb{Z}}}(\tilde{\xi}_{\mathbb{Z}}(h), h)$, has an exponential dichotomy on \mathbb{Z} with constant 2K + 1 and dichotomy rate $\frac{h\beta}{2}$. Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ be compact and sufficiently large such that $\tilde{\xi}_{\mathbb{Z}}(h), \tilde{x}_{\mathbb{Z}}(h) \in \mathcal{K}^{\mathbb{Z}}$. Then the Lipschitz constant of $(\psi_n)_x$ is $L := h\tilde{C}(\mathcal{K})$, see equation (7.40). The first Assumption (7.57) of Lemma 7.3.5 for $\mathbb{T}_{\pm} := \mathbb{Z}_{\pm N}^{\pm}$ follows with (7.26) and (7.53) for h sufficiently small:

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{T}^{\pm}} \|\tilde{x}_{n}(h) - \tilde{\xi}_{n}(h)\| \leq 3Ch^{d} \leq h^{-1}\tilde{C}(\mathcal{K})^{-1}(1 - h\tilde{C}(\mathcal{K}))$$
$$\leq L^{-1} \inf_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \|(\psi_{n})_{x}(\tilde{\xi}_{n}(h), h)^{-1}\|^{-1}$$

The second one (7.58) is fulfilled with $\bar{\beta} := \frac{\beta}{2}$ since

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{T}^{\pm}} \|\tilde{x}_{n}(h) - \tilde{\xi}_{n}(h)\| \leq 3Ch^{d} \leq \frac{h^{-1}\tilde{C}(\mathcal{K})^{-1}}{2K+1} 3C(2K+1)\tilde{C}(\mathcal{K})h^{2}$$
$$\leq \frac{L^{-1}}{2K+1} \left(\frac{1}{e^{\frac{h\bar{\beta}}{2}} - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} + \frac{1}{e^{-\frac{h\bar{\beta}}{2}} - e^{-h\bar{\beta}}} + \frac{1}{e^{h\bar{\beta}} - e^{-\frac{h\bar{\beta}}{2}}}\right)^{-1}$$

follows from (7.53) and (7.45) for h sufficiently small. Now we apply Lemma 7.3.5 and get a constant $C_5 > 0$ such that

$$\|\tilde{x}_n(h) - \tilde{\xi}_n(h)\| \le C_5 e^{-\frac{h\beta}{4}|n-N|}$$
(7.61)

for all $n \in \mathbb{T}^{\pm}$.

Summarizing these results we have seen that bounded trajectories in continuous time lead to bounded trajectories in discrete time, staying close to each other. This achievement holds for infinite and finite time systems. Furthermore, if the tails of two trajectories of a nonautonomous infinite time system lie for all future (past) times in a sufficiently small neighborhood, then they converge exponentially fast towards each other in forward (backward) time. As a consequence, $(\varepsilon$ -)homoclinic orbits induce $(2Ch^d + \varepsilon$ -)homoclinic orbits of the system discretized by a one-step method which are close to themselves. We summarize this, our main result, in the following theorem.

Theorem 7.3.6. Let $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ be a(n) (ε -)homoclinic orbit of the continuous time system (2.2) w.r.t. the fixed point 0 and assume that our Assumptions (A5)-(A9), (A12),(A13) and (A11) are satisfied. Then we find constants $\bar{h}, C > 0$ such that two (ft-)hyperbolic bounded trajectories $\xi_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$ and $\tilde{x}_{\mathbb{J}}(h)$ of the onestep approximation (7.24) exist which satisfy

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}} \|\xi_n(h) - 0\| \le Ch^d, \quad \sup_{n \in \mathbb{J}} \|\tilde{x}_n(h) - \bar{x}_n(h)\| \le Ch^d,$$
$$\begin{cases} \lim_{n \to \pm \infty} \|\tilde{x}_n(h) - \tilde{\xi}_n(h)\| = 0, \quad \text{for } \mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}, \\ \|\tilde{x}_{n\pm}(h) - \tilde{\xi}_{n\pm}(h)\| < 2Ch^d + \varepsilon, \quad \text{for } \mathbb{J} = [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}} \end{cases} \text{for all } 0 < h < \bar{h},$$

i.e. $(\tilde{x}_{\mathbb{J}}(h), \tilde{\xi}_{\mathbb{J}}(h))$ forms a $((2Ch^d + \varepsilon))$ -homoclinic orbit pair of (7.24).

Chapter 8 Applications

In this last chapter we study various examples, which underline our theoretical results. The infinite time statements originate from the publication [54]. First, we construct a 2-dimensional example with an explicitly known homoclinic orbit. We compare orbits of a one-step method with the exact ones and numerically verify our error estimates for various step sizes.

For illustrating transversality of the computed orbits we plot the corresponding stable and unstable fiber bundles of the one-step discretization. We apply our algorithm from Section 6.7.

Periodic forcing of an autonomous ODE leads to a special class of nonautonomous systems. We construct a model of this type and discuss the underlying autonomous dynamics and their influence on invariant fiber bundles along a homoclinic orbit.

Finally, a 2-dimensional continuous time model from mathematical biology is introduced that is nonautonomous due to time variant environmental influences. For its time discretization we compute a homoclinic orbit as well as invariant fiber bundles.

For finite time situations we already approximated and potted the ε -homoclinic tube for an 2-dimensional systems, cf. Section 7.1.

An Artificial Example with Explicitly Known Homoclinic Orbits

We start with the Hamiltonian system

$$\dot{x} = f(x) = \begin{pmatrix} x_2\\ x_1^2 - 4 \end{pmatrix},$$

which has the homoclinic orbit

$$\hat{x}(t) = 2(1 - 3\operatorname{sech}^2(t), 6\operatorname{sech}^2(t)\operatorname{tanh}(t))$$

with respect to the fixed point (2,0), see [20, Section 11.2.2], [57, Section 7.3].

To construct a nonautonomous example, we first shift the fixed point to (0,0). This leads us to the new system

$$\dot{x} = f(x) = \begin{pmatrix} x_2 \\ x_1^2 + 4x_1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 (8.1)

with corresponding homoclinic orbit

$$\bar{x}(t) = 6(-\operatorname{sech}^2(t), 2\operatorname{sech}^2(t)\operatorname{tanh}(t)).$$
(8.2)

Next we add a nonautonomous term as follows

$$\dot{x} = g(x,t) := f(x) + \begin{pmatrix} x_1(x_1 - \bar{x}_1(t)) \\ x_2(x_2 - \bar{x}_2(t)) \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} x_2 + x_1^2 + 6\operatorname{sech}^2(t)x_1 \\ x_1^2 + 4x_1 + x_2^2 - 12\operatorname{sech}^2(t)\operatorname{tanh}(t)x_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(8.3)

Obviously, (0,0) is for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ a fixed point; furthermore, (8.2) is still a homoclinic orbit w.r.t. (0,0) of this new system.

For a one-step discretization, we choose Heun's method with step size h which has order d = 2 and obtain the discrete time system

$$x_{n+1} = F_n(x_n) := x_n + \frac{h}{2} \left(g(x_n, t_n) + g(x_n + hg(x_n, t_n), t_{n+1}) \right), \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(8.4)

Tools for the numerical approximation of homoclinic orbits in nonautonomous systems have been proposed in [70,73]. The key idea lies in introducing boundary value problems to obtain error controlled orbit segments on a finite time interval. More precisely, we compute an orbit segment $(\tilde{x}_{n_-}, \ldots, \tilde{x}_{n_+})$ by solving the periodic boundary value problem

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_{n_{-}+1} - F_{n_{-}}(x_{n_{-}}) \\ \vdots \\ x_{n_{+}} - F_{n_{+}-1}(x_{n_{+}-1}) \\ x_{n_{-}} - x_{n_{+}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(8.5)

using Newton's method with an appropriate initial guess. For the model (8.4), we start with the exact orbit (8.2). Note that the sparse structure of the derivative allows efficient computations. We solve (8.5) on the time-interval [-30, 30] with the step size h = 0.03, i.e. $n_{\pm} = \pm 1000$. Figure 8.1 shows the orbit with time dependence (right) and without it (left).

The middle and lower diagrams in Figure 8.1 illustrate the homoclinic orbit together with transversally intersecting fibers. In the left middle panel the orbit projected to the x_1 - x_2 -plain and the fiber bundles at time 20*h* are presented. The right middle panel pictures the fibers at the next time instance 21*h*. The lower diagram visualizes transversally intersecting fiber bundles on



Figure 8.1: Homoclinic orbit and transversally intersecting fiber bundles of (8.3), (8.4) with h = 0.04.

the time interval [-30h, 30h]. The stable fibers (green) are computed with the algorithm from Section 6.7 while the unstable fibers (red) are approximated by forward iteration.

We conclude that this orbit is truly nonautonomous, since two fibers at different times do not coincide.

Theorem 7.3.6 states that the maximal error $e_{\mathbb{Z}}(h) := \max_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \|\tilde{x}_n - \bar{x}(hn)\|$ that occurs by approximating the original orbit using an *h*-step method of order *d* is less than Ch^d , with some constant C > 0. Furthermore, the computation of finite orbit segments by solving (8.5) introduces a second error. A precise analysis of this second error, cf. [73, Theorem 5], reveals that its maxima occur at the boundary points of the finite interval whereas this error decreases exponentially fast towards the midpoint. Thus, we avoid secondary errors by computing a solution of (8.5) on the time-interval [-30, 30] and determine the maximal error $e(h) := \max_{n \in [-\frac{5}{h}, \frac{5}{h}] \cap \mathbb{Z}} \|\tilde{x}_n - \bar{x}(hn)\|$ only on the center [-5, 5]. Figure 8.2 illustrates the numerical output of this procedure for various step sizes from 0.00005 up to 0.04 in a double logarithmic scale. The slope of the graph represents the exponent *d*. In Figure 8.2 it is 1.9930 in accordance with Theorem 7.3.6.



Figure 8.2: Maximal error between exact and numerically approximated orbits.

A Periodic Nonautonomous ODE

In τ -periodic ODEs, stable (and unstable) fibers of a fixed point at times t and $t + \tau$, $t \in \mathbb{R}$ coincide. For an illustration we modify (8.1) to the $\tau = \pi$ -periodic model

$$\dot{x} = f(x,t) = \begin{pmatrix} -(1+0.3\sin(2t))x_2\\ x_1^2 + x_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(8.6)

Discretizing this system with Heun's method and step size $h = \frac{\pi}{30}$ leads to a 30-periodic difference equation of the form

$$x_{n+1} = g_n(x_n), \quad g_n = g_{n+30}, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
 (8.7)

This discrete time system exhibits a homoclinic orbit w.r.t. the fixed point (-1, 0), see Figure 8.3 for an illustration.



Figure 8.3: Homoclinic orbit segment on the time interval $[-200h, 200h] \cap h\mathbb{Z}$ of (8.6) and the fibers at time (20+30n)h, $n \in [-7,6] \cap \mathbb{Z}$, $h = \frac{\pi}{30}$.

We further observe that stable and unstable fibers intersect transversally at every 30th point along the orbit. Stable and unstable fibers at time 20h are depicted in Figure 8.3. For their computation, we apply the algorithm from Section 6.7.

Note that alternatively, autonomous tool for computing homoclinic orbits from [22] as well as the search circle algorithm, introduced in [48], are directly applicable to $G_n := g_{n+29} \circ \cdots \circ g_n$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ fixed. We do not follow this route, since this problem typically has a worse condition number than the nonautonomous equation (8.7).

An Example from Mathematical Biology

Let us apply our techniques to a more realistic model from mathematical biology. The dynamics of the growth of algea and zooplankton, typically Daphnia, is presented in [116] with the help of a periodically forced predator-prey system. The authors introduce a 2-dimensional ODE

$$\frac{dA}{dt} = 0.5A \left(1 - \frac{A}{10}\right) - 0.4Z \left(\frac{A}{A+0.6}\right) + 0.01(10 - A),
\frac{dZ}{dt} = 0.24Z \frac{A}{A+0.6} - 0.15Z - E \frac{Z^2}{Z^2+0.5^2},$$
(8.8)

where (A) describes the amount of edible algea and (Z) the amount of large herbivorous zooplankton. The growth of zooplankton is influenced by the fish population and some other environmental terms (E). Our first step is to search for homoclinic structures in the autonomous system (8.8), see [116, Figure 6b], which can be found for

 $E := 0.0784372294995495865\dots$

Next we add a time-dependent perturbation to E reflecting time dependent environmental influences. Choosing

$$E(t) := 0.0784372294995495865 + \exp(-0.2t^2)$$

(8.8) is a continuous time nonautonomous 2-dimensional ODE of the form $\dot{x} = g(x,t)$ with $x := \begin{pmatrix} A & Z \end{pmatrix}^T$. We start with an analysis of the underlying dynamics by searching for homoclinic structures. To study this we are looking at the discretized system. For the one-step discretization $x_{n+1} = F_n(x_n)$ of the system we take Heun's method (8.4). First we compute a bounded trajectory $\hat{x}_{[n_-,n_+]}$ of (8.4) replacing the fixed point from the autonomous case. For this task, we solve, as in Section 8.1, the periodic boundary value problem (8.5) on the time-interval [-1750, 1750] with step size h = 0.5, i.e. $n_{\pm} = \pm 3500$. Using this bounded solution $\hat{x}_{[n_-,n_+]}$ the transformed system

$$y_{n+1} = G_n(y_n), \ G_n(y_n) := F_n(y_n + \hat{x}_n) - \hat{x}_{n+1}, \ n \in [n_-, n_+ - 1]$$
(8.9)

has (0,0) as an *n* independent fixed point.

To obtain a homoclinic orbit w.r.t. the fixed point (0,0), see Figure 8.4 (left), we solve the periodic boundary value problem (8.5) with $G_n(\cdot)$ instead of $F_n(\cdot)$ and initial value

$$(0, \dots, 0, x_n, G_n(x_n), G_{n+1}G_n(x_n), \dots, G_{n+249}G_{n+248} \cdots G_n(x_n), 0, \dots, 0),$$
$$n = -125, x_{-125} = \begin{pmatrix} -0.081\\ 0.096 \end{pmatrix}.$$

In the top right diagram of Figurer 8.4 the stable (green) and unstable (red) fibers at time 0 are plotted. The stable fiber is approximated with the algorithm introduced in Section 6.7. The fibers intersect each other transversally in a single point. This is also the case for fibers in the time interval [-30h, 30h], see the lower diagram in Figure 8.4. For the original continuous time system, this is a strong evidence for transversal homoclinic trajectories, satisfying **(A9)**.



Figure 8.4: Homolinic orbit of (8.9) with h = 0.5 (top left) and transversally intersecting fiber bundles (right and bottom).

Appendix A

A Lipschitz Inverse Mapping Theorem

The following quantitative version of the Lipschitz inverse mapping theorem cf. [130, §3 Lemma 1], [77, Appendix C] is essential for proving Theorem 7.3.3.

Lemma A.0.1. Let $F: Y \times \Lambda \to Z$ be a \mathcal{C}^{ℓ} , $\ell \geq 1$ mapping from a Banach space $Y \times \Lambda$ into some Banach space Z. Assume there exists a function \bar{v}_0 : $\Lambda \to Y$ such that $F_v(\bar{v}_0(\varepsilon), \varepsilon)$ are homeomorphisms for all $|\varepsilon| \leq \delta_2$, and there exist some constants $\kappa(\varepsilon) > 0$, $\sigma(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that for all $||v - \bar{v}_0(\varepsilon)|| \leq \delta_1$ and $|\varepsilon| \leq \delta_2$ we have

$$\|F_v(v,\varepsilon) - F_v(\bar{v}_0(\varepsilon),\varepsilon)\| \le \kappa(\varepsilon) < \sigma(\varepsilon) \le \|F_v(\bar{v}_0(\varepsilon),\varepsilon)^{-1}\|^{-1}, \qquad (A.1)$$

$$\|F(\bar{v}_0(\varepsilon),\varepsilon)\| \le (\sigma(\varepsilon) - \kappa(\varepsilon))\delta_1.$$
(A.2)

Then for any $|\varepsilon| \leq \delta_2$, $F(\cdot, \varepsilon)$ has a unique zero $\tilde{v}(\varepsilon)$ with $\|\tilde{v}(\varepsilon) - \bar{v}_0(\varepsilon)\| \leq \delta_1$ that is \mathcal{C}^{ℓ} -smooth w.r.t. ε . The following estimates hold for all $\|v_i - \bar{v}_0(\varepsilon)\| \leq \delta_1$, i = 1, 2

$$\begin{aligned} \|\tilde{v}(\varepsilon) - \bar{v}_0(\varepsilon)\| &\leq (\sigma(\varepsilon) - \kappa(\varepsilon))^{-1} \|F(\bar{v}_0(\varepsilon), \varepsilon)\|, \\ \|v_1 - v_2\| &\leq (\sigma(\varepsilon) - \kappa(\varepsilon))^{-1} \|F(v_1, \varepsilon) - F(v_2, \varepsilon)\|. \end{aligned}$$

Appendix B Assumptions, Functions, Sets

Assumptions

- (A0) Let the matrix function A of (2.7) / (2.8) satisfy $A \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}^{k \times k})$.
- (A1) Let $\mathbb{T} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}\}, t_{\pm} \in \mathbb{T}, \mathbb{I} = [t_{-}, t_{+}]_{\mathbb{T}} \text{ and } \Gamma = \Gamma^{T} > 0.$ Assume

 $\begin{cases} (A0) \text{ and that system (2.6), generated by (2.7),} & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \text{that the system (2.6), generated by (2.8),} & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$

is D-hyperbolic on \mathbb{I} w.r.t. $\|\cdot\|_{\Gamma}$.

- (A2) Let $\tilde{\mathbb{I}} := \begin{cases} \mathbb{I}, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ \mathbb{I}_1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \end{cases}$, $\bar{t}_+ := \bar{t} := \begin{cases} t_+, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \\ t_+ 1, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \end{cases}$ and $\bar{t}_- := t_-.$
- (A3) Assume (A2) and let k = 2. Let $\lambda_1(t) > 0 > \lambda_2(t)$ be the eigenvalues of $S_{\Gamma}(t)$ and $U(t) = (v_1(t) \ v_2(t))$ be an orthogonal matrix, where $v_i(t)$ are eigenvectors to $\lambda_i(t)$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, for all $t \in \tilde{\mathbb{I}}$.
- (A4) Let h > 0 and if \mathbb{I} is compact such that $\frac{t_-}{h}, \frac{t_+}{h} \in \mathbb{Z}$. Define

$$\mathbb{J} := \mathbb{J}_h := \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & \text{if } \mathbb{I} = \mathbb{R}, \\ [n_-, n_+]_{\mathbb{Z}} := [\frac{t_-}{h}, \frac{t_+}{h}]_{\mathbb{Z}}, & \text{if } \mathbb{I} = [t_-, t_+]. \end{cases}$$

Further set

$$\mathbb{J}_1 := \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & \text{if } \mathbb{J} = \mathbb{Z}, \\ [\frac{t_-}{h}, \frac{t_+}{h} - 1]_{\mathbb{Z}}, & \text{if } \mathbb{J} = [\frac{t_-}{h}, \frac{t_+}{h}]_{\mathbb{Z}} \end{cases}$$

(A5) $f \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}^k)$ satisfies conditions, assuring existence and uniqueness of global solutions of (2.2) as well as the following estimates for the

solution operator φ . For any compact set $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ there exist constants $C_1(\mathcal{K}), h_1(\mathcal{K}) > 0$ such that the inequality

$$\|\varphi_x(x,t,s)\| \le C_1(\mathcal{K})$$

holds for all $x \in \mathcal{K}$ and $|t - s| \leq h_1(\mathcal{K})$. For $n \in \mathbb{J}_1$ let

 $\varphi_n(x,h) := \varphi(x,(n+1)h,nh)$

be \mathcal{C}^d smooth w.r.t. $h, d \geq 1$. Mixed derivatives $(\varphi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,\ell)}, \ell \in \{0, \ldots, d\}$ exist and satisfy the uniform Lipschitz condition

$$\left\| (\varphi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,d)}(x,\mu_1) - (\varphi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,d)}(x,\mu_2) \right\| \le C_1(\mathcal{K}) \|\mu_1 - \mu_2\|$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{K}$, $0 \le \mu_{1,2} \le h_1(\mathcal{K})$ and $n \in \mathbb{J}_1$.

Further, let $\left\| (\varphi_n)_{x,h}^{(r,1)}(x,h) \right\| \leq C_1(\mathcal{K})$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}, r \in \{0,1\}, x \in \mathcal{K}$ and $0 \leq h \leq h_1(\mathcal{K})$.

- (A6) $0 \in \mathbb{R}^k$ satisfies f(0,t) = 0 for all $t \in \mathbb{I}$.
- (A7) 0 is (ft-)hyperbolic. Denote the data of the corresponding variational equation

$$\dot{x} = f_x(0, \cdot)x$$

by $(K, \beta, P^{s,u}(\cdot))$.

- (A8) A nontrivial homoclinic orbit $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ of (2.2) exists.
- (A9) The homoclinic orbit $\bar{x}(\cdot)$ is (ft-)hyperbolic.
- (A10) Let $\bar{y}(\cdot)$ be a (ft-)hyperbolic bounded trajectory of (2.2). Denote by $(\bar{K}, \bar{\beta}, \bar{Q}^{s,u}(\cdot))$ the (ft-)dichotomy data of the corresponding variational equation

$$\dot{u} = f_x(\bar{y}(\cdot), \cdot)u$$

and let $S^{\bar{y}}(t,s)$ be its solution operator.

(A11) Let the images of the projectors $\bar{Q}^{s}(t_{-}), \ \bar{Q}^{u}(t_{+})$ satisfy $\mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^{s}(t_{-})) \oplus \mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^{u}(t_{+})) = \mathbb{R}^{k}$ and let the boundary condition $b(\cdot, \cdot)$ satisfies $b \in \mathcal{C}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{2k}, \mathbb{R}^{k})$ and $b := b(\bar{y}_{n_{-}}, \bar{y}_{n_{+}}) = 0$. Further, let

$$B(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}) := h \left(D_1 b + D_2 b \Phi(n_+, n_-)_{|\mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^s(t_-)))} \quad D_1 b \bar{\Phi}(n_-, n_+) + D_2 b_{|\mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^u(t_+)))} \right) :$$

$$\mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^s(n_-)) \oplus \mathcal{R}(\bar{Q}^u(n_+)) \to \mathbb{R}^k$$

be invertible. For any compact set $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ there exist a constant $C(\mathcal{K}) > 0$ such that

$$\left\| b_x(x_{n_-}, x_{n_+}) - b_x(y_{n_-}, y_{n_+}) \right\| \le C(\mathcal{K}) \left\| x_{\mathbb{J}} - y_{\mathbb{J}} \right\|$$

holds for all $x_n, y_n \in \mathcal{K}, n \in \mathbb{J}$.

(A12) For any compact set $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ there exist constants $C_2(\mathcal{K}), h_2(\mathcal{K}) > 0$ such that the consistency estimate of order $d \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\|\varphi_n(x,h) - \psi_n(x,h)\| \le C_2(\mathcal{K})h^{d+1}$$

holds for all $n \in \mathbb{J}_1$, $x \in \mathcal{K}$ and $0 < h \leq h_2(\mathcal{K})$.

(A13) Mixed derivatives of $\psi_n(x, h)$ up to order 3 exist. For any compact set $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ the derivatives are continuous and uniformly bounded by some constant $\tilde{C}(\mathcal{K})$ in $\mathcal{K} \times (0, h_3(\mathcal{K})]$, with $0 < h_3(\mathcal{K})$ sufficiently small. Furthermore, $\psi_n(x, h)$ is \mathcal{C}^d smooth in h and mixed derivatives $(\psi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,d)}(x, h)$ exist and satisfy the uniform Lipschitz estimate

$$\left\| (\psi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,d)}(x,\mu_1) - (\psi_n)_{x,h}^{(1,d)}(x,\mu_2) \right\| \le C_3(\mathcal{K}) \|\mu_1 - \mu_2\|$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{J}_1$, $x \in \mathcal{K}$ and $0 < \mu_{1,2} \leq h_3(\mathcal{K})$ with a constant $C_3(\mathcal{K}) > 0$.

Functions

$$\begin{split} {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}} : \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{I} \cup \{n_{+} + 1\} \\ & (\xi, n_{0}) \mapsto \mathring{n} := \begin{cases} \min \operatorname{Ker}_{n_{0}}^{\xi}, & \text{if } \operatorname{Ker}_{n_{0}}^{\xi} \neq \emptyset \\ n_{+} + 1, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \\ & \operatorname{Ker}_{n_{0}}^{\xi} := \{n \in [n_{0}, n_{+}]_{\mathbb{Z}} | \Phi(n, n_{0})\xi = 0\} \\ & \Phi\mathcal{T}_{\min} : \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{I} \\ & (\xi, n_{0}) \mapsto \bar{n} := \min\{n \in [n_{-}, n_{0}]_{\mathbb{Z}} | \exists x \in \mathbb{R}^{k} : \Phi(n_{0}, n)x = \xi\} \\ & \Phi\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}} : \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{R}^{k} \\ & (\xi, n_{0}) \mapsto \{\mu \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \Phi(n_{0}, \bar{n})\mu = \xi \text{ with } \bar{n} := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_{0})\} \\ & \Phi_{\mathrm{pre}}(n, m)U := \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \Phi(n, m)\xi \in U\} \\ & \varphi\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{ker}}^{\bar{x}} : \mathbb{R}^{k}, \times \mathbb{I} \to \mathbb{I} \cup \{n_{+} + 1\} \\ & (\xi, n_{0}) \mapsto \begin{cases} \min\{n \in [n_{0}, n_{+}]_{\mathbb{Z}} | \varphi(\xi, n, n_{0}) - \bar{x}(n) = 0\}, & \text{if it exists} \\ n_{+} + 1, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Tensor and Their Properties

$$S_{\Gamma}(t) := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} [\Gamma A(t) + A(t)^{T} \Gamma], & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \ t \in \mathbb{I}, \\ A(t)^{T} \Gamma A(t) - \Gamma, & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \ t \in \mathbb{I}_{1}, \end{cases}$$

$$M_{\Gamma}(t) := \begin{cases} \dot{S}_{\Gamma}(t) + S_{\Gamma}(t)A(t) + A(t)^{T}S_{\Gamma}(t), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}, \ t \in \mathbb{I}, \\ A(t)^{T}S_{\Gamma}(t+1)A(t) - S_{\Gamma}(t), & \text{for } \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{Z}, \ t \in \mathbb{I}_{2} \end{cases}$$

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \|\xi(t)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} = \langle \xi(t), S_{\Gamma}(t)\xi(t) \rangle \qquad (3.16)$$

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|\xi(t)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} = 2\langle A(t)\xi(t), \xi(t) \rangle \qquad (3.18)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}t^2} \left\|\xi(t)\right\|_{\Gamma}^2 = \left\langle\xi(t), M_{\Gamma}(t)\xi(t)\right\rangle \tag{5.11}$$

$$\|\xi(n+1)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} = \langle \xi(n), S_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle$$

$$\left(\left(\|\xi(n+2)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\xi(n+1)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) - \left(\|\xi(n+1)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} - \|\xi(n)\|_{\Gamma}^{2} \right) \right) = \langle \xi(n), M_{\Gamma}(n)\xi(n) \rangle$$
(3.17)
$$(3.17)$$

Sets

$$Z_{\Gamma}(t) := \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t)\xi \rangle = 0\}$$

$$L(n_{0}) := \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(n_{+} - 1)\Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})\xi \rangle < 0\}$$

Cones Continuous

$${}^{n}V_{s}(t_{0}) = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n} | \langle \Phi(t_{+}, t_{0})\xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_{+})\Phi(t_{+}, t_{0})\xi \rangle < 0\} \cup \{0\}$$
(5.24)

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t_{0}) = \{\Phi(t_{0}, t_{-})\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_{-})\xi \rangle > 0\} \cup \{0\}$$
(5.25)

Cones Discrete

$$\begin{split} ^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{+}(n_{0}) &:= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| \exists \alpha > 0 : \left\| \Phi(n, n_{0}) \xi \right\| e^{\alpha n} \text{ is decreasing for } n \in [n_{0}, n_{+}]_{\mathbb{Z}} \right\} \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(n_{0}) &:= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| \exists \mu_{\bar{n}} \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_{0}), \bar{n} := {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_{0}), \\ \exists \alpha > 0 : \left\| \Phi(n, \bar{n}) \mu_{\bar{n}} \right\| e^{\alpha n} \text{ is decreasing for } n \in [\bar{n}, n_{0}]_{\mathbb{Z}} \right\} \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{+}(n_{0}) &:= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| \exists \beta > 0 : \left\| \Phi(n, n_{0}) \xi \right\| e^{-\beta n} \text{ is increasing for } n \in [n_{0}, n_{+}]_{\mathbb{Z}} \right\} \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{-}(n_{0}) &:= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| \exists \beta > 0 : \left\| \Phi(n, n_{0}) \xi \right\| e^{-\beta n} \text{ is increasing for } n \in [n_{-}, n_{0}]_{\mathbb{Z}} \right\} \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{-}(n_{0}) &:= \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \left| \phi \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_{0}) = n_{-}, \exists \mu_{n_{-}} \in {}_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_{0}), \\ \exists \beta > 0 : \left\| \Phi(n, n_{-}) \mu_{n_{-}} \right\| e^{-\beta n} \text{ is increasing for } n \in [n_{-}, n_{0}]_{\mathbb{Z}} \right\} \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(t_{0}) &:= {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{+}(t_{0}) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{-}(t_{0}) \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}(t_{0}) &:= {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}^{+}(t_{0}) \cap {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{u}^{-}(t_{0}) \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{+}) &:= {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{+} - 1) \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{0}) &:= \left\{ \xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{0}) \left| \Phi(n_{0} + 1, n_{0})\xi \in {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{0} + 1) \right\} \right. (n_{0} \in \mathbb{I}_{2}) \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{+}) &:= {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{+}) \text{ (invertible)} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{+}) &= \mathcal{R}(\Phi(n_{+}, n_{+} - 1))^{C} \\ & \cup \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} |_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_{+}) =: \bar{n} < n_{+} \land \exists \bar{\mu} \in {}_{\Phi} \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{pre}}(\xi, n_{+}) : \\ & \langle \mu, S_{\Gamma}(n_{+} - 1) \mu \rangle < 0 \text{ for } \mu := \Phi(n_{+} - 1, \bar{n}) \bar{\mu} \} \cup \{0\} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_{s}(n_{0}) &= L(n_{0}) \dot{\cup} \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})) \ (n_{0} \in \mathbb{I}_{1}) \\ & \dot{\cup} \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})) \ (n_{0} \in \mathbb{I}_{1}) \\ & \dot{\cup} \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})) \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} (5.47) \\ {}^{\mathbb{I}}V_{s}(n_{0}) &= \{\xi \in L(n_{0}) \big| \Phi(n_{0} + 1, n_{0})\xi \in \mathbb{I}V_{s}(n_{0} + 1)\} \ (n_{0} \in \mathbb{I}_{1}) \\ & \dot{\cup} \mathcal{N}(\Phi(n_{+} - 1, n_{0})) \end{aligned}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\cr \begin{split} \mathcal{V}_{u}(t_{0}) &= \{\Phi(t_{0}, t_{-})\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{k} | \langle \xi, S_{\Gamma}(t_{-})\xi \rangle > 0\} \cup \{0\} \end{cases}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$${}^{\mathbb{I}}V_s(n_0) = {}^{\mathbb{I}}\bar{V}_s(n_0) = L(n_0) \cup \{0\} \text{ (invertible)}$$
(5.51)

Fibers Continuous

$$\begin{split} ^{\mathbb{I}}M_{s}^{\bar{x}} &:= \left\{ (x_{0},t_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \middle| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| \varphi(x_{0},t,t_{0}) - \bar{x} \right\| < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \\ & \cup \left\{ (\bar{x}(t_{0}),t_{0}) \middle| t_{0} \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}M_{u}^{\bar{x}} &:= \left\{ (x_{0},t_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \middle| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| \varphi(x_{0},t,t_{0}) - \bar{x} \right\| > 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \\ & \cup \left\{ (\bar{x}(t_{0}),t_{0}) \middle| t_{0} \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}\varepsilon M_{s}^{\bar{x}} &:= \left\{ (x_{0},t_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \middle| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \varphi(x_{0},t,t_{0}) - \bar{x}(t) \| < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, \\ & \varphi(x_{0},t_{+},t_{0}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_{+})) \right\} \cup \left\{ (\bar{x}(t_{0}),t_{0}) \middle| t_{0} \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}\varepsilon M_{u}^{\bar{x}} &:= \left\{ (x_{0},t_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \middle| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \varphi(x_{0},t,t_{0}) - \bar{x}(t) \| > 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, \\ & \varphi(x_{0},t_{-},t_{0}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(t_{-})) \right\} \cup \left\{ \bar{x}(t_{0}),t_{0} \right) \middle| t_{0} \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}\varepsilon W_{s}^{\bar{x}} &:= \left\{ (x_{0},t_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \middle| \hat{t} := \overset{\mathbb{I}}{_{\varepsilon}} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min}(\varphi(x_{0},t_{-},t_{0}),\bar{x}(t_{-}),t_{-}) \in \mathbb{I} \text{ and} \\ & \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \varphi(x_{0},t,t_{0}) - \bar{x}(t) \| < 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, t > \hat{t} \right\} \cup \left\{ (\bar{x}(t_{0}),t_{0}) \middle| t_{0} \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \\ ^{\mathbb{I}}\varepsilon W_{u}^{\bar{x}} &:= \left\{ (x_{0},t_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \middle| \hat{t} := \overset{\mathbb{I}}{_{\varepsilon}} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\max}(\varphi(x_{0},t_{-},t_{0}),\bar{x}(t_{-})) \in \mathbb{I} \text{ and} \\ & \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \varphi(x_{0},t,t_{0}) - \bar{x}(t) \| > 0 \text{ for all } t \in \mathbb{I}, t < \hat{t} \right\} \cup \left\{ (\bar{x}(t_{0}),t_{0}) \middle| t_{0} \in \mathbb{I} \right\} \end{aligned}$$

Fibers Discrete

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} M_{s}^{\tilde{x}} &:= \Big\{ (\xi, n_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \Big| \exists \mu \in {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_{0}) \text{ with } \bar{n} := {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_{0}) \text{ and} \\ &\hat{n} := {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{ker}}^{\tilde{x}}(\mu, \bar{n}) : \| \varphi(\mu, n, \bar{n}) - \bar{x}(n) \| < \| \varphi(\mu, m, \bar{n}) - \bar{x}(m) \| \\ &\text{ for all } n, m \in [\bar{n}, \hat{n}]_{\mathbb{Z}}, n > m \text{ and } \varphi(\xi, n_{+}, n_{0}) \in B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(n_{+})), \Big\} \\ \mathbb{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} M_{u}^{\tilde{x}} := \Big\{ (\xi, n_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \Big|_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_{0}) = n_{-} \text{ and } \exists \mu \in {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_{0}) \cap B_{\varepsilon}(\bar{x}(n_{-})) : \\ & \| \varphi(\mu, n, n_{-}) - \bar{x}(n) \| > \| \varphi(\mu, m, n_{-}) - \bar{x}(m) \| \text{ for all } n, m \in \mathbb{I}, n > m \Big\} \\ &\cup \{ (\bar{x}(t_{0}), t_{0}) | t_{0} \in \mathbb{I} \} \\ \mathbb{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{s}^{\tilde{x}} := \Big\{ (\xi, n_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \Big| \exists \mu \in {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_{0}) \text{ with } \bar{n} := {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_{0}), \\ &\hat{n} := {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{ker}}^{\tilde{x}}(\mu, \bar{n}) \text{ and } \hat{n} := {}_{\varphi}^{\mathbb{I}} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\min(\mu, \bar{x}(\bar{n}), \bar{n}) \in \mathbb{I} : \\ & \| \varphi(\mu, n, \bar{n}) - \bar{x}(n) \| < \| \varphi(\mu, m, \bar{n}) - \bar{x}(m) \| \\ &\text{ for all } n, m \in \mathbb{I}, \hat{n} \ge n > m > \hat{n} \Big\} \\ \mathbb{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W_{u}^{\tilde{x}} := \Big\{ (\xi, n_{0}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k} \times \mathbb{I} \Big|_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\min}(\xi, n_{0}) = n_{-} \text{ and } \exists \mu \in {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}(\xi, n_{0}) \text{ with } \\ &\hat{n} := {}_{\varphi}^{\mathbb{I}} \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\max}(\mu, \bar{x}(n_{-})) \in \mathbb{I} : \\ & \| \varphi(\mu, n, n_{-}) - \bar{x}(n) \| > \| \varphi(\mu, m, n_{-}) - \bar{x}(m) \| \\ &\hat{n} := {}_{\varphi} \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon}^{\max}(\mu, \bar{x}(n_{-})) \in \mathbb{I} : \\ & \| \varphi(\mu, n, n_{-}) - \bar{x}(n) \| > \| \varphi(\mu, m, n_{-}) - \bar{x}(m) \| \\ &\text{ for all } n, m \in \mathbb{I}, m < n < \hat{n} \Big\} \cup \Big\{ (\bar{x}(n), n) | n \in \mathbb{I} \Big\}. \end{split}$$

Bibliography

- J. C. Alexander and D.-Y. Cai. On the dynamics of bursting systems. Journal of Mathematical Biology, 29(5):405–423, 1991.
- [2] K. Alligood, T. Sauer, and J. Yorke. *Chaos: An Introduction to Dynamical Systems.* Textbooks in Mathematical Sciences. Springer New York, 2006.
- [3] H. Amann and J. Escher. Analysis II. Analysis. Birkhäuser Basel, 2008.
- [4] K. G. Andersson. Poincaré's discovery of homoclinic points. Archive for History of Exact Sciences, 48(2):133–147, 1994.
- [5] T. Arens, R. Busam, F. Hettlich, C. Karpfinger, H. Stachel, and K. Lichtenegger. Grundwissen Mathematikstudium - Analysis und Lineare Algebra mit Querverbindungen: Analysis und Lineare Algebra mit Querverbindungen. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013.
- [6] J. Aubin and H. Frankowska. Set-Valued Analysis. Modern Birkhäuser Classics. Birkhäuser Boston, 2009.
- B. Aulbach. The fundamental existence theorem on invariant fiber bundles. Journal of Difference Equations and Applications, 3(5-6):501-537, 1998.
- [8] B. Aulbach and J. Kalkbrenner. Exponential forward splitting for noninvertible difference equations. Computers & Mathematics with Applications, 42(3):743 – 754, 2001.
- B. Aulbach and N. V. Minh. The concept of spectral dichotomy for linear difference equations II. Journal of Difference Equations and Applications, 2(3):251–262, 1996.
- [10] B. Aulbach and S. Siegmund . The dichotomy spectrum for noninvertible systems of linear difference equations. *Journal of Difference Equations* and Applications, 7(6):895–913, 2001.
- [11] L. Barreira and Y. Pesin. Lyapunov Exponents and Smooth Ergodic Theory. Student Mathematical Library. American Mathematical Society, 2002.

- [12] A. Berger. More on finite-time hyperbolicity. SeMA Journal, 51(1):25– 32, 2010.
- [13] A. Berger. On finite-time hyperbolicity. Communications on Pure and Applied Analysis, 10(3):963–981, 2011.
- [14] A. Berger, T. Doan, and S. Siegmund. A Remark on Finite-Time Hyperbolicity. *PAMM*, 8(1):10917–10918, 2008.
- [15] A. Berger, T. Doan, and S. Siegmund. Nonautonomous finite-time dynamics. Discrete and Continuos Dynamical Systems. Series B, 9(3-4):463-492, 2008.
- [16] A. Berger, T. Doan, and S. Siegmund. A definition of spectrum for differential equations on finite time. *Journal of Differential Equations*, 246(3):1098–1118, 2009.
- [17] W.-J. Beyn. On invariant closed curves for one-step methods. Numerische Mathematik, 51(1):103–122, 1987.
- [18] W.-J. Beyn. The effect of discretization on homoclinic orbits. In Bifurcation: analysis, algorithms, applications (Dortmund, 1986), volume 79 of Internationale Schriftenreihe zur Numerischen Mathematik, pages 1–8. Birkhäuser, Basel, 1987.
- [19] W.-J. Beyn. The numerical computation of connecting orbits in dynamical systems. IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis, 10(3):379–405, 1990.
- [20] W.-J. Beyn, A. Champneys, E. Doedel, W. Govaerts, Y. Kuznetsov, and B. Sandstede. Chapter 4 Numerical continuation, and computation of normal forms . volume 2 of *Handbook of Dynamical Systems*, pages 149 – 219. Elsevier Science, 2002.
- [21] W.-J. Beyn, T. Hüls, and A. Schenke. Symbolic Coding for Noninvertible Systems: Uniform Approximation and Numerical Computation. *Nonlinearity*, 29(11):3346, 2016.
- [22] W.-J. Beyn and J.-M. Kleinkauf. The numerical computation of homoclinic orbits for maps. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 34(3):1207– 1236, 1997.
- [23] W.-J. Beyn and W. Kleß. Numerical Taylor expansions of invariant manifolds in large dynamical systems. *Numerische Mathematik*, 80(1):1– 38, Jul 1998.
- [24] G. D. Birkhoff. On the periodic motions of dynamical systems. Acta Mathematica, 50(1):359–379, 1927.

- [25] G. D. Birkhoff. Nouvelles recherches sur les systèmes dynamique. Mem. Pont. Acad. Sci. Novi Lyncaei, 1(Sér. 3):85–216, 1935.
- [26] D. Blazevski and J. Franklin. Using scattering theory to compute invariant manifolds and numerical results for the laser-driven Hénon-Heiles system. *Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science*, 22(4):043138, 2012.
- [27] C. Bonatti, L. Díaz, and M. Viana. Dynamics Beyond Uniform Hyperbolicity: A Global Geometric and Probabilistic Perspective. Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2006.
- [28] K. Border. Fixed Point Theorems with Applications to Economics and Game Theory. Cambridge University Press, 1989.
- [29] N. Bourbaki. General Topology: Chapters 1-4. Elements of mathematics. Springer, 1998.
- [30] F. Boyer and P. Fabrie. Mathematical Tools for the Study of the Incompressible Navier-Stokes Equations and Related Models. Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer New York, 2012.
- [31] M. Braun and J. Hershenov. Periodic solutions of finite difference equations. Quarterly of Applied Mathematics, 35(1):139–147, 1977.
- [32] H. Broer, F. Takens, and B. Hasselblatt. Handbook of Dynamical Systems. Number Bd. 3 in Handbook of Dynamical Systems. Elsevier Science, 2010.
- [33] X. Cabré, E. Fontich, and R. de la Llave. The parameterization method for invariant manifolds III: overview and applications. *Journal of Differential Equations*, 218(2):444 – 515, 2005.
- [34] M. Canadell and R. de la Llave. KAM tori and whiskered invariant tori for non-autonomous systems. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 310:104 - 113, 2015.
- [35] E. Chaves. *Notes on Continuum Mechanics*. Lecture Notes on Numerical Methods in Engineering and Sciences. Springer Netherlands, 2013.
- [36] S. Chow, X. Lin, and K. Palmer. A Shadowing Lemma with Applications to semilinear Parabolic Equations. SIAM Journal of Mathematical Analysis, 20(3):547–557, 1989.
- [37] F. Colonius and W. Kliemann. The Dynamics of Control. Systems & Control: Foundations & Applications. Birkhäuser Boston, 2000.
- [38] N. Cong. Topological Dynamics of Random Dynamical Systems. Oxford mathematical monographs. Clarendon Press, 1997.

- [39] W. Coppel. Stability and asymptotic behavior of differential equations. Heath mathematical monographs. Heath, 1965.
- [40] W. Coppel. Dichotomies in stability theory. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 629. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1978.
- [41] D. David, D. Holm, and M. Tratnik. Integrable and chaotic polarization dynamics in nonlinear optical beams. *Physics Letters A*, 137(7):355 – 364, 1989.
- [42] M. Dellnitz and A. Hohmann. A subdivision algorithm for the computation of unstable manifolds and global attractors. *Numerische Mathematik*, 75(3):293–317, 1997.
- [43] T. Doan, K. Palmer, and S. Siegmund. Transient spectral theory, stable and unstable cones and Gershgorin's theorem for finite-time differential equations. *Journal of Differential Equations*, 250(11):4177–4199, 2011.
- [44] E. J. Doedel, B. Krauskopf, and H. M. Osinga. Global organization of phase space in the transition to chaos in the Lorenz system. *Nonlinearity*, 28(11):R113–R139, 2015.
- [45] L. Duc and S. Siegmund. Hyperbolicity and invariant manifolds for planar nonautonomous systems on finite time intervals. *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos*, 18(03):641–674, 2008.
- [46] T. Eirola and J. von Pfaler. Numerical Taylor expansions for invariant manifolds. *Numerische Mathematik*, 99(1):25–46, Nov 2004.
- [47] S. Elaydi. An Introduction to Difference Equations. Undergraduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer New York, 2005.
- [48] J. England, B. Krauskopf, and H. Osinga. Computing one-dimensional stable manifolds and stable sets of planar maps without the inverse. SIAM Journal on Applied Dynamical Systems, 3(2):161–190, 2004.
- [49] M. J. Feigenbaum. Quantitative universality for a class of nonlinear transformations. *Journal of statistical physics*, 19(1):25–52, 1978.
- [50] B. Fiedler and J. Scheurle. Discretization of homoclinic orbits, rapid forcing and "'invisible"' chaos. Konrad-Zuse-Zentrum für Informationstechnik Berlin, 1991.
- [51] B. Garay. On C^{j} -closeness between the solution flow and its numerical approximation. Journal of Difference Equations and Applications, 2(1):67-86, 1996.

- [52] P. Giesl and M. Rasmussen. Areas of attraction for nonautonomous differential equations on finite time intervals. *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, 390(1):27 – 46, 2012.
- [53] A. Girod. Diskretisierung homokliner Orbits in autonomen und nichtautonomen dynamischen Systemen. Diplomarbeit, Universität Bielefeld, 2013.
- [54] A. Girod and T. Hüls. Nonautonomous systems with transversal homoclinic structures under discretization. BIT Numerical Mathematics, 56(2):605-631, 2016.
- [55] A. Girod and T. Hüls. On areas of attraction and repulsion in finite time dynamical systems and their numerical approximation. CRC 701, Preprint 17011, 2018.
- [56] P. Gray and S. K. Scott. Chemical oscillations and instabilities : nonlinear chemical kinetics. Oxford [England]: Clarendon Press; Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press, 1990. Includes bibliographical references.
- [57] J. Guckenheimer and P. Holmes. Nonlinear oscillations, dynamical systems, and bifurcations of vector fields, volume 42. New York Springer Verlag, 1983.
- [58] J. K. Hale and X.-B. Lin. Symbolic dynamics and nonlinear semiflows. Annali di matematica pura ed applicata, 144(1):229–259, 1986.
- [59] G. Haller. Finding finite-time invariant manifolds in two-dimensional velocity fields. *Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science*, 10(1):99–108, 2000.
- [60] G. Haller. Distinguished material surfaces and coherent structures in three-dimensional fluid flows. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 149(4):248–277, 2001.
- [61] G. Haller. Lagrangian structures and the rate of strain in a partition of two-dimensional turbulence. *Physics of Fluids (1994-present)*, 13(11), 2001.
- [62] G. Haller. An objective definition of a vortex. Journal of fluid mechanics, 525:1–26, 2005.
- [63] G. Haller. Lagrangian Coherent Structures. Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics, 47(1):137–162, 2015.
- [64] S. Hayashi. Connecting Invariant Manifolds and the Solution of the C¹ Stability and Ω-Stability Conjectures for Flows. Annals of Mathematics, 145(1):81–137, 1997.

- [65] M. Hénon. A two-dimensional mapping with a strange attractor. Communications in Mathematical Physics, 50(1):69–77, 1976.
- [66] D. Henry. Geometric theory of semilinear parabolic equations, volume 840 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1981.
- [67] J. Hiriart-Urruty and C. Lemarechal. Convex Analysis and Minimization Algorithms I: Fundamentals. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1996.
- [68] D. Hobson. An Efficient Method for Computing Invariant Manifolds of Planar Maps. Journal of Computational Physics, 104(1):14 – 22, 1993.
- [69] W. Hochstättler. *Algorithmische Mathematik*. Springer-Lehrbuch. Springer, 2010.
- [70] T. Hüls. Homoclinic orbits of non-autonomous maps and their approximation. Journal of Difference Equations and Applications, 12(11):1103– 1126, 2006.
- [71] T. Hüls. Numerical computation of dichotomy rates and projectors in discrete time. Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems. Series B., 12(1):109–131, 2009.
- [72] T. Hüls. Computing Sacker-Sell spectra in discrete time dynamical systems. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 48(6):2043–2064, 2010.
- [73] T. Hüls. Homoclinic trajectories of non-autonomous maps. Journal of Difference Equations and Applications, 17(1):9–31, 2011.
- [74] T. Hüls. A contour algorithm for computing stable fiber bundles of nonautonomous, noninvertible maps. SIAM Journal on Applied Dynamical Systems, 15(2):923–951, 2016.
- [75] T. Hüls. On the Approximation of Stable and Unstable Fiber Bundles of (Non)Autonomous ODEs – A Contour Algorithm. International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos, 26(07):1650118, 2016.
- [76] M. Irwin. Smooth Dynamical Systems. Pure and Applied Mathematics. Elsevier Science, 1980.
- [77] M. Irwin. Smooth dynamical systems, volume 17 of Advanced Series in Nonlinear Dynamics. World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., River Edge, NJ, 2001. Reprint of the 1980 original, With a foreword by R. S. MacKay.
- [78] H. Jahnke. A History of Analysis. Number 24 in History of mathematics. American Mathematical Soc., 2003.

- [79] D. Jones, M. Plank, and B. Sleeman. Differential Equations and Mathematical Biology, Second Edition. Chapman & Hall/CRC Mathematical and Computational Biology. CRC Press, 2009.
- [80] J. Kalkbrenner. Chaotic dynamics from the difference equations point of view. Proceedings of the First International Conference on Difference Equations, pages 41–55, 1991.
- [81] J. Kalkbrenner. Exponentielle Dichotomie und chaotische Dynamik nichtinvertierbarer Differenzengleichungen. Augsburger mathematischnaturwissenschaftliche Schriften. B. Wissner, 1994.
- [82] D. Karrasch. Hyperbolicity & invariant manifolds for finite-time processes. Dissertation, Technische Universität Dresden, 2012.
- [83] D. Karrasch. Linearization of hyperbolic finite-time processes. *Journal* of Differential Equations, 254(1):256 282, 2013.
- [84] A. Katok and B. Hasselblatt. Handbook of Dynamical Systems: Volume 1B. Handbook of Dynamical Systems S., v. 1, Pt. B. Elsevier Science, 2005.
- [85] J.-M. Kleinkauf. The numerical computation and geometrical analysis of heteroclinic tangencies. Technical Report 98-048, SFB 343, 1998.
- [86] P. Kloeden and J. Lorenz. Stable attracting sets in dynamical systems and in their one-step discretizations. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 23(5):986–995, 1986.
- [87] P. Kloeden and C. Pötzsche. Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems in the Life Sciences. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer International Publishing, 2014.
- [88] P. Kloeden and M. Rasmussen. Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems. Mathematical surveys and monographs. American Mathematical Society, 2011.
- [89] G. Kovačič and S. Wiggins. Orbits homoclinic to resonances, with an application to chaos in a model of the forced and damped sine-Gordon equation. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 57(1):185 – 225, 1992.
- [90] W. Krabs. Dynamical Systems: Stability, Controllability and Chaotic Behavior. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010.
- [91] B. Krauskopf and H. Osinga. Growing 1D and quasi-2D unstable manifolds of maps. *Journal of Computational Physics*, 146(1):404–419, 1998.

- [92] B. Krauskopf, H. M. Osinga, E. J. Doedel, M. E. Henderson, J. Guckenheimer, A. Vladimirsky, M. Dellnitz, and O. Junge. A survey of methods for computing (un) stable manifolds of vector fields. *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos*, 15(03):763–791, 2005.
- [93] J. Kurth and P. Haupt. Continuum Mechanics and Theory of Materials. Advanced Texts in Physics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013.
- [94] J. Lee. Introduction to Smooth Manifolds. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer New York, 2013.
- [95] L. Lerman and L. Shil'nikov. Homoclinical structures in nonautonomous systems: nonautonomous chaos. *Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science*, 2(3):447–454, 1992.
- [96] E. N. Lorenz. Deterministic nonperiodic flow. Journal of the atmospheric sciences, 20(2):130–141, 1963.
- [97] B. B. Mandelbrot. The fractal geometry of nature. W.H. Freeman and Co, 1982.
- [98] R. Mane. An Ergodic Closing Lemma. Annals of Mathematics, 116(3):503-540, 1982.
- [99] A. Michel, L. Hou, and D. Liu. Stability of Dynamical Systems: On the Role of Monotonic and Non-Monotonic Lyapunov Functions. Systems & Control: Foundations & Applications. Springer International Publishing, 2015.
- [100] A. Michel, K. Wang, and B. Hu. Qualitative Theory of Dynamical Systems. Monographs and textbooks in pure and applied mathematics. CRC Press, 2001.
- [101] F. Murray and K. Miller. Existence Theorems for Ordinary Differential Equations. Dover Books on Mathematics. Dover Publications, 2013.
- [102] Numlab. https://www.math.uni-bielefeld.de/~numlab (State: 06.12.2017).
- [103] J. Palis and F. Takens. Hyperbolicity and Sensitive Chaotic Dynamics at Homoclinic Bifurcations: Fractal Dimensions and Infinitely Many Attractors in Dynamics. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, 1995.
- [104] K. Palmer. Exponential dichotomies and transversal homoclinic points. Journal of Differential Equations, 55(2):225–256, 1984.

- [105] K. Palmer. Exponential dichotomies, the shadowing lemma and transversal homoclinic points. In *Dynamics reported, Vol. 1*, volume 1 of *Dynamical Systems and Applications*, pages 265–306. Wiley, Chichester, 1988.
- [106] T. Parker and L. Chua. Practical Numerical Algorithms for Chaotic Systems. Springer-Verlag New York, 1989.
- [107] M. Peixoto. Dynamical Systems: Proceedings of a Symposium Held at the University of Bahia, Salvador, Brasil, July 26–August 14, 1971. Elsevier Science, 2014.
- [108] W. Pietruszka. MATLAB[®] und Simulink[®] in der Ingenieurpraxis: Modellbildung, Berechnung und Simulation. Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, 2014.
- [109] H. Poincaré. Les méthodes nouvelles de la mécanique céleste. Gauthiers-Villars, I-III, 1892-1899.
- [110] C. Pötzsche. Pseudo-stable and pseudo-unstable fiber bundles for dynamic equations on measure chains. *Journal of Difference Equations* and Applications, 9(10):947–968, 2003.
- [111] C. Pötzsche. Geometric Theory of Discrete Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems. Number 2002 in Geometric Theory of Discrete Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2010.
- [112] C. Pötzsche and M. Rasmussen. Taylor approximation of invariant fiber bundles for nonautonomous difference equations. *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications*, 60(7):1303–1330, 2005.
- [113] C. Pötzsche and M. Rasmussen. Taylor approximation of integral manifolds. Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations, 18(2):427–460, 2006.
- [114] C. Pötzsche and M. Rasmussen. Computation of nonautonomous invariant and inertial manifolds. *Numerische Mathematik*, 112(3):449, 2009.
- [115] M. Rasmussen. Attractivity and Bifurcation for Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2007.
- [116] M. Scheffer, S. Rinaldi, Y. Kuznetsov, and E. van Nes. Seasonal dynamics of Daphnia and algae explained as a periodically forced predator-prey system. *Oikos*, 80:519–532, 1997.
- [117] A. Schenke. Nichtinvertierbare dynamische Systeme. Master's thesis, Universität Bielefeld, 2014.

- [118] P. A. Schmitt. Numerical and analytical analyses of a tornado model. PhD thesis, Texas Tech University, 1999.
- [119] L. Shil'nikov. On a problem of Poincaré-Birkhoff. Matematicheskii Sbornik (N.S.), 74(116):378–397, 1967.
- [120] M. Shub. Global Stability of Dynamical Systems. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1987.
- [121] S. Smale. Differentiable dynamical systems. Bulletin of the American mathematical Society, 73(6):747–817, 1967.
- [122] P. Spellucci. Numerische Verfahren der nichtlinearen Optimierung. International Series of Numerical Mathematics. Birkhäuser Basel, 2013.
- [123] A. Spencer. Continuum Mechanics. Dover Books on Physics. Dover Publications, 2012.
- [124] H. Steinlein and H.-O. Walther. Hyperbolic sets, transversal homoclinic trajectories, and symbolic dynamics for C¹-maps in Banach spaces. Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations, 2(3):325–365, 1990.
- [125] H. Stetter. Analysis of discretization methods for ordinary differential equations. Springer tracts in natural philosophy. Springer, 1973.
- [126] D. Stoffer. Transversal homoclinic points and hyperbolic sets for nonautonomous maps I. Zeitschrift f
 ür angewandte Mathematik und Physik ZAMP, 39(4):518–549, 1988.
- [127] L. C. T. Matsumoto and M. Komuro. The Double Scroll. IEEE Transactions on circuits and systems, 32(8):797–818, 1985.
- [128] G. Teschl. Ordinary differential equations and dynamical systems, volume 140. American Mathematical Society Providence, RI, 2012.
- [129] T. Tremmel and M. Braun. Differentialgleichungen und ihre Anwendungen. Springer-Lehrbuch. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013.
- [130] G. Vainikko. Approximative methods for nonlinear equations (two approaches to the convergence problem). Nonlinear Analysis, Theory. Methods and Applications., 2(6):647–687, 1978.
- [131] R. E. Vinograd. Exact bounds for exponential dichotomy roughness I. Strong dichotomy. Journal of Differential Equations, 71(1):63-71, 1988.
- [132] S. Waldmann. Lineare Algebra 1: Die Grundlagen f
 ür Studierende der Mathematik und Physik. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2016.
- [133] S. Wiggins. Normally Hyperbolic Invariant Manifolds in Dynamical Systems. Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer New York, 1994.

- [134] M. Wilke and J. Prüss. Gewöhnliche Differentialgleichungen und dynamische Systeme. Grundstudium Mathematik. Springer Basel, 2010.
- [135] Y.-K. Zou and W.-J. Beyn. Discretizations of dynamical systems with a saddle-node homoclinic orbit. *Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems*, 2(3):351–365, 1996.
- [136] Y.-K. Zou and W.-J. Beyn. On manifolds of connecting orbits in discretizations of dynamical systems. Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods and Applications, 52(5):1499 – 1520, 2003.
- [137] Y.-K. Zou and W.-J. Beyn. On the existence of transversal heteroclinic orbits in discretized dynamical systems. *Nonlinearity*, 17(6):2275–2292, 2004.

ft-fiber (continuous).....156

Index

Symbols

	ft-fiber (discrete)157
Δ_{φ}^{x} (function)	$\hat{W}^{\bar{x}}$ ft-fiber 178
${}^{\mathbb{L}}T^{\bar{x}}_{\varepsilon}$ tube	$\varepsilon_{\tilde{v}} N_{s}^{\tilde{x}}$ ft fiber (continuous) 149
$B(\bar{y}_{\mathbb{J}}) \dots $	$\mathbb{I}_{s,u}$ if fiber (continuous)
$B_{\varepsilon}(x)$ open ε -ball	$V_{s,u}$
$B_{\varepsilon}[x]$ closed ε -ball16	continuous
F_i functions	discrete
$G(\cdot, \cdot)$ Green's function	V_s stable cone
<i>K</i> -hyperbolic26	continuous
$L(n_0)$ (set)	discrete
$M_{Z_{\Gamma}}$	V_u unstable cone
M_{Γ} strain acceleration tensor92	continuous $\dots \dots \dots 67$
S_{Γ} strain tensor	discrete
$T_x \partial_{\varepsilon}^{\mathbb{I}} W^0_{\varepsilon}$ tangent set	${}^{\scriptscriptstyle \parallel}\bar{V}_s$ almost stable cone70
$W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}$ ift-fiber	$^{\mathbb{T}}V_{s,u}$ (un)stable subspace
Z_{Γ} zero strain set	$_U W^{\bar{x}}_{s,u}$ ift-fiber148
$\Delta(t, s, \xi)$ (function)	$_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{ker}$ (function)
Δ_{φ} (function)	$_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\min}$ (function)
Γ-norm	$_{\Phi}\mathcal{T}_{\text{pre}}$ (function)
J interval	$\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}^{\max}$ (function)
\mathbb{J}_1 interval	${}^{\mathbb{I}}\mathcal{B}^{\min}$ (function)
Φ (solution operator)19	$\varphi \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}$ (function)
\mathcal{P}_{t_0}	$\mathcal{L}(v)$ linear case 16
Υ function	Gr^k_k Grassmann manifold 35
\bar{t}_+ (time)129	Ker^{ξ} 34
τ_C angle	$\mathcal{N}(P)$ kernel 16
\vec{d}_C width	$(f = \mathbb{R}^k \delta)$ modulus of continuity 201
$\dim(U)$ dimension16	$\overline{\lambda}(X, \Phi)$ upper growth rate 35
ε -ball (open, closed)16	$\overline{\lambda}(\Lambda, \Psi)$ upper growth rate
ε -homoclinic trajectory pair182	$\lambda_i(\Psi)$ minimal opper growth rate55 $\overline{\pi}$ (function)
$(\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I})^{(\xi, t_{-})} \text{ (set)} \dots \dots$	μ (function)
$\left(\mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{I} \times \mathbb{R}^k\right)^{t} \text{ (set)} $	$\psi_n(x_n, n)$ one-step method 208 $\mathcal{D}(D)$ represented
$(1 \land 1 \land 10)_{\neq} (300) \dots $	$\mathcal{K}(F)$ range
$\varepsilon M_{s,u}^{\omega}$	$\stackrel{\text{II}}{\sim} (\text{Interval}) \dots \dots$
It-fiber (continuous) $\dots \dots \dots$	1 runction 208
It-fiber (discrete) $\dots 152$	$\underline{\lambda}(A, \Psi)$ lower growth rate
${}^{*}_{arepsilon}W^{*}_{s,u}$	$\underline{\lambda}_i(\Phi)$ maximal lower growth rate35

Index

μ (function)168	
$\overline{\varphi}$ (solution operator)	
$\varphi_n(x,h)$ h-flow	
$\varphi_{\mathbb{J}}(\cdot, h)$ function	
$d(t_0)$ function	
<i>h</i> -flow	
m (function) 168	

\mathbf{A}

)
j
7

\mathbf{C}

Closed		
ε -ball 16		
cone		
Cone		
almost stable (discrete)70		
angle $\tau_C \dots \dots 65$		
connected $\dots 64$		
convex, closed, open $\dots 64$		
double-cone, half-cone64		
stable (continuous) $\dots 67$		
stable (discrete)		
unstable (continuous) 67		
unstable (discrete)		
width d_C		
Connected		
cone		
Double-cone64		
Convex		
cone64		

D

D-hyperbolic	
continuous	
discrete	
Decreasing	
function17	

Definite

in-, positiv, negativ (matrix) 16
Degenerate
ft-system
matrix 16
Double-cone64
connected64
closed, open, convex64
Dynamical system
discrete, continuous 18
infinite and finite time18
invertible18
Dynamical systems 18
degenerate
elliptic
hyperbolic
quasihyperbolic
attracting
ift-sytems, ft-systems18
repelling
solution operator (continuous). 18
solution operator (discrete)18
_

\mathbf{E}

Exponential dichotomy	24
data, hyperbolic	24
finite time (ft-)	27
growth and decay rate	24

\mathbf{F}

Family of projectors20
invariant $\dots \dots \dots$
Fiber bundles
ft-fiber bundles (continuous)
ε -(un)stable156
monotonically ε -(un)stable . 151
monotonically (un)stable $\dots 149$
ft-fiber bundles (discrete)
monotonically ε -(un)stable . 152
infinite time
(un)stable global
(un)stable local
ft-fiber bundles
of linearization (continuous) 165
ft-fiber bundles (discrete)
--
ε -(un)stable157
Flow
<i>h</i> -flow202
Forward ε -stable ft-fiber bundle178
Ft-systems
Function
increasing, decreasing17

\mathbf{G}

Grassmann manifolds	35
Green's function	87
Growth rate	
point1	.67

\mathbf{H}

Half-cone	
Homoclinic trajectories	М
ε -homoclinic trajectory pair182	
finite	
ε -homoclinic	
ε -homoclinic tube	М
infinite	М
homoclinic orbit182	М
transversal	
Hyperbolic	
K-hyperbolic26	
D-hyperbolic (continuous)97	
D-hyperbolic (discrete)	
finite	N
M-hyperbolic	1
ft-system	Ν
linear equation	
M-hyperbolic	
trajectory	0
system	0
trajectory $\dots 24$	0
ft-hyperbolic	0
solution (continuous) $\dots 164$	0
solution (discrete) 165	
I	Р
-	Ŧ

Increasing
function $\dots \dots \dots 17$
Invariant
family of projectors 20
Κ
Kernel
matrix
\mathbf{L}
Lyapunov norm
Μ
M-hyperbolic
linear equation
system
$trajectory \dots 28$
Matrix
$(non)degenerate \dots 16$
kernel, range $\dots \dots 16$
positive, negative, indefinite $\dots 16$
Measure m 168
Modulus of continuity201
Monotonically
continuous
ε -(un)stable ft-fiber 151
(un)stable ft-fiber 149
discrete
ε -(un)stabe ft-fiber152
Ν
Norm
Γ16
Lyapunov

One-step method20)8
Open	
ε -ball 1	16
cone	34

 Ift-systems
 18
 Projector
 16

Index

familiy of projectors, invariant.20 stable, unstable	St Sı
Q	
Quaishyperbolic ft gustom	T
n-system	Л.
R	Τa
Range	Tr
matrix $\dots \dots \dots 16$	
Rate	
growth rate	
minimal upper, maximal lower	Т
35	T
upper, lower $\ldots 35$	Тı
growth, decay (of ED)24	
Regular	\mathbf{U}
condition23	
solution	U
Repelling	
ft-system97	
S	
Solution operator	

Solution operator
linear
nonlinear18
Stable
cone (continuous) $\dots \dots \dots 67$
cone (discrete)
ft-fiber bundles
forward ε 178
ft-fiber bundles (continuous)
<i>ε</i> 156
monotonically $\dots \dots 149$
monotonically ε
ft-fiber bundles (discrete)
ε 157
monotonically ε
ift-fiber bundles
projector
subspace 64
tangent set168
Strain acceleration tensor

train tensor
ubspace
dimension
maximal dimension16
stable and unstable64

Tangent sets	
stable, unstable	168
Trajectory	. 19
homoclinic	181
hyperbolic	.24
M–hyperbolic	. 28
Transversal	185
Tube	
ε -homoclinic	182

1	stable
	cone (continuous) $\dots 67$
	cone (discrete) 70
	ft-fiber bundles (continuous)
	ε156
	monotonically
	monotonically ε
	it-fiber bundles (discrete)
	ε
	ε
	it-fiber bundles (discrete) ε -monotonically ε -ift-fiber bundles148
	it-fiber bundles (discrete) ε -monotonically ε -ift-fiber bundlesprojector24
	It-fiber bundles (discrete) ε -monotonically ε -ift-fiber bundles152ift-fiber bundles148projector24subspace64
	it-fiber bundles (discrete) ε -monotonically ε -ift-fiber bundlesprojector24subspace64tangent set

W

Width			
cone	 	 	65

\mathbf{Z}

Zero strain	set	 	 	30